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I"{"" For convenience in writing this Report,
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#35-37

#39-51

GV -HD | AREA 6

BARROW STREET (Betwcen Seventh Avenue‘South §i Bedford Street)

The warm quality of brick creates an atmosphere for this street.

A progression in heights and in ornawentation may be noted. Severely
simple one-story buildings, at the Seventh Avenue South corners, precede
a diverse array of two and onc-half and three-story town houses fol-
lowed, at the Bedford Street end, by buildings of four to six stories,
some with turn of the century ornamentation,

Interest centers on the rows of low houses because of their livabie
character and the sober quality of their design. Those in the Federal
style feature two with pedimented dormers on the south side, while the
early Italianate houses on the north side include some pedimented door-
ways. A polygonal bay window inserted into a pedimented doorway at the
time of conversion to ua basement entrance 1s an intercsting solution
to the problem of retaining the main stylistic feature of a house.
Normally a doorway is too large in scale to enframe the standard size
window of a house.

The corner buildings on this street lack any kind of ornamentation
or relief to lend grace to their severe parapets which are so out of
harmony with the quality of the neighboring houses. Their design could
have been improved by noting two attractive treatments to be secn on the
north side of the street, either the dentiled brick cornice on a two-
story building or the projecting band course above fourth floor windows
of a double house. Likewise, on the north side of the street, one of a
pair of Neo-Grec apartment houses has had its ornamental cornice most
unsuitably replaced by a pseudo-Spanish tile overhang. Such unsympa-
thetic designs would have been improved by the architectural controls
of a regulatory body.

This section of Barrow Street is one of the attractive Streets in
Greenwich Village. It is lined on both sides by houses ranging in
style from the late Federal through the Iltalianate to Eclectic. For~
merly called Reason Street, it received its present name in 1828,
following the construction of the carly houses on the street. ‘The
eastern half of the block, bounded by Barrow, Bleecker, and Commerce
Streets, had been purchased in 1825 by Charles Oukley, a well-to-do
attorney and real cstatc developer who owned a great deal of property
in the area.

BARROW STREET South Side (Betw. Seventh Ave. So. § Bedford S5t.)

This one-story café, built on a triangular lot fronting on Seventh
Avenue South (Nos. 74-76), was erected in 1921 by Stephen G. Veolin for
Albert M. CGilday and Emelia Ludwig. It replaced a six-story building
on the site, demolished when Seventh Avenue South was cut through in
1919, following the construction of the Seventh Avenue subway 11nc in
1914,

These seven attraciive, through modest, houses of the late Federal
period were all built within two yecars of one another: the three dwell-
ings on the right, Nos. 47, 49, and 51 in 18206; the four to the left,
Nos. 39, 41, 43, and 45 in 1828, With the exception of No. 51, they
were built as speculative houses for Charles Oaklcy, who was taxed for
Nos. 45, 47, and 49; they found tenants immediately. Among the first
tenants were Jacob Bogert, carpenter at No. 39; .Jacob Naugle, mason,
at No. 47; and Jacob A. Roome, carpenter, at No. 51, all of whom may
have played a part in thc construction of these houses, together with
Abraham Bogert (also Bogart), stonecutter, who developed adjoining
properties.

The original appearance of all these houses must have been similar
to Nos. 41 and 51. Both are two and one-half storied wood buildings
with brick fronts in Flemish bond, steeply pitched roofs and dormer
windows. No. Sl retains its original single dormer, replaced at No. 41

by a double casement window surmounted by a low pediment. Stone lin-

tels provide a contrast to the brick facades, as do the cornices, of
wood at No. 51, and sheetmetal at No. 41. The stoops and areaways have
attractive iron railings: those at No. 41 are cast iron, dating from
a later period, while the very simplc ones at No. 31 axe the wrought
iron originals.

Third floors with bracketed corniccs were added in the Eighteen-
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#59-61

#63

#65

#58
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#56

GV-=HD : :AREA -6

-BARROW :STREET :South :Side /(Betw. Seventh :Ave. So. § :Bedford ‘St.)

;seventies to :Nos. 39, 43, 45, 47 -and 49, -as smay fbe ‘seen jin ‘the ;change in
the ;brickwork, from*Fiem1sh o runnlngrbond ATl these tbuildings, with

" the exceptlon .of No 59 vilviich thad 4+s rentrance @t 'No. 112 ‘Seventh Avenue
-South ithrough a sma&decountyard»access,'have retained stheir stoops rand,

in .some cases, itheir .original doorways. The doorways -at ‘Nos. 45 and 47
Aare partlcularly attractive, thawing -as frames -a pair of Doric columns.
‘The ‘stone 1intels, £lush wnmh-mhe#brrckwork and the slightily project-
ing windowsills, supply .a welcome contrast to ithe ibrick facades. Small
sheetmetal cornices, a later .addition, appear -above the windows of Nos.
45 and 47. Thetmodldﬂaoned roof=corn1ce of :No. 39, :and ithe .console
‘brackets for'Nos 43 47 and 49, as well as ithe .cornice witth paired
brackets at No. 45, date £rom a ﬂateraperlod when ‘the ithird story was .
added. They are interesting to compare with the .wiginal :simply molded
cornice with fascia iboard still to ‘be seen at No. Si.

The iron xailings at -the areaways and stoops of these houses also
deserve special mention. The intricate Italianate design -of the railing
at No 43 s martlcudariy thandsome and dates from the mid-Nineteenth
Century. It .should be noted, ‘however, that the simple wrought iron
railings, as iat Nos. 49 and 51, are most likely the .originals. Those
at Nos. 45 and 47 have been modified at stoop level by the -addition -of
Greek ReV1va1 castings similar to those around the corner, -at Nos. 13
and 15 Commerce Street, also owned by Charles Oakley.

Mark Van Doren, the poet and writer, lived at No. 43 Barrow Street
in the mid- Nlnemeen—twentles ‘

This six-story yellow brick apartment house with stone. trim (also
Nos. 19-23 Commerce Street) was built in 1908-09 for the Hoase Lippman
Construction Co. It was designed by Somerfield & Steckler, architects.
It has a rusticated stone base with central entranceway protected by a

bracketed cornice stone.  To provide interest, the design features a

vertical tier of pedimented windows at each end of the building. ‘The
top fioor is of rusticated brickwork. crowned by a classical cormice.

This strictly utititarian five-story loft building of brick dis-
plays, as its only detail, stone window lintels and sills. ®Designed
by Julius J. Diéman for Macdougald Haman, it was erected in 1908-09,
and extends through te Commerce Street (No. 25). The top floor is
surmounted by a brick parapet with coping. Between the first and
second floor windows a brick panel fills the space and extends the
entire width of the building.

This small brick residence of 1845, originally Greek Revival in
style, was one of two houses and was built for Catherine Cruger, on
the rear of the corner property. It is three stories high over a base-
ment. The parlor floor windows are floor-length, of the same height
as the entrance door. The wlndows of the upper stories have double-
pla1n 11ntels A ‘sheetmetal roof cornice surmounts the bu11d1ng and
replaces the original cornice. The wrought ironwork 2t the stoop and
areaway is very simple,

This five-story brick apartment house of 1921 (described under No.
78 Barrow Street) faces also on Commerce Street (No. 27).

BARROW STREET North Side (Betw. Bedford St. § Seventh Ave. So.)

There is a low, arched entry with an iron gate between the four-
story building at the corner (described under No. 82 Bedford Street)
and No. 56 Barrow Strect. It opens into a small but picturesque court-
yard known as "Pamela Court" ever since the Nineteen-twenties. This
court provides access to the charming little brick building known today-
as Nog. 58 Barrow Street, but as No. 82% Bedford Street when it was
or1g1na11y bu11t for Albert R. Romaine, carter, in 1827. Pamela Court
als¢ provides access to several buildings whlch front on Bedford Street,
Nos. 82 through 86 (No 86 is Chumley s Restaurant, resort of the
11terat1) :

This low two-story brick building of 1889 for John F. Asmussen was
designed by the architectural firm of Jordan § Giller, and built as a

-208-
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BARROW STREET North Side (Betw. Bedford St. § Seventh Ave. So.)

o e R

#56 livery stable and carriage house, with living quarters above. The only

cont, decoration is a fine dentiled brick cornice and the stone window trim.
The central carriage entrance is now a door flanked by windows.

#52 § 54 This pair of five-story brick apartment buildings, replacing frame
- dwellings, was designed by Bruno W. Berger, architect, for Alphonse

Hogemaner. They were erected in 1891. In style they are Neo-Grec, and
display a wealth of ornamental detail. With the exception of the base-
ment and first story and the cornice, altered in 1928 at No. 54, the
buildings are identical. At No. 52, which retains its stoop, the first
story is notable for its brownstone decorative detail: the rusticated
band courses and the flat-arched windows, whose keystones are signalized
by small sculptured heads. At No. 54, the segmental-arched windows and
entrance doorway are flanked by spiral columns with Romanesque type
capitals, The three upper stories of both buildings are divided verti-
cally by brick pilasters seated on corbels and terminated above by
elaborate cornice brackets, and below by an ornamental belt course at
third story level. No. 52 has an elaborate bracketed roof cornice,
while No. 54 is crowned by a horizontal brick band course under a tile
overhang. The ironwork of the stoop and areaway of No. 52 is the
original. Both buildings have external fire escapes ending above the
entrance doors.

#50 Built originally as a private house for Martin Winant in 1847, this
vernacular brick building, three stories high, was converted early in
this century to a multiple dwelling. The asymmetrical fenestration of
the first floor is the result of the elimination of the stoop. The pres-
ent main doorway is at ground level, while a second and smaller en-
trance, leading to another house (No 50%) at the rear of the lot, is
located at the extreme left.

#38-48 This dignified row of six brick houses, originally Italianate in
style, was erected in 1851 by Smith Woodruff, mason, a member of a well-
known family of builders.

The original appearance of this row of three-story Italianate town
houses, now greatly altered, is perhaps best seen at No. 48, the house
occupled for a short time by the builder, Smith Woodruff. Although it
now houses a restaurant, the house retains much of its charm and many
features of the orlglnal building. A high stoop leads to a very hand-
some doorway with molded frame, surmounted by a wide low pediment, a
survival from the Greek Revival period. This type of entrance door-
way, over a rusticated basement, was, in all likelihood, a feature of
the other houses. The inner wood doorframe is paneled and has a rope

. molding framing the doors and the transom; the double doors have arched
panels. The parlor floor windows, with transoms in the upper section
and casement windows above the spandrel panels, may once have been floor-'
length. The stone lintels of the windows have diminutive cornices. The
top floor has muntined double-hung sash. The house has a prominent roof
cornice with a series of horizontal brackets, similar to those of Nos,
38, 40 and 42.

Nos. 44 and 46, housing the Greenwich Music School, have been al-
tered very extensively. A single principal basement entrance for the two
buildings, at No. 46, has replaced the two original stoops, and the
cornice has been eliminated. Wrought iron railings, with a clef musical
symbol, appear at their second floor level. The remaining three houses
of the row, Nos. 38, 40 and 42, all have roof cornices identical to No.
48.

"~ No, 40 retains far more of its original appearance than do its
neighbors: it displays the kind of floor-length parlor windows so
typical of the Italianate style. No. 40 and No. 38 still have bits of
original cast ironwork, to be seen in the attractive window railings at
parlor floor level. A small polygonal bay window has been added, at a
later date, to the facade of No. 38, within the frame of the or1g1na1
pedlmented deorway.

This row of houses serves as z remlnder of the sober design and
good workmanship of many of the forgotten builders of the mid-Nineteenth
Century. These new dwellings of 1851 replaced a row of shops, factories,
and stables formerly owned by Timothy Whittemore, President of the
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BARROW..STREET, No¥th sidé (Béti. Bedferd St: § Seventh Ave. So.)

Gréémwich Insutdhited Cofipany; whosé family ownéd 4 great deal of preperty
ifi the Viilagé. Associdted with the wdson Siith Woodfuff in the coi-
striucticn of thid rfow Wis tHE carpentdr Berjamifi Demardst, whode faiily
aifo Had been loftg 4CEivé in the deyeispiient of The Vlllage. Thé ere¢=
£ioh of theése hdﬁ§e was Wddé possivle by miortgdges from Whittemore to
the byildérs, Tiie oy this providés 3R intérsstiny capsule history of
bu11d1ng 0perat18ﬁ§ Of oVer a hiRd¥ed years 4p6, When afi efterprising
builder Was abig to ﬂéhélﬁﬂlﬁf“ﬁeftyjﬁithéﬁt ¢épitdl investient. George
Merklee, of Metkleé § Nichols; iroh foufiders; fived at No. 46 from 1852
on; and also wds taxed . ifi 1852 i6F five housés (Nﬁé:‘36é46); However;
it is qu1te cleat that all thiese holisés had dlréady béen built, and in
some cdses sold befoté he entdred the piﬁt“rez

TheésE two Franie dwelllngs w1bh biick frefits of Flemish bond were
built in 1828 by tio carpcﬁters Jaigs i Stepheiis (No. 34) and David
P. Pye (N 36); on Iand they had pu chased the year befotre from Charles
hé

¥
Oakley. Late FédsFal in desigh; thay aré the earliest bu11d1ngs on the
block.

The houses are idehtidal in deSIgn. Orlglnally two and ofie=half

stories h1gh with dormers, the roofs were rdised if the Elghteen-
seventies to accmabdate i third floor. The tép stoties weré ‘then fin-
ished off with b% rdly ﬁrOJectlng, backeted ¢ornices teriinated at the
énds with vertical b¥dckets. The ¥aséia boards ate decorated with

panels, alternatlhg with cifcula¥ wotifs. Inteérest is given to these
simple housés by the bontrast i texture of Stome and b¥ick. Plain stone
§1118 and 11ntels= the latte? siffiounted By cornices, progect sllghtly

from the bRitk wall and supply horlzonta1<accents. The entrance to Neo.

FEITIN

34 has 1ts orlglnal elght panelbd doot With réctangular transém, surs
rotndéd by a handsome egg and dart moldlng The i¥énwork. strlklngly

511houetted aga1nst these llght Coloted houdes; is particulafly fine and
i§ Greek Rov1va1 1n'd031gn- The handralllngs at ‘the stoops have grace-
fully curved wrought 1ron Scrollwork in their upper settion and anthein-
ion d051gns Beldw, 1n cast i¥6n. ‘Cast iron néwels, set on $tone bases;

woro an rhtcrcstlng foat TE unt11 thby were recently removed Slmple

addltlons ‘of & later period

This 15 the Side %ntrance to the 'shall oné- story restaurant'whlch
fronts ‘on Bleecker Strect N6, 296) &hd ‘Sevénth Avenue South.

BARROW STREET  ‘(Between Bedford § Mulson Stiests)

pacy

ThlS street has o bLocks *on i'ts ‘south side and - only~one with a
‘Bend n i'ts horth 51de

The empha51s*of thc ‘stredt is on -aparitiient Tiving, rn\bulidlngs
five and 51X stoﬁfes i ‘heighte . The*use ‘of ‘brick s a~un1fyﬂng Factor
‘For bu1idfhgs‘of vatythy Sty 1ds dhi sharpiy\contrasthngiwrdths-and\w1n-
“How arrangemcnts.

“Kn *unusual apartmtnt fouse, at mid-brock B fthe hor'th sile, weflects
its orlgln asa Tfrohodéc'hn 1t5 handsome ‘@rrangément vof arches. in
marked contrast, across "tlic *stredt, ‘15\a dlgnfraed ‘thiee- story*town’house
“With mansard*roof "Bhe OF a pafr Bh ‘Bellford StrEet*wﬂthegarden’between.

Thi's StEect 1sepr1marlﬂy 1ntere5t1ng'for it’s Waried - developmentnof

= _me YT

) plot hsscmblagcs. *On ‘the horth ‘side roundlng-the*Bedford“Streetkcorner,

2 late N1netcenth Contury cxample comblnes unrty\of desqgn #or rseven

bulldlngs wlth “the ¢ de51red prrvacy of Endividual entrances. By ‘céritrast.,
‘for Twentieth’ Century PlVlng,~a P of ‘dpartierit 'Houses “d't the Hudson

“Stredt ‘8fid surrbuhifs fa 1dTPe Yardeh ot

"BAKROW.STREET Séuth Side f(hefh.5BEH%ErH-ﬁicommerce‘Sten)

The large SI%=SEoTy "cOTHeT building, ‘erected dn 952 ((described under

)

‘81 ‘Beliford Street) also - faceshCommerce‘Street

lhlS s1X-STOTY apartmont ‘hotise -0f 1897, which exténds’ “through ‘the

y kG

‘block *to No. ~37*Coimérce ‘Streér, iprovides a ‘gredt contrast ‘in ‘scale -and

-210-

-



#71-73
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#75

#77

#79

#81

#83-89

GV-HD ' ' AREA 6

BARROW STREET South Side (Betw. Bedford § Commerce Sts.)

in style to the small house at the corner, No. 41 Commerce Street,
Designed by the architect George F. Pelham for Louisa C. Friedline, this
building first served as a combination hotel and boarding house before
its conversion into apartments. The richly carved Renaissance ornament
of the entrance floor is spaced with clegant dignity, and is echoed in
the ornate ironwork of the balcony over the entrance which serves as

the end of the fire escape. -

BARROW STREET (Between Commerce § Hudson Streets)

The south side of the street presents an interesting contrast of
styles facing the large apartment building of the Nincteen-twenties
on the north side of the street. A small Italianate house of the
Eighteen-fifties appears at No. 81; No. 77 is a fine example of the
Eclectic manner of the late Nineteenth Century, while the early
Twentieth Century is represented by Nos. 75 and 79. The apartment
building on the corner of Hudson Street (Nos. 83-89)} is a typical ex-
ample of the work of the Nineteen-twenties.

BARROW STREET South Side (Betw. Commerce § Hudson Sts.)

This apartment building, presenting its narrow front to the Barrow
Street side, was designed in 1912 by the architect William M. Paine
for the St. John's Realty Company. The ground floor boasts a series of
fine segmental brick arches with stone keystonecs, wide enough to accom-
modate shops if desired. Triple windows on the upper floors are set
between plain brick piers. The tops of the piers project forward
slightly on stone brackets and are paneled, while the top floor spandrel
panels have simple designs executed in brick,

Designed by the architect Henry Davidson for William Gillies and
Francis Smith, this five-story brick apartment house of 1894-95 is a
good example of the Eclectic style of the latter part of the Nineteenth
Century. It borrows elements from the Romanesque style in the squat
columns supporting the canopy over the entrance doorway and in its
decorative brickwork. The roof cornice, on the other hand, turns to
the classical tradition, with its pedimented central gable and frieze
with triglyphs, swags, and rosettes.

The architect, George F. Pelham, has made maximum use of this
narrow frontage by devoting most of the wall to windows in this six-
story brick building erected for W. W. Conley in 1906. The recessed
ground floor, with planter voxes set on a low brick wall, suggests a
Twentieth Century remodeling. Thc second floor windows are paired at
each side, with three on center between the columns. This window
pattern, with single windows at the sides, carries on up with the win-
dows separated by wide, horizontal band courses. A simple brick para-
pet at the top terminates the front wall.

This small three-story brick [talianate house, over a rusticated
basement, was erected in 1852-53 by James Vandenbergh, a well-estab-
lished builder who had been active in The Village for several decades
and had been the master mason in charge of construction at Trinity
Church. This house is the lone survivor of a row of three built on
Trinity Church land. Vandenbergh's own residence was on the site of
the apartment building, No., 79. Although the long parlor floor windows
of No. 81 have been raised to sill height, the house stil) retains its
typical bracketed and panecled roof cornice and Italianate ironwork at
the stoop. The cornices above the parlor floor windows lend a note of
elegance to this otherwise quite modest house, which is the only re-
minder of an earlier age on the block.

This six-story apartment house, fronting on Hudson Street (Nos.
454-462), was erected in 1925 for the 65 Morton Street Corporation.
It was designed by the architect Charles B, Meyers as a twin to Nos,
438-450 Hudson Street. Both these structures replaced row houses of
the Eighteen-thirties, built on property originally owned by Trinity

~2112
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#70

#62-68

#93

GV-HD ARER 6

BARRQﬁHSTREEI Solith Side {Batw. Cofmerce § Hudsoh S¢s.)

- = %

ioue fembers of the Oakley family, 1dsge p¥operty

a4 "

BARROW STREET Nerth side (Bétw. Hudson § Bedford 5ts.)

Gréen Gardens," the large apartment house of the corner of Hudson
Stréét; wis de51gned by RenW1ck Asp1nwa11 & Tucker for the Corporatlon
of Tr1n1ty ChiireH, Erected in 1925 26; it 15 si% storles high ahd hds
an 1nterest1ng1y textured br1tk Wall ahd stéel casement wlndows The
masonty parapet it the roof dlsplays vihiamental forms in panels of aléer-
natlng §1Z6s;

Biiilt in 1852 43 i fikghouse for the City; ths - handsome foiir-story
brick bu1ld1ng, fiol an apartment Houiss; has undergone exteéndive alterar
tion. It was orlg1na11y 4 three story bu1ld1ng, and g&rvéd for 4 tihie;
after it§ abandonment by ths Flre Department d§ 4 shoe factory I
1880 it was raiséd fo four storles and dltered to apartments abové i
ground floor cdriidge hotigé . The or1g1na1 central doorivdy i brlcked up
to a high sill height and has 4 tr1p1e cageiient wifidow: TwWo round arched
dootrwdys on gither side isad dlrectly to hallwdys. The ground floor is
separated fron thie upper Storiés by 4 cofitintiolis cornice, punctdated by
the elongated paneled keystones 8f thé arches below. The eintire central
§éctioh of the bu11d1ng, froi the ground figor through the third story,
consists of 4 récéssed panel The llntels over the lateral wlndows of
the second story, and of, dii the fourth story windows ; have handsome cor-

.....

nlces in the case of the centtral wzndow at the second floor, the cornlce

mold1ng Eovers the entlre iintél. The muntlned windows of theé third
flosr are round*arched atid giilianced by promlnent trapszoidal keystones,

the central doubie wlndow 1§ f“ med 33% a fine de51gn achieved tHiough

* the varylng planes of thé brlckwork Theé fourth story is crowmed by a

projeéctiig brackétéd cbrilicé with panels:

These foui brlck apartment bu1ld1ngs, five storiés in helght ad-

'301n 5imilar bulldlngs frontlng of Bedford Street (Nos. 85- 89) They

were de51gned in 1889 4% a 51ng1e monumental unit by theé architect

‘Sdiel A Wartier fof thé estate of Létitia A, Polllon. A continuous

$66f corhice with conisold brackets, §trifig courses separatitig the floors,
afid four idéntic¢al doBriways with low 5toops make one unit of the four
facades. The brownstohé porched, with fluted pilasters and carved cor-
bels, supply a 1noté ofjcontrast to thesé austere and dlgnlfled buildings.

The iron ralllngs at stoep and areaway are good examples of the work of
thé périod:

BARROW STREET. ~ (Betweédt fHudson § Greefiwich Streets)

Th1s short street 5t111 preserves 1ts charmlng early Nlneteenth
perlods oh both 51des of the blsck. Thelr 1nt1mate, human scale is in
startling cohtrast to thé tail commerc1a1 building at mid-bleck 6n the
south sidé; which i outside the Historic District.

The d1gn1f1ed Greek Revival housés oi the south side of the stréet
retain their 31mp1e ‘Bu't lovely irshiwoik at the 5toops dnd areaways In
general proport1ons, they ‘eche the delightful Federal #oww actoss the
streét at fid-block, £1ankéd by opéh spaces. These four re51dences,
built ag part 'of the development of the 5t. Luke's block, afe charming

reminders of a by« ‘gone éra. The house héirest ‘the GreenW1ch 'Street

+hid

cOTnet; which retalns 1ts low, two ahd ohe-half story helght remains
closést to its or1g1nal appearance The graceful Féderal irdnwork is
retainéd at the stoops and areaways

All in all, 'this is a very pledsant st¥é&et in wh1ch to llve, since
it no't 8nly retalns its 01d houses, but has afn open feellng on ‘the north

side; “where only the middle of the street has been built upot.

BARROW STREET Sbuth Side (Betw. Hudson § Greenwich Sts.)

This &iall two- story brick house was érected in 1828-29 for Gilbert
Chichester, a dry goods férchant, 45 a rear extension to No. 463 Hudson
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BARROW STREET South Side (Betw. Hudson § Greenwich Sts.)

Street, built at the same time. The present facade was probably added
in 1851 when the property was owned by Jeremiah Lambert, who had
erected the neighboring houses, Nos. 95 and 97 Barrow Street, a few
years earlier. The facade of No. 93 conforms with them and even the
handsome Greek Revival stoop and areaway railings are identical.

Rising to a height of three stories over a basement these two brick

" houses were erected in 1847 for Jeremiah Lambert. No. 95 retains its

original Greek Revival doorway with simplified pilasters at the sides,
surmounted by a transom. The simple cornice above the doorway is echoed
at the window lintels and the roof cornice is undecorated.

No. 97 has been considerably modified by the addition of a cornice
over the doorway and by window lintels in Neo-Grec style. The molded
sills have corbel feet, and the house is crowned by a projecting brack-
eted roof cornice with incised panels in the same Neo-Grec style. The

.most noteworthy features of these two houses are the fine Greek Revival

ironwork railings of the stoops and areaways.

BARROW STREET North Side (Betw. Greenwich § Hudson Sts.)

Only the middle portion of the north side of this street has been
built upon.

These four delightful houses, in the middle of the block, were
erected by James N. Wells, carpenter, in 1827 under lease from the
Trinity Church Corporation as part of the development of the entire
St. Luke's block.

The original appearance of the row may be surmised from No. 96,
which retains its two and one-half story height, with pedimented dormers.
The other houses were raised later in the century to three stories, as
is clearly indicated by the change from Flemish bond brickwork to running
bond. ' They are now crowned by bracketed roof cornices. The doorways,
deeply recessed, retain some features of the late Federal period. A
paneled lintel appears over the doorway at No. 96 which also displays
heavy sheetmetal cornices over the window lintels, added at a later
peried. The extremely simple ironwoxrk of the stoops and areaways dis-
plays graceful scrollwork in the handrailings at the landings, typical
of the best houses of the late Federal period.

BEDFORD STRELCT West Side (Betw. Morton St. § Seventh Ave. So0.)

The "Upjohn Building," an eight-story loft structure, was designed
in 1919 by Hobart B. Upjohn and was erected in 1920. Altered in 1957,
it also has an entrance at No. 32 Morton Street and is described under
Nos. 38-40 Seventh Avenue South. '

BEDFORD STREET {Between Morton § Commerce Streets)

This block contains several of the oldest houses in The Village.
On the east side, we note three small houses in the middle of the block,
of which two still retain their Federal dormers, while on the west side
there is a fine row of six houses with Greek Revival details which must
have originally been quite similar in proportion, although they have now
been raised to three and, in one case, to four stories. At the south-
west corner of Bedford and Commerce Street stands the lsaacs-~Hendricks
House of 1799-~1801, the oldest known house in Greenwich Village, and
one of the earliest surviving structures in the City. Historically
this block is interesting because much of this property once belonged
to Aaron Burr, The street was laid out prior to 1799 and was named
after a street in London.

BEDFORD STREET East Side (Betw. Morton § Commerce Sts.)

The large six-story apartment house at the corner of Bedford and
Morton Streets {described under No. 46 Seventh Avenue) was built in 190S.
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mmumomu.WHWmmq Edst Sidé (Betw. Morton & Conmerce Sts.)

. Wall £FaH ﬁoCmmm. With Uupnw mwosﬁm mosmdﬂcoﬂoa:us
Fiemish bond; ?, e m;w.w, if 1821 4fid ate o:muapn _examplés of the Fédéral
Styié: Nos.. mm ind 66 rétiifi their o mew:mH wﬂowmaﬁpmlm# they aré tio
“and OREIRATF §ioFied Hifh; dbove 4 Davement; and havé mmawmmmmon dofmers
4D6ve the roof toffiicd. NG 6 s FiiZed 't4 three storied mwmmm a fire
in the mumrﬁom: wmuﬁwm m_cdmnxmﬁma Neg-Grec Hoom e H:How and
:mmq& Shicetimetdl winidow With coriices; which alst 4 dppeat 4t Nos.
64 snd 66. No§: 64 afid  theit 10w mﬂQOﬁm While No., 66 has

had it§ entraficé dooTwdy [ dtid lowered to mnummﬂ level. The

doublé-h d:m._sctnwamm @Hmmﬂf mmmw is typicd]l ef nrm,mﬁmrwnmnﬂcwm of the
early wmwﬁ of the z~:w~wm.m: Céntiity but the bratketed oOwawm it No.
64 is & mid- szoﬁmmzﬂ_ Cefituity Howwmooamzﬂ e an s

aromo thite Federdl moewmm Were built i 1821 on 4 wOanos of ﬁrm
propérty ccaormmom in HmH@ for developmient vw Isauc umacmwu a amﬂormzﬂ
who then 561d séVeril 1ot$ (inc Hcmusm the Site of the, present Nos. mo-
62) to Jaiies <msam:rouwr and Isaac ﬂumosm=, masonhs, zro o<pam=ﬁpw were
vmﬂazouw sincé both wete Hamﬂma in the, nwn% Directory of wao 21 at zo.
14 North Moote Styeet, corher Sf Vifick Street. They buiit this row
zuﬂ: the aid oOf Eouﬂwmmmm from Df. Valentine Mott, 4 mmaocm wrwmwowmz
of thie wowmom Nos. 64 and 66 were tdked to Jdques dnd Freéman, fespec-
ﬂu<oww and weré built for reiital puTposes ; but Jdmes ﬁmbamzwmam: _who

Hmﬂmwcmwmso u: Ha@owﬂp:ﬂ ccwwmmﬂusa:m<pwpmmm ammmrwm:oammﬁzo.
68, :

1

This Hpﬂnww mH*‘W :o:mm zwﬂ: a brick front in mumspwr wo:a was

_ouwmusmmww two msa o:m -Hialf mﬁoupmm rpm: also and was @CHHH in ﬂ:m

.:

moaowuu wﬂ%_o. It zmm raised t thrée stories vomowo Hmmm _ It has

roo: mwﬂoamm mwﬁowmw times in nrwm omﬁncﬂw and had been ccwwﬁ in 1806-

07 for John P. mooam. mmpusmrmu. A chair factory, built in 1869 and
dltered two years liter, ono:ﬁpon the redr of the lot.

aro ﬁm_H mwxumaoww oonsow mﬂmwﬂamsﬁ house, on the noasoa Qm
wmamowm m:m nm?&MHno Stieets, is a mﬂmmﬂ oosﬂmmﬁ to these mamwu scale
a:pHmHme next to it. _ﬂ was bliilt in 1899-1901 and desighéd by the
maorpnoon z ok Qworm off for Emanuel Glauber. With its stores at the

muoc:a floor m:a :mm¢w ooaspow above arched windews, it is & sober
examplé of tiié architeCtlire of thé tiifh of thé ceiitury. _

BEDFORD STREET West Side (Beti. no&?mﬂnw § Morton Sts.)

. :Hm amuum:ﬂmcp Hpnﬁpm :ocww\ o thé corner of woamoum m:a Commerce
(No. 32) Stregts, ha§ thé apmﬂwmmﬁwo: of being the oldést extant holse

in oawm%&mﬁﬁ <wammmw It wis vcwwﬂ H= 1799-1800 on land formerly owned
vw Elbe¥t zoqmm¢mwﬂ mou Joshua Isaacs, merchant., After Hmmmnm had HOmn

TLI0 e, FELAR ITLINS

the w%Oﬁoanx_no his owmapﬁoam. it was plirchased by his son-in-1dw Harmon

:o:auwowm in I180F. It is for this reason that it is cwcmHH< wmmmwwmm to
.bk

as’ the :memmm‘cmsmw¢orm House." This property, ﬂomon:oﬂ with its :owm:-
wmwmw Nog. 73 75 Bedford mﬂwooﬂ dnd' 34-42 Commerce Stréet; was left im
trist by HehdFicks to' Kis daiig nmw Hettie, who mcvaLCosnww married

zmwmnyo oosmw The' vﬂovow~% Hoamwsma in ﬁrm posséssion of ﬂ:m Héndricks-

Goiez heirs u htil” thé Ninéteén- ¢&o=ﬂwow whén it was @:uowmmma by a
group of <HHHmmem to ﬁammmn<o the ormumnﬂmw of the block and to prevent
the mwmonpoa,om an apartmént holse on the sité.

~ 0Xd umnmwam nwmmuwx indicdté that the house was a muom mﬂmsauzm
ccwﬂawsm With its own wmua A map of 1835 indicates no Oﬂrmu ccwmapzmm
mﬁmsap=m on n:m zm:@apnrm Goméz land. Origindlly the c:pwapzm was a_
m»awuo fraife structlfe with a ganbrel roof. A vupnr maosﬂ was wwovmva
added in 1836, z:os Charlés OaKley built Nos. 73 and 75 néext door. The
ccHHauzw wis no nammﬂpw modified, howWevér, until 1928, when n:o mmawamH
roof Wis raiséd to mnoo...ﬁmﬁo a ﬁrpwa floor studio. zpsmozm zmdm taken
out and others addéd on both thé Bedford and Coiifierce Stréet. sides, and
a amwz baseément m:ﬁﬂ< wis Hsﬁwoacoma in a rear coirt. In Hmwo mmﬂmu
Bedford Strebt was widened, muowd steps with zwocm:ﬁ iron HmHkumm were

renoved from” ﬂ:m house, nro simple’ Fedeéral aoowzmw was retained but
mmmuog? and tie mummzmw mﬂmgoa f1ush with the street. Theé mao:HHQOﬂ for

.ﬂ:owo mpﬂoapﬂpozw was moampsmsa mm<um=m=o a. wﬁooruws maornﬁwnﬂ who was

very mnﬁu<o ﬁw thé Ho oaopw:m of old houses in The Village at this tinme.

_:Hm Bedford Strect vchwgrzw and property was used by :mHEOS
:o:;npowm in coiincction with his copper rolling mill in New uowmow
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BEDFORD STREET West Side (Betw. Commerce § Morton Sts.j

Hendricks and his brother-in-law Solomon Isaacs were New York agents of
Paul Revere, who laid the foundations for the copper rolling industry
in America. There being a shortage of metal during the War of 1812,
Hendricks, a strong patriot, joincd with Isaacs in setting up their

own copper rolling factory at Belleville, New Jerscy. Hendricks
supplied copper boilers for various ships of Robert Fulton, and some

of Hendricks' copper was bought for the "Savannah," the first steam-
powered ship to cross the Atlantic, in 1819. The pioneer plant in

New Jersey continued until the chdrlchs family sold it over a century
later.

This extremely narrow house, less than ten feet wide, popularly
known as the narrowest house in the city, was built in 1873 for Horatio
Gomez, trustee of the Mettie HMendricks-Gomez Estate, on the court be-
tween Nos. 75 and 77. It is a three-story building terminating in an
unusual stepped gable, reminiscent of the Dutch tradition, It features
a large wood casement window at each story, the result of an alteration
of the Nineteen-twenties. An arched doorway leads to the court behind
it. The poet, Edna St. Vincent Millay, lived here in 1923.24.

This row of six houses, constructed of Flemish bond brickwork in
the Greek Revival style, was built as income-producing rental property
in the late Eightecn-thirties. Inasmuch as John C. Hadden, a builder,
and Sylvanus Gedney, a carpenter, of the firm of ladden § Gedney,
builders {at 147 Prince Street), owned two of the lots {Nos. 69 and 67),
it is probable that they were associated with the building of the row.

All the houses were originally two and one-half stories high, with
dormers, like the houses across the street (Nos. 64 and 66 Bedford),
and were raised to three stories later, except No. 67, which now rises
to a height of four stories.

Nos. 73 and 75 were built in 1836 for Charles Qakley, a lessee of
Hendricks-Gomez land, who had been-active in the development of Greenwich '
Village since the mid-Eighteen twenties. Both houses are now entered
through a side entrance on Commerce Street. No. 73 retains its Greck
Revival doorway, now altercd to a floor-length window. Above the second
stories, the facades have been smooth-stuccoed and the third story con-
sists of small attic-sized windows and a skylight at No. 75, while
high casement windows ecxtending the width of the house appear at No.

73. The unusually tall double-hung windows with muntins at the first !
and second stories, and lintels with incised Greek fret designs, may
represent an alteration of a later date.

No. 71, also built in 1836, was owned by William Denike, a stone-
cutter, who may have also been involved in the construction of the row.
A basement entrance replaces the original Greeck Revival doorway, of
which the upper portion remains, now converted into a casement window,

Nos. 67 and 69 were both built in 1836-37. No. 69, which has been
smooth-stuccoed, has had its lintels completely shaved off, and dis-
plays a Neo-Grec cornice above the third floor. Taxes on the house

‘were paid by the builder, John C. Hadden. Samuel J, Van Saun, a

carpenter, built on a lot owned by Gedney. It is the only house of the
row which has been raised to four storics, with casement windows in the
upper two floors. Like its two neighbors, it now has a basement entry.
No., 65, with casement windows at the top floor, was altered at the
same time as No. 67 to provide a basement entry. Although it did not
appear in assessment records until 1839, the property had already been.
purchased by Justus Earle, a grocer, in 1835. Stylistically it is
similar to Nos. 67 to 75, and should be considered as part of the row.

This five-story brick apartment house on the corner site, with a
store at ground level, was built in 1885-86 for John Totten and was
designed by the architect George Keister. Its Lold bracketed cornice,
with roscttes displayed under arched motifs in the fascia, has a sun-
burst design in the central arched pediment which is typical of the
Queen Anne period. It has a side entrance at No. 27% Morton Street.

BEDFORD STREET East Side (Betw. Commerce § Barrow Sts.} ;

This severely simple, five-story brick apartment house occupies
the west end of the block between Commerce and Barrow Streets. It
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BEDFORD, STREET Edst Side (Betw. Comiiérce § Baffew Sts.) -

was built ifi 1920=21 by Ph111p L: Goodwifi; owriéi 4and architect: The
windows hdve store $iil§ and soldief-course iifiveis. At thée first fiocor
the wifidows havé segmental arched heads aiid iven gratifigs: The arched
frOnt dbér on Bedford Street hdas brick revedls 4nd 4 stone keystone
which rélatés to the horlzontal stoné bahd éoiirse dbeve: The stonié
coping 6f thé brlck parapet it the top of tiie bu11d1ng 1§ stepped-up

‘n .y

fitvdl portisn of saeh facade.

BEDFORD, STREET West Side (Batif. Earrbw § Cofierce Sts:)

This 51mb1e s1x stoiy briek apaftiient tiotisé; front1ng oit Bedford
Street, Wthh i3 4is6 kiibWi 45 No: 67-69 Barrow St¥eét und No; 31=33
Comiretce Street was de51gned by Schimiaii § Lichtens+ein for the 31-33
Commerce Street Corporat1on and erected in 1952-53. fThe orily degordtive

dccent is to be found in the brlckwork which uses a row of héadars at
evéry sixth Fou:

BEDFORD_STREET (Between Barrow & GPove Streets)

In this block there is a fleetlng gllmpse of an sariier era ifi tiie
two loW housed it the ceiter of the bleck; or the east sidé: The rest of
the bulldlngs are; fof the fiost part; $ik stories in height, and date
¢hiefly from the end of the Nineteéenth Centiiry.

BEOFORD STREET East Side (Bétw: Barfow & Grove 5ts.)

These tws forrr- -3tory biick bulldlngs dre vernaculaf versions of the
lite Greek Revival style Though they dppear so 51m11ar, they Wéle ace
tually built alfiost th1rty yeals apart for two fieitbers of thé Deéfarest
fam11y N6: 82; the corner house, was built ih 1846 fop BenJamln B.
Demarest a carman, % a two oF three- ~$tory house; and raised to its
present four =story helght before 1879

No. 84, orlglnally bu11t for Pétér N: Demarest, also ‘A Garman;
represents an alteration; in the Bightéen-sevénties, of a Mikh earlier;
harrowér frame building with 4 brick front; which may predate 1826+
This is corroborated by a change £rom Flemlsh to runhing bond above the

- first story I 1872 this two and ene= zhalf story house was raised to

three stofiés, and the open passageway, indicated by the afched doorway
at- the right side of the building, was bridged over. This passageway led
to a reat bulldlng in “Pamela Court," known as No. 58 Bariow Street;
built in 1827 for Albert Romalne By the eiid of the century, No. 84 had
acquiréd a fourth story Both these buildings are very 31mp1e with
brick facadés, partly in Flémish bond, and have contrasting stone lifi-
tels, flush with thé brickwork; and Stoné windowsills: Brick parapets
with stoné copifigs Were added at a later date to both buildifigs. In the
m1d Ninetéenth Century, N6. 82 had a ground floor store; today it is a
maltifamily dwelllng

 The Démarests W were orlglnally a4 French Huguenot fam11y. Togéther
with the Romaings (Romlnes) and the Blauvelts, to whom théy were Felated
by marrlage they not only were actlve 1n the development of The Vlllage,

as well

Built in 1831 for Gormélius flopper, this swall two ‘and <omne-Half
stoTy ‘Strutture, extéhSively altetéd over the years, has had ah intergst-
ing history. Early in this ¢entury, the front building afid & rear stable
were joified. Then, when the bUlldlng was purchased in 1926 by Lee
Chumley, thé front -of the house was refodeled to make it lovk 1ike a
garage Behlnd this false front, and énteréed through a Tear dovtway
leadlng ifto 'Paiiela Court,” was oné of ‘the best knowh "speakeasi®s" of
the era, a populatr rendezvous For such well known 11terary flgures as ™
John Dos Passos, Edna St. Vincént Millay, and Théodoie Dreisér. ‘Nowadays,
the ground floor i5 occupied by a restaurant which $till bears the nifie
of ‘the owner of thé Nin&teen-twenties, with a iivimal Frbit eiftrarice. *
The naitTéw Ffacade, which has béén stuccoed-over, i3 dlstlngulshed by a
door flufiked by windows aiid a sifgle doorway at the left side. At toof
level, it has its driginal «‘dofmets with casement wifidows ¥et @bove a
simp1é=waea-cern1ee'with~sheeteetai Tain gutter.
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BEDFORD STREET East Side (Betw. Barrow § Grove Sts.)

#88 This three-story brick house, over a rusticated basement, was
erected as a private residence in 1850-51 for the estate of James
Phalen. Originally there was an alley next to the house, to the right,
leading to '"Pamela Court,' as well as a basement passageway. This
passageway, indicated by the right-hand doorway with an oval window
above it, like No. 84, was bridged over in the Twentieth Century, per-
haps at the same time that a street level entrance replaced the former
stoop. The building is unadorned except for contrasting stone window
sills, lintels capped with small cornices, and a modillioned roof cor-
nice. :

#90 This six-story brick apartment house, with another entrance at
No. 20 Grove Street, was built in 1898-99 for Leister § Dohrenmund by
Schneider § Herter, architects. At third story level it retains the
round-arched windows of the Romanesque Revival period, and a handsome
unifying foliate band course. Most striking is the use of contrasting
white masonry lintels and sills against the darker brick background.
The fourth and fifth story windows are capped by prominent lintels
carried on brackets. The top story terminates in arched windows and
moldings repeating the arch motif of the third story windows. The
building is crowned by a heavy cornice carried on brackets. The design
is further enhanced by the canopied doorway with its foliate motifs.
The structure is typical of the late Nineteenth Century period of
Eclecticism. A store with cast iron columns occupies the corner.

BEDFORD STREET West Side (Betw., Grove § Barrow 5ts.)

The corner building, with a back yafd fronts on Grove Street
(described under No. 18).

#95 This narrow four-story brick building, with stone trim at the first
story, was designed for Herman Schade by Kurzer § Kohl, architects, and
erected in 1894, The triple-arched, first story windows are a reminder
that the building was originally a stable; it was converted into apart-
ments and offices in 1927. The brick panels under the windows of the
third and fourth floors lend considerable interest. The paneled fascia
board with bracketed cornice has a distinctive fan-shaped pediment,
reminiscent of the Queen Anne style.

#91 § 93 These two five-story brownstone apartment buildings of 1883 were
designed for J. H. Havens and R. C. Winters by the architect, Ralph §.
Townsend. No. 91 retains its original doorway, doors and inner vesti-
bule, No. 93 has been altered and has a classical doorway. Interest
is given these two buildings by the use of contrasting smooth-surfaced
and rock-faced stonework arnd by sculptural decorative motifs. The
heavy cornice above the first story and the projecting lintels above
the windows are cases in point, Sculptured human heads serve as key-
stones of the arched windows and doors of the first floor. The window
sash is of the double-hung type with plate glass. The houses are
crowned by boldly stepped roof cornices in which brackets and fan-
shaped motifs alternate. Two fire escapes run down the center of the
facades of each building, terminating above the entranceways.

#85-89 These three brick apartment dwellings, five stories high, adjoining
similar buildings on Barrow Street, were built in 1889 and are good ex-
amples of intelligent planning. They were all designed for the estate
of Letetia A. Poillon by Samuel A. Warner. The three buildings, each
with its own entrance, are treated as a unit. The continuous horizontal
stone string courses separating each floor from the next and the con-
tinuous roof cornice are instrumental in creating an effect of visual
unity. Additional interest is given these buildings by the contrast
of the brick walls to the rough-faced brownstone of the basement. The
treatment of the splayed lintels over the windows lends further in-
terest, The stone lintels above the entrance doorways with simple
geometric forms represent additions of a later date.

-217-



- #100

.#102

#104-106

#110

#107-

117

GV-HD ' " AREA 6

BEDFORD STREET  (Bétweéii Gfové § Christophér Streets)

THig is one OFf thé most att¥active blocks in Greenwich Village.
The east sidé of the stredt céittains thred éxtremely picturesque houses

in thé southérn half of thé block, wifh latér Nlneteenth.Century apart-

ment houses to the north On the west 51de, there 1s a handsome c1a551-

houses.

BEDFORD STREET Fast Side (Bétw. Grove § Christophér Sts.)

Built in 1833 for William F: Hyde, sashmaxer, a$ a shop to the iear
of his Housé on the corner; No. 17 Grove Street, this tiny and quite
charming stfucturc hds beeﬁ con51derably altéred over the yedars. Origi-
nally a oné-story buildiiig, a seécond story had alrrdy beén added by the
late Eightéen-fiftiés. The casement windows with leaded panes and ex-
terior blinds are a mdderii alteration. :

The orlglnal tws dnd one-half story framé house with dorfiers, built
about 1830, was COmpletely altered beyond recognition in 1925 by Clifford
Reed Daily, with the financial backing of Otto Kahn, banker and art
patroi, It was remodeled iiito a five-stotry stucco studlo building, afid
is distinguished by thé deécorative use of pseudo-mediéval half- t1mber1ng
with smooth stucco walls. Steép roofs with twin gables slope down to a
deep overhang at the front. Large casément bay windows pioject from the
facadé of the biiilding and aré fraiied by half- -timbering. The half-
timbered panels, below the wiiidows, relate them to each other in a
continudiis vérticdl bay. The same treatmént appeats in two rows of bay
windows on the south §ide of the building, centered under the two gables
which gave the building its name=-"Twin Peaks."

This six- story brick apartment housé with brownstone trim is a hand=
some building of 1891, deblgned by H: Hornburger for George C. MéLaughlin.
It has a mdsonry flrst floor with square-héaded windows and a Simple én-
tranceway located at the centér. The next two floors are of riisticated
brickiwobrk, and the top floor his round-atched windows with thée two end
vindows combined under rellev1ng arches.

C. F. Riddér; J¥.; architect; de51gned thls five-story corher biiild-
ing of 1883 for John Totter. Built of brick, its main ertrance is at
No. 122 Christopher Street, next to its twin, No, 120. The ground floor
has been remodéled recently with cornier efitrance and cldpbodrds; but the
basic dlgnlty of the building remains unimpaired. The windows have stone
lintéls whosé 1mpost blocks becoié horizontal band courses: A striking
¢ornice; with brackéts carriéd below the fascia line; crowns theé buildivigi
ibove; ciredlar escutclieciis create aii interesting proflle against thé
sky. '

BEDFORD STREE! West Side (Betw. Christopher & Grove Sts.)

This exceptiondlly fine row of dignified Greék Revival town Hoiises
was built for George ifarrison. The first three holisés of thé ¥ow; Nos.
113-117, were built in 1843; the others followed the riéxt yéar¥: These
re51dences remadihéd in thé Harrlson family until 1877 ahd, as they have
been altered very little, they §till vétdin their mid- N1neteenth Century
appearance today.

With the exception of No. 107-109, which is a double Rouse; four
windows wide with two separate entrances; all the others are single
residences, three windows wide. In each of these threg- -$tOTY. fésidences,
with basement, a high stoop leads to a handsome panéled and redessed
door framed by classicdl pilasters. The outer doorway is framéd by full
stohe entablatures resting on pilasters with simply moldéd capltals
All the window sash, except at the first and second floors of No. 111,
is of the double-hung, muntined typé. Nos. Il1l. through 115 are capped
by 1iftels with diminutive cornlces, while Nos. 107 afid 109 havé moré
strongly projecting shectmetal céthices 6f a later daté. Thé windows of
No. 109 hdve shutters. All thé houses aré crowned by individudl, delicate,
dentl}ed roof cornices.

Most of the ironwork is orlglnal The gracefully curvéd wrought
irdén handralllngs at the stoops of Nos. 109 through 115 have attractive
castings set above each riser. No. 111 retains its original cast iron
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BEDFORD STRELT West Side (Betw. Christopher § CGrove Sts.)

newel posts within the curve of the handrailing. The urn-shaped newel
posts at No. 109 represent a later addition, as does the left handrail
of the stoop at No. 107. The painter Lincoln Rothschild lived at No.

107 in the Nincteen-forties and fifties.

George Harrison, and his brother John, began to acquire the prop-
erties in 1839 from the heirs of Samuel Harrison and Peter Sharpe,
who, between them, had owned the entire block, George Harrison, who
began his career as a saloon keeper at James Harrison's Northern Hotel,
79 Cortlandt Street, gradually became moré and more involved in the
real estate business and was later associated with the holdings of

. the Amos Estate.

The Manhattan School, one of the City's special "600" schools, is
an exceptionally handsome building designed in classical style for
the City of New York by C. B. J. Snyder, architect. It was erected in
1905-06 as Public School No., 3 and stands on the site of one of the
oldest schools offering frec non-scctarian education in New York City.
The original schoolhouse here had been built in 1821 as School No. 3
by the I'ree School Society, on lots given by Trinity Church Corporation.

The main portion of the school fronts on Bedford, Grove, and
Hudson Streets and rises to a height of five stories above a rusticated
stone base at first floor level. Above the fourth floor, a
classical roof cornice surmounts a frieze with triglyphs and carved
metopes. The cornice above has a low brick parapet between windows
with arched pediments flanking a large triangular pediment which sur-
mounts a triple window,

The low building to the north, housing the school auditorium and
gymnasium on the roof, was added in 1915-16 by the same architect.
It is built of rusticated stonework and is one story high and runs
through the block to Hudson Street. Tts most conspicuous feature is
its row of arched windows, joined to produce the effect of an arcade.
Unfluted Dotic column$ support the arches; a larger doorway to the
north is set in a small rusticated pavilion. 7This building is sur-
mounted by a simple classical cornice with stone balustrade. The hand-
some gymnasium facade is repeated on Hudson Street,

BLEECKER STREET East Side (Betw. Seventh Ave, So. § Grove St.)

This two-story building, erected on a triangular lot bounded by
Bleecker Streest and Seventh Avenue South, which intersect here, was
designed in 1926 by the architects Sypher § Golden for John Bleecker.
Brick headers, in a darker shade than the rest of the building, and
used as band courses and wiiidow frames, provide the only decorative
note.

This low one-story structure was erected in 1939 by Sidney Schuman
for Anna Mescia. 1In 1965 a new store front was added. The brickwork
has been used decoratively in the parapet below the coping to provide
a contrast to this otherwise plain facade.

A tall stepped parapet crowns this thrce-story commercial building
of 1931, designed by Max Siegel for .the Allenad Realty Corporation. The
facade is divided into three scctions of unequal width with designs in
varied shades of brickwork: the central section has wide metal case-
ment windows, flanked at the sides by smaller ones. Scrolled finials
appear at the top of the vertical piers above the roof parapet.

This taxpayer is the result of an alteration of 1958, when two
buildings, erected in 1933 during the Depression, were combined. The
original owner as Anna R. Crossin, and the architects were Scacchetti
& Siegel. A utilitarian structure, with simple brick parapet above
the store windows, it serves a useful purpose as a food market.

The house which once stood on this site (No. 309) merits
description, in part because it is the house in which Poe lived
during his last illness (1849), and also it was the archetype of
so many of those attractive little dwellings of shopkeepers which
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BLEECKER STREET. East Side (Betw. Seventh Ave. So. § Groye St.)

were once such a censpicuous feature of The Village

Built of frame construction with entrance deor and store:
occupying  the first floor, it wds two stories h1gh wlth attic
and dormer windews. The second f£loor was clapboarded and had
muntined windows with exterior blinds, The two dormers in the
roof had agrched windows, flanked by pilasters, beneath gable-
ended roofs. The muntins in the arched portion of the window
radiated out from a central semlc1rcular segment of muntin to.
meet the curve of the arched top. This was a truly handsome
feature of this small dwelling. The store had a central “double
doer, flanked on either side by show windows, d1v1ded into four
panés of glass each, which were carried on bracketed shelves.
Handsome wood pilasters and a cornice enframer the entlre store
front.

It was not unusual for shopkeepers to live above their stores,
and this little house of the first part of the Nineteenth Century
was a fine example of this type of dwellrng, expressive in its
design and showing pride of workmansh1p in its simple detalls

Built for George Harrison im 1848, this three-story vernacular
building has been considerably altered. George Harrison, who was
associated with the Amgs estate, had developed a fine row of houses
at No0.107-117 Bedford Street a few years before. Thls bu11d1ng has
a store at street level and steel casement windows at the upper floors,

BLEECKER STREET West Side (Betw. Grove St. & Seventh Ave. Seo,)

A handsome continuous roof cornice with simple fascia unifies
these late Greek Revival houses, four stories high and built in the
vernacular of the day. The four perfectly plain brigk bulldlngs are
treated as a unified facade, They have simple stone window lintels
and a plain unifying corn1ce above the store fronts. The store fronts
are largely veneered with new sheetmetal, but traces of the orlglnal
cast iron columns are still visible, These houses were built in 1847
as an investment for Andrew B, Haxtun, a well-to-do stock broker who '

-came from Catskill, New York, From 1839 on he lived in the mansion

at 45 Grove Street around the cerner, which he had purchased from the
estate of Samuel Whittemore, :

This four-story residence, built in 1847 for Williapm Agate, is
similar in character to its neighbors te the north. Like them, it is
a brick building whose only adormment is the window trim. In this

case, however, projecting sheetmetal cornices have been added abeve

the window lintels. ©Of speC1al interest are the paired cast iron
columns flanking the door of the store, a reminder of the orlglnai
cast iron store frent, new covered with stucco,

This xow of four dwellings was erected in 1829 for Chariles Pakley.
Originally constructed in Flemish bond, the brick fropts of gll these
buildings are wvery simple. It .appears likely that they were @lanned
with ground fleer stores from the beginning; in .any case, all ‘had
‘become -commercial properties by the mid-Eighteen- f1ft1es \@akley Mas
an @ttorney who owned & great .deal of‘propermy in the. 1mmed1ate vicini-
ty, oh Commerce, Barrow and 'Bedford Streets, and elsewhere in The
Wiiﬂage

296, a small, three and .one-half story building with dormer,
is the only one -of the row which retains its .original late $edera1
appearance, in -.spite of an alteration of the early Elghteen-seventles
The front is very jplain, with the sole contrast to be found in ithe

 stone windowsills ‘and lintels. Sheetmegtal cornices and1ca51ngs\ﬂere

added to -the window lintels -at a Jater date. The rather unusual
double dormer represents a modification of the central 51ng1e dormer.
The sheetmetal ‘xoof cornice with .plain fascia covers the or1g1na1
The other buildings of .the -row have been more .extensively
altered. At No. $800-302, a .fourth story was -added 4in the \Eighteen-
seventigs, and ‘the two- houses were later unified by a- hlgh “brick

‘parapet linking the two facades. Bpth buildings have a common.{are

escdpe and windows -with double-hung muntined sash. [Early in this
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BLEECKER STREET West Side (Betw. Crove St, § Seventh Ave., So.)

century, a fourth story was added to No. 304, together with a stepped
roof parapet. The fourth story windows make a continuous row of five
which now have a unifying lintel. A fire escape runs up the front
above the store.

This one-story restaurant, serving the neighborhood, occupies the
corner, and extends along Barrow Street (Nos. 30 and 32). It was
originally four stories in height and was reduced to one, due to de-
fective walls. Severely simple in design, with a single door to the
left of a single window, it has a parapct bearing the name of the
lessee. As a restaurant, it serves its purpose in the community,
although completely out of scale with its neighbors.

BLEECKER STREET East Side (Betw. Grove § Christopher Sts.}

The corner six-story apartment house (described under Nos. 49-53
Grove Street) is a good example of the work of the later Nineteenth
Century. It was erected in 1889.

George F. Pelham designed this six-story apartment building
erected in 1902 for Jacob Cohen. It is transitional in design, com-
bining elements of the Romansque Revival in the arched windows of its
upper floors, with a modern approach to classical formulae.

This corner building, one of a row of three which originally in-
cluded Nos. 323 and 325, was erected in 1832-33 for Samuel Whittemore,
manufacturer of carding equipment for the textile industry, State
Assemblyman 'in 1816 and the owner of much property in the area. The
building has been considerably altered, but the original Flemish bond
brickwork may still be seen as high as the top of the second story
window lintels, where it changes to running bond, a result of the
addition of a third story in the late Eighteen-eighties. Further
alterations, notably the erection of a roof parapet, took place in the

mid-Nineteen-twenties.

BLEECKER STREET West Side (Betw. Christopher § Grove Sts.)

This entire block front was built in 1854 for Martin Bunn and
Nicholas D. Herder, wholesale grocers at 99 Murray Street and 113
Warren Street, They had purchased the property in 1851 from the
estate of Andrew Haxtun. Until that time, the land had been part of
the mansion and gardens of 45 Grove Street. This row of seven four-
story brick buildings continued around the cornmer and included two
additional houses, Nos. 92 and 94 Christopher Street.

The original appearance of this handsome Italianate row can best
be visualized today by the appearance of Nos. 326 and 328 at the
corner of Christopher Street. These four-story houses were erected
as one-family dwellings, with stores on the ground floor. Although
the store fronts have been much altered, the upper stories retain
even today much of their mid-century appearance. The plain brick
walls are adorned only by simple stone window lintels and sills, with
attractive cast iron window railings in the Italianate style at second
story level. The tall French windows of the parlor floor have tran-
soms. The muntined double-hung window sash of some of the upper floor
windows at No., 328, and of all at No. 326, give us some idea of the
appearance of the windows when this row was built. A simple cornice
still crowns these two buildings and their neighbor, No. 324,

The other buildings of the row have been more extensively altered.
The facade of No. 324 has been smooth-stuccoed, and the double-hung
windows replaced by steel casements. The long windows of the second
floor have been shortened by raising the sills and bricking up the
wall, as is also the case at Nos. 318-22.

Originally separate, Nos. 318-322 have been joined together to
create a uniform facade by means of a continuous brick roof parapet
and by a new brick facing with soldier courses at ground floor level
enframing the stores. The long windows at the second story have been
shortened. New metal casements have been introduced throughout. No.
320 has a fire escape.

No. 316 retains the tall French windows with iron railings on the
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BLEECKER STREET West Side {(Betw. Christopher § Grove Sts.)

second floor of its Bleecker Street front. The brickwork of the facade
has recently been cleaned and repointed.

'BLEEQKEF_STREET Last Side (Betw. Christopher § West 10th Sts.)

This corner house (also No. 93 Christopher Street), of frame con-
struction with a brick face of Flemish bond, was erected somé time be-
tween 1802 and 1810, with a stere at streét level. The neighboring
houses, Nos. 331-337, all were once part of the same property and were
owned by William Patterson, a grocer, who lived at No. 329 over his
store, as was the custom in those days. When Bleecker Stréet was
widened in 1828, No. 329 had a slice of its west wall renoved dand the
present facade, with a central, arched window f1' nked by quadrant win-
dows, dates from this period.

Built in 1830 as an extension to William Patterson's cornetr house,
by mid-century two narrow frame houses had been built on the lot. Today
we see a wide thrce-story brick-faced building with store at street
level, with two entrances to the upper floors, one at eacCh end. The
facade is completely symmetrical and belongs stylistically to the local
vernacular. William Patterson lived in No. 331 until his death.

Three stories high, this brick building was built as his residence
for William G. Patterson's son William, who was in the liquor business.
The house was constructed in 1861 and has a bold cornice with paired
brackets and stores at the ground floor. The arrangement of the stores
and their relationship to the doorway leading to the upper floors is a
hit or miss type of design which, had there been architectural controls,
might have been made a meaningful bit of design for this old house.

This small frame housc, with a brick front, added later to conform
with the widening of Bleecker Street, was originally constructed in
1820 for Alexander Cumn, minister of the Bloomingdale (Dutch Reformed)
Church, who had purchased the land to the north, extending up to West
Tenth Strect, from Samuel Whittemore three years earlier. The housé
is now three stories high with store at ground floor dnd entrance door
at the left. It is a simple structure built in the local veérnacular

‘and las a low roof coriice just above the third floor windows.

These two buildings of frame construction are identical and were
built in 1830-31 on ldnd leased from the Gunn estate by Alexander
Lounsberry. Shortly thereafter, Lounsberry opened a shoe store on the
first floor of his residence, No. 343. Both have brick fronts of
Flemish bond. They are three stories high with simple cornices, and
have stores at ground floor level. Like No. 339 to the south, they

© are simple_vernacular structures, attractive in their simplicity.

Built in 1883, this handsome four-story cormeér building has its
long side on West Tenth Street and a ground floor store facing
Blcecker Street. Its architectural quality may be séen in thé re-
lationship between the light-colored stone window lintéls and the
stone band courses beneath them which come in at impost block level.
Between the windows of the third and fourth floors, groovés in the
brickwork lend an accent of verticality as a counterpoisé to the

horizontality of the stone band courses.

BLEECKER STREET West Side (Betw. West 10th § Christopher Sts.)

This six~-story apartment house of 1928, with stores at the

~ground floor level (described under No. 218 West Tenth Street),

occupies the corner site. No. 340 is a one-story brick attachment.

~On its corner site, this sixteen-story apartment house of 1930
(described under Nos. 95-103 West Tenth Street) is separated by a
narrow alleyway from the neighboring apartment building (Nos. 340-
348) which fills the northern Half of the block.

-222-

L)

o



#116

#118 § 120

¥70-74

GV-HD - AREA 6

CHARLES STREET (Between Hudson § Grecenwich Streets)

As we look down this short street, which combines residential
and commercial buildings, the cye is immediately drawn to the un-
usual little wooden house at the far end of the north side. Accord-
ing to tradition, it dates from the early Nineteenth Century, or even
perhaps late in the Eighteenth. 1Tt was recently moved from York
Avenue and Seventy-first Street to this more congenial spot in The
Village and now occupics part of a vacant lot. Its low height and
tiny scale are in startling contrast to the four and five-story apart-
ment houses which occupy the rest of this .side of the street, of which
the tallest, a late Nincteenth Contury Romanesque Revival building, is
a good example of that stylc.

The most intercsting building on the south side of the street is
located at the intersection of Hudson and Charles Strects. FErected in
1827, this building, with a chamfered corner, still displays paneled
Federal lintels and Flemish bond brickwork. The side entry, under a
hooded roof, is hardly more appropriate than is the Hudson Street
front., The building steps down gradually from its three-story height
to a small, one-story, stuccoed extension at the rear. Except for two
houses at mid-block, the rest of the street is commercial, with a ware-
house at the Greenwich Street intersection which is completely utili-
tarian in character.

CHARLES STREET South Side (Betw. Mudson § Greenwich Sts.)

This three-story corner house, together with a two-story exten-
sion, was built in 1827 and is described under No, 533 lMudson Street,
Notable are the paneled Federal lintels and the Flemish bond brickwork.

Though these two houscs are now connected, they were built on
separate lots for Isaac Blauvelt, cartman, for rental incomec. No. 118,
an extremely narrow three-story house, over a basement, with Federal
style lintels, was erected in 1827 on a lot which ells te No. 531
Hudson Street, erected for Blauvelt. No. 120 was built in 1841, and
is an example of a vernacular house of the period.

The low brick building of 1945 (described under Nos. 707-711
Greenwich Street) serves as a loading platform for a waste-paper
company. '

1

CHRISTOPHER STREET (Between Seventh Avenue South § Bleecker Street)

This is a street of multiple uses and varying appearance, with
structures ranging in style from late Federal to modern. Its most
striking building is an early Nineteenth Century church at mid-block
on the north side. With its stone-véncered front and round cupola,
this sober late Federal structure creates an interesting contrast to
the brick which predominates on the street and to the ornate design’
of the neighboring apartment house just to the west. ‘This early
example of apartment house living, with its interesting cast iron
store fronts at street level, towers over the church and its school
and overpowers the tiny threce-story building at the intersection of
Christopher and Bleecker Streets, a structure which dates back to the
early years of the Nineteenth Century.

The south side of the street, with buildings ranging in height
from one to five stories, is notable for two houses toward the
western end of the block which preserve features of the late Federal
and Greek Revival styles--charming reminders of an earlier day. At
mid-block is a five-story apartment house, a fine example of late
Romanesque style. With its arched windows, striking contrast of brick
and stone, and a pedimented central gable, it lends a colorful note to
the street.

CHRISTOPHER STREET South Side (Betw. Seventh Ave. So. § Bleecker St.)

These three low buildings, replacing five-story apartment houses
(described under Nos. 106-110 Seventh Avenuc South), occupy the tri-
angular corner site at this intersection.
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CHRISTOPHER STREET South Side (Bdtw. Séventh Ave. So. § Bleécker St.)

#76 This fiye-Story brick apartment house is only half as wide on
‘Christepher Stréet a3 it i3 at the othér énd facing Grové Street (No.
61}, It has arched windows at the top floor suriounted by an elabio-
rate, bracketed corniceé.

#78-80 Built ih 1889, this late Romahesque Revival apartment house was
designed by E. L. Angell fot John Ryan. Tt i's a very attractive five-
stofy building with b¥ick abové a stome First fider. Broad, hori-
zontal band ¢ourses of stoné, and roéund-arched windows at the third
floor, enliven the brlck walls. A central portlon, two windows wlde,
is projected forward abové the thifd flodr and is crowned by a stéép
~gable. The handsome entrance doorway is of stoné and has 3 décorated
frieze and cofhice supported on déeép curvilifear brackeétsd Which éx-
tend to a point just above the thieshold.

#82 A narrow, five- story apartment housé; Four windows wide, decu:
pies this 51te It was bu11t 1n 1892 for Frank and Jacob Welnhelmer
dows. The flfth story w1ndows are tound- arched Wwith decoratlve terra
cotta frames above the cénttal windows and elaborate spandrel panels
above the wifidows at the sides. The ¢orhiceé has been replaced by 4
paneled, stuccoed parapet The first floor was temodeied in the
Twentieth Cehtury in brick to provide a store and side entrafice to
the upper floors:

#84 § 86 ° -  These tiwo houses were Built for Samuel Whittemore in 1836 with
fronts execiited in Flemish bond brickwork. As is so often the case
in The Village, each retains some of the origindl features, bt
neither retains all. Noé. 84 has its nuntined window sash but now
hds a néw brlck parapet and basefiént entrancé. No. 86 hds its hand-
some original doorway ard ekxtérior ironiork. This doorwdy; dlthough
late Federal in its gereral arrangement, displays Greek Révivdl orna-
mefit; such ds may be found above the central window of No. 45 Grove
‘Street, the house wWhere Whittemore lived. The top floor has beer ré-
modeled to provide a large studio window and the muntihed wiridow sash
has. all beefi replaced by plate glass sash. The paintér Vincént
Cariadé livéd at No. 86 iii thé Nineteén-thirtiés.

#88 This ofie-story structure i$ an extension to the four-story build-
ing erected by Sdmuel Whittémore in 1832-33 (describéd under No. 327
Bleecker Street).

. CHRISTORHER. STREET North Side (Betw. Bleecker St. & Seveénth Ave. So.)

#93 This little corher housé is one of the oldest housés ih: The
Village, having beer built sone timé between the years 180%Z afid' 1808
for William: Pattersoi, a grocer. Interestingly enough, it sti*¥l Has
a first floor grocery storé. Althlough it is now threé storiés high
and stuccoed, preserting a rdather Bland facade on' the Chri'stopher
Street side, it was orce onily two and one-half stories high, with
dorimers. The Bleecker Street front is far more inteéresting (des-
cribed under No, 329 BleecKker), since it bears muté witness to
alterations carried out afteér the widening of Bleécker Stréét in the
late Eigliteen-twerities and still displays cHaractéristic featiires of
the: Federal style.

#85-91 Thi's early apartment house of 1872 cohsists of four six-story
' units with unifori facades and a unifying cornice (reémovéd: ath No. 85).

it was: designed for Gessner § Reichart by W. J. Gessiher. Thére are
stores at ground floor, most of which are the originals, with théir
delicate turned' wood uprights at the corners and shelflike=pr0jec-
‘tions below. The handsome, paneled, square- columiris of cast iron
supporting the front are a conspicuous feature at' stréeet lével’, as
are the simple double entrance ddors with transoms above at' Nos, 85
and.87. The boldly projeéting. cormice, carried orl bratkets: is
caried up to form an archied pediment at No. 89 with'the words
“Gessriér - 1872" in the tympanum.

#83 St. John's School is in the Parish House. In 1886, a new brick
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CHRISTOPHER STREET North Side (Betw. Bleecker St. § Seventh Ave. So.)

front was added; it was designed by Berg § Clark for the church in the
Romanesque Revival style, with round-arched windows at first and
second floors. These windows have radial brick trimmed at their outer
edges by a delicate terra cotta molding which, .at first floor level,
is carried out to form a horizontal band course at the level of the
spring line of the arch. The third floor windows are square-headed
and are surmounted by a broad band course with pulled brick headers,
used to give it texture and sparkle. Above this, an expressive band
of brick corbels scrves as cornice.

This very handsome stone-veneered Federal style church was built
in 1821-22, as the Cighth Presbyterian Church, and is known today as
5t., John's Evangelical Church.

The church is set back slightly from the building line of the ad-
jacent structures on the street, and is completely symmetrical in
elevation. Three round-arched doorways with deep paneled reveals give
access to the church through double doors which have semi-circular
glass transoms above. Three windows above these doors are also arched
and set between fluted pilasters which begin at sill level and extend
up to the cornice where they meet the ends of the large triangular
pediment. The lunette in the pediment is surrounded by an array of
scrolls supporting a tablet directly above it. The fascia of the
cornice is handsomely embellished with vertical flutings and round
and oval rosettes, Surmounting the pediment is a striking octagonal
tower, designed as a small belvedere with dome, enclosed by arched
louvres. The dome, in turn, is surmounted by a miniature octagonal
spire with ball and cross atop. All the exterior woodwork of tower
and front facade was metal-clad at a later date to protect it, Berg
§ Clark were the architects who supervised the alterations of 1886.

The Church was organized in 1819, and S. N. Rowan, D.D., was
installed as pastor in the same year, serving until 1830. In 1842
the church changed denominations and became St. Matthews (P.E.)
Church, an acquisition made possible through gifts by the estates
of Charles Morgan and Thomas Otis. It was consecrated in March,

1842, and Rev, Jesse Pound was the new Rector. 1In 1858 it became
St. John's Lutheran Church.

The simple, three-story brick building adjoining the Church to
the east is the Parsonage. It was built in 1868 for the Church, and
was designed by John M. Foster, architect. It is three stories high
with a simple, bold cornice, and has corbel blocks under the window
sills. The original stoop with wrought iron handrailings remains.

Five stories high, this housc presents a severely simple face to
the street., Built originally in 1837 by Edward Black, mason, as a
three-story building, the house was altered by Babb § Cook in 1879,
when it was raised to four stories and converted into "French Flats."
Further modifications included the addition of a fifth floor, crowned
by a roof cornice with an interesting arcaded fascia board and a fire
escape with well designed wrought iron balconies at the right side of
the facade.

This corner brick taxpayer was built in 1932 for Crisenfor,
Incorporated, by Phelps Barnum, and also faces on to No. 220 West
Fourth Street. It makes use in its design of a contrast of the hori-
zontals and verticals and corner pavilions. The top of the parapet
is trimmed with ornament, and the ground floor is occupied by shops.
The corner, Nos. 116-118 Seventh Avenue South, was remodeled to
accommodate a branch of the West Side Savings Bank.

CHRISTOPHER STREET (Between Bleecker § Mudson Streets)

This.long street, interrupted on the south by the intersection of
Bedford Street, is largely residential in character. Although it con-
tains a loft building, as well as a garage and a theater, the emphasis
is on apartment house living, Spanning well over one hundred years, it
provides a cross section of architectural development in The Village.
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CHRISTOPHER_STREET (Betweeft Bleecker § Hudson Streets)

The ble¢k contains interesting examples of the late Federal and Gteek
Revival styles, as well 43 houses of Italianite design; all in marked
contrast te iater Ninetee€iith Century five and six-stoty dpartinent
houses. ‘The huge; federi; $ixteeh-5tory apartment house at the north-

- éast cornér of Bleecker Street completely overwhelms thesé earlier.
structurés and is out of chataéter with the heighbothood. Had a regu-
latory body existed at the time wheii this building was plahned,; it
should have been pessible to make it more compatible with its
surroundings.

The most notable buildings om the street zre- located on the south
side. First to catch our eye aré the handsomely proporticnéd Italidnate
buildings of the mid-Nincteenth Century on the cornet of Christopher
and Bleetker Streets: Farther down the block is » six-story building;
thought to bé the earliest apartmént Housé in The Village. At the ex-
treme western efid of the block, between Bedford and Hudson Streets, are
two intetresting éxamples of the architecture of the second quartér of
‘the last century. Although marred by an ihept alteration, the house
on the west side 4t the Bedford Street intersection, whlch is one of
a row of éxceptionally fiiie Greek Revival residences on Bedford Street,
still preserves intcresting indications of its forme¥ staté. It is
sepatated by a small court from it$s neighbor on the corner of Hudson
Street. In spite of a recent alteration, this building still retains

- vestiges of the Federal period when it was built,

While deminated by the sixteen-story building already mentioned,
the lower height of tlie five or six-story apaitment houses lends a
human scale to the north side of the street. : :

CHRISTOPHER STREET South Side (Betw. Bléecker § Bedford Sts.)

92 § 94 Both of these exceptionally well proportioned brick houses were
erected in 1854 for Martin Bunn and Nicholas D. Herder, wholesale
grocers at 99 Murray and 113 Warren Street$, as part of a block front
at Nos. 316-328 Bleecker Street.

Intended as one-family dwelllngs, the four story housés were
planned with stores oit the ground floor. Although the ground fleor
fronts have béén altered, the uppér stories retain much of theiy nmid-

- century appéarahce. The plain brick walls are adorned only by simple
stone window lintels and $i11$ and the handsome original cast iron
window railing at second story level.  The tall second story French
windows haveé transems above. A simple wood cornice crowns éach
building. -

#96 . This narroéw four-story brick apartment house with a store at
street level wds eret¢ted in 1874 for Charles Beck by William E.
Bishop, feplacing an empty lot which ran through to Grove Street.
The building is ufiadoriied, except for the stone window trim and the
strongly projecting bracketed cornice. -End columns of thé original
store front remain, as does the muntined window sash above. A fire
escape; extending over_to theé adjoining row of windows at Ne. 94,
coveirs the left side of the facade:

#98 This si%-story brick building; erected in 1856 for Samuél
Taylot, a merchant tailor ac¢tive in real eéstate, is believed to be
the earliest apartment house in Greenwich Village. In contrast to
Nos.. 92 and 94, the height of each story is reduced, thus insuring
a greater return on ¥ents to the owner. It is a very plain brick
building with stome trim, capped by a projecting cornice with
brackets. Stores flank the central entrance to the building; the
one at the right, unchanged, is the original. Cast iroh columns
support the first floor. :

#100-104 This six-story brick apartment house was designed in 1912 for
the Ridge Holding Company by Charles B. Meyers, architect. It is
quite similar to. No. 114 in the same block, having stores at street
level and keystoned window lintels. The top floor windows are
separated by handsomc brick panels, and the cornice has three sets
of long paired brackets which extend down into the masonry fascia
to the tops of thése windows. Between them are evenly spaced.
modillions. ‘ '
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CHRISTOPHER STREET South Side (Betw. Bleccker § Bedford Sts.)

This handsome five-story apartment house, '"The Buxton,' was de-
signed for C. F. Buxton by Robert Maynicke, architect. [t was built
in 1898 with rusticatcd stonc bascement and actually consisted of two
buildings, although the single cntrance is located in the left-hand .
house. The brick walls arc separated by horizontal band courses at
each floor and the corners -of the buildings arc defincd by stone
quoins. The windows at the top floor arc round-arched with keystoncs;
a handsome classical cornice with console brackets crowns the building.

This small garage was built in 1921 for Pasquolo Mcola by Rudolph
V. P. Boehler, architect. [t stands on the site of a threc-story fruame
structure and, as rebuilt, has a handsome brick front with soldier-
course lintels and brick panels between windows and in a low parapet.

Quite similar in stylc to the buildings at Nos. 100-104, this six-
story brick apartment house was built a few yecars earlier, in 1908, by
the same architect, Charles B. Meyers, for J. Lipman and S. Root. [t
has stores at ground floor; above this, a plain brick wall rises sheer
to the cornice. The window lintels arc adorned with keystones, and
here there is the same trcatment of the top floor as at No. 100, 'The
cornice has a row of uniformly spaced brackets.

The last three buildings on this block, at the corncr of Bedford
Street, are five stories high and were designed by C. P. Ridder, .Jr.,
architect, for John Tetten, Nos. 120-122 (also No. 110 Bedford Street)
were built first in 1883, and No. 118 was completed in 1885 in the same
style. Handsome balconiecs extend across the fronts of Nos. 120 and

. 122, They are all virtually the same, although the cornice of No. 118

is less elaborate than those of its neighbors, and it has a conven-
tional fire escape. (They are further described under No. 110 Bedford
Street.)

CHRISTdPHER STREET South Side (Betw. Bedford § lludson Sts.)

This corner house was built in 1843 for George llarrison as part
of an exceptionally fine row of Greck Revival houses around the corner
on Bedford Street (Nos. 107-117). The three-story brick dwelling has
been considerably altcred over the ycars and now includes a basement
entrance with pediment and engaged columns on Christopher Street. 'The
original entrance, above a high stoop, was similar to those of the
Bedford Street houses. This original doorway -at parlor floor level
has been transformed into a mullioned window, the lower part of which
has been bricked-up and stuccoed. It is interesting te note that the
right-hand window of the original fivst floor and the central window
above the original doorway are both blind windows. Typical of the
houses of its period, it relied for contrast on the play of stone
against brick and on good proportions for cffect. A small mullioned
window was added later between two windows at third fleoor level, thus
altering the symmetry of the facade. All the windows have muntined
sash, The fine original dentiled cornice crowns the top story.

Separated from No. 126 by an iron gate lecading to Christopher
Court, this brick building in Flemish bond, fronting on Hudson Street
(No. 500), retains a central, arched attic window indicating what a
truly handsome Federal town house it was when it was built in 1827
for Peter Sharpe, whipmaker and Representative in Congress (1821-25).
If one eliminates thc last tier of windows next to Christopher Court,
an extension dating from Letween 1854 and 1859, as well as the fourth
story addition, one can then reconstruct the symmctrical Federal
facade. A pair of chimneys connccted by a horizontal parapet with
sloping shoulders, following the pitched roof lines, was probably the
original profile. Until the recent (late 1967) remodeling of the
building, traces of this sloping shoulder could still be detected to
the left of the arched window, sloping downwards, but interrupted by
the present fourth story window, doubtless replacing a quadrant win-
dow. As the entire first floor has been rcmodeled in recent years,
nothing remains of the original doorway. The house was built as a
fine residence, but by the mid-Eighteen-fifties it was already a
semi-commercial property, with stores on the ground floor.
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CHRISTOPHER STREET Nerth Side (Betw. Hudson § Bleecker Sts.)

FRer

s
et
o

ey S MDD

=
3

k125 This six-story

(#125 129) Feldman for the'
1ng features of thi

! _ by the archltect to $0
i Here- thlS was done by
extends the full heléh 9
sectlon of Chr13t0pher an

ne
1St
Eh@*
lve t
reee
t

co¥
¢hr
s otherw

D e 00

& d1ng
-g.unsight;x f re. escape
pes.

=

H
o
o st Al e el TV we VS DO S W Uy el ok T wl
&

i

¥!
X

R 1D D T D
e R

. et
IR N D W=D B

QD ret

iE
i 0 oD

it

ult of several
‘th a4 Tear stable,
hborhood moving
ter, It now

, Wi th central

#121 This theater occupie
(#121 123) drastle remode11ngs of tw
or1g1na11y erected in 1§
p1cture house from 1913

entrance and’ marquee‘

#117-119 - These two apartment houses, six stories in height, are identical
and present a uniform facade to the street even though they have
sepatate entrances, They wepe bu11t in l399 wlth stores at street

. lével. The thizd, ‘fourth and fifth flgor windows are set getween
! ‘ brlck piers and have Romanesque ReV1v“1 \rghgg aogye the fifth story,
' ' However, the seco d floor segmental-arched windows, with console type

--------- e

keystones, show the new c1a551ca1 influence of that period. They

| p i

were built for Jackson § Steln by Mlcha‘l Bernstein,

; #115 This seven-story loft building was built in 1901-03 for L, L.
' Chamberlln de51gned by E.-G, Gollner, The ground floor has doors
: providing access to the upper floors and to a ground floor shop
! Above thlS level brlck p1lasters 51gna11ze the ends of the side=
' walls and enclose qurntuple windows. The top floor has arched win-

dows, heneath a handsome, bracketed cornice,

#111 & 113 These two early five-story apartment houses were built in 1873
| . for John Rubensteln and were d051gned by W1111am Jose They have
: stores at ground floor level The heavy bracketed corn1ce wlth im=
pesing arched pedlment at No 113 shows the orlglnal appearance of
! ' the pair, A récent alterat1on 1nvolved the removal of this cornice
at No. 111 and the smooth =stuccoing of the wall behlnd it to prov1de
a low parapet

#107-109 - Designed for Jacob Weinstein by Bernstein § Bernstein, this 51x—
' story apartment house of 1904 w1th its 1n51stant horlzontals of con-
traatlng brlckwork and 1ts arehed terra cotta wlndow heads, had the
ney look for that year. Although its eornlce has been removed rt

......

at ground floor level

#105 This four-story bu11d1ng was erected in 1879:-1880 for Ernst
Schroeder, and designed by J. Hoffman wrth a small two story struc-
_ ture in the Tear. It was, for 1ts t1me, a very conventienal apart-
! ' ment house above a store at the ground floor The brlck facade is
relleved only by the heavy stone window 11nte15 with 1ne13ed ornament
. set on impost blocks The bracketed gornice is 51mple but interest= :
: : ing Wlth its hlgh end closure brackets which extend below the fascia,

#95 This sixteen-gtory. brick apartment house at the cornen of
! (#95-103) Bleecker Street (Nos. 330- 38) was built in 1930 1931 for Vlllage
Developers and de51gned by H. 1. Feldman archltect It dlsplays the
characterlstlcs of this perlod W1th its w1de horlzontal band’ courses
f ' ‘between wlndows, contrasted;wrth the shallow vertlcals Wthh extend
the height .of the bulldlng above the stone base course of the flrst
floor, The stepped parapet.above the front door shows the influence
of the French Exposition des Arts Deeoratlfs

CHRISTOPHER STREET  (Between Hudson § Greemwich Streets)

This street has an open, airy quality, with buildings which serve
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CHRISTOPHER STREET (Between Hudson § Greenwich Streets)

a variety of functions. On the south side, on the corner of Greenwich
Street, is a low school building, a part of the St. Luke's Chapel prop-
erty. The rest of the block is occupied by a school playground, en-
closed by a fence.

The north side has buildings ranglng in height from two to five
stories. The tallest structure serves as an entrance to the Port of
Authority Trans-Hudson tubes (PATH). Architecturally, the two most
interesting buildings on the block are the three-story, turn of the
century structure with rounded corner, at the intersection of Greenwich
Street, and the thrce-story house near the Hudson Street corner. Orig-
inally a Federal house, remodeled in the mid-Nincteenth Century, this
is the only building on the block which still completely preserves its
residential character.

CHRISTOPHER STREET South Side (Betw. Hudson § Greenwich Sts.)

This block is the property of St. Luke's Chapel. At the western
end of the block, on the corner of Greenwich Street, is the narrow end
of the school building (described under Nos. 653-677 Greenwich Street)
administered by the church. The rest of the block is occupied by the
school playground, enclosed by a fence.

CHRISTOPHER STREET North Side (Betw. Greenwich § Hudson Sts.)

Erected in 1901, this three-story building with rounded cornef

(described under No. 679 Greenwich St.) occupies a corner site.

This building, the tallest structure on the block (described under
No. 683 Greenwich Street), was erected in 1906 for the New York and
New Jersey Railroad Company. It now serves as the Hudson Terminal
Powerhouse and as an entrance to the Port Authority Trans-Hudson tubes
(PATH) .

This four-story brick left building, designed by Jardine, Kent §

- Hill for the 135 Christopher Street Corporation, was erected in 1911.

Distinguished by a judicious use of brickwork and interesting, symmet-
rical fenestration, this -building has a monumentality which belies its
relatively small scale.

This wide, three-story house represents the alteration of a
Federal house erected in 1819 for William Austen, cartman. Originally
only two and one-half stories high with dormers, and three windows
wide, the house was raised to three stories and widened at the left,

' where there had once been an alley. This alteration of the mid-

Eighteen-fifties is corroborated by the change in brickwork from
Flemish to rumning bond. The window railings and the roof cornice
date from the period of alteration.

This building (described under No. 501 Hudson Street) was the site
of a Volunteer Fire Company station, LCngine No. 34, in the second
quarter of the Nineteenth Century.

COMMERCE STREET (Between Seventh Avenue South § Bedford Street)

The great charm of this short street is its warm and livable

_quality, created primarily by its attractive two and one-half story

houses. On the south side, these Federal houses with pedimented
dormers are further enhanced by their contrast with the larger austere
building in their midst. They include an unusual double house., On
the north side at mid-block, an especially interesting example of this
style is harmoniously flanked by a row of similar houses in a three-
story version extending as far as the Seventh Avenue corner. At the
Bedford Street end, the five and six-story buildings continue the use

of brick on the strecet and tend to emphasize the low height of their

neighbors.
With proper design controls, an unattractive gasoline station,
at Seventh Avenue end of the street, could through proper use of
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COMMERCE STREET . (Between Seventh Avenue South: § Bedford Street)

materlals and de51gn have been-made to: harmonize with the exceptlonalhy

,,,,,

COMMERCE: STREET Seiitht Side @B*e'ﬁw. Seventh Ave. So. §& Bedford St.)

This block affordb a ¢onsiderable contrast between the low Federal
Wousés with doriiers oft botH sides of the street and the much: taller
apartment bui Idings &f thé Fater Nineteenth and Twentieth Genturies.
Nos. 24- 28, the earllest housés on the block {182L), were followed very
shortly by Nos. 9-15 on the éther side of the street, built in 1826 for
Charlés Oaklcy Oakley was an attorney and' 1mportant property owner in
the OFd Ninth Ward; for which he wis an inspector in the election of
1828, e dcveloped the éastern half of the bloc” bounded by Commerce
& Barrow Stréets and Sevénth Avenue which was later cut through the
property he OWned [t wis as 4 result of his petltlon to the Common
Council in. Apr11 1826 that Commérce Street was paved in front of these
housés. The paving was officially extended to Barrow Street the follow-
ing yéar.

#14 - The trlangular lot on the coriier of Commerce Street and Seventh
Avehue South is the sité of an undttractive gasoline filling station
serving the nelghborhood In view of the exceptionally attractive nature.

- of this streét dnd the small scale of its houses, there is no reason why,
with proper de51gn controls, a small brick filling station office with
wlng wdlls afid plaptér boxes could not have been designed here to harmo-
nize with theé neighborhood it serves.

#16-18 This double house of 1830, two and one-half stories high with
pedlmented dormcrs is a fine example of the late Federal style It is

Orlglnally, a passagew4y in the center of the house led to a buxldlng,
pObblblY used as a shop, at the rear of the lot. This passageway has
beeh closed with iron doors and there is now a casement window above it.
The most notable features of the houses are the two fine doorways. Each
doorway is flatiked by boric columns set in front of rustications. The
transom bar is blocked forward above columns and surmounted by a glazed
transom, whose original leadwork may still be seen at Ne. 18, The simple
roof cornice and fascia at No. 18 is similar to that at No. 16. Shutters
have been added at N6. 18. The graceful wrought ironwork of the stoops
and areaways is the original at both houses and is particularly well
preserved -at No. 18, wexcept for its later addition of a panel that serves
as ‘a néwel. This 1ntorest1ng double house was built for William Depew,
a grarn measurer who sold it before completion to David S. Brown, tallow
chandier.
#20-22 Thfs-aue%ere four-story structure, built in the local vernacular, °
was erected ‘in 1852-54, for William J. Brown and Isaac Parker, and was
orlgrnaily‘used as a wood*wolkshep 1% ‘has been :considerably altered
Ovér the years and was converted to a thotel din ithe Nineteen-twenties.
An arched -dooriway, recadling €he Ttalianate style of the Eighteen- flfties,
i its most distinguishing ‘feature.
#24-28  These threc¢ late Federal town houses -of 1821 were built for Asher
Martin jand John Bennet, shoémakers, who had a shop ion Greenwich Street .
Two ahd ‘6he-ha'lf s'tories in‘height, with dormers, sthese frame thouses
dre unpreteritiol’s wersions Jf ‘he Wederal style, swith facade dn Flemish
bond ‘brickwork, pedlmented :dotmers and double-hung muntined window sash.
‘Nos. 26 dnd 28 ir¢tadn their simple Federal -doorways, swith transom tbar
7and jglazed ‘transdin iabeve sthe .door. 'No. 28 retains a decorative molding
‘on ‘the transom'bar A siiple wWood cornice and .an dron:balcony .of dater
‘da'te {Unify the‘bu11d1ng5 ‘dt woof level. The second story has a balcony
extendlng across the facade .of No. 26 and a part of those of Nos. 24
ind 28. ‘No. 26 :has -exterior blinds at :the first Floor :only.

#30-32 “A “tall six-story apartment-heuse -of ~the -turn .of the century
- (desEribed under Nos. 72-74 ‘Bedford Street) occupies ithe corner site.
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COMMERCE. STREET North Side (Betw. Bedford $t. § Seventh Ave. So;)

#27 Located on a corner site at the western end of the block, this
five-story brick apartment house of 1920-21 (described under No. 78
Bedford Street) has a central courtyard opening through to Barrow
Street.

#25 This five-story loft building (Jescribed under Nos. 59-61 Barrow
Street) was erected in 1900-07. It extends through to Commerce Street,
where a similar narrow front appears. ' ‘

#19-23 Erected in 1908-09, this six-story brick dpartment house (described
under Nos. 53-57 Barrow Strcet) basically fills the space between the
streets. It has two light-shaft courtyards at the center.

#17 No. 17 serves as a welcome reminder of the original proportions
and general appearance of the row adjoining to the east. ‘This small
two and one-half story late Federal house, with basement, has a low
pitched roof and central dormer window. It was built in 1830 as an -

- investment by Abraham R. Bogert, a stone-cutter, and rented immediately,
With a brick front of Flemish bond, its handsome paneled stone lintels,
dark exterior blinds, and small light fixtures flanking the doorway,
it is easily the most attractive building on the block. Pilasters
flank the deeply recessed door with leaded transom. ‘The second story
windows have muntined sash, and the dormer has a casement window. The
ironwork of the stoop is the original and notable for its fine openwork
newels of wrought iron. '

#9-15 This attractive and unassuming row of four houses with brick fronts
in Flemish bond was erected in 1826 for Charles Oakley for speculative
purposes. The houses were all rented immediately to tenants, three of
whom were connected with the building trades: Archibald C. Brady,
carpenter, at No. 9, and William and John Joyce, stonecutters, at No.
11, who may have been associated with the construction of the row.

‘ These houses are unpretentious versions of the late Federal style
of the Eighteen-twenties, affected by the incoming Greek Revival design,
They must once have looked much like No. 17 to the west in general ap-
pearance. They were originally two and one-half stories high, with the
third stories added later, and surmounted by bracketed and paneled
cornices. No. 15 has been rough-stuccoed., Access to the houses is
provided in each case by.a stoop leading to the entrance doorway.
The doorways and decorative details vary from house to house. The
doorway at No. 15, flanked by narrow sidelights, is a simple version
of the late Federal style, while No. 11 has Doric columns and is more
Greek Revival in appearance. No. 13 has only a left-hand sidelight,
a latter-day arrangement. No. 9 has a narrow door and is completely
undecorated, except for the projecting cornice, a later addition.
Nos. 9, 11, and 13 have double-hung, muntined windows, except for the
lower sash at No, 9. Stone lintels, flush with the brickwork, accent
the windows at Nos. 9, 11, and 13. Metal cornices appear over the:
lintels at No. 13 and probably date from the time of the third story
addition.
~ The wrought iron stair handrailings of Nos. !1, 13, and 15 are
the handsome Federal originals. It is interesting to note that, while
No. 11 remains unchanged, castings of the Greek Revival period have
been added on the landings of Nos. 13 and 15. The areaway railings
are Greek Revival in style. 'The stair railings of No. 9, though lacking
' the elegance of those¢ at the other houses, were made for a narrow, sim-
ple doorway; the areaway railing is Victorian Cothic in style. -

COMMERCE STREET (Between Bedford & Barrow Streets)

Diversity is the outstanding characteristic of both sections of
this street, Though short, it runs around a corner and cannot all be
seen at a single glance. The houses suggest giant stepping stones, as
almost every other house is a different height, within the range of two
to six stories. Rooflines also vary, with a wide gable roof and a large
pedimented dormer adding spice to the more usual parapets and simple
cornices, and leading up to the unexpected formality of mansard roofs.
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COMMERCE STREET (Betweén Bedford § Barrow Streets)

" The crowning glory of this stréet is at its western end; near

-Barrow Street . Calllng to iiind & fMinuscule block in Paris, it has &

forifial setting of twin red brick houses with mansard roofs; separated

by & walled garden court. The houses have the simplicity of the Federal
style if their first two stories; capped almost half a century later by
a third story within a formal wWansard roof; set off handsomely with Kip-
rooféd dormers. THese twin houseés have great dignity and uhusual charm.
Theif attractive shall scalé is empha51zed by the six-story buildings
behind them and facirig them across the street.

Historicdlly speakiiig; the 1nterest1ng frame house at the south
cornér 6f Boédford Street is the oldest extant building if The Village.
Erected in 1799-1800; the exposéd high brick sections of its two chim-
neys on this side offef contrast with wood siding of this end of the
house: The silKouétte of the roof offérs the diversity of a low angled
gable-end nowddays surmounted by tall chimneys.

Thé process of attrition in the chdrm of this block centers on
needlessly ugly altérations; usually capped by charactérless parapets.
One old building has been remodeled with an overwhelming variety in
the sizes and shdpes of its windows. Such designs would have been im-
proved by thé architectufal controls of a regulatory body.

COMMERCE STREET South § West Sides (Betw. Bedford § Barrow Sts.)

The ¢ofner bUIldlng, which fronts on Bedford Street (also described
iinder No: 77} is thie famous isddcs-lieidricks house; the oldest building
extant in The Village. On the Comiherce Street s1de, it still displays
the orlglnal wood siding, with thé brick chimney sections revealed. It
is séparated from its neighbor, No. 34, by an iron gate leading to.a
rear courtyard affording access not only to this house, but to Nos. 73
and 75 Bedford Street as well:

Nos: 34242 were all built on land which had originally been part of
thé Hendricks-Gomez property. No. 34, a small two-story.structure built
ifi the vernaciilar of the day,; was erected by John Crawford, builder, for
R. H. McDonald as a wagoiishéd. Afteér several decades of use ds a, facto-
Ty, it was altefeéd to apdartiménts in the Nineteen-twenties.

This thiee-story biick hotise, with a rusticated stone basement, was
built for Alexandér McLachlan, a bréwer, in 1841, The entrance is now
through the baseienit, but traces of the original doorway are still
visible over thé left-hand wiridow of the first floor. The wirdows have
theé characteristic dotible-tung muntined sash, though the cornices of
the 11nte15 havé béen shaved off. The house retains its handsome wood
roof cofhicé, typical of the houses of the Greek Revival petiod.

THi% building, occupied since 1924 by the Cherry Lane Theatre, a
centér for avant= gar¥de theatre in New York, was originally erected in
1836 as 4 brewery for Alexander McLachlan. The doorway at the left
lead$ to apaitménts on the upper floors.

In 1858, Mclachlan had thls féur-story brick house erected on the
site of his former brewety yard. It has characteristic features of the
peried in its ptoportions, windews, and the little end corbels support-
ihg the wihdow s$ills. The molded sheetmetal cornices and the window
sills ate quiteé elaborate, ahd the cornice is a later addition.

- Now siooth-stuccoed and converted to basement entry, this small
thiee- story house still retains details, such as the roof cornice and
the windows, with double-hunhg muntined sash, reminiscent of the Greek
Révival period. It was erected for John Allen in 1838.

' Lchoing the curve in the street are two houses erected in 1844 for
Alexandéi T. Stewart on land he had leased from Trinity Church. Fellow-
ing the étection of his magnificent dry-goods "palace' at the corner of
Broadway and Reade Street two yeatrs later, Stewart's name became a house-
hold wotd all over America. This famous structure, later extended to

' encofipass the @éntire block front on Broadway between Reade and Chambers

Streets, became known later as ‘the “Sun Building," by which name it is
still known today.
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COMMERCE STREET South & West Sides  (Betw. Bedford § Barrow Sts.)

The two Stewart residences on Commerce Street, which once had
stoops, are now cntered through their basements, and have both been.
raised to four stories in height. A pedimented penthouse appears at
No. 46, while No. 48 has a tall parapet with modern casement windows.
Both houses have double-hung muntined sash, and the window lintels are
crowned by heavy sheetmetal cornices, added later in the century.

Designed in 1912, this six-story brick apartment building (de-
scribed under No. 75 Barrow Street) is a handsome example of the archi-
tecture of the early Twentieth Century.

COMMERCE STREET Northhﬁ East Sides (Betw. Bedford § Barrow Sts.)

The modern. six-story corner apartment house, built in 1952-53
{(described under No. 81 Bedford Street) also faces on Barrow and Bedford

Streets.

This tall six-<story apartment house of 1897 (described under No. 71
Barrow Street) also faces Bedford Street.

Following Commerce Street as it turns north, one notes these two
charming little houses, separated by a shared garden. They were built
originally in 1831-32 for Peter Huyler, a milkman. Stone base courses
separate the brick basement from the two-story facades crowned by man-
sard roofs, which were added in the early Eighteen-seventies for George
Huyler by D. T. Atwood, architect. The "twins," as they are commonly
called, are an interesting combination of late Federal style, to be
seen in the Flemish bond brickwork and the fine paneled window lintels,
uncovered only recently, and the French Second Empire style, typified
by the steep slate mansard roofs. The mansard roofs incorporate remi-
niscences of the original Federal dormers. Behind these two low struc-
tures is the rear wall of the tall six-story apartment house which
faces on Barrow Street, already referred to.

GREENWICH STREET (Between Barrow & Charles Streets)

Greenwich Street in downtown Manhattan was extended along the
Hudson River as the Road to Greenwich (Village) at least as early as
the Ratzer Map of 1766-67. In The Village around 1794, it was known
as the main road leading to Greenwich (to distinguish it from Greenwich
Avenue, then known as 0ld Greenwich Lane). Part of this road ran along
the present Washington Street, and at Charles Street it avoided a cove
in the Hudson River by making a sharp turn to the right, and then north-
ward again on the present Greenwich Street. This jog at Charles Street
led around the boundary of the property of Richard Amos, More impor-
tant, it brought the thoroughfare closer to the famous 'Greenwich
House'' on the farm of Admiral Sir Peter Warren, which continued to have
important owners and residents for well over a century until, as the Van
Ness mansion, it was torn down in 1865.

GREENWICH STREET East Side (Betw. Barrow -§ Christopher Sts.)

The south corner of the east side of this street is vacant, while
the west side is out of the historic district.

St. Luke's School, founded in 1894, now occupies the site of
thirteen town houses which once faced Greenwich Street. It is a long,
low brick building, two stories high, which contains the classrooms and
a gymnasium. The most conspicuous feature of the school is a low tower
at the southeast corner of Christopher and Greenwich Streets with flank-
ing bays which display brick quoins. The metal windows are widely
spaced, one above the other, leaving considerable expanses of brickwork
between them. The gymnasium was designed in 1926 by Renwick, Aspinwall
& Guard., The school was designed by Thomas M. Bell for the Corporation
of Trinity Church, and effectively turns its back to the street with an
austere facade; it was built in the early Nineteen-fifties.
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GREENWICH STREET East Side {Befw.iChristoPher § West 10th Sts.)

This formal three-story building, with réunded corner, bar at
ground floor, and residential quarters aboye, represents the new
Eclecticism. Tt was built in 1900 for James Holmes and was designed
by F. A. Burdett in the classical mode made popular by the World's
Columbian Exposition of 1893, which was held at Chicago. The handsome
cornice displays both modillions and dentils, while the window trim has
splayed lintels with keystones and rustication blocks at the sides sim-
ulating the stone originals in brick. The corner is rounded to express
its corner location, and the roof cornice reflects this curve above.

Built in 1845 as an investment for Lewis Radford, groce¥, this
house is the sole survivor of what was once a row of seven three-story
brick houses with basements, extending up as far as No. 693. It is ex-
tremely simple with corniced window lintels and roof cornice with plain
fascia board below.

This brick substation was built for the New York and New Jersey
Railroad Company (Hudson Tubes) by the firm of Robins § Oakman in 1906.
It has two large doors at the ground floor with segmental arches and
keystones above. Single rectangular-shaped windows and louvers are ar-
ranged in groups of three above the two doors, and a broad band course
of stone above provides a base for the low brick roof parapet. This
building replaced two town houses of the late Federal period, of which
No. 635 was Richard Amos' home in his last years. Mr. Amos, a veteran
of the Revolutionary War, was a large property owner in The Village (see
under Hudson Street, between Christopher and West Tenth Streets).

Two low-lying storage buildings for a trucker's freight terminal
have taken the place of five houses which also were owned by Richard
Amos. The buildings extend around the corner to No. 260 West Tenth
Street and are set well back from the street. Erected in 1945, they are
strictly utilitarian in nature and serve a useful purpose in pr0V1d1Hg
supplies for the community.

GREENWICH STRELT East Side (Betw. West 10th § Charles Sts.}

This handsome seven-story brick warechouse was built in 1892 for

‘William K. Ramsey. It was designed with an arched first floor by Martin

V. B. Ferdon in the Romanesque Revival tradition. The brick arches
serve, with once exception, as doeorways at ground floor level. A plain
brick base rises to the spring of the arches. There, a horizontal rock-
faced band course serves as impost block for the arches which have cen-
centric bands of brick dentils. The front wall rises sheer and plain
witly single window, openlngs at even intervals. It is crowned by a shal-
low. corbeled brick cernice.

These two [ederal houses werc built in 1828 with frents executed in
Flemish bond brickwork. The top floor undoubtedly replaces a roof with
dormers. The only tracc rcemaining of this period is to be seen in the
cxceptionally handsome arched: doorway at the left side of No. 705. This
house, was built for W. and ... B. llarriot, wholesale grocers across the
street at No. 718 Greenwich. No. 703 was crected for Benjamin Quacken-
bush, a druggist, as a combination store and residence.

The: deorway of No. 705 has. two fluted Doric columns set against
rustication: blocks and a transom bar above, which is blocked forward
above, these columns to signalize them. The arched fanlight covered over
with shect metal, is a full semi-circle and once had a paneled stene
frame above it resting on paneled’ stone impost blocks, where the panel-
ing romains intact. The- identical cornices of these houses rest on
vertically placed console brackets and belong to the mid-Nineteenth
Century when the upper floors werce added.

This: two-story brick warchouse, with one story wing to the north,
is occupied' by a wastec-paper firm. It was built in 1945. for Peter
Serra and, in its. severely simple design, expresses the utilitarian
nature of its use.. The first floor has. large, paneled garage doors and
the upper- floor, a: row of simple double-hung windows.
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GROVE COURT South Side Grove Strecet (Betw. Bedford and Mudson. Sts.)

A passageway between Nos. 10 and 12 Grove Street, closed by an iron
gate, leads to Grove Court, first laid out in 1848.

" In that year, the merchant Samuecl Stryker sold to Samuel Cocks the
back yards of Nos. 6, 8, and all of No. 10 Grove Street, which he leased
from Trinity Church, Cocks, a grocer, was a partner in the firm of
Cocks § Bowron, located at No. 18 (rovec Strcet, at the corner of Grove
and Bedford Streets. Cocks was alrcady in possession of a small strip
of land to the east of No. 10 which provided street access to his newly
formed gore lot. The present six connccted houses on the rear of this
lot were built for Cocks and finished in 1854; however, they were taxed
as a-single building on a single lot, referred to as No. 10 Grove
Street, until well into the present century. It was not until 1921,
when the lot was subdivided by Alcntaur Realty and the six houses sold
and altered individually, that Grovc Court took on its present delight-
ful appearance and name. ‘The threc-story houscs were originally
planned for workingmen, and the court was known in the Nineteenth
Century as 'Mixed Alc Alley," evidently a rcference to. the drinking
habits of its residents.

Today, Grove Court provides a quiet and pleasant retreat from the

‘bustle of the city. Its residents take pride in the maintenance of the

grounds and houses. Although the fronts are for the most part very
simple, these three-story brick houses, belonging to the vernacular of
the day, some with shutters at the windows, all with double-hung
muntined sash, present an interesting and most attractive appearance.

GROVE STREET (Between Seventh Avenue South § Bleecker Streets)

The commercial character of this short strecet is emphasized, on
its south side, by the larger one of its two low buildings which is
devoted to shops and offices. The spire-like finials that break its
parapet line are picturesquely echoed across the street by the large
vertical brackets projected skyward above a roofline. These are on an
apartment house, six stories high, which in turn is balanced in bulk by
an apartment house on the other corner of the north side. This bal-
ancing is emphasized by the contrast with three low, old houses
nestled between them at mid-block.

For quality on this strect of shops, the eye is instinctively
carried to the double apartment house at the Bleecker Street corner on
the north side. It is an uncommonly handsome example of late Nine-
tecnth Century avchitecture, and its shops line up uniformly and neatly
below a horizontal stone band coursc,

A similar type of design restraint would improve the appearance of
shops throughout The Village under the controls of a design review
board,

GROVE STREET South Side (Betw. Seventh Ave. So. § Bleecker St.)

Erected in 1933, this three-story brick building, with stores at
street level and apartments above (described under Nos. 92-100 Seventh
Avenue South) occupies the corner site at Seventh Avenue South.

Originally erected in 1848 for George Harrison, this three-story
brick building (described under No. 315 Bleecker Streect) has been ex-
tensively altered, '

GROVE STREET North Side (Betw. Bleecker St. § Seventh Ave. So.)

These two large six-Story buildings of 1889, which also face on .
Bleecker Street (Nos. 317-21), were designed by Herter Brothers for
Joel § Hyams. They are uncommonly handsome examples of the architec-
ture of the period. The facade on Grove Street is far more.attractive
than the one on Bleecker Street, which is hidden behind fire escapes.
A strong emphasis on the horlzontal is achieved by band courses and
prominent window lintels, balanced to some extent by a vertical empha-
sis in the upper three stories. An interesting contrast to the plain
brick facade is provided by decorative featurcs: the brick or stone
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GROVE STREET North Side ((Betw. Bleécker St. § B@Vbh%h-Aveu'So.J

band coufses, the Seculptuted metlfs, teTfa ©otta panels ih the $pan=
drels between the fourth and Fifth stoty windows "d by ‘the blind
arches above the t0p story windows, wi%h alternatlﬁg ¢onth shell and

Contrastlng in height to the two tail flanklng apartment bu11d1ngs
are three small brick houses, all that is 1eft of a Tow of Five bullt in

1839 for W1111am A, Thompson aﬁ attorney Though they are very much

to its orlglnal general_appeerance §ince it retalns a roof cornlce
added somewhat later, whilé Nos. 55 and 57 have beeti raised a Few feet
by the addition of roof parapets. Nos. 57 and 59 have Window €ofnices;

which have disappeared at No. 55. Thomas Paine; tt. author of Coniion

. Sense, died on June 8, 1809 in a frame housé on the sité 6f Né: §9.

LT

This house was sét in the middle of farin property, thfough which Greve
Street was later cut.

This five-story corner apafrtment buildifig 6f 1890 abiits Sev@nth
Avenue South (No. 104) and ¢éxtends throiigh the- block t6 No: 76 Christo=
pher Street. It is distinguished by a picturesque proflle it the sky-
line. The building was spec1flcally desigiied for an oddly shaped ¢oTi-
er lot, with bay windows at thé interséctioi of streééts. Thé archi-
tect was Franklin Baylies, and thé c¢lients weré Ph1l1p and Jolin
Goerlitz. The most notable featuré of the bu11d1ng is the top stoty;
with blind arches linking the windows; and keystones with sculptured

- human heads. A boldly projecting bracketed Toof cdériiceé; stepped ip at

the centér, crowns this bliilding.

GROVE STREET (Between Bleéeckei aiid Bedford Stieets)

This stréet is ofié of the mést interésting and stlmulatlng iii The
Village, 111u5trat1ng as it does over ofie hithdréd yeirs of architecfufal
developmeént. The picturesque fraie Holise at the northedst corfier of :
Bédford and Grove Streets,; built in 1822, is the earliest bulldlng here
and oné of the oldést in The Village.

An architectutal gem is the ldarge dnd mdghificent Fedéral man51on,
one of the finest of this styleé i thé City; standing on the north side
next to the Bleecker Street ¢orrer. Added £o it almost half 4 century
later, is a pair of shops with handsomie unisual fronts ifi the N&§=Grec
style.

Groups of five and six-story apartment houses on both sides of the
street offer picturésqueness of silliciette. The human scalé 6f Eheit
relatively low heiglit is emphasized by 1nterest1ng détails sich as
medieval-type winidows aiid sculptured human heads.

A sobér sturdiness lightcned by a graceful huidn teuch is thé don-
inint mood of the 51mple three- story town houses on this stfset. Dalnty
jigsaw scrollwork énlivens the old weoden hiouse. In mid=bBisck; thé uh=
usually fine ironwork of a Greek Revivdl House is eihanded by the sever-
ity of its neighbors. Acréss the street at mid=block, thé réfinéd angle
of low pediments over dootways offers delightful relief from the long
unb¥oken reofline of a rew. Thesé six¥ fine row Housés, transitionak if
style from Greek Revival te Itilianate; are thie most ﬁotable featufe of
the south side of the streét.

An outstanding example of lack of understanding of tihe qUalify of
The Village is the erstwhile seventh house of this row. No longef rec-
ognizable as such, its projecting new facadé, blank parapet anemic en=
trance, and trlple fenestration have nothing in commor with the Charac-
ter of this: street except the use of briek. Across the way on the north
side; a pebble-like facade topped by a roofline curved ifito’ three wavés
is very dlsmre551ngl especially das it adjoins the handsoné Federal man=
sion, Such: alterations would have béemn av01ded by the architeéctural and
design controls of a regulatory body.

GROVE STREET South: Side  (Betw. Bleecker & Bedford Sts.)

This is' the side entrance €o: the four-story brick buildirg of 1847
which faces on Bleecker Street (described under No. 314 Bleecker).
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GROVE STREET South Side (Betw. Bleecker § Bedford Sts.)

This six~story brick apartment house of 1914, designed by the
architect Charles B. Meyers for the Charles I. Weinstein Realty Com-
pany, is distinguished by the use of stone band courses at ground
floor level and stone lintels above the end windows of the third,
fourth and fifth floors. A strong bracketed cornice crowns the build-
ing, which has a wide fire escape running across its facade.

No. 40 was originally a part of the adjoining row (Nos. 28-38),
but today this five-story apartment house retains nothing to recall the
appearance of the original structure of 1851-52. The entire brick
front, with its basement cntrance, altered fenestration, and high para-
pet, is modern.

Linus-Scudder, mason-builder, erected this row of six town houses
in 1851-52., The row originally consisted of seven houses and included
No. 40, now completely altered. The houses are vernacular versions of
the almost outmoded Greek Revival style and of the incoming Italianate
and are transitional in style.

They are all three stories high over a basement Built of brick,
with stone used as trim and for the basement story, the houses still
retain rustication at the basement stories of Nos. 28, 30 and 36. The
original appearance of the row can best be appreciated by looking at
Nos. 32, 34 and 36, which have been altered very little. In each case,
a stoop leads up to an entrance doorway, of which the most notable
feature is a low pedimented lintel above the door and transom set off

by deep reveals and framed by rope moldings. The windows have simple

stone lintels and sills, except for Nos. 32 and 34 which retain their
small cornices above the lintels. The heavy cast iron stair and area-
way railings of these two houses, with a central circular motif, are
typical of the Italianate period. The long parlor floor windows, an-
other Italianate featurc, retain their ornate cast iron railings at
No. 30. Nos. 28-38 have their original bracketed roof cornices, with
drops at the outer end of each bracket, likewise characteristic of the
Eighteen-fifties, An unusual feature of the brackets is that they are
carefully profiled where the cornice returns to the wzll at the ends.

Nos. 28, 30 and 38 have all been altered in this century. The
stoops were removed at Nos. 28 and 30 which have been converted to pro-
vide basement entrances. No. 30 has introduced a graceful curved
staircase, with attractive cast iron detail, leading up to the right
side of the house. At No. 38 the lower sections of the parlor story
windows have been bricked up, in contrast to the other houses of the
row which all retain their long, elegant French windows.

The houses were all built on land which formerly belonged to
Timothy Whittemore, President of the Greenwich Insurance Company, and
a nephew of Samuel Whittemore, who had built the mansion at No. 45
Grove Street diagonally across the street. Linus Scudder, one of the
important builders associated with the development of The Village,
first set up in business as a mason in 1836. He was one of several
builders who took advantage of the sale of Whittemore properties in the
early Eighteen-fifties. In January 1851 he purchased four of the lots
here with the aid of mortgages from the Greenwich Insurance Company.
John Hays and Park H. lLane, assessed for Nos. 34 and 40 respectively,
purchased the land on the same day as Scudder did, and together with
Isaac Hendricks, who paid the taxes on No. 36, undoubtedly arranged
with Scudder to bulld houses on their lots, as well as his own.
Scudder sold his own four lots at a handsome profit later in 1851 to
individual owners for whom he built the dwellings, thus affording us
another example of how the builders of the day managed to develop
property without putting up any money of their own.

This six-story apartment building of 1927, whose outstanding fea-
ture is the rough-textured look of the c11nker brickwork on the facade,
is quite different from its neighbor to the west. An interesting con-
trast to the brick background is achieved by the use of the smooth
stones framing the doorway. A projecting stuccoed section, decorated
with half-timbered framing, containing the central windows of the sixth
story, is crowned by a steeply pitched gable. Chimneys carry up the
roof line at both ends of the building. The windows are arranged in
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GROVE STREET South Side (Betw. Bleecker § Bedford Sts.)

an interesting rhythm of three, two, and three across the facade, ex-
pressing the interior layout. Two fire escapes, one at each side, run
down the facade, This building was erected for the 26 Grove Street
Corporation and was designed by Louis A. Abramson and Samuel Katz,
architects.

Built in 1930, this six-story apartment house with a variegated .
brick facade is a reminder of the French Arts Décoratifs style of the
period. Most typical are the design motifs used around the entrance
doorway and its canopy and on the face of the coping above the parapet.
The fenestration is unusual: a large window at the left, divided by
mullions into three sections, and set off by band courses of dark brick
above and below, is balanced, on the right side of the facade, by a
single window surmounted by a decorative motif. The second window from
the left side at the top floor is signpalized by the terra cotta orna-
ment surmounting it. A fire escape runs down the front of the building,
which was erected for the 22-24 Grove Street Corporation and was de~
signed by H. I. Feldman, architect,

This handsome six;sto;y apartment house, built in 1899 in the Ec-
lectic period! has its main entrance on Bedford Street, around the cor-
ner (described under No. 90 Bedford Street).

GROVE STREET North Side (Betw. Bedford § Bleecker Sts.)

This delightful little frame house, at the corner of Bedford and
Grove Streets, was built in 1822 for William F. Hyde, sashmaker, who
later served as Assistant Alderman of the Fifteenth Ward, It is one of
the oldest houses in The-Village, and one of the most picturesque.
Originally it was two stories high; a third story was added in character
in 1870, and numerous other changes have been made in this century. The
little shop around the corner, on Bedford Street, at the back of the lot,
was always part of the same property and was erected in 1833.

The house has been well maintained and represents the taste of suc-
cessive generations of owners. A Creek Revival doorway, 1mp051ng for
such a modest house, is raised a few steps above street level. 'The win-

.dows all have muntined double-hung sash, some of which were probably

originally made by Mr. Hyde himseclf. The two windows above the doorway,
divided into three parts and shaded by wooden hoeds resting on brackets,
are unusual. All the windows, except thesc, have exterior shutters; the
windows of the third story have little cornices. Crowning the house is
a charming wood cornice resting on brackets. The paneled wood fascia
board is attractively decorated with jig-saw scroll work. A simple
wrought iron railing surrounds this corner house on two sides.

This. pair of five-story brick apartment houses was built in 1891
for Alphonse Hogemaner and designed by the architect Bruno W. Berger,
who: also. had designed Nos. 53 and 54 Barrow Street for him. The tweo
buildings now have a common entrance, but retain separate fire escapes.
Above the first floeor the two facades are similar in design and a single
bracketed cornice crowns and unifies the buildings. The architect has
used stone in the lintels and band courses to contrast with the brick
walls of the structure. The lower section of the facade of No. 19 has
been remodeled in mottled brick at street level.

This narrow six-story brick apartment house, Eclectic in style, was
built in 1901 for Elias Kempner. A low stoop leads to the entrance
doorway, with a stonc canopy upon which the fire escape rests. The
building is crewned by a projecting stepped cornice with a central sun-

burst motif and modillions resting on brackets. A diversity of classi-

cal motifs may be seen in the decorative elements: Corinthian capitals
appear under the round-arched windows and in the upper stories, where
classical heads adorn the keystones of the fifth story windows. The
building is a good example of that early phase of Eclecticism, after
the World"s Fair in Chicago, before a scholarly correctness had become
the pride of the architect who, in this case, was George F. Pelham.

Lrected in 1886, this five-story brick apartment building was de-
signed. for George Rothman and Ferdinand A, Sieghardt by Berger § Bayliss,
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GROVE STREET North mpao (Betw. Bedford § Bleecker Sts.)

125 mﬂo:WﬁQOﬂm. and mﬂpH_ retains its high mﬂoo% and rusticated stone base-
cont, ment. ‘The doorway is flanked by granite pilasters with carved capitals,
under a deep stone lintel supporting the bottom platform of the fire
escape which runs down the center of the facade. The building is four

windows wide, and the two central windows arc recessed and framed by
projecting brick sections on either side. Stone band courses serve to
unite the windowsills at the second, third and fifth stories and sepa-
rate the building into four sections horizontally. Crowning the fa-
cade is a projecting roof cornice resting on five claborate, verti-
cally placed brackets with a vow of small arches below the cornice.
There is a considerable amount of sculptured relief on the building,
appearing not only in the capitals of the columns and the keystones of
the windows at ground floor level, but also in the spandrel panels
between the third and fourth story windows, which are flanked by es-
cutcheons. The sculptural ornament culminates in the single central
keystone with classical head which appears under the cornice. The use
of classical relief sculpturc, the Neo-Grec treatment of the window
lintels beneath the relieving arches of the first floor, and other
details of trim result in an interesting combination of c¢lements.

#27 Altered in 1955, this four-story house bears little relationship
to the original house of 1847-48, taxed to John Bowen. A tall brick
parapet extends above the cornices of its neighbors to the cast. The
building is undecorated except for the brick window lintels which con-
sist of soldier courses carried on brick corbels, and the shallow cor-
belling under the stone coping which finishes off the building,

#29 § 31 These two brick houses of the Greek Revival period were built in
1841 by Samuel Winant and John Degraw for rental purposes. The firm of
Winant § Degraw, builders, had successfully developed a similar and un-
usually fine row at nearby Nos. 12-18 Grove Street the previous year.

No. 29 retains most of its original character: like its neighbor,
it is a three-story brick building with rusticated basement, crowned by
its handsome original wood roof cornice, with bead and reel and den-
tiled moldings beneath, and a plain fascia board. A stoop with a fine.
wrought iron railing leads up to an attractive Greek Revival doorway,
The simple square pilasters are surmounted by a full. entablature, con-
sisting of architrave, frieze, and cornice, such as exists in the
Winant § Degraw houses at 14 and 16 Grove Street.

The long parlor floor windows, with attractive iron window rail-
ings, have double-hung sash with broad central muntins, simulating
French windows. The upper floors have windows with muntined double-
hung sash. The delicate stone cornices at the tops of the window lin-
tels have been removed, and the lintels now appear to have 'ears' as a
result. The stoop handrailing is an exceptionally good example of
Greek Revival wrought ironwork combined with small decorative castings
added for effect. The openwork newels, set upon low stone bases, are
also typical. The ironwork of the areaway has a Greek fret design at
the base, missing at No. 31.

No. 31 has been extensively altered at first story level, where a
basement entrance has replaced the original stoop, with the consequent
elimination of the Greek Revival doorway. The sills of the first story
windows have been raised. Sheetmetal window cornices are a later addi-
tion. The areaway ironwork is the original.

#33-37 Built for James Kyle in 1888, these three five-story brick apart-
ment houses, "The Lyceum,' were planned by architect ¥, T, Camp, with a
continuous facade, but with three separate entrances. A lingering in-
fluence of Victorian Gothic is echoed in the design of the facade, par-
ticularly in the relieving arches of the double windows of the first
story, with sculptured human heads in the keystones. Panels with swags
have been introduced under these windows. Rough stone blocks decorate
the lintels of the second story windows, and tiles of terra cotta are
inset below the band course which serves as a sill for the third floor
windows. Victorian polychromy may be seen in the striking contrast be-
tween the brick and light colored stone, used for window trim, band
courses and for the spandrels between windows. Paneled and bracketed
roof cornices crown the buildings, whilé the central unit is given addi-
tional importance by being stepped-up to a higher level. Each building
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has its own fire escape, resting on the cornice of the entrance porch.
These porches are supported by handsome giant columns with medieval
type capitals,

This four-story house with basement entrance was extensively re-
modeled in .1926 by Robert Gottlieb, with a stucco front inset with
¢olored tiles. Round arches were created above the square-headed win-
dows, with tiles in the tympanl. As this was a house built in 1829-31
for Albert Whittemore, it is immediately apparent that the cornice,
Neo-Grec in style, belongs to a remodeling of the Eighteen-seventies.

Completely altered in 1929, this five-story, rough-cast stucco
building retains nothing to recall the appearance .f the original struc-
ture of 1854-55. The alteration substituted a ground floor entrance for
the original stoop, steel, sash and stucco veneer for the entire build-
ing, and added a fifth story. The windows at the top floor are arched
and trimmed with brick, Theg house is crowned by a multi-curving roof

_ parapet with stone coping and has a fire escape running down thé center

of the front.

It was originally built for W. W. Cornell, of the J. B. & W. W.
Cornell Iron Works on Centre Street., This was one of the first New
York firms to manufacture complete iron fronts for bu11d1ngs and ong of
the most successful. In a photograph of No.43-45 Grove Street taken
early in the present century, the Cornell house appears in its original
state, except for the mansard roof which was added at a slightly later
date. Faced with smooth-faced stone veneer, this residence was one of
the handsomest examples of the Italianate style in New York City.

This magnificent house was once a free- standing mansion, sur-
rounded by spacious grounds, when it was built in 1830. It was undoubt-
edly one of the finest and largest Federal residences in Greenwlch Vil-
lage. Although it was originally only two stories in height, the scale
of the house, over forty-seyen feet in width, reflects the importance of
the man for whgm it was built, Samuel Whittemore. Together with other
members of his family, he was one of the largest property owners in The
Village. The mansion was protected for several bloecks around by family
owned realty: the closest building to the west was No. 39, owned by
Albert Whittemore, while three quarters of the square block across the
street to the south and the entire block to the east were owned either
by Samuel Whittemore or his nephew Timoethy.

‘Samuel Whittemore was the senior member of the firm of :S. Whitte-
more ‘§ Company, manufacturer of steam-propelled carding equipment used
in the textile industry, for which his .older brother, Amos, had taken
out @ patent in 1797. ‘Samgel Whittemore was born in Cambr;dge,_Magsa-
chusetits, .and -came ito New York eariy in the Nineteenth .Century. A
long-time resident of The Village, in 1811 he was an E£lection Inspector
for :the :Eighth (later the Ninth) Ward, and served as State Assemblyman
in ¥816. In thefElghteen twentles,,he was among those jlandowners who
were imost -actiye dm <the \laying .out and paving of streets in this area of
Greenwich Village. '

Originally the mansion was set back slightly from the street, and
‘had .a porch at -the iback facing onto grounds which extended through to
‘Christopher Street .on the morth .and ito -Bleecker Street on ithe gast. The

~house ‘had its ewn-.cistern, well, hot shouse, and stables. Though it was

:subsequently altered, it still displays characteristic features .of the
late ‘Federal .style, mnotably Flemish bond brickwork, -a ‘handsome doorway,
-and ‘fine .windows with ‘Federal Iintels. The generous proportions of the
doorway and stoop-are in keeping with the scale .of the house. The en-

-trance doorway, at ithe head .of a wide gracious stoop, retains its ori-
.ginal ;arched -molded frame with.a double, paneled, and decorated key-

‘stone. ‘The double entrance doors, however, with their rounded moldlngs,

‘Tepresent later additions. The .fine inner door -is .the .original, as is

much .Of ‘the interior trim and .the hall .staircase, beautiful examples of
late -Federal style. The delicately paneled wlndow lintels at :the second

‘floor, “so-carefully copied at ‘the two upper floors, display .ornamental

rosettes in -the.end panels., The pedimented lintel witﬁgacroteria:over
the -ceritral triple window .of the second story is another typically late
Federal -feature which, interestingly enough, reappears in.the dgorways
of other houses built for Samuel Whittemore in the mid-Eighteen-thirties,
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GROVE STREET North Side (Betw. Bedford § Bleecker Sts.)

at 128 Washington Place and 86 Christopher Street, where the same motif
is copied in the wood entablature over the doors. At the stoop of No.
45 Grove Street, the handsome iron handrailings with elaborate decora-
tion, which terminate in polygonal stone newels, doubtless altered from -
the orlglnals, are surmounted by very tall imposing cast iron torchéres.

The bu11d1ng now rises to a height of four stories, crowned by a
handsome cornice supported on console brackets, the result of altera-
tions undertaken by later owners. In 1839 the house was purchased by
Andrew B. Haxtun, a successful stockbroker, who lived in this ''splen-
did mansion,” to quote a contemporary source, until his death in 1848,
Haxtun, it should be recalled, devcloped half of a block front on
Bleecker Street nearby in 1847 (see Nos. 308-314 Bleecker). Then, in
1851, Haxtun's widow sold the mansion and all the land surrounding it
for development {(see especially Nos. 316-328 Bleecker Street and Nos.
92 and 94 Christopher Street), thereby contributing to the commercial-
ization of the area. However, most of the important alterations to the
house were undertaken in 1870 by the architect B. G. Wells for Elisha
Bloomer, who had purchased the mansion in 1857 and owned property else-
where in The Village. Bloomer was a former '"Villager' who had recently
established himself in Yonkers as a stone merchant. The basement and
the first (formerly the parlor} floor of No. 45 were converted into
stores by Bloomer, resulting in the reclassification of the building
from "first' to '"second class." The parlor floor windows at each side
of the entrance doorway were removed and replaced by distinctive paired
windows, separated by a central panel, the whole crowned by a low tri-
angular pediment, characteristically Neo-Grec in style. The Italianate
entrance doors also undoubtedly date from the period of the Bloomer
ownership.

To summarize: this dignified and imposing mansion, now converted

into apartments, retains many fine features of the late Federal period,

when it was built, together with characteristic additions of later
periods.

The main entrance of this house, a part of the block front devel-
oped in 1854 on the site of the Whittemore-Haxtun property, is around
the corner (described under No. 316 Bleecker Street),

GROVE STREET (Between Bedford § Hudson Streets)

This section of Grove Street offers a delightful vista. In the
distance, there is a glimpse of St. Luke's Chapel, a simple parish
church on the west side of Hudson Street, which serves historically and
visually as a focal point at the end of the street. On the left are
two fine rows of late Federal and Greek Revival houses, separatéd by
Grove Court, a quiet oasis behind the busy streets which surround it.

This is one of the outstanding streets in The Village. Its de-
lightfully simple residential character is complemented by the peaceful
court and completed by the sturdy chapel at the head of the street.
Here is an early Nineteenth Century example of good community planning,
in that it began with needed facilities -- a schoolhouse and a chapel.

This street now offers a startling contrast in bulk between the
block-long, handsome school building in the Classical style of the early
Twentieth Century, on the north side, and the diminutive, charming, two
and one-half and three-story houses occupying all but the Hudson Street
corner of the south side.

Nevertheless, a surprising harmony has been achlcved in part by the
unifying use of brick along both sides of the street. More especially,
the school's entrance doorways and dormer windows are, in essence,
Renaissance versions of the tiny dormers on the simple Federal houses
and of the classical doorways of the Greek Revival houses.

Within their unpretentious limits, these houses display some of
the rich detail inherent in their respective architectural styles.
Glimpsed at mid-block and behind an arched gateway, is a row of houses
on a small garden court. Charming in their absolute simplicity, they
were built for workingmen. Local builders and tradesmen inhabited the
houses along the street, including a grocer at the proverbial corner.
Here indeed is a village within The Village.
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GROVE STREET (Between Bedford § Hudson Streets)

The only unsympathetic note on this outstanding street is the brash
charactér of the corner windows of a six-story apartment house of the
late Nineteen-thirties, at the Hudscn Street corner. This building,
however, offers the unifying characteristics of brick, of a stone clas-
sical doorway, and of a height similar to that of the school.

The attrition of time has béen minor on this block whose residents
have such pride in their dwellings. One cah only comment that of the
two Greek Revival houses which have changed their main entrances to the
basement, the alteration in facade of the corner house obliterated its
original style, and the entrance is d barren, inconspicuous opehing.

By conttrast, the other house has transferred the major part of its clas-
sical aoowzm< to the basement level, thus retaining sympathetic contdct
with the block. Such nuances in mamvﬁyzw designs will be promoted by
the participation of a design review board,

Grove Street was first called Cozine Street when it was ceded to
the City by Trinity Church in 1809. It was then opened as Coltimbia
Street in 1811, renamed Burrows Street two years later, and findlly re-
ceived its ﬁﬂommzﬂ name in 1829, largely because it was felt that Bur-
rows could too easily bé confused with the neighboring Barrow Street.
The populatr tradition is thdt it was called Grove Street becausé it was
cut through the garden of a house standing back from Herring (now
Bleecker Street), in which Tom Paine lived shortly vwmouo his death.

GROVE STREET South Side (Betw. Bedford § Hudson Sts.)

#12-18 This fine biit unpretentious row of Greek Revival houses was erect-
ed in 1840 by Samuel Winant and John Degraw, builders. Of these four
brick licuses, three stories high over basements, Nos. 14 and 16 remain
closest to their original appearance. Both retain stoops leading up to
fine Greek Revival doorways. These are framed by simple pilasters, sup-
porting an entablature consisting of architrave, frieze and cornice.
Until 1966, No. 14 was perhaps the last completely unaltered Greek Re-
vival ccphmusm in the City. The door itself, with its rectangular tran-
sofe, is pancled and flanked by pilasters, all typical of the simple
Greek Revival house. The windows, with their double-hung sash, have
stone sills and lintels, which at No. 16 were later capped with project-
ing sheétmetal cornices. The overhanging wood roof cornice and fascia
board are the originals. The wrought iron railings of both buildings
are noteworthy, not only because they are original, but for the grace of
their design. The handraifing of the stoop combines a pleasing wrought
iron curvilinear design in the top section with the heavier cast iron
decorative rosettes at the base. The railings curve down over the tops
of the sturdy cast iren newels set onm paneled blocks. The wrought iron
areaway railings, with fret castings at the base, are also very handsome.

Theé two énd! houscs of the row, Nos. 12 and 18, havé been consider-
ably altered. No. 12 retains its roof cornice and original fedestration
with: simple stone lintels, but the stoop has been removed, and’ the house
is néw entered at basement level. The doorway is in character with
thosé of its néighbors to the east., The windows of the second story
(formerly the parlor floor) have had their sills raised. No. 18 has
been: extensively remodeled with new windows, a stuccoéd front, and para-
pet with bracketed overhang in front.

The story of Winant § Degraw is an interesting one, Illustrating
the transformation of ordinary carpenters into professional builders.
Both: mén: had had independent carpentry shops, Winant since 1820; at No.
17 Jacolr Street, and Degraw, since 1827, at 11 Watts Street. Winant and
Degraw werc from Long Island, and both served as voluntéer fireiien for
Hook and Ladder Company No. 3. Winant not only took Degraw into his
shop. in- 1828, but into his home, at No, 50 Vandam Street. By 1829 the
firm of Winant § Degraw, builders, appears at No. 100 CIiff Street, al-
though. separate listings for each as carpenters continue to appear at
Noi 17 Jacob. The firm did the carpentry work for the Mercer Street
Fire House in 1829. By 1839, they had evidently done so well that they
were able to purchase the eastern third of the block between Hudson, -
Grove, Bédford and Barrow Streets. They built Nos. 12-18 the following
year, and moved to adjacent dwellings, Winant at No. 14, Degraw:at No.
16, leasing out the two end houses of the row. They also erected simi-
Hmn houses across the street a year later, at Nos. 29 and 31 Grove
Street,
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GROVE STREET South Side (Betw. Bedford § Hudson Sts.)

A passageway between Nos. 10 and 12 Grove Street, closed by an iron
gate, leads to Grove Court (described under that name).

This fine row of Federal two and one-half story houses is one of
the most delightful in The Village. They are frame structures with
brick fronts in Flemish bond and were built between 1825 and 1834 on
land leased from Trinity Church and St. Luke's Chapel. The builder
associated with the row is James N. Wells, who, like Samuel Winant and
John Degraw, had started out as a carpenter, but soon achieved recogni-
tion as a builder. He did a great deal of work for Trinity Church and
built St. luke's Chapel (sec under lludson Street, between Barrow and
Christopher Streets). :

With the exception of No. 2%, subscquently altéred by the addi-
tion of a third story with bracketed cornicc and steecl casement windows,
this row of houses has been modified very little. They faithfully re-
flect the type of modest dwelling which a conscientious builder erected
in the late Eighteen-twenties and carly Eighteen-thirties. No. 6, built
in 1827 by and for D. G. Van Winkle, a house carpenter, and No. 8,
erected in 1829 for Abraham Storms, Jr., merchant, were extensively re-
modeled by James N. Wells in 1833-34, as was No., 2%, the earliest
house of the row, which Wells had originally built in 1825. No. 4,
erected by Wells in 1833-34, replaced a shop owned by William J. Roome,
a house painter. Consequently, Wells should certainly be credited with
the fine proportions and good taste so evident here.

All of these Federal houses, with the ecxception of No. 2, are
three windows wide, two and one-half stories high, and surmounted by two
dormer windows at roof level. A low stoop leads to a doorway framed by
paneled reveals. Although No. 4 was the last house in the row to be
built, it is interesting to note that it has a prototype Federal door-
way flanked by columns, standing in front of rusticated wood blocks sim-
ulating stone. ‘[he three other doors arc similar, but have pilasters
instead of columns. The transom of No. 10 retains its handsome lead--
work applied over the glass. The cight-paneled entrance doors of these
houses, surmounted by a rectangular transom, are also typical of the
era. The stone lintels, flush with the brickwork, above the doorways
and windows have lost their cornices, but the plain wood cornices with
undecorated fascia board may be the originals. The dormer windows at
Nos. 4, 8, and 10, have doublc-hung muntined sash; they have frames with
small square paneled blocks at the meeting of vertical and horizontal
trim members and are crowned with little pediments. At No. 6, the two
dormers have been combined under a low gambrel-shaped gable with a small
diamond-shaped window inserted between thc two original ones. No. 8 is
the only house which has exterior window blinds. Most of the wrought
iron railings at the steps and landings are the handsome originals.

This six-story brick apartment house was built in 1938 for the
Hudson and Grove Street Corporation and was designed by Irving Margon,
architect. It has many typical features of that day such as corner win-
dows, streamlined brickwork and metal casements throughout. It relies
for the effectiveness of its design on contrasts, large windows adjoin-
ing small ones, and smooth walls contrasted with banded ones., This was
the architecture of the New Deal period and represented a simplified ver-
sion of those buildings of the Nineteen-twenties which derived their in-
spiration from the formalized stylizations of the French Exposition des
Arts Décoratifs. This building also faces on lludson Street (Nos. 482-
486) .

GROVE STREET North Side (Betw. lludson § Bedford Sts.)

The long front of the Manhattan School (formerly Public School
No. 3) is architecturally similar to the two shorter fronts on Bedford
and Hudson Streets (described undér Nos. 97-105 Bedford Street).

HUDSON STREET (Between St. Luke's Place § West 10th Street)

This portion of Hudson Street, the southernmost section encom-
passed within the Historic District, retains much of its early Nine-
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'HUDSON STREET (Between St. Luke's Place § West 10th Street)

teenth Century appearance and flavor. This is particularly true of the
St Luke's’ block on the west 51de between Barrow and Chrlstopher
Streets, whlch constltutes the most si, n1f1cant arch1tectura1 ensemble
in the West Vlllage and the earllest in date This early example of
communlty planning began wlth the erectlon of a School house and of

St. Luke's Chapel

St Luke's Chapel is set back from the street behind an iron fence
and is flanked by unlform rows gf town houses, w1th trees 1ntroduc1ng a
b1t of green into- the cltyscape It is a charmrng 11tt1e church whlch
recalls” the atmosphere of an earller day in its small scale and 51mp1e
de51gn Thls church and the houses nearby were bu11t in the Elghteen-
twenties in the late Federal style of the per1od

Immedlately to the south also on the west sic. between Morton and
Barrow Streets, is another row of late Federal houses 1nterrupted by a
much taller s$ix- story apartment bulldlng of the early Twentieth Cen-
tury Several of these 11ttle houses reta1n much of the1r or1g1nal ap-
pearance, whlle others have been altered and ralsed in helght 'in at
least oné house however the or1g1na1 fenestratlon remalns, thus pre—
serving some of the orlglnal feeling of the row.

The gast 51de prov1des an 1nterest1ng contrast between the low Fed-
eral and Greek BeV1va1 bulldlngs and the taller structures of a later
date and style. The block front between St Luke s Place and Morton
Street erected 1n the late Elghteen fortles and early f1ft1es, is an
example of Vernacular bulld;ng within the trad1t10n of late Greek Re-
vival de51gn and of the incoming Itallanate style The houses were
semi- commerc1al propertles from the ‘outset, with stores or workrooms at
street level and apartments above The bulldlngs are well proportloned
and, w1th a few exceptions, st111 retain their orlglnal herght and many
detalls whlch are typical of thelr peried.

Thls block front, together with the low Federal houses on the west
side. between Morton and Chrlstopher Streets, prOV1des a warm human scale
and a deC1ded contrast to the large, impersonal, six-story apartment
bu11d1ngs of the Nlneteen twentles which dominate the east side of the
street northward beglnnlng at the corner of Morton Street Beyond the
apartment bulldlngs,'at the northeast corner of Grove and Hudson Streets,
we cdatch a g11mpse of a large school bu11d1ng whlch early in the
Twentleth Century, set the hejight for later apartment houses.

‘This section of Hudson Street, particularly on the west side, pre-
serves to a remarkable degree much of the residential character and
charm of the early N1neteenth Century This is entirely in keeplng with
thé hlstory of the street. Named after Henry Hudson, the street first
appears far downtown on a city map of 1797, when it extended only from

Duane Street to Hudson Square later renamed St. John's Park The street‘

was cut through open farm land in the course of the next two decades
unt11 it reached Bank Street north of thlS point it became Elghth Ave-

nue. Thus, St. Luke S Chapel and the re51dences of the Elghteen -twenties.

nearby, 1nclud1ng those on the south side of Grove Street near the Hud—
son Street corner, 1naugurated the development of the area.'

' Whlle sonie effort has been made to preserve the architectural char-
acter of thlS sectzon of Hudson Street an example of complete lack of
concern may be seen on the ‘west side, between Chrlstopner and West Tenth,
Streets. Here two f1ne late Federal houses two and one- half storles h
hlgh the last survivors of a block front of 51m11ar resldences, are now
flanked by a8 six-story loft bu11d1ng and a f1111ng statlon. The complete
lack of rapport between these structures and the older houses glarlngly
111ustrates the process of attrition Whlch is taklng place and the. need
for archltectural controls for one of the most interesting and h15tor1ca1
areas of The Village, The recent remodeling of these same two houses,
with new store fronts and pseudo- Georgian doorways, is an example of
1nept handllng of the problem of remodeling in an Historic District, a
situation which could be av01ded with the help of an architectural ad-
visory' board

HUDSON, STREET East Side (Betw. St. Luke's P1. & Morton. St.)

The east s1de of this block retalns much of its mid-Nineteenth Cen-
tury appearance The bu11d1ngs were all sem1 commerc1a1 propertles from
the outset with stores or workrooms at street level and apartments
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HUDSON STREET East Side (Betw, St. Luke's Pl. § Morton St.)

above. These structures are vernacular versions of late Greek Revival
design and examples of the incoming Italianate style. They are well
proportioned and, with two exceptions, retain their original four-story
height and many details typical of the Eighteen-forties and fifties.
All these properties were built on land held by the Trinity Church
Corporation. They were developed, for the most part, by men assoc1ated
with the provision business and various other trades.

The three houses on the south end of the block were owned by John
H. Lewis, a provision merchant, who also developed the adjoining prop-
erties at Nos., 3 and 4 St. Luke's Place.

The corner house, No. 420, was built first, in 1852, and is wider
and taller than its two companions to the north. The simple facade is
enlivened by Italianate casement windows and a bold Neo-Grec roof cor-
nice of a later date, with widely spaced vertical brackets of the same
design as the cornices at Nos. 3-7 St. Luke's Place. The original
window lintels are flush with the brickwork, as is the case also at
Nos. 422 and 424, both built in 1853. _

No. 422 has an interesting brick fascia with dentils above. A
second doorway was added, probably when the building was converted to
multiple tenancy. No. 424, together with its neighbor, No. 426, an
earlier house, has undergone extensive alterations, including the verti-
cal extension of the buildings by means of a tall brick parapet with
recessed panels above a dentiled fascia similar to that at No. 422, and
the addition of Neo-Georgian entrance doorways with steep broken pedi-
ments with central urn motif. These two buildings share a common fire
escape. ‘ '

This row of six brick houses, each four stories in height and
somewhat smaller in scale than the preceding three, was built in 1847
on land which the owner had purchased from Trinity in 1845. They were

 erected by George Sutton, a builder, who owned No. 432 himself. Two

decades earlier, he had constructed residences on land leased from
Trinity Church on the next block (see description under Nos. 447-453
Hudson Street). Silas and Charles Olmstead, city grocers, owned Nos.

432 and 436 respectively. Charles Olmstead's property included Nos.
68% and 68 Morton Street, around the corner; he lived at 5 St. Luke's

Place from 1851-52 on. _ _

The houses are built in a vernacular version of late Greek Revival
style. Originally, they all must have had long second story windows,
which still may be scen at Nos. 428, 430, and 432. The window lintels
all have sheetmetal cornices added except at Nos. 430 and 432. An’
interesting feature of the roof cornices is the row of brick dentils at

. the top, above which a bracketed cornice has been added at No. 432,

making it somewhat higher than its neighbors. The original simple wood
store fronts carried on bracketed shelves remain in place at Nos. 430
and 434,

HUDSON STREET East Side (Betw. Morton § Barrow Sts.)

This six-story apartment building of 1925, designed in the Neo-
Federal style, is described under Nos. 63-69 Morton Street.

. Separated from its twin (Nos. 438-450) by a narrow couryard, this
six-story apartment house, erected in 1924, is described under Nos. 83-
89 Barrow Street.

HUDSON STREET East Side (Betw. Barrow § Grove Sts.)

This pair of six-story apartments (described under Nos. 72-84 Bar-
row Street) consists of two ”U"-shaped units facing each other in- such
manner as to provide a large inner courtyard. The two units are sepa-
rated, permitting an access passage between them from Barrow Street.

This six-story brick apartment house of 1938 (described under No. 2
Grove Street) fills the corner of this block and extends behind the
houses at Nos. 2% and 4 Grove Street.
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HUDSON STRCET East Side (Betw. Grove § Christopher Sts.)

ThHis west end of the Manhattan School with the low auditorium along-
side, is architecturally similar to the Bedford Street facade (described
under Nos. 97-105 Bedford Street).

These four brick héuses are all that remain of a row of six late
Federal houses built in 1827 for Peter Sharpe, who had acquired the prop-
erty, part of Trinity Church holdings, in 1825-26. Sharpe, a partner in
the firm of Sharpe & Sutphén, whipmakers, played an important role in the
affairs of the City during the first three decades of the Nineteenth Cen-
tury. He was incorpérator 6f the Mechanics Society and, at omne time, its
President, and also was a Trustee of the Brick Presbvter1an Church. A
candidate for Mayor in 18206, he served earlier as State Assemblyman and
Representative in Congress.

Although these buildings have been raised to four stories and are
much altered, No. 494 retains an exceptionally fine arched Federal door-
way. Theé door is flanked by semi-engaged Ionic columns and sidelights
above panels, and the inner wood door frame has quarter Ionic columns at
the corners. The fanlight transom, a later replacement, is surrounded by
a handsome egg and dart molding. The Flemish bond brickwork used for all
these buildings is still faintly visible on the facade of No. 500. The
sheetmetal cornices above the window lintels, as well as the heavy brack-
eted cornices crowning Nos. 498 and 500, represent typical mid-Nineteenth
Century alterations. Nos. 494 and 496 have been smooth-stuccoed, and the
roof cornices réplaced By tall parapets.

The corner house, which fronts on Christopher Street, was at one
time a very handsome Federal style house (No. 130 Christopher Street).
The Hudson Street facade has been completely remodeled over the years,
including a new store front (1967) with lunettes over the windows,

HUDSON STREET (Between Christopher § West 10th Streets)

This block offers an interesting contrast betweén the low Federal
style buildings on the northern ends of both sides of the street, and two
large Twentieth Century strucitures, an apartment house on the east side,
and a loft building on the west 51de

All the land had once been a small part of the holdings of Richard
Amos, a veteran of the Revolutionary War. In 1788 he purchased land,
later known as the Amos Farm, from the Earl of Abingdon; the property
extended from Washington Street on the west almost to Bleecker Street on
the east, and from -Charles to Christopher Streets. In 1809 he deeded
land ‘to the City for a néw street, named Amos Street and later re-named
Tenth Street, on condition that his house at the northeast corner of
Greenwich Street be left undisturbed for five years. Amos died in his
seventy-seventh year in 1837. His daughters married men who also hecame
involved with the development of the area. Among them were Joseph J.
Vanbeuren (later Van Buren) and George B. Thorp, the latter Keeper of the
State Prison from 1824-29. This building, designed by Joseph Mangin, one
‘0of the architects of City Hall, faced the Amos properties on Greenwich
Street and the Tludson River to the west .(now West Street). Also asso-
ciated in later years:with the Amos Estate was George Harrison, the de-
veloper of a fine row of houses at Nos. 107-117 Bedford Street,

‘HUDSON STREET East Side (Betw, Christopher § West 10th Sts.)

This cornér six-story apartmeént house (described -under No. 125
Christopher Street) was erected in 1944 and has stores .on the Hudson
Strcet facade. It replaced four small houses which were ence part -of
the row to ‘the north.

The original appearance of this row of five town houses, built by

Isaac A, Hatfield, carpenter and builder, is suggested by No. 510 which,

except for a remodeled first floor, looks much as it did when -built in
1827, Here we see the typical mintined double-hung windows and the
dormers in the roof. It is constructed of Flemish bond brickwork, and
the simple wood cornice remains. No. 512 has had its 'window sash re-
placed, and ‘Nos. 514 and 516 are now four stories high with the paneled
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HUDSON STREET East Side (Betw. Christopher § West 10th Sts.)

lintels of the windows faithfully reproduced at the fourth floor. Nos.
514-516 have graceful balconies at the middle windows of the upper
floors.

Similar to its neighbors to the south, No. 518 is also a fine Fed-
eral house with its long side and sccondary entry (No. 252) on West.
Tenth Street. Built of Flemish bond, threce stories high, it has the
handsome paneled Federal window lintels, so typical of the period. It
has a simple wood fascia board with rain gutter above, surmounted by a
fine hipped roof with dormers. It was built in 1826, at the same time
as four houses on West Tenth Street, Nos. 246-52, all on property which
Isaac, together with Jonathan and Charles C. Hatfield, had purchased
from Richard Amos in 1825,

HUDSON STREET West Side (Betw. Charles § West 10th Sts.)

This brlck house with cut-off corner, located on the corner site,
is now three and one-half stories high., It was built in 1827 for Henry
Bayard, a carpenter. While it still displays Federal characteristics
in its Flemish bond brickwork and handsome paneled lintels, its original

-charm has been lost in subsequent alterations. The strecet floor has

been stuccoed-over and remodeled for commercial use with metal sash and
a centrally located double door. A wide dormer, ugly and boxy in shape,
was installed above the roof cornice.

These two late Federal houses were built in 1827 on land purchased
the year before from Rlchard Amos by Isaac C. Blauvelt (No. 531) and
Tunis Banta (No. 529). Both were cartmen, anxious to invest in real
estate, and the houses were rented immediately,

Both houses were originally the same height as No. 533 and-were
raised from two and one-half to three stories at a later date, clearly
indicated by the change from Flemish to running bond brickwork. No. 529
has window lintels which are Federal in top profile although the cor-
nices seem a bit heavy for that period, possibly due to re-stuccoeing
over the years. No. 531 retains its original stoop and Federal iron-
work with attractive openwork newel posts. The first floors of both
houses have had their original windows replaced by show windows.

This building was constructed in 1858 for Charles L. Church who had
his liquor store on the ground floor. It is constructed in the vernacu-
lar of the day with simple roof cornice and stone window lintels. It is
four stories high, of brick, and now has a large steel roller door occu-
pying most of the ground floor

This row of five-story apartment buildings, with stores below, ex-
tends around into West Tenth Street. It is treated as a uniform brick:
facade displaying horizontal stone band courses and is crowned by a
most elaborate sheet metal cornice having arched pediments and a corner
turret as distinguishing features. DBuilt in 1889 for Frank Schaefler,

~it was designed by Rentz § Lange. The shop-fronts are continuous along

the Avenue, with simple, uniform cornice. The second floor windows
have segmental arches; those at the third floor have arched pediments
with Queen Anne sunbursts at certain windows, and the fourth floor win-
dows are arched and have keystones,

HUDSON STREET 'West Side (Betw. West 10th § Christopher Sts.)

This corner lot is occupied by a gasoline filling station built in
1947. A most necessary adjunct to any residential area, this filling
station performs a necessary function. Having been built in The Village
with low-1lying brick houses adjoining it to the south, it could well
have been designed to harmonize better with the neighborhood and might,
through its use of materials and attractive design, have been made a
feature which contributed to, rather than detracted from, the character
of the neighborhood.

These two attractive little brick houses are the last survivors of
a blockfront built in 1828 for Richard Amos, an important early property
owner in The Village. (For further information on Amos, sce page 246.)
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o HUDSON STREET West Side (Betw. West 10th § Christopher Sts.)

#509 § 511 Like most Federal style houses they are two and one-half stories high and
cont. have dormers, No. 509 retains two dormers, while No. 511 has a new one
with five windows in it and a gable above, extending the width of the
house. The ground floors have been recently remodeled with new store

fronts consisting of large glass areas juxtaposed against pseudo-Georgian

doorways with broken pediments.

#503-507 Towering up to a height of six stories, these loft buildings, Nos.
503-505 and 507, have uniformly designed facades. Built in 1911 for the
Greenwich Investing Company, they were designed in the concrete loft
building tradition by Lorenz F. Weiher, contrasting the horizontality of
the triple windows against the verticality of the supporting piers. They
are a functional expression of their purpose, although no concession to
neighborhood appearance was made either in use of detail or of materials.

#501 This corner building, once four stories high, was remodeled in 1953
' for the Maldor Property Corporation to make it a two-story taxpayer with
new stores beneath. The second floor offices have wide metal sash win-
dows with brlck soldler ~course lintels and brick exterior walls crowned
by a slender stone coping. The stores, trimmed in metal, occupy most of
the first floor. There is also an entrance to the bulldlng at No. 131
Christopher Street.

HUDSON STREET West Side (Betw. Christopher § Barrow Sts.)

(#493-499) The north corner of this block front is not built upbn, at present.

(#487-491) These three houses were built in 1825-26 (discussed below, under
Nos. 473- 477).

(#479-485) St. Luke's, erected in 1821-22 as an uptown chapel of Trinity Parish,
is a charming little country church which recalls in its scale and sim-
plicity the atmosphere of an earlier day. It is the third oldest church
building still in use in Manhattan, preceded only by St. Paul's Chapel
qu;St.'Ma;ks—in—the-Bowery. Popularly known as "St. Luke's-in-the-
Fields," the church was surrounded by relatively open farmland at the
time of its erection. Some of the buildings in the immediate vicinity
included the Amos farmhouse on Christopher Street and the old State
Prison, between: Christopher and Charles Streets, with its entrance on
_Greenwich Street. '

A meeting called by Miss Catherine Ritter in 1820 resulted in the
formation of the new church in this sparsely settled neighborhood. The
cornerstone. for the chapel was laid in 1821, with the support of Trinity
Parish, which gave its bond to assure the loan for the building. In 1822
it was consecrated by Bishop Hobart, and the Reverend George Upfield was
its. first minister.

The church was built of brick in the Federal style of the day, with
round-arched. windows at the sides and flanking the front tower. The main
body of the church is simple in the extreme, with-a low pitched roof, the
front end gable of which abuts the tower. The handsome double door was
originally surmounted by a stone tablet and a lunette window,.above which
were bull's-eye windows on three sides of the tower with arched, louvered

- windows above these for the belfry. The top of the brick tower was once
crowned by.a low wood parapet with raised paneled sections at the center
of each side. At a later ‘date exterior blinds were added: for the windows
at the sides. and low porches on either side of the tower. As we see the
church today, the wood parapet has been removed from the. tower, as have
been the porches and windows on either side of the tower in the front
wall. A handsomely "eared!' wooden frame, of the Greek Revival period,
may now be seen at the front. door.

Perhaps. the most interesting. aspect of the St. Luke's block is. the
fact that 1t provides a. superb early example of coherent community plan-
ning. The entire block was. developed under leasehold from the Trinity
Church Corporation. Within a very few. years after the erection of the
church, town houses were built on. all sides of the block bounded by Bar-
row, Greenwich, and Christopher Streets, thus enclosing and shielding
from public view the burial ground and garden of the church. The man. -
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HUDSON STREET West Side (Betw.'CﬁrisiBﬁher § Barrow Sts.)

responsible for the design and construction of this entire complex,
including the church, was James N. Wells, builder. Wells "rose from
the humble vocation of carpenter to be a rich man and an Alderman,' to
quote a contemporary source. He had been active in city affairs since
the early Eighteen-twenties, first as a City Assessor, then as Alder-

‘man of the Ninth Ward, and served on a great many city committees, of

which the most important, from an architectural point of view, was the
Committee of Repairs for Public Buildings. Wells not only played an
important part in the architectural development of The Village (see

Nos. 12-18 Grove Street) but also of Chelsea, where he lived after 1833.

0f the seven houses which once stood at each side of the church,
only three remain, Nos. 487, 489 and 491 to the north and Nos. 473,
475 and 477 to the south, The earliest houses, dating from 1825, are
Nos. 473-477 and 487; Nos. 489 and 491 were built the following year.

These houses provide us with some of the finest examples of Fed-
eral architecture remaining in the city, and are among the few of the

' period for which a builder is definitely known. Originally, they were

two and one-half stories high, with dormers, as indicated by the

change from Flemish to running bond above the second story windows.

The basement and stoops at Nos. 477-491 are of stone, with a continuous
stone band course above the windows where the brick begins. At Nos.
473-475, the basements and stoops are of brick. The stoops have
graceful wrought iron handrailings leading up to sturdy eight-paneled
doors. ' '

No. 487, Wells's own house, where he lived until 1833, has an
extremely handsome doorway flanked by paired Ionic columns. It is now
the Parish Office., This is the widest house on the. block, thirty-six
feet across, and together with No. 477, the Vicarage, is one bay wider
than the other houses, thus effecting a transition in scale from the
church to the other houses, which are only twenty feet across.

This is certainly one of the most interesting blocks in The Vil-
lage from an architectural and historical point of view.

The south corner of this block front is not built upon, at present.

HUDSQON STREET West Side (Betw. Barrow § Morton Sts.). .

With the exception of the apartment house at Nos. 455-457, all the
houses on this block were erected between 1827 and 1828 on land leased
from Trinity Church. The original appearance of the row may best be
seen today at Nos. 449% and 451, which still retain much of their
late Federal appearance. The houses were built by George and Dayid
Sutton, neighborhood builders, whe held Trinity leases on the southern
half of the block and who lived at Nos. 447 and 453 respectively. Two
decades later, George Sutton built a row of houses nearby at Nos. 426-
436 Hudson Street.

Built in 1828-29 for Gilbert Chichester, a dry goods merchant, this
corner house may originally have been two and cne-half stories high,
with dormers, and with a rear extension on Barrow Street. By mid-cen-
tury, it was a saloon and in ‘1874 it became a drug store and one-family
dwelling. Extensive alterations took place again in 1902, As seen to-
day, the center window has been removed at each floor on the Hudson
Street front and a restaurant has been added at the ground floor.

~ Originally two buildings, now altered to one, this property was
also owned by Gilbert Chichester. The houses were built at the same
time as No. 463. They have a new uniform brick front three stories
high, shuttered windows, and pedimented doorway.

Designed in the stolid rectilinear manner of 1915 by Charles B,
Meyers for the Ridge Holding Company, this six-story brick apartment i
house displays the usual panels, brick parapet, and fire escapes of its
period. It has stores at ground level, on either side of the centrally
placed entrance doorway. The windows were planned to align with the !
low buildings flanking it,
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HUDSON STREET West Side'’ (Betw. Barrow § Morton Sts.)

This building was origindlly the ome of David Sutton and must once
have fesembled No. 45T, {oday we seée a recently erected brick front four
stories high. Thé first floor #s of rusticated brickwork and has a 51mp1y
framed entraiicé dooF. The upper floors have the conventiondl three win-
dows dnd the buildidg is crowned by a biick parapet.

. These two Houses; owiied by George Sutton, built in 1827 (No. 449%)
and 1828 (No. 451); give us sofie idea of the origindl dppearance of this
éntiré block ffont: They were probably two and one-half stories high
wlth dormers, and thls 15 corroborated by the fact that No. 449% re-
the third floor, crowned by an Italianate modillioned roof cornice, has
perfectly plain stone window lintels. No. 451, with its little windows
cut in the deep fascia board below the roof cornice, appears to have
been ralsed in Heiglit and altered very early; in the Greek Revival per-
iod. 'The handsome stofe front with modillioned cornice at No. 451 was
probably added in the mid-Nineteenth Century; the storé at No. 449%
has fécently bBiéen clgsed in.

1hough built iii 1826 by George Sutton as his own residence, this
housé wds récefitly coipletely remodeled. The ground floor real estate

' office has Roman brick surrounding thé display window, with metal trim-

above. Thé two uppetr floors hdve new metal sash, and the walls have been
smooth-stuccoed and lined to simulate dshlar masonry.

LEROY STREET North Side (Betw. St. Luke's Pl. § Seventh Ave. So0.)

Erected in 1887, this five-stoty brick apartment house with brown-.
stone trim is 4 good ‘exadple of the work of the period, which was much
influenced Ly the Romanesque Revival. The facade incorporates two
bulldlngs, ¢ach with it$ oWwn éntrance under a small canopied porch, and
is enlivened at the fifth story by a bold series of blind arches above
the windows. Above this are several courses of brickwork, corbeled
out to form an interesting base to the cornice. These two buildings
were erected for H. M. Tostevin, George Orr, and I. J. Roberts, for whom

‘the heighboring buildings, Nos. 51 and 53, also were built.

These two five-story brick buildings of 1887 are identical, except
for the rusticated stone work of the first floor at No. 53, which does

 not -appear at No. 51, They rely for their effect on an interesting .

treatiient of the brickwork, altérnately projected forward and recessed,
and on ‘the bold bfacketed tornice silhouetted against the sky. The
‘cotbeling of the brickwork, seen at Nos. 55 and 57, is repeated here in
the ¢entral section of cach building, just below the cornice.

MORTON STREET (Between Bedford and Hudson Streets)

Notable on this strect as an archltectural gem of the City is the ’

‘dlStlngu1Shed Federal ‘town house on the north side, near Hudson Street.

T'ts every feature is handsome and well preserved, and its chief glory

is dts magnlflcent arched doorway. This attractive street displays a

Mindt range of heights, three 'to five stories for the Nineteenth Century

houses and apartment ‘houses and six to eight stories for the early
‘Twenticth Céntury buildings. The tallest buildihg, a loft at ‘the corner

of -Se¥enth Avenue South, and a remodeled apartment house, at the middle
of the north side, arc out of character with the block in their choice

~of window sizes ‘and shapes. These are situations which participation by
-a désign review board would have avoided. By contrast, ‘the .architect of

the 16w apartmeént house at the liudson Streét corner, on the ‘north side,

eiideéavored with his arched doorway and other Neo- Federal details to show

appfetidtidn‘df the dutstanding neighboring Federal ‘town house mentioned
above. ‘
This streét offers an irteresting variety of architectural styles

and is ‘one of tlie mWost attractive in The Village. The south side has

séveral fine Italiandtc liouses, notably a row of four residences, and
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MORTON STREET (Between Bedford and lludson Streets)

other houses farther down the block ranging in style from late Greek
Revival to Italianate. On the north side of the street, enhancing the
distinguished Federal house of 1828 is its neighbor, a Greek Revival
house. Farther to the east, at the bend in the street stand a fine
Greek Revival house and several old houses on the north side.

MORTON STREET South Side (Betw. Bedford § lMudson Sts.)

The Upjohn Building of 1920 (described under Nos. 38-40 Seventh
Avenue South) occupies the corner,

These two very elaborate brick apartment houses, five stories high,
were built in 1890 and had their entrance floors remodeled in the first
half of this century. All ornament was removed and they were smooth-
plastered up to rusticated doorways. The cornices were removed and
paneled parapets substituted. The intermediate floors retain most of
their original ornament with vertical piers between windows and blind
arches with sunbursts at the fourth floor. Albert Huttira was the
architect for Carinato Brothers. :

These three similar five-story buildings of the late Eighteen-
eighties are a good example of the incoherence which results when one
of a group is remodeled, Even though they differ in detail, Nos. 40
and 42 are basically similar in their rich architectural treatment,
with heavy cornices and paired windows in recessed bays under arches
at the top floor. No. 38 has been shorn of its ornament and has had
some very trite detail substituted at the first floor. Where such
alterations are made, without reference to any feeling for the materials
and nature of the building and where no architectural controls exist to
insure proper treatment, results of similar anonymity will invariably
occur, ‘
Nos. 38-40 weére erccted Dy and for-H. M. Tostevin in 1887, while
No. 42 was built two years later, for Mary E. McLaughlin and designed

by M. C. Merritt.

This exceptionally fine brick house, Greek Revival in style, served
as a set for the film, ''Naked City." It is three stories high over a
high basement, and was built in 1844-45 for John McLean, a lumber
merchant. This is the earliest house on this side of the block and
the sole surviving house of this period between this location and
Seventh Avenue South, now occupied entirely by apartment houses. It
retains its dignified Greek Revival pedimented doorway, and has a finely
detailed door flanked by sidelights and surrounded by a delicate bead
and reel molding. The roof cornice, with the same molding above a row
of dentils, is an excellent example of the period. Alterations have
been held to a minimum on the strect facade, though a number of changes
have been made at the rear of the house.

Thaddeus Hyatt, patent vault manufacturer, developed this row of
four handsome Anglo-Italianate houses, in 1854. They are four stories
high, with English basements. |Ilyatt lived at No. 46, and sold the
remaining three houses immediately upon their completion for a substan-
tial profit, once the builder's costs were deducted from the difference
between the price of the lots, which were purchased in 1853 from
Trinity, and the sale price.

No. 46 has a modern brick entry, while the others have had the
originally rusticated basements smooth-stuccoed. A handsome unifying
roof cornice rests on paired brackets with paneled fascia. Among the
attractive features are the long Irench windows of the second (or
parlor) floors, with imposing pediments (except at No. 46), projecting
window cornices carried on end brackets, and paired stone corbels under
the sills of the upper floor windows. The unusual curved balconies at
Nos. 48 and 52 retain their original intricate cast iron designs.

Built in 1852-53 as a three-story brick house with basement, this
building has been greatly altered by lowering the entrance to basement
level, and by the addition of a top story now the fifth floor. An
interesting keyed enframement in brick has been provided for the win-
dows of the top floor. The building blends well with its neighbor,
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No. 56, to the west. The painter Paul Cadmus lived here in the Nineteen-
thirties,

Josiah Llndsay, owner-architect of this five-story brick apartment
house, erected in 1891, made full use of the twenty-five foot lot by
reduc1ng the space between the windows, thus allowing for two good-
sized windows for each apartment facing the front. Effective use was
made of contrasting materials, brick and stone trim, as may be seen at
the porch, the windew lintels and sills, and band courses, The brick
is interestingly treated where it is corbeled out over the windows of
the fourth and fifth floors. A boldly projecting roof cornice crowns
the bulldlng

These three houses were built within a year of each other, No. 58
‘for James H. Noe, brush maker, in 1848-49; and Nos. 60 and 62 as a pair,
in 1847-48, respectively for John D. Scott, clothier, and for Helmus H.
Wells, lumber merchant.

Transitional in style, with some late Greek Revival and some
Italianate features, thc houses were originally three stories high over
a rusticated basement. The rustication may stidl be seen at No. .60,
which has been considerably modified, including the elimination .of the
Stoop to provide a ‘basement entrance. At No. 58 the present owner has
restored the doorway and replaced the stoop and Greek Revival irxonwork.
Originally, -all three thouses thad thigh stoops, as also attNo.'62 ‘the
‘best preserved ‘house of the group. It retains its fine pedlmented door-
way with 'delicate moldings :and .carved capitals, :and a very beautiful
Italianate paneled door. Imposingly pedimented French windows appear at
parlor floor ilevel; it retains some of its original window :lintels and
‘fine .Greek Revival iron work at both the stoop and areaway. ‘These three
houses -have delicately .detailed roof cornices, .with dentils and moldings
above. The painter -Ben-Zion lived at No. :58 in the Nineteen-forties.

Built in 1891, at the same time as No. 56, for William {B. Pope under
‘the supervision of ‘M. W. ‘B. Ferdon, architect, this picturesque stone-
faced apartment house, ‘five stories high, is distinguished by its .con-
‘trasts between rough and .smooth stonework. The plain walls are relieved
by the .carved -stonework of .the trim. The elaborate roof .cornice is sup-
ported by ‘bold brackets, separated by square ornamental panels.

This unusual four-story house was erected for the /Trustees of Trinity
‘Church in 1852, “The design, with a polygonal bay, is unusual in.The
Village at this period. The windows are segmental-arched, but -their cor-
nices and sills .were shaved smooth at a later date. The .entry has .been
dlowered -to -basement level. The roof .cornice, with widely spaced. modil-
lions, -has *had -an ornamental 'band course wlth rosettes added .to the

. bottom -of the fascia at.a .later date.

This simple threce-story -house, above a basement, was:built in 1846
for Charles Olmstecad, city.grocer, together with -the small -three-story

‘house 'next to it. The -latter may once have served also. as a connection

‘to the store at -the corner of liudson Street (No. 436), bu11t at about -the
‘same time.

‘Nos. 68 and 684, -which appear to be.one house, are. excellent ex-
amples sof the simple type of house .erected in the late Greek Revival

-period. -The rintels:over -the windows of No.-68 are -flush-with the wall

and the-house retains its simple roof cornice and undecorated fascia
board over the low . .third story windows. ‘The narrowAdqqrpay‘w;th_51de—
lights 'and the ironwork are typical of -the best of .this.modest type of
-Greck Revival house,

No. 70 is a-four- ~-story building fronting on'Hudson ‘Street (No. 436).
‘It dates from 1847 and Charles Olmstead had his grocery store on.the
ground -floor, and rented the apartments above. The end windows eon.the

‘Morton: Street side are-blind.

-MORTON : STREET “North.Side - (Betw. Hudson § .Bedford Sts.)

‘This large ‘six-story brick.apartment house was designed in-the
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Neo-Federal style by the architect Charles B. Meyer for the 65 Morton
Street Corporation, and was built in 1924. It is the only building on
the block erected after 1900. Its chief interest lies in the handling
of the brickwork: at ground story level, the architect has deliberately
reverted to the older Federal tradition of Fiemish bond, in deference

to its two fine neighbors to the east, Nos., 59 and 61. Above this,

the architect has achieved an intercsting pattern by using alternating
courses of headers and stretchers, and the third, fourth, and fifth
stories are set off by a soldier course of brick below and a stone

band course above. The top story, using the same type of brickwork,

-is given additional interest by the introduction of blind arches and

terra cotta above the windows, surmounted by swags and balustrades.
The building, which also fronts on Hudson Strcet (Nos. 438-450), is a
twin to the adjoining building, Nos. 83-89 Barrow Street, just north
of it, built a year later, which likewise faces Hudson Street, at
Nos. 452-462,

Built in 1835-36 for Edward Roome, this three-story brick house,
over a stone basement, still retains traces of the Greek Revival
period. The deeply recessed entrance door is flanked by simple pilas-
ters and glazed sidelights. The boxy windows above the roof cornice
recall the dormers which once graced the roof, still to be seen at
No, 59. The stone lintels over the windows, pedimental in shape and
capped with diminutive moldings, have a distinct charm. The roof
cornice and fascia are simple and unadorned. The fine ironwork around
the areaway displays the typical Greek Revival fret castings at the
base, with acanthus finials at the top.

This house was built on land which had been first leased from
Trinity Church by Charles Qakley who transferred his lease to Roome,
his son-in-law and business partner, who then sold it in 1837 at a

handsome profit.

This remarkably well preserved house, unique in The Village, was
selected in the Nineteen-thirties by the Federal Arts Project of the
Index of American Design as the outstanding example of late Federal
style in the City. It was built in 1828 on land leased from the Trinity
Church Corporation, by Cornelius Oakley, a merchant, of the firm R. § C.
QOakley at 108 Front Street. Trinity retain ownership of the property
until 1920, when it was sold to the Alentaur Realty Company. By the
time the I.A.D. study was undertaken, No. 59 Morton Street had already
been converted to apartments. The interior has been considerably
altered, though the house retains its fine staircase and original
interior details on the parlor floor. L

This three and one-half story brick house, with dormers, is an
outstanding example of Federai architecture. Its chief glory is 'its
magnificent doorway. The eight-panecled door is flanked by paired Ionic
columns (the corner ones being engaged to the walls), behind which we
catch a glimpse of rusticated woodwork and glazed sidelights. The
transom bar is blocked forward and surmounted by a handsome fanlight
which retains its original leadwork. The doorway has brick reveals
and a stone arch at the top with paneled impost blocks and curved mold-
ings leading up to a widc paneled keystone which follows the curve of
the doorway. The windows all have finely detailed lintels with a
stepped-up central section and. paneled ends. The muntined window sash
is double-hung and the attractive segmental-arched dormers are given
importance by their pediments and paneled corner pilasters. The
original roof cornice and fascia board are missing. The house still
retains its fine Federal wrought and cast iron railings around the
stoop and areaway, as well as unusually handsome newel posts.

This seven-story apartment house, consisting of three buildings,
was designed by Schneider § llerter, archltects, for Leopold Kaufman
and erected in 1900-01. It has been completely stuccoed over. The
top story displays a row of segmental-arched windows surmounted by a
high parpet, stepped up at the ends,

Originally two buildings, erected by the owner-architect, James
Webb in 1874, the two were joined together in 1928 with one entrance =«
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MORTON STREET North Side (Betw. Hudson & Bedford Sts.)

through the basement. The modillioned roof cornigce serves as a reminder
of its orlglnal Ita11 nate character The strongly gontrasting arches
around the’ central f _t §t9ry wlpdows and the entry beleng to the
alteratlon of 1928 ' T

Designed and erected ip 1890 by Fred Chling for Mary E. Mclaughlin,
this seven-story apartmcnt housc has bcen complctely altered in recent
years. It prcsents a blmplC facadc to the street with wlndows whlch
in their horlzontallty and size, do not accord well with those of its

nelghbors A study of wlndow sizes and shapes mlght perhaps have better
retalned the quallty of thlS charmlng street.

William Schickel § Company erected this five-.tory apartment house
in 1887 However, it has been greatly modlfled at street level and
steel sash has been 1nstalled throughout The bulldlng is interesting
for its decoratlve use of br1ck andl for its Romanesque Revival arcade
framlng the fourth story wlndows Terra cotta is used as an additional
decorative element in the spandrels below the third story windows and
for the wlndow trlm

These twg attractive houses, altered to provide a unified facade,
were built in 1839 for Benjamin D. and Joshua Brush, 1umber merchants.
Or1g1nally Greek Revival in style, they must have been modlfled soon .
after the’ mlddlc of the Contury, whcn they acquired heavy sheetmetal
cornices over the w1ndows corhel blocks under the windowsills, and
elaborate brdcketed roof cornices with paneled fascia board.

' :
(The numbering system heg a gap between Nos. 41-43 and No. 33.}
The Vernon Studio Building was originally erected as a stable in
1907-08 for Mlnnle L. Mader by James L. Mader. It is three stor;es

hlgh and has a handsome roof cornice with paneled fascia board.

This three- -story brick house, over a basement, was built in 1838 for

. Caleb Brush Jr., a younger momber of the Brush family who owned property

at Nos. 41 and 43 It dlsplays the long parlor floor ‘windows and brack-
etcd roof cornice so typical of the Italianate style of the Elghteen—
flftles

Erected by George Keister, architect for John Totten in 1885-86,
this five- story corner apartmont house (descrlbed under No. 63 Bedford
Strcet) occuples the corliey site.

MORTON STREET North Side (Betw. Bedford St. & Seventh Ave. Sp.)

This six-story apartment house (descrlbed under No, 46 Seventh Avenue)
was, erected in 1905.

MORTON STREET ‘North, Side (Betw. Greenwich § tudson Sts.).

This corner house {described under No. 447 Hudson Street) was origi-
nally erected in 1827 but has been completely altered. It is the only
house in thlS block whlch is wrthln the Greenwich Village H15t0r1c
DlStrlCt :

ST. LUKE'S PLACE (Between Hudson § Leroy Streets)

Looking into this tree-lined street, our senses revel in the peace
and beauty. of this block-long row of low Italianate town houses. Their
handbomo ironwork, with wrcath motif, blends with the vines and:.trees,
Their round- archcd doorwiays of brownstonc crowned by low triangular
podlmcnts add’ 5raccful varicty of line to the unavoidable rectangularity
of a town house. These homes have the warmth of brlck for they were
built in the mld Nineteenth Century bcfore the Victorian fondness for.
houses of brownstono had become the fashion. This row of three =story
houses wlth hlgh stoops. offers a special delight, for the changes of
time are few, and they still bask in sunlight and a spacious outlook.

This pleasant strect is one of the most delightful in Greenwich
Village. Located opposite what formerly was known as St. John's
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ST. LUKE'S PLACE (Betwcen [ludson & lLeroy Streets)

Cemetery of Trinity Parish, these housc¢s saw the transformation of the
cemetery into Hudson Park in 1898, when Carrére § llastings designed a

_charming Italian Renaissance gardcn The Park contained a reflecting

pool, rusticated summer house, and rctaining walls with stone balus-
trades and urns. This handsomely landscaped park later gave way to
the present playground, now known as James J. Walker Park in honor of
the former Mayor of New York, who lived at No. 6 St, Luke's Place.

ST. LUKE'S PLACE South Side (Betw. Leroy & ludson Sts.) . : !

This is the site of Mayor James J. Walker Park, described above
which is outside the bounds of the llistoric District.

ST, LUKE'S PLACE North Side (Betw. Mudson § Leroy Sts.)

Beginning at the corner of Hudson Street, No. 2 is the side en-
trance to this building (described under No. 420 Hudson Street},
erected in 1852-53 for John Il. Lewis on land leased from Trinity Church.

It is obvious that a master design was used for this distinguished
row of fifteen houses. Minor differences in original detail, as well
as a dJdifference in brickwork, indicate that Nos. 4-7 were built as one
group, followed by Nos., 8-17. This is corroborated by the dates of
construction, which began at the west end of the row, Nos. 4-7 from
1851-52, followed by Nos., 8-12 in 1852, and Nos. 13-17 from 1852-53.
No. 3, part of the property on lludson Street, was built in 1853-54.
With the exception of Nos. 3 and 4, these houses ar¢ three stories high
over a basement. They arc approached by high stoops, and originally
had pedimented round-arched doorways, long FFrench windows capped with
pediments, and bracketed roof cornices--all typical of the Italianate
style of the Eighteen-fifties.

No. 5 may be considered the prototype for thc earliest houses of
this row. The handsome doorway retains its original paneled lintel with
a central rosette, framed above by a low, triangular pediment supported
on vertical consdle brackets which rest on paneled pilasters decorated
with a foliate motif at the top. The round-arched door, with a semi-
circular lunette, has a rope molding on the transom bar, a motif which
continues down the sides. The roof cornice is supported by evenly

" spaced vertical brackets which, judging from their Neo-Grec design,

date from the LCighteen-seventies. The bold cast iron handrailing at
the stoop, with central wreath motif, is continued around the areaway.
The basement of this house has been smooth-stuccoed, but the heavy
cornices above the windows of the upper floors still remain in place.
No. 7 also remains close to its original appearance and rectains its'
beautiful paneled entrance doors. At No. 6, the iron work and door . -
have been replaced at a later date., Nos. 3 and 4 have been stuccoed
and altered to provide basement entrances.

The next five houses (Nos. 8-12) are essentially similar, but have
pedimented doorways with modillions and vertical console brackets on
the inner side of the arch. The roof cornices rest on paired brackets
and have a paneled fascia. Except for No. 10, ihese houses have re-
tained their ironwork, which is identical with the other houses of the
row. - .
0f the last five houses in the row (Nos. 13-17), only No. 13 re-
tains its handsome pedimented doorway and long vertical console !
brackets. The roof cornices, supported by long brackets, are later '
replacements. No. 14 has replaced its stoop with a basement entrance,
while No. 17, built on an oddly shaped lot which belonged to the United
German Lutheran Church, has had its stoop turned sideways to allow easy
access to the basement entry.

This distinguished row of fifteen houses was built on land origi-
nally owned by the Trinity Church Corporation. Their owners were all
well-to-do merchants. Among them werc John W. lLewis, provision merchant,
at No. 4, mentioned above in connection with No. 2, one of the three
buildings he owned on Hudson Street around the corner (Nos. 420-424);

Matthew Olwell, a commission merchant at 181 West Street, who developed
Nos. 11 and 12, lived himself at No. 11, and sold No. 12 upon its
completion to John Romer, flour merchant. William M. DeCroot, clothier,
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ST. LUKE'S'PLHCE ‘quth-Sidﬁ {(Betw. ‘Hudsen & ‘Leroy Sts.)

who lived at No. 43 Mormon Street, developed Nos. 15, 16 and 17. No. 6,
originally the home of William S. Vanderbilt, a tailor of 416 Broadway,
was purchased in 1891 by William Walter, father of James J. Walker,
Mayor of the City of New York y(1926-1933), and the Walkers retalned the
‘house until 1934. The two "lamps of honor" on the newel posts, tradi-
tional symbols of a mayor's residence, may still be seen here today.
Other interesting occupants of these fine houses, who lived there later,
included the palnters Paul Cadmus and Jared French at No. 5, and the

~ sculptor Theodore Roszak at No. 1. Theodore Dreiser, the famous novel-

ist, once lived at No. 16.

SEVENTH ﬁVENUE SOUTH. (Between Leroy § Barrow Streets)

The character of this Avenue is largely commercial and as such,
it serves the community.

In 1919 when Seventh Avenue was extended southward from Greenwich
Avenue to Carmine Street where it meets Varick Street, the City blocks
were ruthlessly cut through, leaving many buildings elther sliced off -
at the corner or cut in two and an array of small, triangular-shaped
lots, :

. This section of Seventh Avenue South, like the blocks to the north
of it, has been drastically affected by the cutting through of the
Avenue. Now existing are chlefly what remains of the apartment houses,
generally rear views, and a series of one or two-story commercial tax-
bgye;s filling those sites where the apartment houses were razed and,
finally, a series of gasoline filling stations which occupy the left-
over triangular sites.

A park and subway station at midpoint on the east side of the
Avenue give a feeling of openness and greenery. (The east side south
of Bleecker Street is outside the bounds of this Historic District.)

Seventh Avenue South is a case where the normal process of attri-
tion was greatly accelerated due to the unusual circumstances and where
the wmost makeshift possible solutions were adopted either to salvage
what was left or to utilize awkward sites. One result is too sharp'a
d1spar1ty in heights and in design.

" Clearly, had an architectural review board been in exlstence to
give its expert guidance, this process of utilization and rebuilding
would have found a better solution than that which was arrived at here.

Filling stations need not necessarily be ugly and, when located in
an Historic District, should be given special treatment involving a
suitable use of materials and architectural details. They should be
built of appropriate materials and should be designed to harmonize with
the character of the neighborhood. '

SEVENTH AVENUE SOUTH West Side (Betw. West 10th & West 4th Sts.).

These two four-story houses (described under Nos. 229 § 231 West
Fourth Street) were built in 1873, and extend through to West Fourth
Street.

This. utilitarian brick building of the Nineteen-twenties {(described
under Nos. 219-227 West Fourth Street) fills the triangular site at the

~ intersection of Seventh Avenue South and West Fourth Street.

SEVENTH AVENUE SOUTH West Side: (Betw. West 4th & Christopher Sts.)

This corner- two-story brick taxpayer structure of 1932 (described
under Nos. 73-75 Christopher Street) was designed to follow the line of
Seventh Avenue South. 1t also faces on West Fourth Street (Nos. 220-224).

SEVENTH AVENUE SOUTH West Side (Betw. Christopher  § Grove Sts.)

This small triangular cigar store is located on the site of a five-
story apartment house which was razed for the widening of Seventh Avenue.
It was built in 1921 for the Goldman Holding Corporatlon and also faces
Christopher Street (No. 70).
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SEVENTH AVENUE SOUTH West Side (Betw. Christopher § Grove Sts.)

This three-story taxpayer building, with a low mezzanine floor,
has a restaurant at the first floor. It is also located on the former
site of a five-story apartment house, cut in half by the widening of
the Avenue. Ungainly in appearance, it in no way telates to the new
low buildings on either side of it and could never have been built
in an area or district with powers to regulate its design. It was
erected in 1925 and designed by William H. Kaiser for John H, Friend.
it also has an entrance on Christopher Street (No. 72)

Also located on the site of a five- story apartment house, whlch has
been razed, as was the case at Nos, 108 and 110, this bu11d1ng is a one-
story store with high parapet bearing the name of the lessee, It was
built in 1921 for Domino Troiani and, although it bears no relation in
scale to No. 104, a five-story apartment house to the south (see 61
Grove Street}, it is simple and, as a commercial bu11d1ng serving the
neighborhood, inoffensive.

SEVENTH AVENUE SOUTH West Side (Betw. Grove § Bleecker Sts.)

This three-story brick taxpayer was built in 1933 for Raffaele
Ruggiero and was designed by Matthew W. DelGaudio. It also faces on
Grove Street (Nos. 52-54) and has shops at the ground floor. It has
two floors of offices above and is representative of buildings of that
period for which large glass areas were desired. This is clearly
expressed by the slender brick uprights, between large windows, breaking
above the parapet line to signalize their function, and which are
crowned by terra cotta ornament. The building occupies the site of a
six-story factory which was razed when Seventh Avenue South bisected it.

This three-story brick building (also No. 305 Bleecker Street) was
built in 1931 for the Allenad Realty Corporation. It has a store at
ground floor level and two floors above, with conventional windows set
off by purely decorative vertical brick ribs stepped and ornamented at-
the parapet. The unexpressive character of this front may be recognized
by comparing it to the building of almost the same height to the north
of it (No. 92-100). .

This one-story store (also No. 303 Bleecker Street) with paneled
brick parapet replaces a three-story building, It was built in 1934
and, although it in no way relates to its higher neighbors to the north,
it provides a store for this residential community.

A diminutive triangular building at the meeting of two streets,
this two-story brick structure (also No. 301 Bleecker Street) was built
in 1926 for the Rayburn Holding Company. On the Seventh Avenue side,
the front is symmetrical with a triple window on center flanked by
single windows at each side. There is a store at ground floor and the
stepped parapet has a checkerboard panel of brickwork above the .triple
window. Here, on its prominent corner site, a less pretentious scheme
would have lent dignity to this little bulldlng had some form of archi-
tectural control been exercised. Plain brick walls and a less complex
window arrangement would have actually made it look larger than it does
and would have made it more in keeping with its surroundings.

SEVENTH AVENUE SOUTH West Side (Betw. Barrow § Commerce Sts.)

Although architecturally undistinguished in itself, this one-story
building harmonizes remarkably well with the one-story structures to
the south of it, and this whole block front, between Barrow and Commerce
Streets, has character and homogeneity. Built in 1921 for Albert M,
Gilday and Emelia Ludwig, it occupies the triangular corner site with
an entrance at Nos. 35-37 Barrow Street., It houses a sidewalk café
today.

One of the most interesting re-orientations in The Village occurs
here where, through an arched gate in a wall, a courtyard leads to the
new fronts of Nos. 39 and 41 Barrow Street. The rear of these houses,
formerly their principal entrances on Barrow Street, is subordianted
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SEVENTI hVENUE SOUTHt West Side (Betw. Barrow § Commerce Sts.)

to the attractive new fronts designed for them within the courtyard.
No. 39, redesigned in a Mediterrancan style with stucco walls, ornate
parapet, and casement windows, is of pafticular interest. This trans-
formation, including studio, was effected in 1926 for Marie L. Goebels.

Almost completely anonymous, this little store seems to be liter-
ally cut into the Goebels wall as a southerly extension of it. A
p1e351ng result has been achieved here with no pretense and little
cost--a lesson to all observers that a thoughtful design, however .
simple, can achieve good results, Where these stores, o¥ this wall,
meet its higher neighbors on Barrow Street, the wall has been syept
upward to ease the transition, This short block is one of the few
where the problem of what to do about the toothless, ragged edges left
by the cutting through of Seventh Avenue South was successfully solved.

SEVENTH AVENUC SOUTH West Side (Betw. Commerce § Morton Sts.)

- One of the small triangular lots left over by the cutting through
of the Avenue has been utilized here by a gasoline filling station.
What might have been done to make such a lot attractive, while yet per-
forming its valuable scrvice, is a problem which could have been solved
through good design utilizing compatible materials, good scale, and
refined architectural detail. .

These are vacant.rear lots of houses facing on Commerce Street,
Nos. 16, 18 and 20-22, also the rear of a building at the back of the
lot facing Bedford Street (No. 70).

flere, on a triangular lot with the long side facing Seyenth Avenue
South, stands an antique in its own category, a gasoline filling station
built in 1922 for the PureQil Company, just after the Avenue was widen-
ed. It was intended to simulate a tiny Italian Renaissance chapel with
tile roof and was a stercotype in its day, a symbol of the company for
which it was produced and, as designed, classical.

This six-story brick apartment house was built in 1905 for Abraham
Goodman and Samuel (ielich. It has stores at ground floor level with
rusticated brickwork at the second floor. The end facing the Avenue has
been sliced off on the diagonal and features two windows at each floor,
crowned by lintels with keystones, and framed at the sides by a continuous
line of brickwork, simulating rustication blocks, which extends through
three floors. The other end faces Bedford Street (Nos. 60-62) and the
long side, facing south, is-27% Morton Street.

SEVENTH AVENUE SOUTH West Side (Betw. Bedford & Leroy Sts.)

The Upjohn Company Building fronts on Seventh Avenue South with a
handsome pedimented doerway on this side. Otherwise severely simple,
this brick building with metal windows rises to a height of eight stories.
It has a simple brick parapet at the top and, except for the entrance
door, is completely utilitarian and virtually devoid of ornament. It
was built in 1920 for the-Upjohn Company and was designed by Hobart: B.
Upjohn, the grandson of the architect of Trinity Church

This one—story brick storec was built in 1921 for the Arcatase family
and is 4 simple brick structurc with stepped parapet and stone coping.
It has a large plate glass show window to the left of the entrance door

-with a sign bearing the lessee's name dircctly above. In scale it relates

to nothing nearby and architecturally it is a most prosaic design. With
thought, imagination, and good design it could have utilized its brick
facade to better effect at no extra cost.

On the corner of Leroy Street, this five-story brick apartment house
displays a simple brick wall with evenly spaced windows. The ground
floor is enlivened by alternatlng bands” of brick with narrow bands of.
store. A bracketed .cornice crowns the structure at the roof. It was
built in 1887 for H. M. Tostevin, George Orr and John J. Roberts.
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WEST FOURTH STREET Last Side (Bétw. Christopher § West 10th Sts.)

A utilitarian brick structure, with garage door facing West Fourth
Street, fills the bottom of the triangle between the street and Seventh
Avenue South. Perfectly simple, with brick walls unrelieved by windows
or ornament of any kind, this building of the Ninetecn-twenties has
much the appearance of a high yard wall.

These two four-story houses are all that remain of a row of six.
similar residences which disappeared when Seventh Avenue South was cut
through. Little changed, with their handsome basements and stoops,
they have the bracketed roof cornice and front door and window lintels
with cornices so typical of the period in which they were built. The
houses were erected in 1873 by James Neafie for Dr. Samuel Hall, on
property formerly owned by his father-in-law, Mark Spencer.

This row of six louses replaced an unusual and outstanding
Greek Revival mansion, the home of Senator Mark Spencer, after
whom Fourth Strcet between Christopher and Tenth Streets was once

named "'Spencer Place.' Seventh Avenue South now cuts through part
of the site of his house and the extensive rear gardens of his
attractive property. The Spencer House, in a formal setting with

grounds on all four sides, was sct back some distance from both
streets, along which ran an iron railing of Greek design. Across
the front of this elegant one-story house was a splendid portico
with eight Ionic columns, facing West Fourth Street. On this
porch, the centrally located front doorway, with Ionic columns
and full entablature, was flanked on either side by floor-length
windows with double-hung sash. On the Tenth Street side, a long
wing extended back along the property line to the stable, thus
effectively enclosing his rcar gardens for privacy. Copman's
nursery at the Christopher Street corner added to the verdant
quality of the block. A house such as this, set in ample grounds,
helps us to realize today what charming sites have been lost to
The Village in the namc of progress.

The well-known painter, Raphael Soyer, lived at No. 229 in the mid-
Nineteen-thirties,

WEST FOURTH STREET West Side (Betw. West 10th &'Christopher Sts.)

) This corner apartment house of 1881 (described under No. 188 West
Tenth Street) has its long side on West Tenth Street.

This handsome six-story Romanesque Revival apartment house of
brick, with terra cotta trim, was built in 1899 for P. J. Herter and
was designed by P. Herter & Son. It has arched windows and, at the
upper floors, arched windows combined with small flanking windows, in a
manner reminiscent of the Palladian window motif. “The simple roof cor-
nice is carried on corbeled brick.brackets.

Stone-faced, this apartment house rises to a height of five
stories above a basement. It was designed in 1890 for William .
Crawford by Ferdinand Miller. In its paneled cornice, with sunbursts
at the center, it is reminiscent of the Qucen Anne style. The front
wall contrasts smooth stonework above and below the windows with hold

faced .stonework at their sides. A handsome doorway with portico carried
on columns gives access to the building. -

This corner taxpayer of 1932 (described under Nos. 73-7S
Christopher Street) had its ¢corner cut back to accommodate Seventh
Avenue South.

WEST TENTH STREET (Between West 4th § Bleecker Strcets)

The emphasis in this street is on modest apartment living. A warm
feeling of human scale and a fairly uniform picture result from the use
of brick and from the prevailing six-story building height.
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WEST TENTH STREET (Between West 4th § Bleecker Streets)

K

Most of the buildings on this street have individual features of
interest. On the south side, the double apartment house at the Fourth
Street corner has an unusual tier of extra-large windows creating a
vertical accent at mid- p01nt Exceptlanal among fire escape balconies
is the handsome example, of Federal design, on the adjoining building,
Of special note, at the opposite end of the street, are apartment house
doorways with ornamental stone and marble porticoes.

To be regretted, however, is the alteration of a small Federal house
in the mlddle of the south side of the street. Here the overbold treat-
ment, employlng several materlals, at the added third floor, with
stepped parapet, is out of harmony with the Federal doorway below and
with the block as a whole Architectural controls of a regulatory body
would have prevented this unnecessary diminution of the quality of the
street,

WEST TENTH STREET South Side (Betw. Seventh Ave. So. § West 4th St.)

Only one building remains on this short block, after the cutting
through of the Avenue. It is the north side of a four-story brick build-
ing of 1872 which fronts on West Fourth Street (described under No. 231
West Fourth Street)

WEST TENTH STREET South Side (Betw. West 4th § Bleecker Sts.)

#184-188 This five-story brick apartment house was built in 1881 for Herman
Raegener by F. W. Klemt, architect. It is located on a corner site (No,
230 West 4th St.) and has attractive wrought iron balconles with irecn
castings for uprlghts on the Fourth Street side. A heavy cornice with
paired brackets crowns the building effectively and the Tenth Street
front has a tier of large windows creating a vert1ca1 accent at pid-
- point.

#190 - Remodeled in 1930, this five-story brick apartment house has terra
(#190-192) cotta rosettes and handsome diagonals on the fire escape balconles wh1ch
are expressions of the Federal Revival of the Eclectic perioed. The
ground floor is stone with iron wlndow grilles and the top of the front
wall consists of a hlgh brlck parapet.

#194 § 196 This pair of dumbbell-plan apartments was built in 1885 by the

architect, William Graul, for J. P. Schweikert (No. 194) and for Anthony
Reichart (No. 196). They are both of brick, with stone first floors and
stone window lintels and band courses. The original cornices have been
removed; the one at No. 194 has been stuccoed over, while the cornice at
‘No. 196 has been rebu1lt in brick with a brick panel extending the width
of the bulldlng They both have central doors flanked by stone pilasters
with differing treatments above.

#198 § 200 These two Greek Revival houses of 1839, modified later in the cen-
tury by the addition of a third story, were built as residences for
Charles Hall, a clothier (No. 198), and John Hallett, an accountant
(No. 200). The windows at No. 198, which now have plate glass, have
Greek Revival stone lintels with little cornices, except at the top floor,
where the lintels are flush with the wall. No. 200 is a fine house which
retains a number of Greek Revival features. = The or1g1nal doorway, with
stone pilasters and dentiled entablature, and the attractive ironwork
at the areaway, which features anthemion finials, are noteworthy The
graceful curvilinear handrailings at the stoop and the heavy sheetmetal
roof cornice with console brackets are later additions. Both these
houses were originally part of the property of Freeborn Garretson who
also owned the neighboring house, No. 202. '

#202 Now largely altered, this little Federal town house was originally
built in 1829 for Freeborn Garretson of Rhinebeck, New York. Originally
two and one-half stories high, a third story was added later, clearly
seen in the change from Flemish to running bond brickwork, The steel

R windows of the third floor date from the Nlneteen twentles Sheetmetal
lintels have been added, but the Federal doorway remains. ‘
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WEST TENTH STREET South Side (Betw. West 4th § Bleecker Sts.)

Six stories high, this brick apartment house of 1910 was designed
by Charles B. Meyers for Charles Weinstein., The ground floor shop
front was remodeled in 1931, but the upper floors remained unchanged.
The top floor has dignified panels between the windows and is sur-
mounted by a heavy cornice with parapet above.

With cornice aligned with No. 204-206, this six-story apartment
house of brick was built one year later, in 1911, also for Charles
Weinstein, and was designed by the same architect. It has simple
rectangular windows with consolec bracket keystones and there is a
parapet above the cornice. 'The centruzl entrance door has an
entablature carried on shallow brackets.

Erected in 1883 for Henry il. Feste and designed by the architect

Julius Kastner, this building (described under No. 347 Bleecker Street)
occupies the corner site. :

WEST TENTH STREET (Between Bleecker § Hudson Streets)

The delightful and interesting features of this street are con-
fined to the south side. Viewed as a whole, both sides of this resi-
dential street have in common only the use of brick, several Nine-
teenth Century apartment houses, and a maximum height of six or seven
stories. The changing heights on the south side, often in groups,
give the effect of giant steps, with uneven platforms, an effect in-
creased by the picturesque stepped corners rising against the skyline
above the apartment house at the Bleecker Street corner.

Qur eye lingers over the uncxpected groups of three-story town
houses along the south side. Delightfully simple versions of the
Federal or Greek Revival, they were built for the use of local trades-
people. The most interesting and unusual is a pair near Hudson Street,
part of a row of ten Federal houses continuing around the corner. Of
this pair, one is only two and one-half stories high, and both have
handsome Federal doorways. This pair is notable because its front
stoops are turned sideways and rise from the sides, converging until
they reach their own doorway.

The appearance of the north side is primarily that of mid-
Twentieth Century apartment houses, relatively uninspired and
functional. 1Its concession to the quality of The Village is moderate
height. : :

WEST TENTH.STREBT South Side (Betw. Bleecker § Hudson Sts.)

On the corner site at Bleecker Street (Nos. 342-348), this six-- -
story brick apartment house was built in 1928 for the A. M. Schwartz
Building § Construction Company, designed by J. M. Felson. It has
stores on Bleecker Street and an entrance on Tenth Street. The walls
are of brick, with special trecatment at the corners. At the roof, a
parapet is stepped up above thesc corners in an intricate design to
receive decorative masonry blocks. Above the Tenth Street entrance
is a lintel ornamented with central escutcheon surrounded by deco-
rative foliage,

Although a single cornice unites these two buildings and both
were erected for Joseph Wright, Jr., in 1860 on property formerly owned
by Joseph J. Van Beuren, Richard Amos' son-in-law, they are quite
different in appearance. No. 220 is a four-story building and No. 222
a five-story structure above a rusticated basement. Both were raised
in height in 1879 and it-is likely that two stories were added to
No. 222, which, from a stylistic point of view, appears older than its
neighbor. The corbeled roof cornice and the attractive wrought iron-
work at the areaway at Ne. 220 and at the stoop of No. 222, a1l belong
to an alteration of 1929, when a new entry was cut. through the base-
ment at No. 220, eliminating the stoop. Both houses have muntined
windows with corniced lintels.

These two brick houses, three stories high with basements, were
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WEST TENTH STREET South Sidc (Betw. Bleecker ﬂ Hudson Sts.)

orlglnally part of a row of three which also included No. 228. They

- were bullt in 1847 48 by three carpenters, Stephen C. Stephens,

Abraham Demarest, and Lévi Onderdonk, who had purchased th¢ land from
W1111am Pauldlng, Jr, former Mayor of New York

No. 226, de5p1te its’ plate glass wlndows remains much as it was.
when built, wlth a handsome Greek Revival doorway, and fine ironwork
at the stoop and areaway . The cornices of both houses, W1th their
floral decoratlon are unusual and the sheetmetal cornlces above the
windows' are later add1tlons An altcrat1on of 1926 resulted in the
1ntroduct10n of a basemcnt entrance at No. 224 wlth arched steel
casement w1ndow above it.

This four -story apartment. house was built in 1877 for Steele §&
Costigan. It has, for its size, a very deep bracketed cornice and a
fine entrance doorway w1th paneled pilagters and cornice slab carrled
on brackets The wlndows, as may be expected by this date, are plate

glass, and a f1re escape descends on the r1ght 51de above the entrance-,

way .

These three -story houses, so different in appearange, were built
with a former two story stable f1111ng both rear lots, access1ble from
the street today through the paneled garage door of No 230.

The upper floors of No. 230 have been veneered with composition
material 51mu1at1ng brickwork. A simple paneled cornice crowns this
narrow structure, whlch represents the transformatlon of a stable
which had been bu11t on this 51te in the second half of the N1neteenth
Century

No. 232, a wider house, retains some of its or1g1na1 appearance,
although a thlrd story has been added, clearly seen in the change
from Flemish to running bond brickwork above the. second story windows,
and in the’ bracketed Itallanate roof cornice. The ironwork at the
stoop belongs to the same mid- N1neteenth Century perlod but the door-
way retains a S1mple transom and lintel, typlcal of the tran51t10n
from late Federal to Greek Rev1va1 This modest house was built in

1833 for John C. Blauvelt a cartman, and sold the pext year, to-

gether Wlth the lot on whlch No. 230 was bullt later to John Kohler.

An alleyway, closed to the publlc by wooden doors, separates
Nos. 232 ‘and 234. ‘It leads back to what was once a large one-story’
stable of frame construction, f1111ng the rear portion of the lot.
The house has all the characteristics of the Greek Revlval, such as
running bond, low attic windows, simple wood cornice, pilastered door-
way, and ironwork whlch except for the cast-iron newel posts, are
all typical of the period. It was built in 1848 for Richard Dongan,

Iwho had purchased the property a decade earlier.

W1th stores at the street level this 51x—story apartment house
is guite simple, except for the’ splayed window lintels with console-
type keystones. It is crowned by a dentlled roof cornice and has
two fire escapes, one at each side of the front. It was built in
1907 for Jacob Lipman and Samuel Root and was de51gned by Edward
A. Mayew.

These two handsome, six-story dumbbell apartment houses, with
stores at the first floor, were built in 1860 with' unlform facade
and roof cornlce Like Nos 220-222, they were built for Joseph
Wright, Jr. replac1ng ‘stables owned by Joseph J. Van Beuren
Wrought 1ron balconies with handsome diagonal braced panels extend
almost the full width of the houses at the upper floors. The roof
cornices have widely spaced console brackets, one between each
window, and the stores have a wide simple cornice above. them. A1l
of the windows, except those next to the end, are segmental-arched

w1th dcllcate cornices, typical of the late Italianafe style.

Similar in style to Nos. 240-242, this five-story brick apart-
ment house was built in 1857-58 by James Wood, a contractor, on

property ‘previously owned by Joseph J. Van Beuren. The segmental-
arched windows have double- -hung sash, with a wide central vertical

muntin uscd to simulate casement wlndows, so typical of mid-
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WEST TENTH STREET South Side (Betw, Bleecker § MHudson $ts.)

Nineteenth Century architectural practice., It has a four -story rear
building on the back of the lot which also has segmental-arched

windows.

No. 246, a charming little two and one-half story house, was the
first of several houscs ecrected in 1826 by Isaac A. Matfield,
carpenter-builder. Together with Jonathan and Charles R. llatfield,
who also were builders, he had purchased twelve lots from Richard Amos
in 1825 on a portion of which he built seven houscs extending from
this house to No. 510 Hudson Strect around the corner.

Construction of the row began in 1826 with No. 246 and terminated
with No. 510 Hudson Street the following year., This late Federal
house stands virtually unchanged, except for the new dormer window and
skylights on the roof. The front is constructed of flemish bond brick-
work and has its original doorway with Doric columns set against wood
rustication blocks. The stoop is notable for two reasons: it is
entered from the side and it retains its original wrought iron hand-
railing. The window sash, oncc like that of its neighbor, No. 250,
has been replaced. :

No. 248 is the number assigned to the lot behind Nos. 246 and 250,
and is reached by an.accessway which passes under the left side of
house No. 250. This is the low square-headed doorway which appears
between the stoops of the two adjoining houses.

Three stories high above a basement, No. 250 is executed in
Flemish bond brickwork for its entire height. It may well have been
built this high originally, as evidenced by the paneled Federal style
lintels at the third floor. It has a fine Tederal doorway like that
of its neighbor, No. 246, and the same interesting stoop turned side-
ways. It is wider than No. 246, extending out over the accessway
leading to the rear lot, designated as No. 248. The window above this
accessway has been raised to permit clearance for entry.

No. 252, the corner house (described under No. 518 lludson Strect),
also has a 51de entry on West Tenth Street.

WEST TENTH STREET (Between Hudson § Greenwich Sts.)

This short block has multiple uses with brick as the unifying
factor. A series of arches on the north side serves to harmonize two
apartment houses with the warchousc adjoining.

The rugged strength of this seven-story warchouse, on the-corner
of Greenwich Street, is a mute reminder of the Revolutionary War
veteran whose home once stood herc and delayed the opening of the
street. He was Richard Amos, who in 1809 gave land to the city
through his farm on condition that his house at the northeast corner
of Greenwich Street be left undisturbed for five years. Despite his
subsequent remonstrance, it was laid out in 1815 and named Amos
Street. It received its present name in 1857,.

WEST TENTH STRELT South Side (Betw. Hudson & Greenwich Sts.)

This corner lot, covering half of the block fronts, is occupied
by a parking lot and a gasoline filling station erected in 1947 {des-
cribed under No. 515 Hudson Street),

This fivé-story vernacular warehouse was erected in 1897 and
altered in the early Nineteen-thirties. It has rough stone lintels
and sills and a tall roof parapet with stone coping.

The adjoining corner lot is a truck loading station.

WEST TENTH STREET North Side (Bectw. Greenwich § Hudson Sts,)

* The corner seven-story brick warehouse (described under Nos.
697-701 Greenwich Street) dominates the street. It was erccted in
1892,

The six-story apartment house at No. 257 is almost a duplicate of
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WEST TENTH STREET Nor;h'Sidg (Betw. Greenwich § Hudson Sts.)

its neighbor, Ne. 255, a ldrge apartment building of 1889 (described
under Nos. 519-525 Hudsén Street}. No. 257 is destinguished by strong
contrasts of texture in the brick work, the borided stone trim, the
rough stone lintels and sills, and the bold sheetmetal roof cornice.
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BLEECKER STREET (Between West 10th § West 1llth Streets)

Herring Street replaced George Street in 1818 as the old name for
that part of Bleecker Street running in a northerly direction through
The Village from Carmine to Bank Streets. A landowner named Herring

- in The Village may have given it its name. In 1829, however, the name

of this section was changed to Bleecker Street, specifically for the
reason that it was essentially a continuation of Bleecker Street (to
the south of Washington Square), which at that point runs east-west.

BLEECKER STREET East Side ({Betw. West 10th § Charles Sts.)

This dignified six-story apartment house of brick, with stores,
was built in 1903. Its entrance is around the corner (described under
Noe. 213 West 10th Street). 1t stands on the site of the Greenwich
Reformed Dutch Church, which was organized in 1803 and was built here
in 1827. The church building later belonged to the Zion Methodist
Episcopal Congregation until razed in 1503.

In 1829 the Reformed Dutch Church leased the remainder of this
block front for twenty-one years to James Haslet (or Hazlet), a hatter,
on condition that he immediately erect ’'six good and permanent brick
or stone buildings at least two stories in height, such as shall be
approved . . . ' by him, but that no factory, etc.,was to be allowed.
These six brick houses were built in 1829-30 in Flemish bond to the
height of two and a half stories with peaked roofs (see description
of corner house under No. 96 Charles Street). This row, with stores,

_has been occupied since an early date by tradespeople, and in 1851

as follows:

At No. 355, a woman who sold varieties, a dressmaker, two
tailors, and a laborer; No. 357, a corsetmaker and a shirt-
maker (both women); No. 361, a bootseller and a bootmaker;
No. 363, a variety store run by a woman, alsoc a jeweler, a
‘patternmaker, and the daguerrotype studio of William Bogert
who owned this and the corner house; and No. 365 a drug store.

Before 1858 the three houses at the Charles Street end of the row had
been raised to three stories, and the other three houses were similar-
ly raised at a later date. Nos. 355, 361 and 365 have a mid-
Nineteenth Century appearance, with corniced window lintels and
bracketed cornices at the roofline., Nos. 357 and 359, shorn of such .
details, have had parapets added. The parapets at Nos. 359 and 363
are paneled and stepped. No. 363, now four stories high, has splayed
lintels with keystones, as does No. 94 Charles Street around the
corner, which was built in 1854 for this same William Bogert, the
daguerrian, -

BLEECKER STREET FEast Side (Betw. Charles § Perry Sts.)

The development of this block front occurred in the late Eighteen-
sixties, on land that had been part of the estates of Admiral Sir Pcter
Warren (who diéd in 1752) and of Abraham Van Nest (who died in 1864).
The handsome five-story brick houses with stores, Duilt at that time,
mostly in the style of the French Second Empire, retain a surprising
degree of homogeneity today. Construction plans in 1867 specified
"first class dwellings for three families, above first floor stores."
The term "French Flat' was soon to become popular as the name for the
new fashion of living on a horizontal plane. It is significant that
this block antedates the "Stuyvesant Apartment,” built in 1869 at 142
East Eighteenth Street, which was the first apartment house of note in
New York City.

' The Charles Street corner was designed and built in 1868 for Henry
Kugeler by Henry Engelbert, architect. The twin brick houses facing
Bleecker Street have their fifth stories within the popular mansard
roofs, with dormers which are crowned by triangular pediments. The
segmental-arched windows on the facades are now shorn of ornament,
and the round-arched street entrances have been simplified. Each of
these houses on Bleecker Street was originally designed for three
families, above the stores. An integral part of the original con-
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BLEECKER STREET East Side (Betw. Charles & Perry Sts.)

structlon plan is Ne. 85 Charles Street, ad301n1ng around the corner.
It has a similar bracketed cormice, wlthout mansard roof but it has
a rusticated stone basement and the entrance has a 3toopu thus maklng
it similar to its peighbors on Charles Street. It was in No, 85 that
Mr. Kugeler, who was in the coal business, made his home.

Designed in 1867 as five dwellings, each for three families above
a store, this group still sets the style for the block Wlth iron
crestlngs crowning the mansard roefs and handsome segmental-arched win-

~dow cornices with. shoulders at the upper stoiies. These cornices are

also effectively echeed above the dormers at the mansard roofs and
even at No. 377-379, this attractive detail appears at the flfth story
windows, which are now a part of the facade below a parapet. The
ground floors have been altered for apartments. ‘The five houses were

- built for Frederick Klrchels, a broker, using designs of the archltect

Louis Burger,

The Perry Street corner was built in 1866-68 as an investment of
the plumbing firm, Brien § Adams, using designs of the well known
architect, R. G, Hatfield. These twin apartment houses, five stories
high, are built of brick in the vernacular of the period. They have
square~-headed windows with flush lintels, and the roof cornices are
decorated with modillions, as are the cornices over the stores. Built
by the same architect at the same time are the adjoining dwelllngs
around the corner, No. 86 Perry Street, which was built in the same
manner, and No. 84 (described under Perry Street) where Wllllam Adams,
Jr., made h15 home .

BLEECKER STREET East Side (Betw. Perry &'West 11th Sts.)

This attractive block front belongs primarily to the middle of
the Nineteenth Century but includes even earlier buildings at the
corners, Perhaps, for this reason, these early buildings were
entered on the assessment records for Perry and Eleventh Streets,

~and this Bleecker Street block omitted until 1852. Thls plan of

building the corner houses first and of fllllng in the 1ntermed1ate
houses .later seems to have begen popular with many of the early de-
velopers and accounts for the early dates of so many corner hgqges.

Among the earliest in The Village, these two shallow frame
houses were built to the height of two stories in 1817-18, for Aaron
Henry. In the late Nineteenth Century, stores were. added 'with a pro-
jecting boxed cornice; a third floor was added; and the corner house
was lengthened to the end of the lot on the Perry Street 51de to ob-
tain an entry there to its upper floors. Both buildings were crowned
with a simple fascia and cornice. Decoration is now provided by un-
usual semicircular railings beneath some of the top floor windoys.
Though both houses have been stuccoed, the simple weod frames of the
windows are mute evidence of the original frame constrqctlon These

. are only two of the ninc houses that were built near the end of this

block for Aaron Henry, a retired clothier living on West Eleventh
Street. In 1815 he had bought an irregular-shaped tract bounded by
West Eleventh Street (then Hammond), Perry Street (then Henry), and
Bleecker Street (then George), together with a dwelling and stores,
the exact location of which is 1ndeterm1nate and may no longer
exist. In 1820 this property passed from the Henry family to

Samuel Torbert

Not until 1869 was a building erected on the north end of this
lot which had belonged to Mr. Henry. It was designed by George
Freeman for John H. Timm, as a four-story brick building with store.
Before the fire in June of 1968, it had an attractive 51mple doorway
framed by paneled pilasters. The roof is supported on vertically
placed console brackets., The store at the ground floor has been
bricked-up and replaced by small high windows.

Fhis pair of four-story houses was built of brick in 1852, with

stores, which have been changed in modern times to apartment use.
The dignified doorways have capped pilasters supportlng a transom bar
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BLEECKER STREET East Side (Betw. Perry § West 1llth Sts.)

with cornice. At the roof, the cornices are supported by a row of
narrow brackets unexpectedly ending in turned drops. The upper floors
have handsome muntined windows, graduated pleasantly in diminishing
sizes at successive levels. No. 391 has sheetmetal window lintels

and also iron railings cast in an unusual design at two of its parlor
floor windows. This pair of houses was built in 1852 for Henry
Sankston of 77 Perry Street, shortly before his death. 1In 1858 his
estate owned all the houses to the corner of Perry Street, and some
around the cornmer.

Built in 1852-53, this row of four-story brick houses was erected
for John B. Walton, a crockery dealer, in a simple version of the
Italianate style. Nos. 393 and 395 retain their roof cornices sup-
ported by console brackets, and their handsome paneled double doors.
The cornice at the roof of No. 397 is supported by simple paired
brackets similar to those of its neighbor on the corner (No. 399},
which was then also owned by Mr. Walton. In modern times, the stores

. at ground floor of this row were altered for apartment use. Mark Van

Doren resided at No. 393 from 1929 to 1953.

This five-story brick house, built in the Eighteen-fifties (des-
cribed under No. 286 West Eleventh Street), occupies the corner site,

BLEECKER STREET West Side (Betw, West llth § Perry Sts.)

Christian Baehr bought this block front in 1799 as a long term
investment in the future expansion of the City. He and his brother
Daniel were merchant tailors, with their establishment at 151 Pearl
Street for many years. In 1813, following his retirement, Christian
settled in Greenwich Village in a house facing West Eleventh (then
Hammond) Street, at the corner of Bleecker (then Herring) Street, and
died there in 1824. This block front continued to be held by his
estate as vacant lots until it rose to such value that it was profit-
able to develop. In 1851 the lots were sold to various individuals,
most of whom borrowed to build by mortgaging to Mrs. Ann E. Baehr, a |
widow., Consequently, the Baehr estate continued to be assessed for
the houses which were built in 1852-53 and which still cover most of
the block front,

This handsome brick apartment house was built in 1888 at the ‘
height of the influence of the Queen Anne style. The large terra cotta
panels with rich floral motifs, which extend up vertically between the
windows on the north end of the Bleecker Street front, are a good
example of the ornament of this style, Plate glass windows are
crowned by projected lintels carried on stone corbels, and a dentiled
roof cornice carried on console brackets crowns the building. De-
signed by G. A. Schellenger as the newly popular "French flats," for
eight families, this five-story building was erected for Josephine L.
Peyton. It stands on the corner (also known as No. 288 West 1llth
Street).

These two four and one-half story houses were built in 1852-53
and were combined as one in the first half of the Twentieth Century.
At that time the stores were altered for residential use. 1t is most
unusual to find peaked roofs with gable ends on houses, and especially
on such relatively high houses. No. 398 was built for John B. Walton,
crockery merchant, and No. 396 for and by Linus Scudder, mason, who |
was an active builder in The Village.

Built in 1852-53, this row of brick houses with stores at the
first floor is three stories high, and all the houses have similar
bracketed cornices. The brackets are of an interesting design with
corbels under them and the leading edges formed as 'drops". The
window lintels of No. 390 are cased in sheetmetal with cornicesg, and
plate glass has been substituted here for both top and bottom sash.
Nos. 392 and 394 were built for James Snodgrass, cartman, and No. 390
for Samuel G. Southmayd, who had a large establishment of planing
mills on West Street, just south of The Village.
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wrmmnxmw mammmq West Side (Betw. West 1ith & Perry Sts.)

#388 Four stories :pm: with store at ground mHOOH‘ this brick house,

_ converted to acuﬂuvpo tenancy, was also built in 1852- $3. Its most
distinguishing feature is a paneled cornice supported on vertically
placed console brackets which are carefully wwompwmm in the fascia
board at the ends. The spacing of these brackets is unusual, having
only one at each end and two near the center featuring the omﬂﬁamu
window below them. This wOCmo was built for Charles morcuﬁu who
later purchased No., 396.

#386 This three-story corner house of brick was also built in 1852-
53, despite its older appearance. Although the same width as the
other houses on the block, it has only two windows at each floor on

' this front. These zuzmofm are muntined, and the lintels have sheet-

_ metal covers with cornices. The store has been recently remodeled
and is out of harmony with the rest of the block.

BLEECKER mﬂmmma West Side (Betw. Perry § Charles Sts.)

#384  This corner apartment house (described under Nos. 92-94 wouu%
muwmmgmmau Street) was vcppﬂ in H@Ha

#372-380 Although only Nos. 372-376 were built as a row, this block front
gives a homogeneous impression, due largely to the even fenestration
and flush lintels and to the prevalence of stepped parapets over the
fourth stories. In 1852-54, the five new houses at Nos, 372-380 were
assessed to Arthur H. M. :mmmoor who owned only No. 380. The basis
of his responsibility for the odrmw four remains unresolved; he was
neither owner nor mortgagee; he was not engaged in the HomH estate
fields nor in the building trades. He and William J. Haddock operated
their cigar business on West Street nearby and had their residence on
West Eleventh Street and did not move to Bleecker Street.

No. 380 is probably the most attractive and best preserved house
in this block and the only one owned by Haddock. This house was built
in 1852-53 in an mwommzn but simple version of the Hnmmpm:mﬂm style.

.- The double-hung windows, with simple, stone lintels, have the wide
central muntins mﬂoo<mm to simulate casement sash, so typical of this
mnwwm. The second story windows are floor- length and have handsome
cast iron railings (one is aummpzmu The ground floor store, 1little
n:m:mma from its original appearance, is crowned by a small
cornice carried on brackets. The handsome doorway to the upper
floors seems, with its ﬁpwmmnaam msa sidelights, to belong to an
earlier vmﬂuoa This house is ouoz:ma by a simple aoauwuuozma
corpice.

_ Built in 1852-53, No. 378, with low parapet stepped up in the
center, was maﬂmwoa in 1930. The store beneath was little affected

by ﬂrpm mwﬂoumﬂpoz. m:a the house harmonizes basically zpnr its
:owmrvoum. The windows at both the second and fourth flgors aovpmom
the acnﬂv:om sash still seen at the third floor. This house was built
for aroamw Cudbirth, an agent, who made it his residence.

ZOm. 372-376 compose a row of three houses erected in 1852-53 by
Smith zooaﬂcmm a builder active on Barrow Street and elsewhere in The
<HHHmwm. He had vocm:ﬂ the three lots and soon resold them paﬁuo<om _
with dwellings. Nos. 372 and 374 continue to have stores beneath, and
won: had their roof cornices removed and replaced by new brick parapets
mﬂmvﬁoa up at ﬁ:m center. The windows all have a single, slender
muntin running ‘vertically up the center. The lintels have comz
nmawowmm with, perhaps to remove the little stone cornices at ﬂrm top,
such as appear at the second story of No. 376. By contrast, No. 376
has -had its store converted to residential use and has a oo:mﬁuoco:muw
unattractive fire escape. Unlike its neighbors, which had their
parapets rebuilt with finish brick where the cornice once stood, No.
376 shows rough or common brick where the cornice was Hmao<ma Now
it 'is mpsvww covered by ﬂro panel at the top.

#370 * Built in 1848 for John P. Chrystie, of Hackensack, N. J., as a
nsmuwpzw without a store, this four-story house seems, at first
glance, to be similar to Nos. 372-374 but its windows do not align,
and it tmm built four years earlier. The stepped parapet at the top
may be presumed to have been the work of the same mason who altered
the Onrou houses 1t a later date. A simple store, alongside the
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BLEECKER STREET West Side (Betw. Perry § Charles Sts.)
entry to the upper floors, has not been altered appreéciably.

This five- -story brick corner building was erected in 1847-48 to
the height of two stories as a pianoforte manufactory owned by Garret

and Harvey Barmore (described under No. 91 Charles Street).

BLEECKER STREET West Side (Betw.'Charles § West 10th Sts.)

This seven-story, block-long apartment house of brick, extending
one hundred feet down each side street, dates from 1963. It was
erected for Bleecker-Charles Corp. from designs by H. I. Feldman.

Here an interesting attempt was made to treat the fire escapes archi-
tecturally as balconies by facing them with metal plates. Although
the windows are paired, there has been some attempt made here, both in
the use of brick and in the details, to have this building harmonize
with its surroundings. '

- CHARLES STREET (Between Greenwich Avenue § Waverly Place)

This attractive short street is a very satisfying place for rest-
ful family living. However, the quiet dignity of the rows of mid-
Nineteenth Century town houses is almost overwhelmed by the eighteen-
story apartment house that has replaced some of them for part of the
block at Seventh Avenue. The short row of houses next to it is in an
early vernacular version of the Gothic Revival style, and fittingly
culminates in the long side of a corner house with the crenelated
parapet so popular in that period.

The Greek Revival row on the south side, though twice interrupted
by ornamented six-story apartment houses, makes its impact on the
block through the handsome quality of its houses. The corner here is
occupied by a six-story apartment house of the turn of the century,
harmonizing with the two in the middle of the block in their wealth.
of Italian Renaissance ornament differently expressed. The base of
its corner tower, however, has been recently remodeled for a store
with such a bald treatment that it has no relationship to the other
side of the entrance, an inharmonious contrast which a design review
board would have avoided.

Warren Place was the name for both the south and north sides of
this short block, between Waverly Place and Greenwich Avenue, when
they were developed in 1845-48. This name honored Admiral ‘Sir Peter
Warren, whose summer home stood nearby on his farm of over three
hundred acres, which covered the heart of Greenwich Village including
this block. The special character intended for both sides of this
block was likewise signalized by the developers who set back the .
houses from the property line to give them ample front yards.

CHARLES STREET South Side (Betw. Greenwich Avenue § Waverly Pl.)

This side of the block, as well as around both corners, was
jointly developed in 1845-46 by Myndert Van Schaick and Patrick
Cogan. Mr. Van Schaick was a former State Senator, married the niece
of Mayor Philip Hone, and was a wealthy man, with his residence on
Fifth Avenue and Fourteenth Street. By contrast, Patrick Cogan was an
unsuccessful carpenter, who overextended himself trying to complete
the long row of nine houses and sell them. Van Schaick had sold Cogan
the property, at a price reflecting the value of the houses, and also
lent him the money, secured by a mortgage. - However the next year,
upon Van Schaick's suing for the unpaid mortgage, the court put up the
property at public auction, and the houses were sold to the various
individuals who were the hlghest bidders.

This is the extended side of a four-story house built by Patrick

' Cogan in 1845, that faces Greenwich Avenue (described under No. 37

Greenwich Avenue}.

Six dwellings survive of the row of eleven handsome Greek Revival
town houses built in 1845-46 for Myndert Van Schaick, financier, and
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CHARLES STREET South Side (Betw. Greénwich Avenue § Waverly Pl.)

Patrick Cogan, carpenter. The handsomeness of the row of three-story
brick houses is best expressed by the adjoining Nos. 16-20.

No. 20 is the best preséived, retaining its high stoop and origi-
nal ironwerk. Notable also is its original "eared" and wood-framed
outer doorway with the door flanked by Corinthian pilasters and side-
lights, and surmounted by a dentiled transom bar with low glass
transom above, All its windows, including those of floor length at
the parlor floor, have flush lintels and wood double-hung sash, though
not the original muntined sash. All the houses, except No. 4, retain
the original, attractive, dentiled cornice with short fascia board.
No. 4, on the other hand, is the only other house of the row that re-

tains its stoop and handsome mid-century railing. No. 4 has unusually

dow lintels, No. 10 has had its facade smooth-strccoed, and No. 22
rough-stuccoed, while Nos. 16, 18 and 22 have substituted steel case-
ment sash. A graciously wide and attractive portico of ironwork now
frames the joint entrance for Nos. 16 and 18 which is flanked by Doric
columns and sidelights, and by oval windows at the facade.

This apartment house with T-shaped plan was built in 1902 and
displays a wealth of Italian Renaissance ornament around the door and
windows. The third floor windows have arched pediments, while those
at the fifth floor are triangular. It is built of yellow brick and
replaces two houses of the row built by Mr. Cogan.

This House, being originally part of a row, is described under
No. 4 above. ' :

"The Alpha,'" a six-story brick apartment house, was designed in
1903 by George F. Pelham for Henry Passman. It is built of yellow
colored brick in the Italian Renaissance manner of the Eclectic
period. The ground floor is of rusticated stone with a handsome
porch .carried on columns. The top floor is enriched by horizontal
band courses of brick and is crowned by a large and elaborate sheet-
metal cornice carried on widely spaced; vertically placed console
brackets, between which small consoles are evenly spaced. This build-
ing occupies the site of two more of Cogan's row of houses,

Nos. 16-20 of the row best express the handsomeness of the
original row of eleven houses built in 1845-46. These houses are
described under No. 4, the first house of the original row.

This six-story corner apartment house was also desigied by
George F. Pelham in 1903, for Messrs. Malbin and Kimmerman. In this
building a corner tower effect has been created by projecting the
corner windows slightly forward and by cutting off the corner on the
diagonal just wide enough to receive a narrow window at each floor.
The bracketed cornice extends along both sides and around the corner
tower. The ground floor is handsomely rusticated next to the entrance
porch, which is supported on columns facing Charles Street. A new

store has been added beneath the tower., Horizontal stone band courses

enhance the second and top floors.

CHARLES STREET North Side (Betw. Waverly Pl. § Greenwich Ave.)

This almost square block was developed by joint endeavor. It was
the site of the Eagle Mills, which the Eagle Manufacturing Company
lost in 1819. It was then purchased at auction by Najah Taylor and
Nathaniel Richards, and the latter's interest was subsequently trans-
ferred to Guy Richards. Taylor and Richards had owned the Eagle
Distillery on the site of No. 15. In the development of 1847, they
retained two lots on that site, selling the other seven lots facing
the new Warren Place (now Charles Street) to individuals in the build-
ing trades. They were: Reuben R. Wood, mason; Enoch Dunham and
Stephen H. Williams, carpenters; Richard Moore, blacksmith; Noah
Norris, stone cutter; Peter Mclaughlin, marble cutter; Joseph Aken,
plumber; and Daniel French, who was in the bluestone business. Of
these men, Daniel French made his home at No. 5, when it was called
No. 1 Warren Place, '
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CHARLES STREET North' Side (Betw; Waverly Pl, § Greenwi;h Ave.)

This large apartment house at the corner is best seen from Seventh
Avenue South (see described under No. 157 Seventh Avenue South). Built
in 1961, it is eighteen stories high, including several setbacks. It
replaces five of the row of nine houses built in 1847-48,

These four brick houses, built in 1847-48, are a simple version
of the Gothic Revival, a style rare in The Village. This style is
exemplified by the drip (label) moldings over the doors. No. 9 most
nearly retains its original appearance, with rusticated basement,
stoop leading up to the original doorway, and low, attic casement
windows at the fourth story. Its original windows diminish in height
as they ascend, and on the lower floors are double-hung but have the
typically heavy central muntin simulating casements. Its high stoop
has unexpectedly elaborate ironwork.

The other houses have had various changes to their windows, in-
cluding the raising of the top stories to full height, and have been
converted to provide entrances at the basement level. No. 7 has
achieved added interest by retaining the drip molding over the window
that has replaced the old front doorway. At No. 5 the low attic win-
dows have been replaced with a studio window of full height, which ex-
tends the entire width of the house with casements and fixed transoms
above, '

This five-story brick house faces Greenwich Avenue (described
under No. 39 Greenwich Avenue), and occupies the corner site.

CHARLES STREET South Side (Betw.'Waverly P1. § Seventh Ave. S0.)

This short block, created by the cutting through of Seventh
Avenue South in 1919, is filled by the entrance facade of a six-story
apartment house, which was built in 1910. It bears alsoc the numbers
202-204 Waverly Place and number 143-145 Seventh Avenue South (de-
seribed under the Avenue address). .

It faces McCarthy Square on the north side of Charles Street.

CHARLES STREET (Between Seventh Ave, So. § West 4th St.)

The delightful residential quality of this street is derived from
its long rows of well-maintained, three-story town houses. They are
in effect anchored at one corner by the two low but wide apartment
houses, which terminate the long row of simple Italianate houses of
brownstone along the north side. OQutstanding for its survival rela-
tively intact is the handsome row of five Greek Revival houses of
brick, on the south side. The cffect they impart of beauty and peace
is somewhat lessened by two steel studio windows which break the con-
tinuity of their fine cornice line, a situation which would have been
avoided by the expert guidance of a design review board. This row
terminates in a Twentieth Century artists' studio building of brick,
with a parapet roofline at exactly the same height as this handsome
row, thus harmonizing with it.

CHARLES STREET South Side (Betw, Seventh Ave, So. § West 4th St.)

Designed to provide a store and artists' studios, this three-
story corner building was built in 1921 for the Stoneman Realty Corp.,
using the plans of Emmanuel Sommers. It is a handsome, simple brick
structure of Flemish bond with flush brick trim, stacked brick at the
sides and soldier courses at the head of all openings. The third
story has a recessed brick panel, equal in width to the studio window
below but of lower height. Small windows flank these central features
on either side, and a small door gives access to the studios upstairs.
This building (also Nos. 144-146 Seventh Avenue South) occupies what
remains of the site of several town houses which were demolished teo
permit the southerly extension of Seventh Avenue in 1919.

Qutstanding for its survival relatively intact is this row of
handsome houses, built in 1839-40. They have suffered neither change
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CHARLES STREET South Side (Betw. Seventh Ave. So. § West 4th St.)

#48-56 in height nor change to entrance at the basement, ahd relatively little

cont. alteration to the toffiices and to the pediiented déorways. These five
Greék Revival houses are 6f brick, three stories high, with a unlform ,
dentiled cornice.

The handsome stoops of 411 thesé houses probably once resembled
that of No. 52, and only No. 48 has been iiuch changed. At No. 52
the original wrought iron hafidrailings have encircled opénwork newel
posts, with finials, which are 5ét on low block-1ike masonry bases.
The parlotr floor wlndows of No. 48 have been cut dowh to the floot.

At No. 48 and 50, steel studio windows réplace the central third-floor
window and, extend1ng up through the dentiled corn1ce are the only
ones to break its contingity. The window lintels of*Nos 48 and 50
'still display their original diminutive stone cornices, which were
removed from N6é. 54. Nos. 52 and 56 are the only ones to which
sheetmetal cornicés have been added. The pedimented cuter doorway

has been removed frém No. 52 and simplified at No. 56.

“The chief develoPer of this row in 1839 was Solomon Banta mason,
who bought four of the Fivé lots and built No. 50. Actibg in assécia-
tion with hifi were others in simildr trades who bought his other lots
and built on them: Abraham Frazee, mason (No. 52); ‘Cornelius R. and
Pavid R. Doremus, buildetrs (Nos. 54 and 56). U51ng the same d631gn
_a$ these men were Samuél Cyphers and Edward Duvall, shiths, who built
No. 48. Early or original residents of these houses were Dr. Gasherie
DeWitt Sr. (No. 48), Samuel Widdifield (No. 50), and Simeon Haines;
cabinetmaker (No. 52).

#58 Built in 1841-42 by John Cole, a wason, this Greek Re vival house
was remodeled in 1923 to prOV1de a basement entrance and a tiled pseudo
roof with cove beneath in lieu of cornice, The muntinéd windows are
unchanged.

#60-62 This large Federal town house; now four stories hlgh* was origi-
 nally three stories in heiglht and was the corner ending a row of lower
brick houses facing Fourth Street, which were built in 1828. They
were among thé developments of Samuel Whittemore, a large propérty-
owner of The Vlllage The rear extension was added in 1901. This
coriiér town house i%s also No.. 249 West Fourth Street and is described
there.

CHARLES STREET North Side (Betw. west 4th St. § Seventh Ave. So.)

In 1868 much 6f this block front was purchased for redevelopment
by James S. Beaines of Brooklyn who was a grocer and liquor déaler
in lower Washlngton Strect in Manhattan. He engaged Peter L. P,
Tostévinh, masoh, also of Brooklyn, to design Nos. 45-49, It is
probable that his plans were used for more of the block, as all the
town houses now standing were erected by the firm of Rabold {Daniel)
§ Tostevin (Peter L.P.) in 1869,

#43-49 This row of four late Italianate town houses was built of browh-
stone in 1869 with similar bracketed cornices, handsomé doorways and
stoops No. 49, the corner house (also No. 253 West 4th Street), has
a restaurant in thelbasement but retains most nearly its original
appearance. While Nos. 43 and 45 have been remodeled to provide
basement entrances, Nos. 47 and 49 retain their handsoiie cast iroh
balustered stoop railings and, in the case of No. 49, the polygodnal
newel posts with acorn finials. _

The handsome doorway at No. 49 is notable for its arched pedi-
ment carried on vertical console brackets, richly carved. The round-
arclied ifner part of the doorway, with flanking incised triangular
panels, is all that remains of the original at No. 47. The double-
hung windows in this row are all of plate glass, except for the third
floor of No. 47 where the sash is vertically divided by the original
singlé muntin. In 1927 a two-story extension was added to the reat
of No. 49 (described under No. 253 West 4th Street).

#33-41 Tliis row of five houses with identical cornices was, like its

neighbors to the west, built in 1869. As they all now hidve entrances
at the basement instead of stoops, it is difficult to visualize the
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CHARLES STREET North Side (Betw. West 4th St. § Seventh Ave. So.)

original appearance of this attractive row. All have full length

. parlor floor windows, except No. 41, and most of them are protected

by small wrought iron balconies. Many of the windows now have
muntined sash. ,

“"The Carolus' apartment house, built in 1914, occupies the
historic site of the Third or Charles Street Presbyterian Church of
1844, This six-story building of brick makes attractive use of this
material for window enframements and quoins, with horizontal stone
band courses used for unifying effect. The stone entrance door has a
pointed Gothic arch with two colonnettes on each side, all combined
under a simple frieze with cornice. A stone base course below the
first floor windowsill level provides a good transition from the side-

walk to the brickwork above. This building was designed by Charles

B. Meyers for the Martha Building Corp.

Although New York, like Brooklyn, is a city of churches,
an incredible number of them have been swept away by the tides
of "progress." Left abandoned by a congregation which has
moved uptown, the church is usually sold to another less wealthy
group and finally to a developer for demolition. The Charles
Street Presbyterian Church, now replaced by an apartment house
(No. 29-31 "The Carolus"), was formerly known as the Third.
Associated Presbyterian Church and was built in 1844, It re-
presented that attractive and interesting period of transition
when the staid classicism of the Greek Revival was giving way to
the romanticism of the Italianate and the Gothic Revival. 1In
this case, although the building was completely symmetrical with
a handsome, low pediment, the treatment of the front was unusual.
The central portion of the building was projected forward slight-
ly, as were the ends with pilasters, leaving two recessed areas
between it and the end pilasters. Instead of having a central
entrance, the doors were set in the recessed areas. Above the
doors and of equal width, high windows were carried up to the
pediment. These were matched in the center section by a similar
high window, with a solid wall beneath it. The general effect of
this front, with its three vertical windows, was quite striking
and in its day set a new mode for church architecture, quite un-
like anything which had been built up to that time. Most im-
portant, it permitted the congregation to avoid the use of a
hexastyle front with its costly columns, substituting what was,
in essence, a plain masonry front for the time-honored classical
formula,.

1

“"The Abingdon," a six-story corner apartment house, like nearby

‘Abingdon Square, was named after Willoughby, Earl of Abingdon. His

wife, Charlotte, was the daughter of Sir Peter Warren, whose estate
covered most of Greenwich Village. [arlier and more pretentious than
its neighbor to the west, this building was erected in 1903, The
first floor, entered-at street level, is built of rusticated stone,
while the rest of the building above is brick. The windows are all
framed with stone. Two forward projected portions, with tiers of
paired windows, as well as the second and sixth stories are em-
bellished with horizontal band courses of stone. A roof cornice
supported on console brackets, with modillions in between, crowns
the building. It was designed by George F., Pelham, architect, for
Polstein Bros. One corner was cut off by the extension of Seventh
Avenue South, giving the building the additional number, 150 Seventh
Avenue South, which faces McCarthy Square.

CHARLES STREET (Between West Fourth and Bleecker Streets)

The delightful residential quality of this street is derived from
its rows of well-maintained, three-story town houses. Interesting
contrasts present themselves between the two sides of this street. The
low-lying residential character of continuous row houses on the north
side faces changing heights on the south side, where a group of
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CHARLES .STREET (Between West Fourth and Bleecker Streets)

apartment houses at mid-bleck is flanked by houses leading to beth
corners. A pair of this group of five and six-story apartmént houses
is worthy of special note, partly beacause of its restrained style and
partly because the pair is among the earliest examples of the 'French
Flat" that was to become so popular in the late Nineteenth Century.
Farther west, at the Bleecker Street corner, a handsome, arched win-
dow at the center of the top floor serves as a ghostly reminder that
here was originally the gable end of a two and one-half story Federal
house. Three very delightful Italianate houses in a row attract the
eye to the east corner at the south side.

The north side of the street, which has a partlcularly interest-
ing history, is unusual for The Vlllage in having an almost continuous
row of town houses built at the close of the Civ'l War. It includes,
virtually unchanged, a very handsome example of the French Second
Empire style. Its very beauty exhibits demonstrably the gradual
process of attrition which has affected this row through minor changes.
The needless break in the row by a characterless new facade on one
house would have been avoided had architectural controls of a regula-
tory body been in force. Near West Fourth Street a handsome synagogue,
though designed in the Italian Renaissance tradition, displays a star
of David in its circular window. This contributes diversity to the
block, '

CHARLES STREET South Side (Betw. West 4th § Bleecker Sts.)

Of these four brick houses, all erected in 1861 by Albro Howell,
builder, Nos. 66-70 form a delightful row of Italiandte style, three-
story residences. They have segmental-arched windows and dignified

Toof cornices with decorative brackets. Nos. 68 and 70 rétain their

stoops and have arched pediments over the doorways and full length,
parlor floor windows, with double-hung sash having vertical central
muntins. The handsome ironwork at the stoop and areaway of No. 70
has a round-arched design with thé luxuriant detail indicative of
French Second Empire influence. The four-story cornér building, al-
‘though built at the same time and occupying a similar lot, has a
more vernacular appearance and was designed differently in ordér to
accommodate a store at street level (described under No. 246 West
Fourth Street).

This fivé-Story brick apartment house was designed in 1895 by
Charles Rentz, using a modified dumbbell plan, for Joseph

- Mandelbaum, The doorway has a heavy stone entablature carried on

stone brackets, and the first floor is handsomely rusticated. The
outer windows at the fourth floor have corbeled sills projected out
in semicircular form with carved undersides resting on the kéystones
of the windows below,

The great dignity of this pair of six-story apartment houses
derives from their segmental-arched windows, which have shouldered
lintels with cornices influenced by the French Second Empire style.
Small corbel blocks support the windowsSills. Built of brick in
1871 for Peter Cook by Julius Boekell, architect, they are intér-
esting and very early examples of the new type of apartment house
at- that time known as 'French Flats."

Charles Rentz, the architect of No. 72, likewis¢ designed No.
78. in 1897 for Brubacker and Rentz. This apartment house, with its
interesting brickwork at the upper floors, has & richly treatéd
first floor. The heavy stone lintel of the doorway is carried on
diminutive, squat columns. These columns, in turn, are carried om
curved corbels with sunburst patterns cut in their sides, Queen Anne
style.

This pair of five-story apartment houses was designed in 1893
for Elizabeth. J. Wellwood, by Richard R. Davis. The high street
floor, of both buildings is unified by a horizontal band course which
serves as windowsills for the second floor windows. It has large.
dignified cntrances in the Grecian manner with pediments supported
by pilasters. In modern times, the buildings have been smooth-
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CHARLES STREET South Side (Betw. West 4th § Bleecker Sts.)

stuccoed and simplified with an unadorned parapet added above the’
roof.

Built in the Romanesque Revival manner in 1899-1901 for Peter J.

Herter, this wide six-story apartment house was designed by P. Herter
§ Son. The semicircular window heads, at the third and top stories,
are of corbeled brick with terra cotta arch trim and have carved human
heads for keystones. Also interesting are the terra cotta spandrel
panels and variegated band courses. The ground floor has been re-
modeled with small paired windows set in large square panels of brick,
a bald design completely at variance with the handsome upper floors.

This five-story brick apartment house was designed in the Neo- |
Grec style in 1887 by William Grant, for Daniel Rosenbaum. It has the
typically heavy, protruding window lintels, resting on horizontal band
courses which extend across the building. The interesting first floor
has a central doorway, framed by Corinthian pilasters supporting bold
console brackets which carry the stone cornice slab that serves as a
base for the fire escape. This doorway is flanked on either side by
a pair of tall windows, surmounted by a segmental-arched brick lintel
with a sculptured woman's head serving as an ornamental keystone. The
circles and other incised motifs typical of the Neo-Grec period, that
decorate the doorway and windows of the first floor, give it a deli-
cate sense of scale.

This three-story Greek Revival house was built in 1847 on a newly
created lot, by Levi Onderdonk, a carpenter, for his own residence.
Greek Revival in character are the doorway, the ironwork at the stoop
and areaway, and the short fascia board below the cornice. The facade,
however, has been resurfaced. '

The middle of three houses, all three stories high, No. 92 is
taller than its neighbors. Its first two stories were built in 1836
and assessed to William Jewett. After 1858, the third story was added
and gives the house its present character, with its Italianate
bracketed and paneled cornice. This house has been converted te pro-
vide a basement entrance.

Built in 1854-55, this three-story brick house is of the same
height as its earlier neighbors, Nos. 90 and 96. It has a store at
street level, with cornice above, extending the width of the building.
It now has a stuccoed front, a high stepped parapet, and window lintels
with keystones. This house was built for William Bogert, as his home,
on the backyards of the two corner properties that he had purchased,
and in one of which he had his daguerrotype studio (at No. 363 Bleecker
Street), '

This corner house is one of a row of six houses on Bleecker
Street built in 1829-30 (described under-Nos. 355-365 Bleecker Street).
Before 1858 its attic was raised to a full third story. The third
story on the Charles Street side has an interesting window arrange-
ment and, together with the change from Flemish to running bond at the
corners (and along the Bleecker Street side), still shows that this
house was originally two stories with a high gable on the Charles
Street side. Within the gable there was originally a tall central
window with semi-circular head, flanked on either side by quadrant
windows, These small windows have since been squared off with
corniced lintels. The central window retains its arch, which has been
enhanced by an attractive square-topped frame with a sunburst design
carved in the corners. This motif was popular in the later Queen Anne
period,

CHARLES STREET North Side (Betw. Bleecker § West 4th Sts.)

An unusually important historical background focuses on this
block bounded by Charles, Bleecker, Perry and West Fourth Streets. In
the Seventeen-forties it was the summer home, on a farm of over three
hundred acres, of a successful British naval commander stationed in
New York. Soon to become known as Admiral Sir Peter Warren, he was an
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CHARLES STREET North Side (Betw. Bleecker § West 4th Sts.)

Irishman knighted by his government in recognition of his services in
leading the naval forces at the siege and. capture of the French fortress
of Louisbourg, Nova Scotia,in 1745. This bastion had long been a thorn
in the side of the British colonies in North America. The Assembly of
the Province of New York met during epidemics at Warren's country seat,
which he named "Greenwich House." His property extended irregularly
beyond but included all the present-day diagonal streets betwéen
Christopher and Gamsevoort Streets, Greenwich Avenue and the Hudson
River. He is now commemotrated by No. 51 West Tenth Street, The Peter
Warren Apartmeénts, built in 1959. After Warreh's déath in 1752, the

. most dlStlﬂgUlShed tenant of his mansion was General Robert Monkton

who likewise fought the Frerich, in Canada and in the West Indies, and who
who was briefly Governor of New York.

After the Revolution, Warren's son-in-law, the Earl of Ablngdon,
sold a fifty-five acre tract which was resold in 1794 to Abijah Hammond,
who then sold it off for development. The Charles Street block was
purchased by Whitehead Micks, cashier of the Mechanics' Bank, who made
his home there from 1802 urtil his death in 1819.

Abraham Van Nest, the last owner of this rural block, bought it with

its dwelling in 1821. Born during the Revolution on a farm in New Jersey,

Van Nest developed the family's saddlery business in New York into
"Saddlery, Hardware, and Carriage goods' in a store extending from

Warren to Chambers Streets. lle was a benefactor and trustee of Rutgers
College for forty years, served on the City Board of Aldermen, was
President of the Greenwich Savings Bank and active in developing Bleécker
and West Fourth Streets, At first he used his residence, named
"Greenwich," only during the summer months but later, year round, until
his death there in 1364,

The Van Nest mansion resembled "Hamilton Grange' but had a
steep hipped roof, crowned by a widow's walk. It was a rectangular,
two-story clapboard house, five windows wide, and at each side there
were two tall chimneys flanked by windows. Coveréd porches extended

along both front and rear and were connected by a central hall. The

paneled front door, crowned by a transom of simple glass panes, was
reached by four steps from the drive, which led to the avenue of
buttonwood trees extending to the Hudson River. The rear porch,
approached by a flight of fourteen steps, overlooked the terraced
flower garden that stretched across the bleck, Facing it was a
Dutch double door. The house, near Charles Street, was set in the
midst of shade trees. fEntered from Perry Street was the two-story
brick stable and carriage house. Fruit trees, a large vegetable
garden, a cow, and a picket fence surrounding the block completed
the picture of the attractive Van Nest home, which was finally
razed in 1865, giving way to the solid block of City residences we
see today.

This Van Nest property, the last rural block remaining in The
Village, was opened for development by the death of Mr. Van Nest here

~in 1864. It was accompanied by considerable speculation in unimproved

lots and in new houses. Jeremiah Pangburn, a real estate developer and
mortgage broker, was the chief developer, owning in 1866 more ‘than half
of the lots on the Perry Street side, as well as some on the Charles
Streéet side, and four dwellings, in two of which he lived. Hence it
seems likely that he was the mastermind of the original planning.

In any event, the dwellings were uniformly set back from the street
except at the Bleecker Street end, and the major architects who designed
the block were associated with Pangburn's lots. This was -especially
true of Robert Mook who designed five houses on the Perry Street side.
William H. Hume de51gned two houses there, and on the Charles Street
side one house is documented, but six more may be attributed to him on
architectural evidence. Somewhat similarly, Gage Inslee is known to
have designed one house on the Charles Street side. The -six adjoining
houses would seem also to be his, on architectural evidence. The most
distinctive and individual house on the block, No. 70 Perry Strect, was

_ designed by Walter Jones, an unknown builder, acting as his own archi-

tect. The only two vernacular 'buildings on the block were among the
designs of the best known architect, R. G. Hatfield.
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CHARLES STREET North Side {Betw. Bleecker § West 4th S5ts.)

The Charles Street side of the block was fittingly known as 'Van
Nest Place,' with its numbers running westward from 1 to 18. In 1936,
because of confusion with an avenue of the same name in The Bronx,
the City made it part of Charles mﬁwmoﬁ. at the request of the waowonﬁw
OWners.

The beautiful door at No. 85 is an achievement of Henry Engelbert,
the architect, who designed three houses here in the style of the French
Second Empire. They were built in 1868 for Henry Kugeler. No. 87
(also No. 367 Bleecker Street) and its twin, No. 369 Bleecker Street
(both described under Bleecker Strcet) are early apartment houses, five

stories high, with mansard roofs. No. 85 Perry Street (once known as No.

18 Van Nest Place) is erected up to the property line, and visually
serves as transition to its neighbors. It is of brick, four stories
high, with rusticated stone basement. Its segmental-arched windows
are now shorn of ornament, but its bracketed roof cornice retains its
panels with central bosses.

The glory of this house is its unusually elaborate doorway, which
is still beautiful today even though its lintel has been shorn smooth.
Handsome in its broad proportions, this doorway, enframed with rope
molding and crowned by a glass transom under the low segmental arch,
is a fine example of the gracious entranceway, with double doors, which
was introduced at this period. It took the place of the earlier type
of single door with sidelights. Here, each door has four panels which
are carefully profiled to set off the rosette at doorknob level, and
the topmost corners of the two upper panels have been cut back in
quadrant form. No. 85 was the home of Mr. Kugeler, who was in the
coal business.

William M. Hume was the architect who designed No. 83, which was
built in 1866 in the style of the French Second Empire. His plans were
undoubtedly used for the rest of this row of basically similar houses,
extending eastward to No. 71. Except for No. 75, which now has an
impersonal new brick facade of the Twentieth Century, these three-story
brick buildings have rusticated stone basements and segmental-arched
windows. They have a common cornice, supported on console brackets
ornamented by panels and modillions between them. Only Nos. 73 and 83

retain their high stoops and segmental-arched doorways, with their origi-

nal double doors. These doors have handsome, vertical panels, profiled
around bosses at doorknob level, and small glazed panels with their tops
curved to conform to the segmental arch of the doorway. No. 83 retains
the molded ouier enframement of its doorway, but No. 73 has no frame.
This row of houses displays various latter-day simplifications,

“such as the window lintels, and the smooth-stuccoing of some of the

fronts. In their original state, these houses would have resembled
No. 59 Charles Street, though perhaps they were less ornate. It is
worth noting that Nos. 71, 73, 77 and 81 retain their double-hung
window sash with central vertical muntin.

These houses were first assessed in 1867: Nos. 83 and 81 to Peter
C. Schultz, who was in the boat business, and whose home was at No. 83;
No. 79 to Jeremiah Pangburn, agent, who lived here for a year before
moving to the Perry Street side of the block; No. 77 to James R. Floyd,
who dwelt here and was in the iron business; No. 75 to James Q'Neill;
No. 73 to William E. Dodge, Representative in the U. S. Congress, whe
resided here; and No. 71, likewise, to the above-mentioned Jeremiah
Pangburn, :

The very handsome house at No, 59, built in 1866, was designed in
the style of the French Second Empire by Gage Inslee, architect. He
undoubtedly designed the flanking houses, Nos. 57 and 61, which formed
a group of three owned by Walter W. Price, Inslee's plans may also have

been used for the rest of this row westward to No. 69, as these houses

are basically similar to No. 59 and are united under a common cornice.
No. 59 is the outstanding example of this block as its architec-
tural features remain unchanged, except for the lack of the central
vertical muntin in the double-hung window sash of its lower floors.
This three-story brick house with rusticated stone basement has a
modillioned roof cornice, supported on console brackets and ornamented
with rows of dentils and with small rectangular bosses on the fascia
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_profiles of these arches, the deéply -ut window cornices with pronounced

{described dbove for No. 83) reétain here their complete outér énframe-

CHARLES. STREET North Side (Bétw. Bléeckér § Wést 4th Sits.)

board. The low ségmental aich; so typlcal of thé Frernch 1nf1uence,
appears at all thé windows as well as the doorway . Followlng the

shouldérs give a feeling of strength. The hdndsome paneled double doors

ments. They are paneled and profiled around incised rosettes, dnd ate

surmounted by elaborfate console brackets which support thé segmental—

arched ¢ornice with shoulders. The wide, gracious stoop is énhanced by oo
massive balustrades which rise from polygonal newels of intiicate work-

manship. Théir design is echoed by the square gateposts of the areaway,
which are likewisé surmounted by acorns, but of a smallér size, The
areaway railing has unusual cdst iron balustefrs; and ifs arched gate -
has a beautiful and intricate désign in wrdught ir:. )
NG. 59 is likewise interesting as a family city résiderice. Built
in 1866 by Walter W. Price; a brewer, it was sold by him in 1869 at a .
handsome profit to his partner, Ernést G: W. Woérz, also a bréwer; who
made his home here for eleven years: It was kfiown 4t this timé as No.
5 Van N&st Place, a reminder of the old Vdn Nest estate which had once
occupled this block. After passing through two more owners, it was
purchased, in 1887; by Anfa Catherine Gerdes., It thus becdné the hone
of . the family of John H. Gerdes, a Gérman immigrant who had liquor
selling establishmeits at several taveriis, This house continued to be
their home until the very recent death of His daughter in 1966.
No. 61 is almost a twin to No. 59, but it has 4 modefn ralllng at
the stoop and areaway, and some detalls of 1ts doorway enframement have

dow lifitéls d15p1ay an air of 1nsouc1ant French gaiety that is a
glorious feature of this row. Nos. 65 and 56 likéwise retdin theéir
stoops and doorways. However, at No. 65 the double doors are rectangd-'
lar, and large glazed panels have been insérted, ih the upper hilves,
and' the whole is surmounted by a wide transbm which fits the low
segmental arch of the doorway. Mdst of this row has had its window
lintels shorn Of ornament, and at Nos. 63-67, built by Bartiett Smlth
thésé lifitels are rectangular at the uppér stories. .

Thé dwellings in this row were first assessed in 1867: No: 69 to
Jeremidh Pangburn, already mentioned; Nos. 63-67 to Bartlett Smith; a
bu1Ider, two of whose purchasers became residents, Andrew Flétcher,
who was in the boiler bu51ness at No. 65; and at No. 63 Mary Ann and
Charles W. Link. Nos. 61:57 were orlglnally assessed in 1867 to Walter
W. Price, brewér, but it was His associate Walter J. Price, likewisé a
Brewer, who made his home at N&. 61.

Built in 1866-67 as part of a row of threé town houses for George
Starr (1nc1ud1ng NG. 53), these brlck dwellings are closely akin to,
and in general harimony of design with their néighbors to theé west
Their bracketed roof cornices are similar, but the dainty cornlces
surviving ‘on the _window lintels at the upper floors of No. 55, a¥é mote
delicatée. No. 55 alsé dlsplays ‘spandrél panels in thé brownstone below
the parlor floor windows. The sills of these windows aré part of a
molded band coursé running the width of the house. At No. 5I this
unifying band coursé also appears at the parlor floor as does the old

~ window sash with central vertical muritin at the uppér floors. Both

houses have been converted to provide basemént entrances, which are
dlgnlfled by sifplé entablatures.
George Starr lived 1n1t1a11y at No. 51, when it was No. 1 Vai Nest
Place, and later madé his home at No, 53, where hé lived wheén he sérved
as Comm1551oner of Emigration in thé Elghteen seventies, Back in 1865
he had purchaséd ‘the west end of the block, from Charles to Perty Street.
Three years later hé sold Nos. 51 and 53, as well as the ad301n1ng lot
at No. 256 West Folurth Strect to Arfiet Seaman who was éngaged in the .
buildirg materials business. Seaman made his residence at No. 51,
on thé corner of West Fourth Stréet.

This yellow brick synagogue with stome trim, which belongs to the
Congregation Darech Amuno, was built in 1917. It replaced onié of the
town hol$es that George Starr had built in 1866 or 1867, mentionéd under

‘Nos. 51 and 55. The building is lowér in height than the adJoznlng

houses and extends in front to the property liné. Completely symmétrical, _
this handsome synagogue is visually two stories high with basemeft o
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| CHARLES STREET North Side (Betw. Bleecker § West 4th STs.)

entrances flanking the arched central entrance, leading up to the main
floor. It is designed in the Italian Renaissance-tradition, with
pllasters dividing the front into three sections of which the central
one is the widest. The upper part of the facade above an entablature
is crewned by a low pediment. Its central feature is a circular
window, containing the Star of David, flanked by arched windows at

the sides.

CHARLES STREET (Between Bleecker § Hudson Streets)

This is a street of multiple uses and varying appearance, with
brick as the unifying element. The prevailing height is five stories,
but the range is from one to seven stories high. Three gables promi-
nently silhouetted against the sky, over triple apartment houses,
and an interesting stepped parapet, over one of the garages, lend
variety to the prevailing horizontal parapet roofline. The delightful
little three-story firehouse on the south side has handsome shallow-
arched pediments in the Italianate style crowning its windows and
double doors. Adjoining it at the corner, the end of a block-long
apartment house on Bleecker Street is in the severe style of the
Nineteen-sixties. It offers an interesting contrast rather than defy-
ing its surroundings. It expresses a serious attempt to harmonize,
with use of brick, limitation of height to seven stories, and treatment
of fire escapes architecturally as balconies. It is to be hoped that
a similar restraint will be exercised in the block-~through building
for which foundations have been laid on the other side of the delight-
ful little firehouse.

CHARLES STREET South Side (Betw. Bleecker § Hudson Sts.)

#98-100 This corner apartment house (described under No. 350 Bleecker
- Street) is in the severe style of the Nineteen-sixties, but blends with
the houses in the neighborhood in being built of brick and only seven
stories high.

#102 This interesting brick firehouse was built as a house in 1854 for
Samuel D. Chase, an accountant. tHe continued to live nearby in West
Eleventh Street, selling the property to the City of New York the next
year. The City had just organized a new fire company, for duty between
Leonard and Twenty-Second Streets and the City wished to house it next
to the new station house (No. 100 Charles Street) for the 9th Police
Precinct, which received reports of chimney fires.

The City's architect made an excellent conversion in the Italianate
style, with centrally located, double doors for the fire trucks sur-
mounted by a handsome arched pediment of sandstone, and with similar
arched pediments over the windows of the two upper floors. The lintel
of the doors is continued as a horizontal band course across the rest
of the facade, giving dignity to the inconspicuous little doors that
flank the main entrance, The building is crowned by a handsome sheet-
metal -cornice, in the same style, supported: on brackets simulating
carving.

This building was the firehouse of the volunteer Columbian Hook and
Ladder Company No. 14 from 1857 to 1865 and, after the organization of
a paid Fire Department, has been the firehouse of Hook and Ladder
Company No. 5, from 1865 to the present day.

#104 ‘ On this lot, 90 feet wide, where the V:Iiage darége recently stood,
foundations have been laid for a new bu11d1ng extending through the
.block to West Tenth Street.

‘ #106 This pair of five-story brick apartment houses was built in 1871
(#106-108) Dby William Jos&, architect, for Richard Schmidt § Co. Their present
brick surface is mottled by the introduction of an occasional darker
brick. The segmental-arched windows are interesting late examples of
the Italianate style, with lintels of brickwork following the .line of
the arch and, at No. 108, with central muntins in the double-hung sash.
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CHARLES STREET South Side (Betw. Bleecker § Hudson 5ts.)

_ This end of a laige garage, built in 1922 (described under Nos.
528-536 Hudson Street), presénts a plain two<story brick wall with
steel sash to Charlés Street.

CHARLES. STREET Notth Side (Bétw, Hﬁdson § Bleecker Sts.)

This small one- -story gasoline §tatioit was built in 1927. It serves
the community both in this capacity and as a large parking lot (Nes.
538-540 Hudson Street). It replaces a three-story hotel which once

3tood on this ¢orner.

Thesé three similar apartment houses were built in 1894 on the
duribbe 1 plan by Weber § Drosser, architects, for ".ne Cooper family.
They are of brick, five-stories high, ctrowned by a deep bracketed cor-
nice, above which three gables display their outlines prominently against
the $ky. The entrance doors havé unusually deep pedimented lintels car-
ried on heavy stone brackets or corbels at the sides. These three apart-
ment houses were built for Catharine, Emma M., and John H. Cooper.
‘Catharine was then the widow of William Cooper. In mid-century the -
Coopet family homé had been hetre on Chafdes Street, at No. 101, and was
flanked oh both sides by William Codper's livery stables equaled in size
only by the large stable which was located :on Eighth Street near Sixth
Avenue.

This three-story brick garage, built as a stable in 1895, runs
through the block (descrlbed under ‘No. 102 Perry Street). It replaces
a carrlage ‘factory and is oh the site -of part .of the extensive divery
'stables of W1111am ‘Cooper & Co. which were there in the :Eighteen-fifties.

Construction '0f this garage in 1918 for John-H. Cooper, who owned
it until 1945, ‘shows the continuation of this family's dinterest <in .the
local ‘trafisport field. -Cooper was his own architect in designing this

one-story building. It'has an dnteresting stepped parapet and .geometric
panels and trim in sandstone. It :replaces ‘two -three-story -houses.

The first ‘two stories of this five-stoty brick building were built
‘in 1847-48 in the wernaculdr of ‘the day as a "pianofofte mamifactory"
for Garret-and Hafvey -Barmore. ‘By ‘1854 it extended the full séventy-
foot length of this corner lot. The upper stories were added at a later
date and are topped'by a parapet. Giving uriexpected dignity to .this
building are the :floor-léngth secend floor.windows on the Bleecker Street
front, above the store (No. 368 Bleecker Street)

The restric¢tions of what-not to build on this property, ‘listed .in

‘the 1847 deed of sale, include any manufactory, -trade, .or.business "in

‘any -wise fioxious -to the néighboring - :ifthdbitants." .While the use of the
néw brick building evidently met this test, the 1854 fire insurance

"map - shows rit rateéd third class, which 1nc1uded the category -of pianoforte

makers,: presumably ' because of the- flre hazard of -lumber sand glue.

'GREENWICH AVENUE  ‘{(Bétween West '1lth-§ West I0th Streets)

Greenwich Avenue 'is one of the more attractive shopping:streets in
The Village where the houses and apartment houses have.$tores.at-street

© lével; the upper portions of most ‘of the houses remain intdact or.are.

altered only by the addition wof -ome floor. :
The east side is particularly fortunate inasmuch .as the. alterat10n5
have béen kept to a«minimum between Twelfth-.and Thirteemth Streets.

. Thése low houses, with their stores, provide a:restful -and a most inviting

shopping area.
The west side has more apartment houses, including-a large :new.one
at Tenth Street-and many others remodéled: from existing houses -with a

“fair degree- of architectural competence. These remodeled” ‘buildings. with

stores ‘bélow are generally about one story-higher than the houses.across
the stréet.,

The ‘very old names of Greenwich Avenue were Sand Hill Read in ithe
Seventeenth Century and ‘Monument Lane. -Around 1794 it was known.as ‘0ld

‘Greenwich Lane (to:distinguish it from Greenwich Street in the Hudson
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GREENWICH AVENUE (Between West 1lith § West 10th Streets)

River area). 1Its official name was Greenwlch Lane until 1843 when the
present Avenue term was adopted.

GREENWICH AVENUE West Side (Betw., West llth § Perry Sts.}

A (White Tower) diner now occupies the southerly part ‘of the former
site of an enormous brick building, over one-hundred-and-forty feet
long, which was literally bisected by the southerly extension of
Seventh Avenue in 1919.

The entire building was razed, and only a small triangular
lot remained with a filling station (described under Seventh
Avenue South) filling the northern apex. This large building
was a brewery and was once a conspicuous feature of The Village,
at the southwest corner of West Eleventh Street and Greenwich
Avenue. It later became Monahan's Express Company (stables) and,
after the turn of the century, the Manhattan Screw -§ Stamping
Works (a factory).

The hard, white cubism of the diner, although a good trade mark,
relates to nothlng else in The Village unless it be the filling
stations on the Avenue. Where a commercial enterprise enters an
Historic District, it should be realized that a special situation ex-
ists and that stock company designs are often not only inadequate but
offensive to the entire neightborhood. To insure that the spirit of
the district is not violated, special study should be given to this
problem by the company archltects to evolve something which would be
compatible, if not in scale, at least in its use of forms, materials
and architectural details.

"

These two handsome brick town houses, which once adjoined the
brewery building to the north, were built for William Van Hook in 1844-
45, They were built in the late Greek Revival period and have muntined,
double-hung sash with simple, flush lintels above. The low windows of
the top floor may be seen in their original form at No. 59. Both build-
ings have stores at street level, and they are both crowned by a con-
tinuous, bracketed cornice of later date. An unusual feature of the
corner house, No. 57 (also No. 1 Perry Street) is the inset, rounded
corner, extending full height with a vertical tier of windows. In
1851, No. 57 was the home of Michael Ledwith, who had a liquor store
at the upper end of the block. William Van Hook, for whom these two
houses were built, was a lawyer, who owned a sawmill at the corner of
Bank and West Streets. He lived on West Eighth Street but later moved
to No. 5 Fifth Avenue. '

GREENWICH AVENUE West Side (Betw. Perry § Charles Sts.)

This block was developed by joint endeavor. Its underlying his-
tory is the same as that of the block front around the corner (described
under Charles Street, North Side, between Waverly Place and Greenwich
Avenue). Richards and Tayler laid out the Greenwich Avenue side in lots
in 1847, disposing of them mostly to men in the building trades. These
included: Noah Norris, stone cutter; Richard Moore, maker of grates
(blacksmith); and R. Wood, presumably the Reuben R. Wood, mason, who
like these other two were active on the above-mentioned block front
around the corner. Others were Philo Beebe, builder; John T. and
Hubbard Williams, plumbers; William Foster and Jacob Van Ostrand,
lumber dealers; and P. Roach, presumably the Peter R. Roach who had
sawmills at Bank and Washington Streets. Mr. Wood soon sold No. 47 to
Lewis Gregory, Vice President of the Marine Insurance Company, who
established his home there in 1849,

All these houses were built as first class residences without
stores. It is worthy of note that these nine brick houses were built
as a row four stories in height, with basements, in 1848-49, gnd that
today, despite modernizations, there is a satisfying uniformity in the
five-story heights and window alignments. Here, the stoops have all
been removed and the houses converted to street level entrances. No.

41 is the least altered, but No. 9 on the north side of Charles Street
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GREENWICH AVENUE West Side (Betw. Perry § Charles Sts.)

glves an 'even better idea of the original appearance as it retains its
st00p

Only the window arrangement (fenebtratlon) of this five-story apart-
ment house, located on the corner of Perry Street (No. 2) serves as a
remlnder of its mid- Nineteenth Century origins. It was built in 1848-49 ’
by Phllo Beebe, builder, who lived in it. As the result of an alteration
of 1899 its roof was raised, and it was altered to its present appear-
ance. At this time it was stuccoed and the steep tile pseudo-roofs
were added, including a corner tower effect with low-angled tile roof.
As altered this building prov1des an effect1ve termination for the row
and, WIth its tower, signalizes its corner location. The ground floor
store, w1th its black and white front, spoils the dignity of the build-
1ng, defles its archltecture, and detracts from the yuality of the build-
ing as a whole.

ThlS 1848 house was remodeled as an apartment with a completely new
front, This new front is archltecturally similar to that of Nos. 43-49,
and, with its ample-sized steel casements and textured brickwork, belongs
to the first half of the Twentieth Century. A high parapet dlsplays an
all-over diamond pattern done in brickwork. A store and entrance door
are located at street level, :

Remodeled at about the same period as No 53, this five-story house
of 1848 also has a new. brick front with the windows paired at the left
side and single at the rlght for the entire height of the bulldlng A
store and entrance to the apartments above are at street level. The
bu11d1ng is crowned by a little, projected roof carried on end-brackets,
echoing the roof treatment of No. 55. The top floor end- windows have
small wrought iron guard railings.

Combined behind a uniform facade very similar in de51gn to that of
No. 53, these four houses bu11t in 1848, present a uniform appearance
to the street as remodeled in 1930. The central portion of the parapet
has the diamond- pattern brickwork but, here, the ends have been treated
as vertical elements with large steel windows. The topmost of the end
wlndows have small wrought iron balconies beneath them. This building
has stores and entrance at the street level. i

No. 41, alone of the entire row, still displays low attic windows
and modlllions at the roof cornice. It may be considered late Greek
Revival in style. Now a five-story house, it has been remodeled to pro-
vide a basement entrance with restaurant. Originally it was four stories
high with basement, as may be seen from the high stone llntel of the
doorway which remains embedded in the masonry, when a small w1ndow took
the place of the door at the left side. The house was built in 1848 49
by Foster § Van Ostrand. In the early Eighteen-fifties, this was the
home of R. W. Jeffery.

The crenelated parapet, which sets this corner house (also Nos. 1-3
Charles Street) apart from the rest of the row, is the result of an
alteratlon ‘made sometime after 1858 At that tlme this 1848 house was
enlarged extending it the full length of the lot on Charles Street and

" raising the attic w1ndows in order to provide a full-height flfth story,

The window arrangement on the Charles Street side shows more sophistica-
tion than the typical fenestratlon on the Greenwich Avenue facade.
Orlglnally, the house was built for P. Roach, and in the early Eighteen-
fifties it was the home of Mary Young. An attractive latter-day wooden
store at the ground floor has gained added headroom by raising the second
floor, an alteration indicated by the shortened second-story windows.

GREENNICH AVENUE West Side (Betw. Charles § West 10th Sts,)

Both of these brick houses were built in 1845 by Patrick Cogan, _ -
carpenter, in association with Myndert Van Schaick. They have stores at
the ground floor facing the Avenue. No. 37, the corner building (also
No. 2 Charles Street), was built very much in the simple vernacular of
the day wlth little trim or embellishment, The cornice, with its deco-
rative swags, is of a later date. It is one story higher than No. 35%
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GREENWICH AVENUE West Side (Betw. Charles § West 10th Sts.)

and has two windows bricked up at the Charles Street corner. No. 35%
is three stories high. The house retains its original cornice and

may be a reminder of the house which once stood to the south of it. It
is a simple version of late Greek Revival style. In the early Eighteen-
fifties, No. 35% was the home of lenry llolt, tailor. The association
of financier Van Schaick with carpenter Cogan is discussed under the
adjoining block front (Charles Street, South Side, between Waverly
Place and Greenwich Avenue).

Fifteen stories high, the "St. Germain'' is a white brick apartment
house built 1960-61. With the strident horizontals of its banded win-
dows and the diagonal setbacks of its upper floors, this building fails
completely to relate to its surroundings. In defying the quality of
The Village and in its use of detail, color and materials, it sets a
woeful precedent for the future development of entire blocks where
properties are assembled to introduce just such large residential
structures. A glance at Fifth Avenue will reveal how buildings of
equal bulk can be built to be at least compatible with their surround-
ings and how, at eye level, they can be made a positive asset to the
community. This building with stores at ground level is also entered
at No. 133 West Tenth Street where a garage has been provided.

The apartment house replaces seven houses which once faced
the Avenue. Among them, No. 35 was the home, until his death in
1840, of William Dbunlap, playwright, painter, and historian, who
is sometimes called the "Father of the American theater."

- HUDSON STREET (Between West 10th § West 1llth Streets)

This section of Hudson Street still retains a good many Nineteenth
Century buildings, although many have been drastically altered. Com-
bining residential and commercial functions, they display a great
variety of architectural styles. In height they range from three to
six stories.

The northernmost block on the east side of the street is notable
for a group of buildings of the third quarter of the Nineteenth (entury,.
Here, two rows of four-story houses were altered to present a uniform,
if somewhat bland, street facade. The fenestration and the height of
the buildings were retained, except for the addition of a slightly
higher roof parapet.

The west side displays several glaring examples of unsatisfactory
alterations, which are completely out of character with the neighbor-
hood. One would never guess, for example, that the small three-story
house at the south corner of West Eleventh Street, recently veneered

“with an ugly composition material, may actually date back to the early

Nineteenth Century. Farther down the street, at mid-block, are three
buildings of the mid-Nineteenth Century which were badly remodeled in
the Nineteen-fifties, a situation which could have been avoided had
architectural controls existed at that time. The entire front of one
house was veneered with simulated stonework; the middle building is a
prime example of how a sloppy sign can ruin the appearance of an other-
wise dignified little building; the new front of the southernmost
structure, with its horizontal windows, metal sash, and two-toned
brick, completely negates its original appearance.

HUDSON STREET East Side {Betw. West 10th § Charles Sts.)

Hudson Street was extended north into Greenwich Village in 1808-
1811, ‘

This five-story brick apartment house, occupying the corner site
(No. 247 West Tenth Street}, has stores at ground floor level on the
Avenue side. Treated with Modernistic horizontal band courses, con-
trasted with the vertical wall planes which rise above the roof line
to form brick parapets, this apartment bears little relation, in its
fenestration and details, to the traditional Nineteenth Century build-
ings and houses of the District. A more conventional treatment of
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: HUDSON STREET East Side (Betw. West 10th § Charles Sts.)

#520-524  windows and details, such as may be seen in some of the better apartment
cont. houses of the Nineteen-twenties, would have produced a more compatible
architecture for this 1947 bulldlng It occup1es the site of three
houses of which' Nos. 520 and 522 were vuilt in 1827 for Don Alonzo Cushman.
The present bulldlng was bu11t for the Hudson Realty Co.

#526 Built in 1832 for B. B. Seaman, this house was orlglnally three
' "~ and one-half storles h1gh with a basement, As seen today, it is five
stories high 1nc1ud1ng its mansard roof. The flrst floor and basement
have been converted to all-glass shop fronts. & heavy, ‘bracketed cornice
adorns the top of the fourth floor, just below. the manéard roof.

#528-536 ' This two-story br1ck garage with concrete firs* floor occupies the
. site of five houses. It serves a useful purpose as a needed adjunct to

the community. In its differentiation of materials, between first and
second floors and its doors and windows which bear little relatlon to
the scale of Vlllage archltecture, it violates the spirit of the commu-
nity. Wlth a uniform facade, ut111Z1ng only one material and a multi-
plicity of smaller window units it could, in the hands of a sk111fu1
designer, have been made compatlble It occupies a corner site (No. 112
Charles Street) and was built for the Adrlatlc Realty Company,.

HUDSON STREET East Side (Eetw. Charles § Perry Sts.)

#538-540 This open corner lot is oqccupied by a gasoline f1111ng station whlch
o despite its ut111tar1an character serves a useful purpose in the commu-
nity. Here, on thlS consplcuous site, an opportunlty ex1sted to create
an attractive service building. Utilizing materials and details whlch
- would harmonize with the buildings in the adjoining blocks, both as re-
gards character and scale, it might have been designed to be a credlt
to the community.

#544 This lot, which once contained both a front and a back building, is
now fully OCCUpled by a two-story garage bulldlng which represents an
exten51ve remodeling’ of 1934 36. This building, like the lot next door,
serves a utilitarian purpose; however, the design leaves something to be
desired. At ng extra cost, the windows of the second floor could have
been related to the much needed big doors below, instead of which, large
plate glass w1ndow5 have been evenly spaced above without any relatlon
whatsoever to that which lles below another example of poor plannlng
and little or no. relatlon to one's nelghborhood

#546 § 548 This fine pair of four-story town houses was built in 1852 for
' William J. Haddock. With their Italianate cornices, they represent the
‘best of the vernacular architecture of their day. Remodeled stores at
ground Ievel and fire escapes represent subsequent add1t1ons and altera—
tions. _

#548% More in the French vernacular, this five-story house was also built
for Wllllam J Haddock but in 1862, replacing a two-story house Its
heavy roof cornice is carried un vertlcally placed console brackets '
which break below the line of the fascia. The original windows, w1th
single central muntlns, have been retained although a fire escape has
been added here for multiple tenancy. At ground level a store has been
remodeled as has the door alongside it which leads to the upper floors.

#550 This corner house (also No. 108 Perry Street) was built in 1861 for
William J. Haddock, also replacing a two-story structure It has a
store at ground floor and was remodeled to include a fire escape and
brick parapet at the roof. The windows retain their simple stone lintels,
and the paired WIRdOWS on the Hudson Street front are a particularly
 notable feature.

HUDSON STREET East Side (Betw. Perry § West 1lth Sts.)

#552-558 Four houses, bu11t in 1870 for William J. Howard, were converted to

: multiplé tenancy in 1947 with uniform stuccoed front and fire escapes.
The original sash was all replaced by metal sash with horizomtal muntins,
and the ground floor stores were all modernized. This alteration,
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HUDSON STREET East Side (Betw._Perry & Hest llth.Sts.)

although contemporary in its details, does retain the original window
openings (fenestration) and scale of the houses. A metal railing
surmounts the wall above roof level. This alteration, which includes
No. 558 (also No., 103 Perry St.) and the adjoining house around the
corner (No. 101 Perry St.), was designed by H, I. Feldman in 1946.

Quite similar in appearance to Nos. 552-558 today, two of these
houses were erected in 1871 for F. Bohde by J. J. § J. B. Howard,
architects (Nos. 566 § 564) while the other two (Nos. 562 § 560) were
built in 1857 for Frederick Bohde. These four-story houses were all
combined behind a white-face brick facade in 1960-61 by architects
Wechsler & Schimenti for Leon and Martin Berman. They are of the same
height as their neighbors to the South and crowned by a similar metal
railing. The principal difference is that there are no store fronts
at ground level, '

These brick houses of unequal size were built for Francis Graham,
a lawyer, in 1851; however, despite this late date, they belong archi-
tecturally to the Greek Revival tradition, with their handsome stone
lintels, muntined window sash, and dentiled wooden cornices., They
have stores at ground floor level. Only a break in the cornice and a
change in the width of the windows signalize the differences between
No. 570 and 572. No. 572, the corner building (also No. 300 West
Eleventh Street), has an absolutely plain side wall without cornice,
but has the same windows as those of the front. A restaurant occupies
the ground floor of both buildings and, as remodeled, has metal sash
and a simple, unobtrusive horizontal sign extending the length of both
buildings above the windows on the Hudson Street side.

PERRY STREET {Between Greenwich Avenue § Seventh Avenue South)

This opening section of Perry Street is a pleasant place for
family living with its many attractive homes. The delightful mid-
Nineteenth Century character of its low brick houses continues today,
primarily because of the row of high-stoop houses on the south side
of the street. Architecturally, the street demonstrates the transition
from late Greek Revival toward early Italianate. Blending in their
use of brick and in their low height are a six-story corner apartment
house with arched entrance and, facing it, a one-story restaurant
graced with arched windows. Next to the restaurant is a small one-
story, characterless addition to a handsome brick house. The design
of the addition would have been improved by the architectural controls
of a regulatory body. An outstanding architectural feature of the
block is this handsome brick house with its rounded inset corner, ex-
tending the full height of three and one-half stories, unusual at this
early date,

In 1813 Perry Street, formerly Henry Street, was renamed in honor
of Commodore Oliver Hazard Perry and his decisive naval victory on
Lake Erie.

PERRY STREET 'South Side (Betw. Greenwich Ave. § Seventh Ave. So.}

On the south side of this block is the site of the Eagle Mills,
and in 1847-49 it was developed into a residential area (discussed
under Charles Street, north side, between the same avenues).

This shallow town house fills the rear of the lot of No. 55
Greenwich Avenue. Both these houses, which align with each other,
were erected in 1849 by Philo Beebe, a builder. He made his home here
at No. 2. It is three stories high with basement and stoop leading up
to the front door. This house has French windows at the parlor floor
and muntined, double-hung sash at the upper floors. A projecting cor-
nice crowns the building. It is remarkably similar to the four houses
to the west of it and was built in the same year, 1849.

Qut of a row of seven built in 1849, only these four charming
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PERRY STREET South Side (Betw. Greenwich Ave. § Seventh Ave. S50.)

brick houses remain. They are set back from the sidewalk and, except
for No. 8, retain their original stoops with handsome 1ronwork The
upper floors, with their attractive diminutive brackets supporting the
roof cornices and double-hung windows with heavy, vertical, central
muntins, are the Italianate originals. Likewise in that style are the
parlor floor windows at Nos. 4, 6 and 8, which are filoor-length case-
ments with iron railings and transoms above. Except for its windows
with raised sills at the first floor, No. 10 is the prototype and, . R
with its rusticated base, gives most nearly the original appearance of
the houses in this row. Added about 1860 at the entrance of No. 10 are
a superb pair of paneled double doors. Their central panels, with
arched ends, are ornately decorated under the new influence of the
French Second Empire. The painter Rockwell Kent 1°ved at No. 4 around
1911,

Four men already met with in the development of other sides of
this block again participated here in 1849, They were: Reuben R, Wood, * i
mason, who built No. 4; William H. Foster and Jacob Van Ostrand, part-
ners as lumber dealers, who built No. 8; and Richard Moore, blacksmith,
No. 10. The house at No. 4 was sold to John Wyman Morris and became the
home of William L. Morris of the legal firm of Morris § Aitken, with
offices downtown and at 50 Grove Street in The Village. The house at
No. 8 was sold to Cyrus Flint for his residence. The property at No, &
was bought as a lot by Rev. John Dowllng, and its house was bu11t for
his own residence. :

This handsome arched stone entrance fills the narrow Perry Street
end of a dignified six-story brick apartment house (described under
Nos. 159%-169 Seventh Avenue South). The unusual shape of its lot is
a result of the cutting through of the Avenue.

PERRY STREET WNorth Side '(Betw. Seventh Ave. So. § Greenwich Ave.)

A new one-story restaurant of white brick is given a certain
degree of dignity by its tall round-arched windows. It occupies the
triangular corner site (described under No. 173 Seventh Avenue South),

This four-story brick town house, with the unusual inset rounded
corner at the street intersection, was built in 1844-45 {described
under Nos. 57 § 59 Greenwich Avenue). On the Perry Street side, it has
a one~story functional extension, built in 1889, which is now smooth-
stuccoed, as is much of the ground flecor of the main house, '

" PERRY STREET (Between Seventh Avenue South § West 4th Street)

This street has preserved its Nineteenth Century quality. Its
buildings offer a surprising diversity although brick serves as the

unifying material. They are of three :to six stories in height. Of

special interest as ‘a row are the six late Greek Revival houses, three
stories high, which are on the south side of the street. The attractive
over-all effect of their continuous roof cornice was appreciated by the
architect when remodeling one .of them for a third-floor studio, as he
skillfully retained :this cornice unaltered, by placing the sloping sky-
light above it. The late Nineteenth Century apartment -houses ilend con-
trast in the block, and an unchanged example, in the middle of .the
block, represents.a serious attempt to make a narrow building front
interesting -through .change of planes and ornament of .that period. By
contrast, its adjoining twin has been shorn of all ornament. Worthy of

.special ‘note is .an early corner store at Seventh Avenue.

Architecturally, the most distinguished building on the street is
near the middle of .the north side, its scale and large.Romanesque win-

“dows suggesting a-handsome llbrary, although actually an apartment

house., Despite the fact that it is only three stories high, its cor- 7
nice line matches that of the adjoining four-story Anglo-Italianate

town-houses, Interesting as an unexpected.tour de force is the recent
modernization of a century-old house to the west with steel casements

set in a marble facade. Tts unusually angled gable is doubtless in-

tended to give it.a venerable aspect, but the houses in Greenwich
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PERRY STREET  (Between Seventh Avenue’ South § West 4th Street)

village do not date back to the period of medieval architecture. This
capricious design is a type which would be carefully reviewed by a
regulatory body before it could be used, in order to determine how it
might be made to harmonize with nearby buildings.

PERRY STREET South Side (Betw. Scventh Ave, So. § West 4th St.)

This filling station (also Nos. 162-170 Seventh Avenue South}
fulfills a public need in this community. It was built in 1936 for .
Kesbec Inc, according to the designs of William A, Rolleston. Where

“such a low building is constructed among higher residential buildings,

particular care should be taken to make sure that it harmonizes at
least with regard to color, texture, and the general scale of its de-
tails. Here a more imaginative approach to the overall problem might
have led to a better integration for this type of building, so much
needed by the community and which, by its very nature, too often runs
counter to the aesthetics of its surroundings.

A five-story brick apartment house, with stuccoed first floor, is
the last high building on this block. It was built in 1889 for Jacob
Ruess and designed by William Graul. It is four windows in width with
the two center windows slightly recessed in a vertical panel which runs
the height of the building. A stepped parapet with gablets replaces
the original cornice and a fire escape runs up the center of the build-
ing. When Seventh Avenue South was cut through, the entire side of
this apartment house was exposed to view.

This five-story brick apartment house of 1899, erected for Charles
Weinstein and designed by Schneider § Herter, is transitional in style.
At the third floor it retains the round-arched windows of the Romanesque
Revival. By contrast, the cornice with brackéts and swags below signal-
izes the new classicism of the period. The ground floor has paired win-
dows on either side of a handsomely carved, arched entranceway of
stone,

This attractive row of six late Greek Revival houses was developed
in 1845 by John J. Palmer, president of the important Merchants Bank.
A continuous dentiled wood cornice crowns their third floors and uni-
fies the row even today. Except for Nos. 30 and 36, which were re-
modeled to provide basement entrances, all these houses retain their
original stoops and wrought iron railings decorated with castings of
Groek motifs ot the bottom and along the lower edge of the handrails,
Only No. 30 retains its rusticated basement, but the doorway there is
flanked with -curved sections of glass block on each side. _

The inner doorways, rcached by stoops, are typically Greek
Revival, with pilasters and sidelights, and with simple transoms above
a transom bar with a fret molding. The outer doorways have brick re-
veals at the sides, and are crowned differently, except for No. 34 where
the stone lintel has been shorn flush. The lintel at No. 32 has a low
ogival arch cut into the stone surface, typical of the 1845 period, and
is surmounted by a heavy cornice,

At No., 40 are the original floor-length double-hung windows at the
parlor floor. These have also been retained at No. 30, where one was
added to replace the original front door., All the houses have retained
muntined double-hung sash, except No. 34 which has replaced its three
third-floor windows by one high muntined steel sash with casements ex-
tending the width of the building. This alteration was made in 1924 to
provide a studio window with skylight above the cornice. This alter-
ation was skillfully performed in that the original roof cornice, con-
tinuous for the entire row, was allowed to remain unaltered between
the new third floor window and skylight above it. The stone window
lintels at Nos. 30 and 34 have been shorn of their miniature stone
cornices, while the remaining buildings in the row succumbed to the
fashionable sheetmetal cornices which were added after the Eighteen-

_ fifties,.

Mr: Palmer had owned the land for some time and sold three of the
houses immediately to individuals who soon made their homes here: No.
30 to William Adams, who was in the cotton business; No. 34 to Rev.
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PERRY STREET South Side <{Betw. Seventh Ave. So. § West 4th St.)

Hugh H. Blair; and No. 40 to Reuben R. Wood, mason, who was an active
builder in The Village. No. 32 was sold by Mr. Palmer in 1848 to
Thomas Bell who made his residence tlere.

Here is an interesting examwple of development in which two apart-
ment houses of the same width, almost the same size, and built the same
year, 1887, can look so differently as a result of remodeling. They
were both bullt for Charles Guntzen and designed by William Graul,
architect.

No. 42, after all ornament was removed, was Smooth stuccoed and
carried up to a stepped parapet with stone coping, which replaces the

"cornice. No. 44, by contrast, remains as built with a wealth of stone

and terra cotta ornament adorning the brick facad.. The sections con-
taining the end windows are advanced, leaving the two center windows in
a slightly recessed panel extending the height of the building above
the first floor. This change of planes may still be noted in No. 42,
No. 44 is transitional in style from the French Neo-Grec, which may be
seen in the incised carving at the first and second floor lintéls. By
contrast, the more delicate ornamental terra cotta spandrels, between
the third and fourth floor windows, derive from the Queen Anne style,
so much in vogue when this building was erected. The boldly projecting
bracketed cornice reflects, in its high central portion, the recessing
of the central section below. This building represents a serious
attempt to make a narrow building front interesting through change of
planes and ornament which, at that date, was considered to be expressive
of structure.

Built in 1845, this very attractive three-story house with base-
ment, although only twenty-five feet wide, presents four windows to the
street at each floor except the first, where two doors are interestingly
combined under one lintel. The entrance doorway is approached by a
stoop with simple Greek Revival iromwork, including the usual scroll

design under the handrail, which terminates in cast iron newel posts of

a later date. The areaway railing has castings of a Greek motif along
its base. The front door, slightly recessed between brick reveals, has
wide pilasters on each side with a small glass transom above. Set to
the right of this entrance, but at street level, is a similar doorway
without transom, which is probably an accessway replacing the customary
iron gate. A shop as well as the house was built on this lot in 1845
for Abraham Frazee, a mason. He may have used the structure at the rear
of his lot for his shop.

This house, like the row (Nos. 30 to 40) to the east, is late Greek
Revival and has a fine wood dentiled cornice returned at the ends with
consequently shorter fascia board below. Windows have had the typical
double-hung muntined sash replaced, but the diminutive cornices on the
stone lintels at the top floor may be the originals. One broad lintel
with cornice spans the two exterior doors at the level of the uppermost.
Today, a small louver takes the place of what may have been a large
transom window. or ironwork above the gate.

Less elaborate than No. 44 to the east, this brick apartment house,
built in 1885 for Anna J. Bennet and designed by A. B. Ogden § Son, has
many of the same characteristics. It belongs more nearly to the Queen
Anne; style in that the cornice shows considerable influence from con-
temporary Eastlake furniture designs. Here again are the decorative
panels between windows, and the recessed center tier with roof cornice
raised at the center to signalize it. The window lintels are set on
decorated impost blocks which, in turn, rest on horizontal stone band
courses at second, third, and fifth floors. At the fourth floor the
lintels of the outer windows are projected forward, pedimented at the
center and carried on stone corbels. The first floor has a low stoop
and has been considerably altered with stucco facing.

This- large corner apartment house, built in 1905, is entered at
No. 261 West Fourth Street. Six stories high, with stores at street
level, it is a brick building with plate glass windows crowned by
elaborate splayed or frame-like lintels with keystones. The corner
sections, each two windows wide, are set slightly forward creating a
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a tower effect at the corner., There at second floor level, the windows
have special rusticated frames with large swagged consoles serving as
keystones. The rusticated top floor has arched windows set above a
sill-level belt course. The metal roof cornice has console supports
and swags in the fascia. The cornice over the stores has a similarly
decorated fascia. This building is transitional in style, retaining
the round-arched windows as survivors of Romanesque influence, but
having full-blown classic cornices. This apartment house was designed

~ by Bernstein § Bernstein, architects, for Binder § Baum, owner-

contractors,

PERRY STREET North Side (Betw. West 4th St. § Seventh Ave, So.)

. The visual unity of several Nineteenth Century buildings under a
uniform parapet with continuing coping and a uniform coat of paint has
achieved 2 worthwhile homogeneity at this corner site. The corner
structure, though built in 1828, now has on both sides a Twentieth
Century facade with soldier-course window lintels. An extension in
1868 covering the end of the lot on the Perry Street side has resulted
in the present complex of buildings. These three-story buildings have
been considerably modernized and their first stories covered with rough-
cast stucco., They include Nos. 267 (the corner) and 269 West Fourth
Street, which were two and one-half stories high when built in 1828
for John Denham, a merchant, who owned most of the block front on Fourth
Street. They had stores by 1851, and doubtless originally.

These two five-story apartment houses were once identical, as can
be seen from their rusticated first floors where arched wlndows display
richly decorated tympani. The fronts are faced with smooth-faced stone
(ashlar) veneer. No. 47 retains its original stone window frames sur-
mounted by cornices. These have been smooth-stuccoed. Both buildings
have had their sheetmetal roof cornices removed, revealing plain brick
parapets. At No, 47 the parapet has been stuccoed. They were built
in 1889 for Daniel Lawson using the plans of M. V. B. Ferdon.

The present unusual appearance of this small house, with gable end
facing the street, is the result of its alteration in 1965-67 for B.

' Doing, using designs of Simon Zelnick. In the Eighteen-fifties, Linus

Scudder, builder, erected first a two-story building in the rear and
then a three-story building in front with a carriageway beneath it,

at the right, for access to the rear. Both were stables, and were
subsequently connected. In the recent alteration a private garage
door at the right is balanced at the left by the front doorway, with a
small window in between. The two upper floors emphasize the asymmetri-
cal balance, each having a triple and a single steel casement window
with inset stone framing. The facade has a marble veneer, the rich-
ness of which is emphasized by the fact that ornament is limited to
the pair of antique lamps flanking the entrance and to the stone coat
of arms in the unusually shaped gable.

This six-story apartment with dumbbell plan, was designed for
Jacob Klingenstein by George F. Pelham. It was built in 1898 but dis-
plays carry-overs from the Romanesque Revival, such as the arched win-
dows with corbeled sills at the fifth floor and the foliate band
course below the third floor windowsills, The brick front is crowned
by a sheetmetal cornice carried on brackets. The ground floor has. an
arched central entrance with columns, leading to the apart tments above,
with stores on either side.

These twin houses were built in 1855 in a vernacular version of
the then popular Anglo-Italianate style, with entrance at street level.
The parlor floor windows were floor-length as may be seen from the
brickwork beneath the sills of the windows of No. 39, suggesting that
they were bricked up. In 1911 a garage was built under No. 37. Sub-
sequent alterations combined the two buildings, producing their present
attractive appearance with painted brick above and rusticated English
basement below. Simple cornices crown this building, reminding us that

it was once two houses. They, and No. 35 adjoining, were built for
Henry Cogghill who was in the wool business and resided on Fifth Avenue,
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At first glance this narrow Italianate house seems different from
its two neighbors to the west (Nos. 37 and 39), but it is actually the
prototype of the three, and was built for the same man at the same
date, 1855. Although it lacks the rustication of its Emglish basement,
its entrance is close to street level and it still has the floor-length
parlor windows with a handsome cast iron balcony beneath them, extend-
ing the width of the house. The parlor windows have the full-height
wood mullions separating narrow double-hung sash, sometimes found in the
Italianate house. The roof cornice is identical to those of Nos. 37 and
39, and they form a continuous line at the roof level.

This distinguished brick building resembling a library has been,
since 1926, a house with four high-ceilinged apa..ments, but it was
built as a stable in 1897. It is a very handsome transitional building,.
basically Romanesque Revival in style. It shows elements of design
which herald the new classicism then coming into vogue, as may be seen
in the brick quoins and in the deep roof cornice with horizontally
placed console brackets. The Romanesque features are to be found in
the arched front doorway and arched third story windows, and in the
treatment of the windowsills as part of 2 bold-faced masonry band
course ending in carved blocks, A handsome wrought iron grille pro-
tects the large first floor window, which replaces the former carriage
entry, and to the left of it is the grilled entrance door which is prac-
tically at street level., The first floor is of Flemish bond brickwork
while the upper floors are of running bond. Above the roof cornice, a
wrought iron railing is supported by four brick uprights. Although only
three stories high, thls building is as tall as its four-story neighbors
at the left.

The very handsome stable had been designed by Henry Andruss, Jr.

~and built in 1897 for Charles Pearsall. The remodeling in 1926 into

apartments was limited on the exterior to changing the entrancé and en-
larging the windows. For this change of function, the design was very
sensitively made by the architect Harris V. Hartman to preserve the
architectural features and retain harmony with its neighbors.

Built as a stable in 1901 for James Hughes, this four-story brick
building, designed by James Cole, was later converted to a warehouse,
The building is in scale and in character with its neighbors, with the
possible exception of the first floor, which has a large roller door
for truck access. Five brick piers form the front of the building above
the first floor level. Between them are recessed spandrel panels be-
neath the windows., These brick panels are corbeled ocut to carry the
horizontal stone windowsills. At the top, beneath the sheetmetal roof
cornice, the wall is corbeled out between the end piers. The whole
building displays a constructional expressionism rarely found.

This five-story brick apartment house is entered practically at
street level, It was built in 1871 for M, Demuth by G. Holzeit Jr.,
architect. The ground floor was altered in 1925 to provide a round-
arched .doorway with a large single window to the right of it, This
story was, at that time, stuccoed up to the height of the band course at
second floor level. The windows above are all sepgmental-arched with the
usual "‘eyebrow'" cornice. They have molded sills carried on corbels,

The bold sheetmetal roof cornice, decorated with modiliions, is carried
on vertically placed console brackets, separated by panels on the fascia,

The exterior of No. 27 expresses its date of 1848 by its casement
windows .and modillioned cornice. The drawing room has long casement
windows with fixed transoms above. The stone basement is surmounted by
the usual brick facade. The lintels of the windows have tiny "ears"
indicating the former existence of delicate stone cornices, before the
lintels were shaved flush with the wall. The front doorway has a cor-
niced lintel and plain brick Jambs The inner doorway has sidelights -
with a transom above. This type of doorway is a survival from the
Greek Revival period, as many houses of the mid-Nineteenth. Century were
built without sidelights in order to accommodate double doors. The
glazed door is a later addition, The ironwork, although very attractive,
seems to be a replacement. The original would have been more nearly
like that with castings at houses Nos 19 and 21 to the east. The house
was built for H. Hartley.
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This three-story brick house, with stone basement, is very similar
to its neighbors to the east except that it is somewhat higher. How-
ever, its first story windowsills have been raised, and the roof cor-
nice is carried on mid-century brackets in carpentry technique with
turned finials so typical of Scudder's work. The original stoop is
in place but has elegant handrails belonging to the Eighteen-nineties.
The cast iron newel posts doubtless beleng to an alteration of 1878.
The house was "rebuilt' in 1851 by Linus Scudder, then living next
door at No. 23. He was a mason and builder active in The Village.

This row of three brick town houses was built in 1845 for Stephen
B. Peet, a real estate developer whose home was on Eleventh Street
nearby. The houses are similar except for certain minor changes which
have taken place over the years. All are three stories high with base-

" ment and retain their original stoops. Nos. 19 and 21 have handrails

with attractive cast iron arched panels containing various design
motifs. This was a type of railing destined to become very popular
with the new Italianate style. The original railing at No. 23 has
been replaced by a simple wrought iron one. No. 23 retains its double-
hung sash with vertical central muntins, at the upper floors. All the
doorways of the row have brick reveals, simple stone lintels, and the
new double doors with transom that superseded the earlier Greek Revival
single door with sidelights. The roof cornices with modillions and
brackets are part of alterations of the late Nineteenth Century. These

“houses look over the attractive St. John's Garden at the rear.

Worthy of special note is the corner store of this four-story
brick building. The house was built in 1846 for Richard D. Akin, a
baker who made his home here. The ‘store on the corner is of particular
interest as it has not been changed since it was added. Still to be
seen are its slender, hand-turned corner posts of wood with vertical
intermediates, required due to the limitation on glass sizes. The
storefront is crowned by a deep cornice with fascia below; it is pro-
jected out beyond the line of the building, resting on a shelf with
panel below it at the recessed entrance to the store. Cast iron col-
umns support the building above.

The windows of the house are double-hung with a vertical muntin
at the center of the sash, and have sheetmetal lintels with small
cornices. The roof cornice is the conventional bracketed and paneled
type of the period. This building is in the vernacular of its day and
expresses many of the typical features of the time. The attractive
little side doorway (No. 222 Waverly Place) to the upper floors re-
flects, in its pediment, that of the St. John's Parish House adjoining.
This doorframe is part of a late Nineteenth Century addition.

PERRY STREET (Between West Fourth § Bleecker Streets)

This-is a delightful and interesting street in which to live. ‘the
three-story town house of brownstone prevails and establishes the over-
all quality. In addition, there are many brick buildings with some
variation in height which, nonetheless, maintain the residential qual-
ity of the block, Stylistically, the lack of the Greek Revival style
is unusual for The Village. On the south side, the historic Van Nest
blockfront offers the basic homogeneity of a residential development
of the late Eighteen-sixties. Individuality is expressed by the de-
signs of several architects, and their versions of the town house of
the Italianate or French Second Empire styles. In their midst is one
of the most distinctive mansions of The Village. The proportions of
its design are so exquisite that it seems larger than its neighbors,
although it has the same width. Moreover, it is enhanced by unusual
balustrades at the sidewalk and by a fine mansard roof, whzch is inter-
estingly echoed by the roof of its neighbor.

On the north side of the street, the extremes of variation in
height and style are epitomized at the cornexr, Located here are a
very handsome six-story Beaux Arts apartment house, feminine in the
delicacy of its detail and, adjoining it, a delightful Federal house
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PERRY STREET {Between West Fourth § Bleecker Streets)

which, dlthough only two and one-half stories high, is not dwarfed
because of its width and the strength of its simple design. At the.
far end of the block we note a group of pleasantly simple houses, only
three storiés high, which were built in the vernacular of the Federal
period. The housé here at the corner is one of the few of frame con-
struction that still survives in The Village.

Had a design réview board been in existence earlier, it would have
miniitized the process of attrition which has affected the handsome row
of residences, already mentioned, on the morth side. One such change

_is to be 5een in the addition of a fourth story with an extremely high

parapet breaking thé roofline of the row, and another is -an awkward : !
alteration for an entrance at the basement, completely out of harmony _
with this dighified Tow of houses. _ _ _

PERRY STREET South Side {Betw. West 4th § Bleecker Sts.)

This side of ﬂ:m,cms_zomﬁ,wpoor remained rural, as a country
estate, until after the <death of Abraham Van Nest in 4864, Tts _
‘historical background -and subsequent -development have been .discussed i
{see Charles Street, ‘North Side, between Bleecker and West 4th Streets).

This pair of brick mvmunao:n houses ‘located at -the West -Fourth
Street corner was -designed by James ‘W. Cole, They were built in 1893 !
for William-Rankin and replace a Dutch Reformed church:.which once
o¢cupied the site, -Sét :above a high basement and -approached:by steps

_oz,ﬂsm.vmau%,mﬂammﬁ_mwmw ‘this pair of apartments is-treated identi-

cally and is united under a’'heavy bracketed cornice. The theme here
is :oupmo:ampwnw wheére band courses-unite-the heads and sills of the
‘windows at all floors. It has a 'stone first floor facing Perry Street.

‘Built in 1866 in the late Italianate 'style, these four town houses
may be considéred a’row, due to’their uniform window alignment. - How- ,
ever, Nos. ‘60 and 64 ‘were designed by Robert Mook, 'architect,.while
NOos. 62 and ‘66 were designed, with slightly lower cornices, by the

.mwnrpnonn William H. Hume. Two of the houses were designed for
‘builders, Bartlett Smith-at No. 62, and-at No. 64 George F. Coddington

_Jr., 'who is'discussed under No. 72. Hume had-designed No. 66 for. in-

vestment, and his home ‘was on Greenwich Avenue, -not far'distant.

All four brick-houses are three stories high with basements,
still rusticated at Nos. 62 and 66. High stoops and round-arched
doorways remain both at No. 62 and"No. 64. The arch of-the former is
flanked by triangular panels ‘that formerly filled the space-below-a
cornice set on'brackets. Its beautiful round-arched double:.doors

‘each have three panels of different shapes with their corners. ‘cut

back as quadrants in the new French-mode. The doorway-at:No.:64
retains’ its siiply molded enframement with keystone. Only No. 60
retains its cornices on the window lintels, which are segmental-
mun:oa at the parlor floor and horizontal 'at the upper stories.

No. 66 has the most’ beautiful windows. They are.ségmental-arched at

all floors and have complete, molded enframements, with tiny corbeled
" ‘feet below the sills. All the‘houses have some -latter-day altera-

tions, simplifications, and smooth-stuccoing. The alteration-at No.
60, to provide a ‘main eéntrance with projecting vestibule. .at the base-

‘ment level, crowned by a balustrade, is a harmonious solution:in

‘painter Isaac Soyer lived at No. 62 in the Nineteen-thirties.

" marked contrast to the bald ‘treatment 'at No. 74,

Of the original individuals for ‘whom these houses'were built,
the only ‘one not already mentioned was Abraham Devoe at No. 60. He

‘was a - butcher at the Jefferson Market. Hume's house, No. ~-66, later

became the home of Frederick Knubel, who bought it in 1872, -The

This smooth-stuccoed house- has been greatly altered, but it still
shows its round-arched windows at the parlor floor -and mmmsmsﬂmwu _
arched doorway  and windows at the upper floors. A brick:addition-at -

‘the top has smaller square-headed windows below an immense parapet.

The house was 'built in 1867 by Sclomon Banta, owner-builder.and a

-magon,  who was active in The Village. ‘It was based on the designs of .

- William Naugle, architect.
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PERRY STREET South Side (Betw. West 4th & Bleecker Sts.)

The architectural gem of the Van Nest Block is this distinctive
mansion erected in 1867 in the style of the French Second Empire.

It was built by Walter Jones, the owner, who was a professional builder
and who acted as his own architect. In its mansard roof it shows some
resemblance to No. 72 adjoining, which was designed by Robert Mook, in
the next year. In all other respects, it has little similarity and is
architecturally outstanding in this block. The proportions of its
design are so exquisite that it seems larger than its neighbors, but
the fact is that it has the same twenty-foot width as the other
dwellings on the block. This mansion is of brownstone, with its fourth
story within the mansard roof. Its windows at the right are paired
throughout, balanced asymmetrically against the tier of single windows
over the doorway,

At the parlor floor, up a relatively short stoop, the rustication
of the basement is continued in two approximately equal sections,
surrounding the round-arched doorway and the pair of arched windows,
which are set above recessed panels. This same feeling is continued
upward by means of quoins at the corners carried up as far as the
modillioned roof cornice. In contrast to the parlor floor windows,
which have round arches with simple molded enframements, the segmental-
arched windows of the second floor have rectangular molded enframements,
and the square-headed windows of the third floor have enframements with
"ears" {crossetted) at their upper corners. In the mansard, both the
single and paired windows are crowned by segmental-arched roofs. The
distinctive character of each of the different levels is emphasized by
horizontal band courses, acting also as windowsills.

The handsome double doors have three panels each of different
shape, enhanced by a small shelf on corbels in the French manner. The
graciously wide stoop displays balustrades terminating in polygonal
newel posts of ornate design. An unusual feature is the extra pair of
balustrades which runs from the newels forward to meet the areaway
balustrade. Six symbolic spheres of the same size and design crown |
the newels and balustrades. In view of the individuality of this

-dwelling, it seems incredible that it was only used by its early owner

for rental income. Its builder, Walter Jones, moved back and forth

between Manhattan and Brooklyn, and lost this fine house in 1871

because of an unpaid mortgage. John Roth, who bid it in an auction,

held it until 1896. Finally at this date, the third owner, Albert

Messinger, made it his residence. He was a real estate dealer, who r
held the house until 1912, -

Robert Mook was the architect of this row of distinguished brown-
stone houses designed in a conservative version of the Second French
Empire style. They were built for different individuals, Nos. 74 and
76 in 1866, followed by No. 70, with a mansard roof, in 1867.

No. 76 is the handsome prototype of this row. It retains its
high stoop, flanked by gracious balustrades ending in polygonal
newel posts crowned by the symbolic sphere. The original beautiful
doorway framed by paneled pilasters, has unusually impressive carved
console brackets that support an arched pediment, and also an inner,
round arch carried on pilasters. The ‘arched double doors are de-
signed in the French mode, each having three panels of different
shapes, with the corners cut back in quadrant form. The windows,
also designed in the French manner, are segmental-arched, with
complete molded enframements, and are additionally crowned by
horizontal cornices. Their sills rest on tiny corbeled feet,
except at the parlor floor, where they rest on dignified forward-
projecting panels. The basement is of rusticated stone. The roof
cornice, above the third floor, is supported by console brackets
and is ornamented with modillions, dentils and panels,

No. 76 was built late in 1866 for Jeremiah Pangburn, chief
developer of the Van Nest block who, after living briefly at No, T

~ 15 Van Nest Place, made his residence at No. 76 (then called No,

66) Perry Street. It remained the home of his widow Margaret
until 1901. )

No. 74 is the handsome twin of No, 76 except for an awkward
alteration intended to provide an entrance at the basement, which is
completely out of harmony with the dignified and graceful detail of
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PERRY STREET South Side (Betw. West 4th § Bleecker Sts.)

the house and of the row. This alteration is a barren two-story high
projection ending in a parapet, providing for a vestibule and for the
forward extension of a room above it, which has a squatre-headed win-.
dow that is at odds with the graceful windows of the house. A far
better solution for this problem was achieved at No. 60, in this same
block. No. 74 was erected in 1866 by Albert G. Bogert, a local builder,
and became the residence of William H. Kemp, a dealer in gold, who
bought the house in 1871,

No. 72, although its facade has been shorn of ornament and it has
been converted to provide a basement entrance, retains the gracefulness
of its segmental-arched windows. It still displays its fine mansard

‘roof unchanged, with round-arched windows, paired and single, sur-

mounted by attractive segmental-arched cornices. No. 72 was erected
in 1868 by George F. Coddington, Jr., carpenter and builder, who made
it his home, moving here from No. 64 which he had built two years
earlier.

This house has a new brick front and basement entrance and its
lintels have been stuccoed over., Nevertheless, enough remains to

 indicate that the original architect, John 0'Neil, followed the general

design of Robert Mook for Nos. 72-76. Essentially, it is part of this
same row. It was erected in 1869 by William Mulry, a builder and con-
tractor,. who sold it to Henry Kloppenburg for his residence.

Thom § Wilson, architects, designed this very interesting five-
story apartment house with central projection, for ten familiés. [t
was erected in 1887 for Joseph Schwarzler. Built of brick with stone
trim, this building has a stone basement and first floor.. The windows
at the first floor display the blind horseshoe arches over the upper
halves of the windows which became so popular in the Eighteen-nineties.
They have slim, wedgelike keystones with Italian Renaissance ornament
such as is to be found in the pilaster panels at the corners of the
building. The second floor windows have flush lintels set on horizon-
tal band courses which also serve as impost blocks.

The well-known architect, R. G. Hatfield, designed this three-
story brownstone dwellipng in the Italianate style for William Adams,
Jr., a plumber, who made his home here. It was built in 1866-68 for
his firm, Brien § Adams, together with the adjoining dwelling (No. 86)
and two apartment houses at the corner, facing Bleecker Street (de-
scribed under Nos. 381 and 383). These last three buildings were
built in the vernacular of the period, in contrast to the delightful
quality of No. 84. Though the walls are now smooth-stuccoed and
shorn of all ornament, it retains its high stoop, segmental- -arched
doorway and basement windows, and a roof cornice supported on ornate
console brackets with paneled fascia. ,

This four-story brick house is not set back like No. 84, but
aligns with the adjoining corner building (No. 383 Bleecker Street).
They were all in the same construction project, just mentioned.

Built in 1866-68 it has, like its neighbor, long parlor floor windows
that serve to remind us that it was originally a private dwelling.

It now has a fire escape indicating multiple tenancy. The window
sash of the upper floors has the central, vertical muntin of the
peériod while the modillioned cornice resembles that of the adjoining
corner house (#88 Perry, described under No. 383 Bleecker St.).

PERRY STREET North Side (Betw. Bleecker § West Fourth Sts.)

This low corner house of frame construction, now three stories
high and stuccoed (described under Nos. 385-387 Bleecker Street)
was built in 1817-18, for Aaron Henry.

The first two stories of these two low houses were built in
Flemish bond brickwork for Aaron Henry in 1818. While they are in
the vernacular of the period, the builder displayed a sense of
appropriateness for this pair of houses, since their entrance door-
ways balance each other at either end of the pair. At some time
between 1858 and. 1898, each house had its attic roof replaced by a
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PERRY STREET North Side (Betw. Bleecker § West Fourth Sts.) ‘

full third story. No. 85 was Italianized with round-arched areaway
railings, bracketed roof cornice and window sash with central vertical
muntins. No. 83 now has squat second floor windows and very tall
third floor windows with a simple wrought irom balcony in front of
them, obviously a remodeling of the Twentieth Century. These two
houses were among the nine built in 1817 and 1818 for Aaron Henry
(discussed under Nos. 385-387 Bleecker Street). He was a retired
clothier who overexpanded his real estate investments despite several
sales in 1820. Under a court judgment to satisfy his creditors, these
two houses were sold at a public auction at the Tontlne Coffee House
in 1821,

This pair of five-story apartment houses was bailt in 1895 by
Schneider § Herter, owner and architect. Despite its late date, this
apartment house retains much of the best of the Romanesque Revival,
as may be seen in the round-arched windows of the third floor and by
the sphinx brackets supporting the cornice slab above the entrance
door. The stoop, approached from the side, displays some handsome
ironwork at the handrailings. '

Designed by George F. Pelham (mentioned also for No. 65), and
built in 1901-02 for Lowenfeld and Prager, this is a six-story brick

. apartment house with stores in the basement. The first floor with

central entrance door displays horizontal stone band courses and a

doorway flanked by stone pilasters, approached by a high stoop. The

top two floors are signalized by having the two center windows set

between brick pilasters producing a vertical emphasis below the |
bracketed, sheetmetal cornice. .

The interesting feature of this 26-foot wide house is the handsome
wrought iron areaway railing. Three stories high of brick, this house
was built in 1854 by Garret Barmore {(mentioned below) for his own home.
He was a manufacturer of pianofortes on Bleecker Street. This house
retains the paitred roof brackets so popular in mid-century. Its
brownstone basement and segmental-arched lintels have been smooth-
stuccoed, probably when the house was altered to provide a basement
entrance.

Originally, a pair of houses three stories high, these two "brown-
stones" were designed in the French Second Empire style by William
Naugle, and built in 1868 for Francis S. Smith and Garret Barmore
(whose home adjoined at No, 75). Both retain their segmental-arched
window heads, bracketed roof cornices and rusticated basements, No.
71, the prototype, has a handsome Italianate entrance with a steep
stoop and cast iron balustrades. The entrance has paneled doors,
and crowning the doorway, a segmental-arched stone cornice with -
shoulders. No. 73 has been converted for a basement entrance at
which time a triple bay window built in the English half-timbered
medieval style was added, !

These. two interesting "French Flats' were erected in 1878 by
Cunningham McBurnie, builder, for himself, from designs by Lamb §
Wheeler. They are brownstone, five stories high, with a Neo-Grec
bracketed cornice from which drops an unusual continuous motif that
has an inverse crenelated effect. Their paired entrances have pilas-
ters and brackets supporting a wide cornice slab with wrought iron
balcony railing. Their low flight of steps has cast iron handrailings,
with an unusual motif reminiscent of water lily pads. The angular
bay of No. 67 projects to the street line of No. 65, though built
long before its neighbor.

George F. Pelham designed this six-story brick apartment house -
for Samuel Parness. It was built in 1902 and displays all the typical '
features of turn of the century architecture. The first floor is of
rusticated stonework with corbels supporting "swell front" bays at
each end. These shallow bays have two windows each, framed with terra
cotta. The windows at the second floor are given speC1a1 emphasis by
being crowned with arched pediments,

-299-



#61 -

#55
(#55-59)

#92

n*mu-wau.

GV-HD AREA 7

PERRY STREET North Side (Betw. Bleecker § West Fourth Sts.)

Excellently preserved wrought ironwork with a pineapple crowning
each newel makes this house outstanding. It is a two and one-half
story vnpor Federal house and was buil® in 1828 together with a twin
house (at No, 63), which is no longer standing. Beneath them ran an
“*arched omuﬂzmw: connecting with the rear yard, a reminder of which is
to be seen in the attractive square-headed entrance with wrought iron
gate located at the west end of No. 61. The passageway led to a small
two-story building in the rear. : _

No. 61 is built of Flemish bond and is 25 feet wide. It has
flush stone lintels and a new dormer above the cornice four windows
wide. The low Federal stoop flanked by its original ironwork leads to
the Federal doorway, which has an eight-paneled door flanked by rusti-
cated blocks and engaged, fluted columns. Its geon.trically designed
transom is obscured by a board which replaces or hides the transom bar.
This pair of houses was built in 1828 as an investment for James P.
Demarest, whose home was in Bergen County, New Jersey.

uor: Sloan, the famous painter of "The Ashcan School," lived here
in the early Twentieth Century. The artist Loren Maclver is living
here at the present. _

. This very handsome apartment house on the corner (also at Nos.
264-272 West Fourth Street) was designed by Bernstein § Bernstein,
architects, in the French Beaux Arts style. It was built in 1902-03
for Samuel Goodman and Abraham Rothstein with stores below. It is a
six-story brick building with bold, rusticated brickwork above the
prominent stone band course of the remodeled entrance floor. The
facade has paired windows alternating with single windows.” These
single windows have splayed lintels and bold console type keystones. -
An attractive vertical effect is achieved by the tiers of paired win-
dows, crowned at the third and fifth floors by arched or triangular
pediments, which are richly carved as are the spandrel -panels between
the windows at alternating levels. The building is crowned by a cor-
nice decorated with swags and z&mmn:m. and supported by horizontal
‘console brackets,

_~ PERRY STREET (Between Bleecker § Hudson Streets)

The emphasis in this short street is on modest apartment living.
The low height of the buildings gives the block a warm human scale.
A fairly uniform picture is presented as most of these buildings are
simple and are five or six stories high. The south side was built

" between the Civil War and World War I. An interesting chronological

progression in styles is to be noted on this side, starting from Hudson

. Street and running eastward, going from the unadorned to the rusticated,
and on to the picturesque. Two similar apartment buildings on the north

side emphasize the ornamentation that was so popular in the latter part
of the Nineteenth Century. Adjoining these two, and with the same five-
story height, an apartment house of mid- zwumﬂmQSnv Century simplicity

. forms an excellent transition to the bald, modern facade of a four-

story apartment house as.altered from mm<mHmH old houses on the north-
west corner. The attractive nwmzwdw of the simple architecture on the

‘block is epitomized by the side view of the three-story mid-Nineteenth

Century house on the northeast corner, with its wide expanses of brick
and small windows.

PERRY STREET South Side (Betw. Bleecker § zcmm0= 5ts.)

This six-story brick apartment house, dating from 1914, conforms

in height and materials with its neighbor but presents a broken and
" more picturesque outline against the sky. It was built for the

Altavista Holding Company and is perfectly plain in its architectural
treatment except for the parapet at the roof which has arched pediments
at the corners and a triangular pediment between them at midpoint.

This building was designed by Charles J. Rheinschmidt, architect, with
stores, which have since been replaced by apartments with triple win-

‘dows and side entrances on the Bleecker Street mwao (No. uma wuomnxmﬂ

Street).
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PERRY STREET South Side (Betw. Bleecker § Hudson Sts.)

Dating from 1900, this six-story brick apartment house was built
for George F. Losche by Franklin Baylies, architect. Attractive in
its handling of architectural elements, it has a boldly rusticated
base, a smooth-walled intermediate portion with horizontal band courses
of stone and an enriched top floor with pilasters supporting the deep
cornice. The artist Raphael Soyer lived here in the Nineteen-thirties,

This three-story brick garage was designed in 1895 as a stable by
George F. Pelham, an architect, who was active in The Village. It ex-
tends through the block to Charles Street, where its facade is the
same for the upper floors. The plain flrst floor with garage entrance
is crowned by a handsome, corbeled brick cornice, and the paired win-
dows above have rough stone lintels. A paneled, brick parapet over
another corbeled cornice crowns the building. On the Perry Street
side there was a hotel in 1851 which offered dancing, while on the
Charles Street side, the Cooper & Company livery stables were later
replaced by a carriage factory.

This five-story brick apartment house with dumbbell-shaped plan
was designed by W. L. Purdy, architect, and was built for Louisa Milman
in 1886. Severely simple for this date, it is embellished only by its
uniformly bracketed cornice and a latter-day doorway at.street level.

Earlier and lower than its neighbors, this brick house was built
in 1849, three stories high in the vernacular of its time, for George
Frye, It has a simple Italianate cornice, with panels between console
brackets. The house has been altered to provide an entrance at street
level. Close to this entrance at the east line of the facade; a low
door opens into the original passageway which runs through the main
house to a small house at the rear of the lot. Ce

Basically a simple five-story brick building with flush lintels,
this corner house (described under No. 550 Hudson Street) was erected
in 1861 for William J. Haddock, tobacconist. It replaces an earlier
house which he owned, and is one of many built for him in this area.

a

PERRY STREET North Side (Betw. Hudson & Bleecker Sts.) ,

This four-story apartment building extends to the corner and has
stores at Nos. 552-558 Hudson Street. It presents a stark aspect with
its new, smooth-stuccoed walls and represents an alteration of 1947
combining five old buildings into one. It has a functional appearance,
with detail limited to the enframement of the entrance door at street
level and to the parapet, which has a simple iron railing above the
roofline. This Perry Street entrance to the floors above is surfaced
and framed by tiling, and by incurving walls. A variation in facade
is provided at the right by the separate treatment of the easternmost
building of the five that were combined. This separate portion pre-
.gerves its own outline, and its triple windows have been combined into
one enframement at each floor with long masonry sills. This part of
the building is the oldest, dating from 1849, as compared with the
other parts of 1870. The alteratlon of this corner apartment house
was designed by H. I. Feldman in 1947.

. Five stories high, this brick apartment house blends in height
with No. 97. It has the even spacing of individual windows so typical
of the mid-century. .It was built in 1861 for Rutsen Suckley, who
lived at St. Mark's Place, and whose family had owned the land since
1803,

Also a five-story brick apartment house, built in 1894 for Joseph
Mandelbaum, it was designed by Charles Rentz, architect. The ground
floor is of rusticated stonework on either side of a central door with
heavy, projected lintel carried on corbels. The end tiers of windows
are projected forward and accented vertically.f They are decorated by
spandrel panels and other richly ornamented details. |

\ .
‘A retardataire bu11d1ng 1nf1uenced by the so-called Neo-Grec style
of the 'seventies, this five-story brick apartment house was built 1n
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1884 for Ernest Ohl. The architect was F. W. Klemt. The ground floor
is 1nterest1ng, for although it is residential, it is grouped under a
cornice supported by pllasters at the central front door and by short
struts resting on corbels between the windows, all having capitals
similar to those of the pllasters at the doorway. The upper floors
are treated uniformly and the bULIdlng is crowned by a cornice with
evenly spaCed bracke&;carry1ng a series of small arches.

- Of frame constructlon and stuccoed in modern times, this house
was built in 1828 and provldes an illuminating example of how the
small builder f1nanced his operations, Abraham A. Campbell, a local
carpenter bullder, leased the lot for 21 years and built his shop on
it in 1827, and his house the following year, maklng it his home and
place of bu51ness until late in 1832 when he sold ti.c lease "and the
buildings thereon." He then moved to Twelfth Street nearby. It is
now a three-story house that presents an undecorated, simple facade
to the street without front doorway, relying for accents on its iron-
work. The lengthened central window of the second story is graced by
a small balcony with decorative cast iron panels which is supported
by horizontal iron brackets of unusual design. A high two-tiered iron
railing, above the cornice, runs the width of the building. Handsome
and perhaps unique, it has end posts reminiscent of openwork newels in
the Federal tradition. At the east end of the building is a deep,
one-story ‘arch, crowned by an iron railing. This archway leads to the
entrance and, via an open passage, to a taller bu11d1ng at the rear of

" the lot.

Three stories high, this house on the corner was built in 1852 of
running bond brickwork (descrlbed under No. 386 Bleecker Street) and
conforms in helght with that of its earlier neighbor on Perry Street

SEVENTH.AVENUE SOUTH (Between west IOth Street § Greenwich Avenue)

In 1919 Seventh Avenue was extended southward from Greenwich
‘Avenue by cutting through the blocks to the south of it. This process
left many buildings either sliced off at the corner or cut in two and
an array of. small, triangular-shaped lots.

Here, the. unusual set of circumstances, caused by cuttlng through
the Avenue, has left us with what remains of the apartment houses,
generally rear views, and a series of one or two-story taxpayers
stores, filling those sites where the apartment houses were razed and

. finally, a series of gasollne fllllng stations which often occupled
~the small, leftover triangular sites.

This is a case where the normal process of attr1t1on was greatly

" accelerated due to circumstances and where the most makeshift possible

solutions were adopted to either salvage what was left or to utilize
awkward sites.

" " ‘Clearly, had an architectural review board been in existence at
the time the Avenue was cut through, to give of its expert guidance,
this procéss of utlllzatlon and rebuilding would ‘have found a better
solution than. that which was so pragmatically arrived at here.

Filling stations need not necessarily be ugly and, when located in

" an Historic District, should be given special treatment involving a

suitable use of materlals and architectural details. Low taxpayers,
set among fzve-story apartment houses, should be built of appropriate:
materials and should be designed to harmonize with the character of the
ne:ghborhood

SEVENTH AVENUE SOUTH East Side .{Betw. West 10th § Charles Sts.)

This two-story brick building located on the corner (also No. 167

West Tenth Street) was built in 1929 for the Corger Realty Corp., and

designed by George M. McCabe. It is severely simple with a stepped
brick parapet and stores at the first floor. The center window at the
second floor has double-hung sash, while the triple outer windows have
casements,

-302-

L



#133

#135

#137-141

#143-145

#157

#159%-169

GV-HD : . T . AREA 7

SEVENTH AVENUE SOUTH East Side (Befw. West 10th § Charles Sts.}

This building (alsc No. 165 West Tenth Street) was erected in 1929
for Rosy's Accessories, Inc., and designed by Murray Klein. It is two
stories high of brick with conventional store front at the first floor.
The second floor has a wide window extending almost the width of the
front, It is subdivided by wood mullions and has two large plate
glass window panes at the center flanked by narrow windows at the
sides. Transom lights extend the entire width above them. This win-
dow has a handsome, corbeled brick sill. A brick parapet, Wlth stone
band course at roof level, crowns the building.

Only a tiny slice of this five-story brick building, which was
cut off obliquely, faces the Avenue. It has been assigned the number
135 although the main entrance to the building is at No. 163 West
Tenth Street. Here we see only the conventional rear of an apartment
house with fire escape. It was built in 1886 for Charles Guentzer and

designed by William Graul.

This triangular open lot is occupied by a filling station with a
small white service building. This building, surrounded by the brick
backs of several apartment houses, was constructed in 1937 for the
Callahan Estate and designed by David F. Lange. Although it serves
a useful purpose in the neighborhood, it makes no attempt to blend
with it in its use of materials. Here an opportunity offered itself
through the use of compatible materials, wing walls and other features,
to make a service building which would have been an addition to, rather
than a detraction from, the neighborhood.

This six-story apartment house was built in 1910 for J. Lippman
and' S, Root, and designed by Charles Meyers, architect. It occupies
the prow on Charles Street, facing McCarthy Square, and is bounded in
part by Waverly Place, with its other side truncated diagonally by
Seventh Avenue South, when it was cut through in 1919. Its entrance,
framed with ornamental stonework, is at Nos. 30-32 Charles Street.
Built of brick, it has quoins and handsome cornice supported on console
brackets placed vertically. The window lintels are splayed and have
keystones. The most notable feature of the building is the treatment .
of the entire top floor and cornice in a darker shade than the rest of
the building above a horizontal band course at windowsill level.

SEVENTH AVENUE SQUTH East Side (Betw. Charles § Perry Sts.)

This eighteen-story brick apartment house occupies  the corner lot
at Charles Street and is entered from that street (No. 15). It also
occupies the full frontage of Waverly Place facing McCarthy Square.

It replaces five houses which once occupied the site and has stores
_along the Avenue at ground floor level. Practically devoid of ornament,
it depends for interest on the groupings of windows and setbacks at

the top. A high central brick tower with two-story setbacks surmounts
the top floor. The windows along the Avenue side are mostly triple
while those on Charles Street consist of larger groupings, an incon-
sistency insofar as the neighborhood is concerned. Smaller groupings
or single windows on the street would have related this apartment

house more nearly to its small neighbors to the east with their single
windows. This large building was built in 1961 for Bayshore Apartments
Inc., by Village Towers Company. :

Separated from No. 157, by a tiny, triangular gore lot on the
Avenue, this dignified six-story brick apartment house was built in
1927-28 for the Perry Seventh Avenue Realty Co. by Gronenberg &
Leuchtag, architects. It was built as the "Mayfield Apartments" and
expresses many of the typical features of the Nineteen-twenties. ‘It
has stores at the ground floor and adjoins a low structure to the
south located behind the gore, but separating it from No. 157, The
windows are all single and those at the ends are combined vertically,
as expressed by special treatment of the masonry, and are crowned by
picturesque gables. These gables are connected by a low but steep
roof carried on brick corbels, signalized by a raised portion at the
center featuring a pair of brick chimneys with chimney pots. A hand-
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SEVENTH AVENUE SOUTH East Side (Betw. Charles & Perry Sts.)

some arched stone entrance may be seen at the narrow northern portion -
of the building which opens on Perry Street (No. 12).

SEVENTH AVENUE SQUTH East Side (Betw. Perry St. & Greenwich Ave,)

The restaurant constructed to the south of the service buildings

" along Seventh Avenue South is one story high of white brick. It has

uniformly spaced windows separated by aluminum uprights with fixed
glass lights. Above and below these windows are panels with buff
colored diamond-shaped tiles. They are located on the Avenue side
toward the south end. A cornmer entry with brick steps and wrought ‘iron
handrails is located at the corner of Perry Street. It has a low, tri-

angular- -shaped canopy supported by a single Lally rolumn at the apex.

This is the principal entrance to the restaurant. The Perry Street
side (Nos. 3-5) is of white brick with round-arched windows and en-
‘trance door giving access to the bar.

This small triangular block retains only two residences (Nos. 57
and 59 Greenwich Avenue),the balance being occupied by an assortment
of latter-day service buildings. A gasoline filling station with
service garage occupies the entire northern end of this conspicuous
site with a restaurant (No. 173) extending south along the Avenue side
where a diner once stood. Here existed an opportunity to make these

-utilitarian structures a credit to the neighborhood they serve. Ac-

tually no attempt has been made in the garage to use compatible mate-
rials or design details. These buildings, by their lowness, are as
much out of scale with the houses of The Village as some -of the apart-
ment houses are by their height. This is all the more reason that a
filling station should be made compatible with its surroundings, in
every way possible where its very scale works against it.

SEVENTH AVENUE SQUTH West Side (Betw. West 1lith § Perry Sts.)

This one-story brick store building, erected in 1920 for Harry M.
Gesner, and designed by Willard Parker, only harmonizes with its '
surroundings to the extent that it is brick. It has large plate glass
windows and a recessed entrance between them, facing the Avenue. With
the exception of the overpowering signs, above the windows and at the
corner, it had the makings of a dignified structure. With restrained
signs, related to the windows below them, utilizing a simple serifed
or block letter of light color on a dark background, this building
might have achieved the. d1gn1ty of an architect-designed structure,
When, as here, the building is simply turned over to a vendor of signs,
this-is the result we may expect, and it detracts from the character

of an historic district. The building is also Nos. 200-206 West
. Eleventh Street,

This address represents the diagonal corner of this six-story
apartment house (described under Nos. 227-229 Waverly Place),cut off by
the extension of Seventh Avenue southward. Only this narrow portion,
one window wide, lies parallel to the Avenue, the rest of the eastern
side of this bu11d1ng lies behind No. 186-192. Lafayette A. Goldstone

designed this bu11d1ng for Joseph L. Buttenweiser. It was built in
1908.

Separated from Nos. 182-184 on the Avenue by a tiny triangular
gore lot, this two-story taxpayer building of brick occupies the corner
at the interesection of Waverly Place (also No. 225 Waverly Place).
With shops along the Avenue front, this building has large triple win-
dows along the second floor, with fixed plate glass at the center of
each unit, flanked by high narrow windows on each side. All these
windows have glazed transom lights above, related in size to the win-
dows below them. A low brick parapet crowns the building, with a low
pediment at the center of the long side. It was built in 1921-22 for
Morris Weinstein, and designed by Louis A. Sheinart, and in its fenes-
tration and general design is typical of that period.
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SEVENTH AVENUE SOUTH West Side (Betw. Perry § Charles Sts.)

This large triangular parking lot also has a f1111ng station
(described under Nos. 20-24 Perry Street).

This small triangular gore lot represents one of those many
triangular sites left over when Seventh Avenue South was cut through.
It was formerly the rear yard of a house which once faced Perry Street.

. This five-story apartment house of 1876, neatly bisected when
Seventh Avenue South was cut through in 1919, has a long diagonal
front of brick which was built at that time. It is six windows wide
and severely simple, with individual windows unified by a stone band
course serving as windowsill for the windows of the fifth floor. The
lintels of the windows, as was typical at that time, were constructed
of brick soldier courses. These have been carried along the entire
width of the building at the second, third and fifth floors. A simple
modillioned roof cornice, supported on widely spaced brackets, may be
seen above the fifth floor. The ground floor has stores and an en-
trance giving access to the apartments above. The building was de-
signed by F. W. Klemt and built in 1876 for Valentin Hammann.

A short diagonal corner of the "Abingdon' was cut off and now
faces Seventh Avenue South. It presents a tier of paired windows, six
stories high, which harmonizes architecturally with the main facade
built in 1903 {described under Nos. 25-27 Charles Street).

- SEVENTH AVENUE SOUTH West Side (Betw. Charles § West 10th Sts.)

This three-story brick building was designed for artists' studios
and stores (described under No. 46 Charles Street).

This severely simple three-story brick house of 1839 (described
under No, 48 Charles Street) has had one corner of its rear sliced
off by the cutting through of Seventh Avenue South. This new front of
brick has paired windows at the left side and a single window at the
right. The top floor window, by contrast, is triple and is centered
beneath a simple brick parapet at the roof. The first floor has three
windows, with iron bars, set close to the sidewalk. It is painted
white in contrast to the brick above. Connected to this rear portion of
No. 142 is a one-story extension on the south side. It has a door at
the left and one large plate glass window at the right. It serves as a
store and has a wrought iron railing set between two masonry upr1ghts
above the roof.

The rear portion of the lot of No. 50 Charles Street, also cut off
diagonally, is occupied by a one-story restaurant. This low building
has a central doorway flanked by steel sash windows. It is finished
with a thin, stone veneer and has a low parapet above the roof. The
corners of this building are cut off, returning the walls to the ad-
joining buildings at right angles to them.

This one-story building extends to the ccrner of West Tenth Street,
It has a high parapet of precast stone and occupies a triangular shaped

- lot once occupied by three houses facing West Tenth Street, all of which

were razed to make way for the Avenue. It consists of six stores and
was built for the Texas Company in 1937 according to the designs of
Scacchetti § Siegel.

WAVERLY PLACE (Between West 10th & Charles Street)

That part of Waverly Place running in a northerly direction from
Christopher Street was Catherine Street until 1813, and then it was
Factory Street between 1813 and 1853, At that period it ran through a
manufacturing district. On the block between Tenth and Charles Streets,.
extending west to Fourth Street, stood Samuel Whittemore's factory for
manufacturing carding equipment, used by the textile weaving industry,
by a steam-propelled method seemingly approaching automation. A. T.
Goodrich, in his Picture ol New York (1828), lists it as one of '"the
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WAVERLY PLACE (Between West 10th § Charles Streets)

leading manufacturing establishments'' in New York City. On the block
between Charles and Perry Streets, extending east to Greenwlch Avenue,
stood the Eagle Mills, later the Eagle Distillery. And on Bank Street,
at the end of Factory Street, stood Mclachlan's Brewery which extended
east to Greenwich Avenue. After the area changed to a residential
district, Factory Street was renamed Waverly Place in 1853, It thus
became, in effect, an extension of the earlier Waverly Place which runs
westward from Washington Square and which had or1g1nally been Sixth
Street.

WAVERLY PLACE East Side (Betw. West 10th and Charles Sts.)

This house, built in 1877, is now comblned vith No. 153 West
Tenth Street, the corner house built in 1834 (descrlbed under No 153).
Thomas H. McAvoy was the architect of the 1877 house which was erected
for W. A. Ballentine. Of brick, three stories high, it is forty feet
wide but of shallow depth. Its paired windows, separated_only by
vertical mullions, are crowned by wide corniced lintels. It is now
entered centrally through a door at the basement capped by a gabled
rooflet,

‘Four stories high, with rusticated basement, this Italianate
house was built in 1864 for William Ogden. It retains its gracious

'stoop .complete with iron handrailings, displaying the cast iron arched

uprights so popular at thls.perlod The doorway has a handsome stone
frame .carried over ‘the top in a segmental arch, crowned with a hori-
zontal cornice. The window lintels, shorn of thelr cornices (note .the
'"ears' remaining at the top of each), are now flush with the brick
wall,

This fine Greek Revival house was.built in 1845-47 by Patrick
Cogan, carpenter. It retains its original-handrailings at the stoop,
but 'its double doors with diminutive panels belong to the .later Queen
Anne period. Nineteenth.Century sheetmetal .lintels with cornlces now

-cover the original stone lintels of the windows. It is part of the

development of this block's-Charles Street .frontage (described under

‘Charles-Street,.south side, between Waverly Place and Greenwich
‘Avenue) .

A large apartment house, separated from No. 193 by a narrow

 -alleyway, ocauples the corner site (described under Nos. 24 26 Charles

#204
(#202-204)

#196-200

Street).

"WAVERLY PLACE . (Between Charles Street § Seventh Avenue South)

The, cuttlng through of Seventh. Avenue South. has reduced this

short block of :Waverly Place to bordering McCarthy Square, which is a

small triangle on the west, and on the east the long side of an
eighteen-story apartment. house ‘No. 15 Charles Street (descrlbgd
under No. 157 Seventh Avenue South). Waverly Place no longer abuts
Perry Street on this block. '

- WAVERLY PLACE West Side (Betw. Charles § West.10th Streets)

This apartment .house (described under Nos. 143-145 Seventh Avenue
South) occupies the corner site and was built in 1910,

Of almost exactly the same height as No. 204,. this six-story
brick apartment house has a handsome rusticated stone base at- the
first floor with central entrance porch supported on polished stone
columns. At each end, bays --two windows wide --are projected
forward the entire height of the building, resting on stone corbels
at the top of the first floor. The top floor has horizontal stone
band courses and is crowned by a cornice supported on uniformly
spaced console brackets. It was built in 1903 for Malbin .and

 Kammerman and was designed by George F. Pelhanm.
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WAVERLY PLACE West Side {Betw. Charles § West 10th Streets)

These three buildings, originally erected in 1883 for Mrs.,
Theresa Schappart, were combined into one apartment house in the first
part of the Twentieth Century. The ornament was removed then, and
they were stuccoed-over with a new parapet added at the top. They
are five stories high and have a uniform spacing of windows (fenestra-
tion)., The main doorway, simply framed, is located to the right of
center. : -

This low corner house of frame construction has been roughcast
stuccoed in modern times. Built in 1826 as a two and one-half story
frame dwelling with brick front, it had a gable-ended shingle roof
(note the centrally placed windows at the side). Augustus Hoyt was

the first tenant. It had a store at least as early as 1840, when .

Adam McCandless had his grocery there. A full third story was added

in 1874, It is almost totally devoid of ornament, but blind arches
above the third floor windows facing Waverly Place lend it an air of
distinction. Only this house remains of a row of ten frame houses

with brick fronts covering the entire block front, which was built in
1826 for Samuel Whittemore. On the same block stood his important
factory, which at that time manufactured carding equipment for the tex-
tile weaving industry.

WAVERLY PLACE East Side (Betw. Perry § West 11th Sts.)

Occupying this wedge-shaped lot is a two-story brick taxpayer
{(described under Nos. 174-180 Seventh Avenue South}. -

This six-story brick apartment house was designed by Lafayette A.
Goldstone for Joseph L. Buttenweiser in 1908. The first four floors
have horizontal stone band coursesalternating with brickwork while the
top two floors consist of rusticated brickwork. Handsome arched pedi-
ments crown some of the windows of the upper stories, but the first
floor windows all have simple entablatures. The entrance doorway has
a cornice-slab carried on stone brackets above pilasters. The roof
cornice is carried on widely spaced brackets. High iron railings en-
close the areaways on either side of the entrance.

This dwelling, the end of a row of houses facing Eleventh Street
which was built in 1856 (described under Nos. 208-214 West Eleventh
Street), occupies the corner site.

WAVERLY PLACE West Side (Betw. West 1lth § Perry Sts.)

The Church of St. John's which occupies the corner site (described
under No. 220 West Eleventh Street) was built by the Presbyterian
denomination in 1847,

Completely in harmony with the church, this two-story Parish House
was built between 1851 and 1854 by the South Baptist Church. It has
four pilasters crowned by a handsome, low pediment. The entrance doors
are set off to the left beneath an unadorned section. Three tall win-
dows fill the spaces between the pilasters in the upper half of the
building. The Greek Revival style of the church has been adhered to,.
and this little building is a handsome adjunct to the church.

This four;story corner house (described under No. 17 Perry Street)
was built in 1846, and has a later extension in the same style.

WEST FQURTH STREET (Between West 10th § Charles Streets)

Asylum Street replaced -William Street in 1813 as ‘the old name for
that part of West Fourth Street running in a northerly direction above
Christopher Street. This newer name doubtless honored the favorite
charity of New Yorkers, the Orphan Asylum Society founded in 1806 by
Mrs. Isabella Graham, as this street led northward to the Asylum's
extensive grounds between West Twelfth and Bank Streets, toward
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WEST FOURTH STREET  (Between West 10th § Charles Streets)

Greenwich Avenue. Asylum Street was extended in a southeasterly direc-
tion' in 1831, from Christopher Street to Sixth Avenue, where it faced
the then western termination of the original Fourth Street. As a con-

' sequence two years later both sections of Asylum Street were renamed ’

Fourth Street as far northward as Eighth Avenue and Jane Street.

'WEST FOURTH STREET -East Side (Betw. West 10th & Charles Sts.)

This block front occupies the west end of the factory ground and
part of the main factory building belonging t> Samuel Whittemore. - He .
lived nearby at No. 45 Grove Street, a palatial mansion for its day.
He was a State Assemblyman and one of the chief developers of this
section of The Village. Before his death in 1835. he had built on this
block both a row of ten two- story frame, brick-front houses at the then
east end (Waverly Place) and in 1828 four two-story brick houses and
another taller building at the northwest corner (Charles Street).
This black front was later completed by William T. Whittemore's erection
in 1839 of a row of four three-story houses at the southwest corner,
with a fifth house behind them on West Tenth Street.

This five-story apartment house with stores, built in 1897 (de-
scribed under Nos. 183-185 West Tenth Street), occupies the corner,
and replaces one of William T. Whittemore's town houses.

These three houses belong to the Greek Revival period, as may be
seen from the fine, pilastered doorway at No. 237, doubtless the pro-
totype for all three. They were built as a row in 1839 for William T.
Whittemore. Nos. 237 and 239 have both retained their stoops with .
their handsome original railings. The graceful wrought iron newels of
circular openwork stand on square, paneled pedestals of stone. The
original roof cornice with simple fascia board unites these two houses.
Around 1851, they were the homes of Robert Mackie and of J. L. Hubbard.
No, 235 has had a fourth story added, with cornice in the Queen Anne
style of the Eighteen-eighties. This house has been converted to base-
ment entrance. '

This three-story brick house, built in 1828 by Samuel Whittemore,
differs from the three buildings ad301n1ng on the north, which were
built by him in the same year. It is of running bond br1ckwork Its
third floor with bracketed roof cornice was added after 1858, doubtless
replacing a’'gabled roof with dormers.- At the same period sheetmetal
cornices were added to the window 11nte15. No.. 241 has been remodeled
to provide a basement entrance w1th columnar porch and hipped roof.

These three town houses of Flemish bond brickwork were built by

~ Samuel Whittemore in 1828, to the height of two and one-half stories °

with dormers, At Nos. 243 and 245, the third story of running bond was
added with the newer style cornices in 1897-98, and a similar alteration
of No. 247 was made somewhat earlier. The doorway at No. 243, with its
handsome deeply paneled reveals and simple corniced lintel, is doubtless
the original, but the pediment above that of No. 245 was added at a later
date. All have double doors of later date, though their paneling differs.
At the low stoops, all have fine Federal wrought iron handrailings, with
the typical curvilinear motif, restricted to the sections flanking the
platform. These railings terminate at Nos. 243 and 245 with fine open-
work newels using pointed Gothic arches. Cast iron newel posts are

replacements at No. 247 Finials grace the areaway gates of Nos. 243
and 247. -

BUllt in 1828 to a helght of three stories, of Flemish bond brick-
work, this house at the corner (also No. 62 Charles Street) was likewise -
built by Samuel Whittemore. Its floor levels do not accord with those

-of his other four houses to the south, which have stoops. This was
- often the case with corner buildings whlch were likely to be planned - )
for stores at street level. There was .a store at No. 249 by 1851, as '

Augustus Neidhardt had both his grocery and his home in this corner
house at that date. A fourth story with larger windows was added in
1898-99, under a bracketed roof cornice. In 1901 John Phillips added
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WEST FOURTH STREET East Side (Betw. West 10th & Charles Sts.)

a long low extension capped by a stone coping, at the rear of the
building along Charles Street.

WEST FOURTH STREET East Side (Betw. Charles § Perry Sts.)

This long brick wall is the side of a three-story town house, with
brownstone veneer front, nominally No. 251 (described under No. 49
Charles Street}. It occupies the corner and was built in 1869,

This attractive low house was built in 1927 as a two-story brick
extension of No. 49 Charles Street, It was designed by Vincent M,
Cajano for Dante Gerelli, and has a store at street level. The upper
floor has been faced with highly textured brick to serve as a small
residence. It displays a2 decorative use of brickwork, arched windows
flanking a triple mullioned window, and a low parapet with pseudo-roof
just below the coping. Small ornamental wrought iron balconles serve
these second floor casement windows.

Still retaining some of their original residential aura, this
pair of three-story brick buildings, erected in 1870-71, has been con- !
verted to multiple tenancy, as indicated by the fire escapes. They - |
were erected for Henry Maibrun by Linus Scudder, builder, using the
plans of Robert Mook, architect.

Of the two houses, the one closest to its original appearance is
No. 257. Its pedimented cornice that once graced the stone lintel
over the doorway has been badly repaired, The doorway, almost at
street level, is flanked by handsome cast -iron railings, probably the
originals. The late Italianate manner shows in the vertical central
muntins of the windows, with windowsills supported by corbeled blocks -
and with sheetmetal cornices c¢overing the stone lintels; likewise,
in the modillioned roof cornice with paired console brackets at each
end, It was No., 255 that became the home of Henry Maibrun, who was
in the meat business. :

This large six-story apartment house (described under No. 52
Perry Street) occupies the corner and was erected in 1905,

WEST FOURTH STREET East Side (Betw. Perry § West 1lth Sts.) \

The southern part of this block front was purchased in 1827 by .
John Denham, a merchant on Sixth Avenue. He developed it at that time _
with six modest brick houses, two and one-half stories high, four of ,
them with stores. They have been so altered or refaced that their !
Federal period can only be recognized by the peaceful rhythm of the
even window spacing .(fenestration} at Nos. 267-26Y and Nos. 275-277.

There is a satisfying visual unity achieved by the alterations
of these two brick three-story bu11d1ngs on the corner (descrlbed under
No. 49 Perry St.).

The present appearance of this double building results from the
drastic alteration of 1934, designed by G. Provot for Ida Nicola. In
essence, it combined two buildings behind a new brick facade providing '
the necessary width for a large market at the ground floor. While it .
is still three stories in height, its windows are new and imposing
casements, grouped to provide very wide windows at each end with two
narrower ones at the center. The brick parapet is surmounted by a~
stone coping, stepped up at the center, with the proprietor's name set
directly below and flanked with stone blocks. This new facade may
conceal parts of the 1827 houses, which were raised to three stories
and altered in 1873 and 1911.

These two brick buildings, erected in 1827, have stores at
street level. They have been raised to a full three story height and
have muntined sash at the upper floors. It is interesting to note
that the brickwork comes right down to the window heads without. lin-
tels on both buildings. This may indicate that new brick fronts were :
erected here, especially as brick parapets with stone copings were ° ;
added to both houses.

be iy ¥o
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WEST FOURTH STREET East Side (Betw. Perry § West 1l1lth Sts.)

. These two attractive brick town houses were built in 1869 for George
T. Mickens and William H. Gray. The overall project of James J. Howard,
their architect, is further discussed below.

Both houses retain their individual modillioned roof cornices. 1In
other respects, more of the original appearance is to be seen at No.
279. 1t has a segmental-arched doorway close to street level, flanked
by handsome cast iron stoop handrailings, with a wheel motif at mid-
height on the spindles. They terminate in polygonal multi-paneled
newel posts, The cornice of its doorway has been removed and smooth-
stuccoed; probably the original doorway for this 1869 project of five
houses may best be seen around the corner at No., 252 West Eleventh
Street, where it shows French Second Empire influence.

. On the other hand, for this corner project, the original window
sash is probably best réflected here at No. 279 which has double-hung
windows with central vertical muntin. Their present splayed lintels
may conceal the shearing off of the more typ1ca1 cornices. No. 281,
while continuing as a dwelllng, was altered in 1912 to have a store at
street level, with cast iron columns surmounted by a deep modillioned
cornice carrled on brackets. The store window was subsequently altered

'with heavy muntins.

This long side of a three-story house, likewise built in 1869 and
occupying the corner, faces on West Eleventh Street (No. 252). It ad-
joins the two remaining houses (described under Nos. 248-252 West
Eleventh Street) of the five houses in this construction project of
1869, designed by James J. Howard.

WEST FOURTH STREET West Side (Betw. West 11th § Perry Sts.)

These four Greek Revival houses of brick, at the north end of the
block, are all that remain of a row of nine built on this block front
in 1841, They were erected for Mark Spencer, a merchant and distiller
whose palatial mansion was nearby on the corner of Fourth and Tenth
Streets. Of these houses, No. 278 is the handsome prototype. It is
three stories high above a brownstone basement. The windows are inter-
estingly graduated in size, ‘beginning with the large windows at the
first -floor and ending w1th the small square casement windows of the
attic.

Both this house and No. 280 retain the gracious broad doorways of
the Greek Revival style with the wood pilasters and semi-pilasters
supporting a straight transom'bar and a large rectangular transom. The
broad stoops are flanked by handrailings of simple wrought ironwork,
combined with a low band of ornamental castings. The handrailings
flare out -at the bottom, as lambs' tongues, to connect with the slender
cast iron newels 'of polygonal design. The areaway railings are decorated
with-the usual Greek fret motif. Albert Pinkham Ryder, the famous
painter, lived at No. 280 in the Eighteen-seventies. At No. 280 a top
story, recently added above the attic windows, provides a startling
contrast to the house below. It consists of a studio window which has
ten vertical mullions shielding the narrow.windows between them, and is
flanked by broad, .solid panels which carry up the lines .of the old win-
dows on the floors below.

Nos. 282.and 284 (at the corner of West Eleventh Street).have been
shorn of most of their detail and have been changed into a functional
double unit, with a single basement entrance, simply framed, and combined
under an unadorned brick parapet at the roof., Julian Levi, the painter,

lives at No, 282.

This half of the block is occupied by a handsome six-story apart-
ment house of rusticated brick, built in 1902-03 (described under No, 55
Perry Street). : '

WEST FOURTH STREET  West Side (Betw. Perry § Charles Sts.)
Almost half of this block is occupied by the long side of a five-

story,- dumbbell-plan, brick apartment house, built in 1893 (descrlbed
under No. 56  Perry Street).
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WEST FOURTH STREET West Side {Betw. Perry § Charles Sts.)

Typical of the post-Civil War influence of the French Second
Empire is this two~story brownstone house with attractive slate mansard

roof. It was designed by William Naugle, architect, and built in 1866

for William H. Grayby. The facade, simplified in modern times, re-
tains its segmental-arch openings.

This narrow, three-story brick house was designed in 1877 by
Alexander M, McKean, an architect of No. 1 Horatio Street nearby. It
was designed in a local version of the late French Second Empire style,
and is crowned by a Neo-Grec cornice. A large segmental-arched door-
way has paneled double doors and a simple door frame capped by an
arched cornice slab with shoulders, At stoop and areaway, the rail-
ings have ornamental cast iron spindles and terminate in polygonal
newels. This house was built for Arnet Seaman, whose home stands on
the adjoining corner, No. 51 Charles Street.

Complementary as low buildings are the brick houses facing each
other across Charles Street, which were built in the Eighteen-sixties.
The corner house; known as No. 51 Charles Street, had a two-story brick

-garage {(No. 254) built for it in 1923 at the rear end of its lot, and

an attractive arched gateway pierces the connecting brick wall.
Designed by J. M. Felson, the garage has vertical brick band courses
and a paneled brick parapet. It has since been converted to residen-

tial use,.

WEST FOURTH STREET West Side (Betw. Charles and West 10th Sts.)

This four-story brick building, with store at street level, was
erected in 1861 by Albro Howell, builder. Its principal distinctive
feature is the central tier of paired windows, on this side and on the
Charles Street side (No. 64). It is, surprisingly, designed in the
simpie vernacular of the day, as compared with its Charles Street
neighbors, which were erected in the Italianate style by the same
builder in the same year. A small one-story addition has been built
recently at the end of the lot.

Similar to its neighbor to the south (Nos. 238-240), this pair of
five-story brick apartment houses had a rusticated entrance floor that
has been recently smooth-stuccoed. These buildings were erected in
1884 for Thomas J. Jeremiah, and were designed in the Neo-Grec style
by the well-known architect John B. Snook. Variegated stone band
courses running across the buildings support the flush lintels of the
windows, which in a few instances are paired beneath pedimented lin-
tels which display some fine incised Neo-Grec ornament. Both build-
ings are crowned by a deeply overhanging cornice. At No. 242, the
first floor facade has been altered, and it has a new doorway. At No.
244 alterations are under way.

This pair of five-story brick apartment houses was built in 1897
for Rosamond Herter. Designed by F. W. Herter, the entrance floor is
of rusticated stone, with segmental-arched windows and doorways. The
pair is unified by horizontal band courses at sill level and at lintel
level, and also by an alteration at the roof to a single stepped para-
pet crowning the pair. An unusual detail may be found in the brick
corbeling beneath the sills at the third and fourth floors. The
artists, John Sloan and Moses Soyer, lived at No. 240 before World
Wars I and II, respectively, : :

This five-story corner apartment house with a store (described
under No. 189 West Tenth Street) was built in 1891 and altered in
1927, It is vaguely reminiscent of the California Mission style.

1

WEST TENTH STREET {Between Greenwich Avenue § Waverly Place)

The emphasis in this street is on modest apartment-living. The

low height of the buildings (except at one cornmer} gives the block a
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WEST TENTH STREET (Between Greenwich Avenue § Waverly Place)

warin, human scale. Silhouette lines of cornices against the sky display
considerable variety, and heights vary surprisingly within the range
of six stories. _ :

Among these apartments, one on tae north side near Greenwich
Avenue displays a wealth of very unusual and animated carved stone
ornament at the first floor level, as well as a handsome portico.

On the south side interest also centers near this avenue. Here,
- a three-story firehouse shows a masterly variety in design and in the
treatment of four materials in both Romanesque and classical styles.

A dainty little Italianate house contrasts with the strength of
the adjoining firehouse. It is embellished with round-arched cast
iron railings, which impart a richly intricate grace to thé balcony
that runs under the second floor windows.

This street offers an interesting diversity oi ironwork. Further
down on this side, unusual railings of medieval design guard an apart-
ment house basement. On the north side, two separated town houses dis- -
play handsome Federal handrailings with Greek castings inserted at the
@Hmﬁmousm. They serve as reminder that originally a row of eleven
houses was developed along this block front.

In strident contrast te the warm, human scale om the block, a mid-

Twentieth Century apartment house of white brick rises fifteen stories,
on the north corner at Greenwich Avenue. Its horizontals and diagonals
emphasize its bulk, and it defies the quality of The Village, A regu-
latory body with architectural controls will serve to prevent such
structures from rising on future assemblages of property until it
can insure that designs will be compatible with their surroundings.
A design review board, acting on a different scale, would have avoided
the redesign, in a pseudo-Federal version, of the entrance floor of an
apartment house, on the south side near Waverly Place. It is an inhar-
monious, contrast with the upper floors and with the block as a whole.

Amos Street was the old name for that part of West Tenth Street
running on a diagonal west of Sixth Avenue. The name Amos Street was
_changed to Tenth Street in 1857. It was opened in 1815 through the .
large farm. of Richard Amos, which extended westward from near Bleecker
Street almost to the Hudson River. Eastward from Bleecker Street, a
principal property owner was Samuel Whittemore, who was largely in-
strumental in developing this part of The Village.

WEST TENTH STREET North Side (Betw. Waverly Pl. § Greenwich Ave.)

No. 149, with its original stoop and fine Federal handrailings of
wrought iron with decorative castings of the new Greek Revival style
retains most nearly the owpmwzmw appearance of the row. This block
front had. been developed in 1833-34 with a row of eleven houses by
Senator. Myndert. Van Schaick, owner of the entire block. Hé-was a
founder w:u,AHomm:ume.omﬂzoz York University and resided.on Fifth
Avenue and Fourteenth Street.

0f this row, only Nos. 149-153 and No. 139 remain.- Built two
stories high of Flemish bond brickwork, they probably had sloping. roefs
and dormers at that date. At No. 149, the low top floor with the roof
cornice and the doorway with ropelike molding were added in the
Eighteen-fifties. At about this period, Mr. Van Schaick's -tenants
living at No. 149 were Delancey Kennedy, expressman, and A. B. Rich, &
customs clerk. The other two houses. have been raised:substantially
in height, No. 151. to three full stories and No. 153 to four. The
present rear, extension of No. 153 was built in 1877 in a different’ mﬂwwo
(described under No. 189 Waverly Place). _

This six-story brick mvmunao:ﬁ_:o:mo. "The Larchmont," has a- banded

~stone first floor with richly decorated splayed lintels. The second

floor is of rusticated brick with. round-arched windows framed in stone.
The intermediate floors are of brick with end bays trimmed with corner
stones (quoins). The top floor again displays horizontal band courses :
and is crowned by a modest cornice carried on closely spaced console ’
brackets, It was built in 1901 for Isador Mishkind in the Italian-

Renaissance manner of the CEclectic.period.

Similar to its.neighbor to.the west; but slightly lower, “The
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WEST TENTH STREET North Side (Betw. Waverly Pi. § Greenwich Ave.)

South. His palatial home was at No. 45 Grove Street, not far away.

Adelaide' apartment house also rises to a height of six stories. It
is of brick with terra cotta trim. The first two floors display-
handsome arched pediments above the windows, while triangular pedi-

ments flank the central windows at the second floor and crown the

central window at the third floor. The top floor, set above a horizon-
tal band course at sill level, has brick panels between the windows
and is capped by a bold cornice supported on console brackets., It

was built in 1902 for Julius Weinstein..

This three-story house, almost identical to No. 149, is one of
that row of eleven houses which once filled most of the block. Like
the others, it was built in 1834 by Myndert Van Schaick. It also re-
tains its stoop and the original Federal ironwork with decorative
castings of the new Greek Revival style. The first story windows have
been cut down to the floor in a later alteration, and the top floor,
with low windows, has a heavy cornice carried on closely spaced brack-
ets. In the Eighteen-fifties, this was the home of Ida Earl.

Some very unusual carved stone ornament is displayed at the first
floor windows of this six-story brick apartment house of 1902-03.
These windows have arched pediments carried on fluted columns, the
bases of which display lion's head masks set in ornamental foliage.

" Under these windows are panels with sculptured human heads enframed

by interlocking swans. Handsome swags are suspended under these
heads. This apartment house was built for Isaac Farber by Bernstein
G Bernstein, architects. It has the interesting central feature of
two brick bays with two windows in each, extending the height of the
building and reflected in a central projection of the cornice. The
central entrance door has a handsome arched porch carried on columns.

A garage, set far back from the street, is part of the new fif-

teen-story apartment house at the corner (described under No. 33
Greenwich Avenue).

WEST TENTH STREET (Between Waverly Place § Seventh Avenue South)

This is a street of multiple uses and varying appearance, with
brick and stucco as harmonizing factors. The maximum height of five
stories is at mid-block on the north side. Surprising unity is achieved
on the south side by a similar cornice line over the three-story houses
and over the large two-story garage, which occupies about half of the
block. This.short block is dominated by this unusual and handsome
garage. It expresses, in the Romanesque Revival tradition, a skillful
contrast between bold stonework and brick piers. On the north corner
of Waverly Place, paired windows centrally placed in a virtually blank
facade are mute reminders that this was originally the gable end of a
long row of two and one-half story Federal houses. ,

- The process of attrition on the north side has been severe, aggra-
vated by the cutting through of Seventh Avenue South on the diagonal,
leaving tiny irregular plots in private hands. A public regulatory
body with architectural controls would have reviewed the problem, in
an endeavor to improve the layout of the plots for satisfactory con-
struction or to make them socially useful. '

Samuel Whittemore owned and initially developed the block on the
north side of this street, then extending from Waverly Place to West
Fourth Street. His factory, which made carding equipment for the
textile industry, was the leading manufacturing establishment of The
Village in 1828, and was located largely on the site of Seventh Avenue

WEST TENTH STREET North Side (Betw. Seventh Ave. So. § Waverly Pl.)

This low corner building (described under No. 131 Seventh Avenue
South) was built in 1929 and altered in 1947 as an office. Its unusual
shape and small size is the result of extending Seventh Avenue South
in 1919,
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WEST TENTH STREET North Side (Betw. Seventh Ave. So. & Waverly P1.)

This much altered two-story building is built on the diagonal at
the rear as a result of the widening of Seventh Avenue South (rear
described under No. 133 Seventh Avenue South). It has a severly simple
brick front with high second story, ieaturing a central door with fire
escape balcony flanked by high windows. A low brick parapet crowns

" this front. It was built in 1929 for Rosy's Accessories, Inc. and was

altered in 1955. Theodore Dreiser lived in a house on this site from
1914 to 1920.

Crowned by an elaborate cornice, with central portion raised on
elongated brackets, this Victorian Gothic apartment house was built in
1886 for Charles Guentzer and was designed by William Graul. It is four

. windows wide with the two central windows set in a recessed bay, crowned

by an arch. This bay runs down the front of the wuilding to the rusti-
ca;ed first floor.

. The simple bare-faced appearance of this apartment house may be
attributed to the shearing off of all ornament of this 1879 apartment
house in 1930, when it was smooth-stuccoed. Built for Ohmeis and Zahn
by the archltect William José, it nonetheless presents a dignified
appearance to the street.

Altered, like its larger neighbor to the west, this little three-
story house was built in 1845 for Adam McCandless. The ground floor
has been completely walled up except for two doors which open directly
on the street. A horizontal band course extends the width of the house
above the first floor, and the wall is of roughcast stucco. This house
was erected on the back of the lot of his corner grocery and home, which
still stands (described under No. 188 Waverly Place) and was built in
1826 by Samuel Whittemore.

. WEST TENTH STREET North Side :(Bet West 4th St. & Seventh Ave. 50.)

Thls five-story corner apartment house was built in 1897 and was
remodeled in 1927 when a high, stepped parapet was added with crenela-
tions on top. At this time steel casements were introduced and the
whole building was roughcast stuccoed. It has stores at the ground
floor and is known as No. 233 West Fourth Street. It echoes the corner
building it faces (No. 236 West Fourth Street} in being vaguely remi-
niscent of the California Mission style. '

Similar in its general appearance to No. 233 West Fourth Street,

" and built by 1897, this apartment house is separated from it only by

a narrow passageway with one-story entry. It was built as a shallow
addition on the rear lot of No. 233. There are stores at the ground
floor and it has a stepped parapet with a low, arched section at the
center.

Built in 1839 for wllllam T. Whittemore, this three-story brick
house with basement has had a new brick front erected with brick soldier
courses serving as window lintels. A bracketed Neo-Grec type cornice
effectively crowns the building, and the front doorframe has been
stuccoed-over, Originally this was one of five houses in William T.
Whittemore's development of this corner of the block, and it backed on
the other four facing West Fourth Street. Of these, No. 237 West Fourth
Street shows how handsome No. 181 looked when built as a residence. No.
181 stands on part of the site of Samuel Whittemore's important factory,
which extended to beyond what is now Seventh Avenue South.

WEST TENTH STREET (Between West 4th §. Bleecker Streets)

The emphasis of this street is on modest apartment living. A warm
feeling and a fairly uniform picture result from the use of brick and

" the human scale of the prevailing six story building height.

Most of the buildings on this street have individual features of.
interest. On the south side, the double apartment house at the Fourth
Street corner has an unusual tier of extra-large windows creating a
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WEST TENTH STREET  (Between West 4th § Bleecker Streets)

vertical accent at mid-point.. Exceptional among fire escape balconies
is the handsome example of Federal design, on thc adjoining building.
Of special note, at the opposite end of the street are apartment house
doorways, with ornamental stone and marble porticoes.

To be regretted, however, is the alteration of a small Federal
house in the middle of the south side of the street. Here the over-
bold treatment, employing several materials, and the added third floor
with stepped parapet are out of harmony with the Federal doorway below
and with the block as a whole. Architectural controls of a regulatory
body would have prevented this unnecessary lessening of the quality of
the street. :

WEST TENTH STREET North Side (Betw. Bleecker § West Fourth Sts.)

This pair of wide, six-story, brick apartment houses, extending
one hundred feet to the corner (also Nos. 351-353 Bleecker Street)
was built in 1903, by Horenburger § Straub, architects. Designed in
the Renaissance Revival manner, cach floor has a varied treatment
unified by band courses. Of special note is the delicacy of the de-
tail adorning the window-heads, most of which are arched. Swags dec-
orate the fascia of the cornice. The doorways have deep, carved stone
porticoes supported by short, polished marble columns that rest. on
wall-like bases. In the mid-Nineteenth Century, this was the site of
the Greenwich Reformed Dutch Church.

Likewise built in 1903 by Horeénburger § Straub, architects, this
brick apartment house is similar in $cale, height and style to its
neighbors (Nos. 211 § 213). The sides of the facade are blocked for-

. ward, leading to a more pronounced cornice supported on brackets. The

#205
(#203-205)

#199
(#199-201)

#195

(#195-197)

#191 § 193

#189

square window heads have prominent lintels, designed for vertical up-
thrust, including keystones in the shape of console brackets.

Built in 1928, and the latest building on the block, this six-
story brick apartment house is functional and plain by comparison with
its earlier much-adorned neighbors. Its paired windows at center form,
in effect, a columnar block topped by a capstone. The stepped parapet
of the building has a coping of limestone. This apartment house was
designed by Berlinger § Kaufman.

This six-story apartment house, built in 1906 of yellow brick,
was designed by Lorenz F. J. Weiher. Its handsome entrance floor of
rusticated brickwork is embellished by unusually long keystones over
the windows that, in effect, echo the bold- console brackets that frame
the doorway and support the stone slab for the fire escape. Extra-

.long keystones in varying designs gracec the upper floors and are, in

turn, echoed by the multiple brackets which support the roof cornice.

The easternmost of a number of six-story brick apartment houses
extending to.Bleecker Street, No. 195 was built in 1922 for Martha
Building Corp. Designed by Charles B, Meyers, the chief features are.
the semi-circular overwindow panels (tympani) which crown two.of the
second story windows and the dainty Adam design running along the
roof cornice. '

A simple version of the Greek Revival style is shown in this
pair of brick houses, built in 1841 by Solomon Banta. These three-
story houses with basements have muntined windows capped by sheetmetal
lintels with cornices, and with the fascia that stops short of the
ends, so popular for roof cornices. Both houses were altered in 1923
to provide a basement entrance, and the ¢ld parlor windows of No. 193
were doubtless made floor-length at that time. No. 191, however, is
still graced by its original iron arcaway railing of Greek Revival .
design. Mr. Banta was a local mason and builder, who for a time
lived at No. 193 {when it was called No. 93 Amos Street).

This five-story corner apartment house (also No. 236 West Fourth

. Street), although built in 1891, presents an unusual appearance re-

sulting from its alteration in 1927. Steel casement sash were then
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WEST TENTH STREET North Side (Betw. Bleeckér G west‘FOUrth Sts.)

installed, the building stuccoed over, and with its crenelated and
gabled roofline against the sky, it is vaguely reminiscent of the
California Mission style,

WEST TENTH STREET (Between Hudson § Bleecker Streets)

The delightful and interesting features of this street are con-
fined to the south side. Viewed as a whole, both sides of this resi-
dential street have in common only the use of brick, 5everal Nineteenth
Century apartument houses, and a maximum height of six or seven stories.
The changing heights on the south side, often in groups, give thé effect
of giant steps, with uneven platforms, an efféct increased by the pic-

. turesque stepped corners rising against the skyline above the apart-

ment house at the Bleecker Street corner.

OQur eye lingers over the unexpected groups of three-story town
houses along the south side, Delightfully simple versions of the
Federal or Greek Revival, they were built for the use of local trades-
people. The most interesting and unusual is a pair near Hudson Street,
part of a row of ten Federal houses continuing around the cornmer. Of
this pair, one is only two and one-half stories high, and both have
handsome Federal doorways. This pair is notable because its front
stoops are turned sideways and rise from the sides, converging until
they reach their own doorway.

The appearance of the north side is primarily that of mid- Twentleth
Century apartment houses, relatively uninspired and functional., Its
concession to the quality of The Village is moderate height.

Amos Street was the old name for that part of West Tenth Street
running on a diagonal west of Sixth Avenue. The name Amos Street was
changed to Tenth Street in 1857. ' It was opened in 1815, bisecting the
large farm of Richard Amos, which extended -from Washington Street al-
most to Bleecker Street. He had deeded land to the City in 1809 for a
new street. More information on Mr. Amos appears in Area 6, under
Hudson Street.

wEST TENTH STREET North Side' (Betw. Hudson § Bleecker Sts.)

' The present appearance of this five-story brick apartment building
on the corner (also Nos. 520-524 Hudson Street) dates from its altera-
tion in 1947 by the architect, Samuel Roth. Three Nineteenth Century

. buildings were combined into one behind a mottled brick facade with

stépped.parapet. A horizontal effect is achieved, both by the design
of the fire escape above the central main doorway and by the thin,
white band courses serving, in part, as sills for the steel casement
windows. :

The brick facade of this low four-story apartment building, re-
modeled in 1950, presents a very similar appearance to-that of its
larger neighbor on the corner (No. 247). In an attempt to simulate
unified appearance despite very different floor levels, No. 241 has

-only three thin, white band courses and they are near the lintels, thus

approximating the levels in the larger building. The windows of No.
24] have double-hung sash which are paired at both sides of the facade.

This five-story brick apartment house is a late example of the
Italianate style. It was built in 1871 for Reichardt, Schmidt §
Company using designs of William José&, architect., The ornate building
cornice is bracketed and dentiled. The segmental-arched windows of the
upper floors. are crowned by horizontal sheetmetal cornices.

On this large lot, foundations have been laid for a néw building
extending through the block to No. 104 Charles Street. The Village
Garage, built in 1918, recently stood here, and in the mid-Nineteenth
Century, a screwbolt manufactory was located on this site.

This-pair of five-story brick apartment houses was built in 1893
for Weil § Mayer. Theapartments were designed on the dumbbell plan by
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WEST TENTH STREET North Side (Betw. Mudson § Bleecker Sts.)

Schneider § Herter. The facades display variegated band courses, in-
cluding some of corbeled brick, arched window heads at the lower -
floors, and Corinthian pilasters at the top floor surmounted by a
boldly 1ntr1cate building cornice.

ThlS seven-story brick apartment house covers the entire end of
the block (described under No. 350 Bleecker Street). Built in, 1963,
its extremely functional design,culminating in a high unadorned para-
pet,shows little relationship to the .adjoining earlier apartment
houses other than its similar height.

WEST ‘ELEVENTH. STREET (Between Greenwicﬁ Avenue § Waverly Place)

-~

In this short section of street we are struck by the attractive
residential quality of the houses.

The north side retains, near the middle of the bleck, one of the
finest of the small Greek Revival town houses to be found in The
Village. It retains all of its original features, including a fine
doorway with sidelights, a dentiled cornice and some handsome ironwork
at the stoop and areaway. On the Greenwich Avenue end of this block
a six-story brick apartment house of the early Nineteen-twenties and
the one adjoining it do not make a skillful transition in height to
their three-story neighbors to the west.

On the south side four handsome, Italianate houses fill the block,
with the exception of a wall at the Seventh Avenue end. Of these
houses, the one at the west end is the prototype of the row, retaining
its stoop whereas all the others have been converted to basement en-
trances.

The building at the west end of the north side has been recently
redone in stucco with much ornate ironwork, producing a style of
architecture which is at variance with that of its neighbors. When we
consider that this was originally two fine Greek Revival houses like
its neighbor, we wish that some regulatory design body had been in
existence to give expert guidance to the owners in utilizing the truly
handsome building, instead of allowing it to become something which
does not harmonize with its neighbors.

Not until 1865 did West Eleventh Street become the name for this
old and important street west of Greenwich Avenue. Before then it was
Hammond Street, reca111ng the fact that it ran through the fifty-five
acre tract purchased in 1794 by Abijah Hammond for development,

WEST ELEVENTH STREET South Side (Betw. Seventh Ave. So. § Waverly Pl.

This one-story triangular building (described under Nos. 186-192
Seventh Avenue South) occupies the corner site, and was built in 1920.

This row of four dignified town houses was built in 1856 for
Elisha Bloomer, a property owner of The Village. No. 214 best displays
at present how the row must have appeared oviginally, as basic aspects
of its original stoop, doorway, and window frames have been retained.

- However, the arched doorframe and the segmental-arched window heads

have been smooth-stuccoed, and the cornices of the lintels have been
removed, These four brownstone houses are still unified by a hand-
some bracketed cornice. No. 210 and No. 212 have had all the trim of
their openings removed and are painted a light color. Nos. 208, 210
and 212 now have their entrances at the basement without areaways or
railings of any kind.

Surprisingly, the three houses which have undergone the most
change retain window sash in the Italianate manner, while No, 214 has
had all its upper sash replaced by nine panes. No. 214 is the corner
house (also No. 231 Waverly Place). Mr. Bloomer was a merchant living
on Perry Street, on the other side of this block, when he built these
houses. Later, he was a resident of Yonkers.
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WEST ELEVENTH STREET (Between Waverly Place § West 4th Street)

This street has great dignity and charm and presents many con-

 trasts between its north and south sides. The south side has two

churches, one at the Waverly Place en and the other at mid-block.

The remainder of the block is filled with exceptionally attractive
three-story residences. By contrast, the north side, although com-
pletely residential, consists of town houses interspersed at random
among apartment houses of a later date. To add even further to the
contrast between the six-story apartment houses and the three-story
residences, many of the residences are set back from the building line,
whereas all the apartment houses are built right up to it.. This pro-

" duces a wavy effect which is not without interest as opposed to those .

streets where long uniform rows of houses extend the length of a block,

~ Architecturally this street is distinguished ly the fine Greek
Revival church at the south corner on Waverly Place, by the rows of
houses to the west of it and particularly by the two groups of late
Greek Revival houses on the north side of the street. These two groups
of houses are all that remain of a row of ten, late Greek Revival
houses, five of which have been replaced by the adjoining apartment
houses. They are architecturally notable for their door and window
lintels which display low, ogival arches, harbingers of the Gothic
Revival., Set back from the sidewalk with front yards,they are excep—
tionally attractive in their more spacious setting.

The large church at mid-block on the south side was once an inter-
esting example of the Queen Anne style, where brick polychromy combined
with tiles and hooded entrances gave the church its picturesque quality.
Today this church has been emasculated by having much of its ornament
shorn off and by having been painted a uniform color. A change in
character such as this would be reviewed closely when architectural
controls are established, whereby an owner will study his remodeling
more carefully under expert guidance.

WEST ELEVENTH STREET South Sidé (Betw. Waverly Pl. § West 4th St.)

. -St. John's-in-the-Village is an exceptionally handsome church in-
spired by the Greek temple. It is of smooth-stuccoed masonry with wood-
trim and columns. The deeply recessed porch is distyle in antis with
four columns in front (tetrastyle prostyle), in itself an unusual com-
bination. In addition, the front wall extends on either- side of the
handsome Doric portico, creating an effect of considerable breadth.

This Episcopal church was originally built by the Presbyterians

 as the Hammond Street church. It was constituted on July 26, 1847 at

the corner of Hammond (West Eleventh) Street and Factory Street (Waverly
Place) with twenty-one members and Rev. William E. Schenck as the first
minister. The gracious St. John's garden, which lies behind the church
and adjoining residences, extends as far as the Temple (Seventh Day
Adventist Church) to the west. It is pleasant to find no fences or
other private property barriers which usually characterize such spaces
within a city block. The gardens have been landscaped with walks,
fountains, benches, and bits of sculpture, all representative of an

era of community spirit and good will. Indeed, St. John's Colony is the
the name used for the approxlmately half a block of .property owned by
this church.

This large brick town house serves as the rectory for the church.
Italianate in style, it was built in 1858 as the residence of Ransom

- Parker, who was in the ice business., It has segmental-arched windows

that have cornices on the lintels, and a handsome paneled roof cornice
supported on paired brackets. Its main entrance is now at the rusti-
cated stone basement. This front door now displays a pilastered Greek
Revival doorway, possibly taken from an older house. The double-hung
muntined windows are made to simulate casements with a wide central
muntin, a characteristic design for this period. At the rear of this
rectory, a small four-story building adjoins the parish house (No. 224
Waverly Place) behind the church.

The most 1nterest1ng feature of these wide twin town houses, built

in 1838, is to be found in their masonry stoops where wing-walls:of
stepped paneled stone are surmounted by handsome stone volutes. This
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WEST ELEVENTH STREET South Side (Betw. Waverly Pl. § West 4th St.)

is a very interesting Greek Revival solution. No. 226 was built for
the residence of Ambrose Kirtland, assistant justice, and No. 228

was built for the successful businessman, Richard McCarty. These fine
brick Greek Revival houses with stone basements retain their original
outer doorways with pilasters supporting full entablatures, also their
flanked stoops, and muntined window sash. Small metal cornices have
been added to the lintels. The drawing room windows are floor-length
in both houses, On these windows only the left-hand iron railing at
No. 226 is an original. A mansard roof and dormers with arched pedi-
ments was added to gain another floor at No. 226, above the simple
original cornice with wood fascia board to be seen on both houses.

Built in 1860 for Jacob Huyler, who was also in the ice business,
this brick house, like No. 224, is of the Italianate period. It has
similar segmental-arched windows and doorway, but here the lintels
had their cornices removed and have been smooth-stuccoed. The roof
cornice has a series of s1ngle brackets separated by diamond-shaped
panels. The iron stoop, runnlng across the front, is an adaptation
to Twentieth Century needs.

The City Temple (Seventh-Day Adventist Church) was built in 1881
and designed by Laurence B, Valk in the then fasionable Queen Anne
style. It displays many of the vagaries of that charming style, in-
cluding band courses of decorative tile work, diamond-lighted window
sash and decorative pointed gablets above arched doorways. Paint
today obscures the once rich polychromy of this scheme, and new brick
parapets have taken the place of picturesque roof lines. This church,
originally the North Baptist Church, is approximately the same size
as its neighbor,St. John's. The entrance doors, which flank the large
arched central window, are of interest as they are segmental-arched
but set in highér semicircular arches, with the space between the
arches (tympanum) filled in by dccorative tile. Above this are semi-
circular lunettes set below the all-enframing gablets referred to
above,

A pair of attractive town houses was erected in 1852-53 by Linus
Scudder, a mason and a well known builder. Built of brick three
stories high, both have roof cornices supported by a closely spaced
series of narrow brackets in the carpentry tradition. No. 240 retains

- at the stoop its handsome and original Italianate cast iron railings,

with wreathlike design at the center of the spindles, and also an area-
way railing of about the same period, although different in design,
Otherwise, the facade of No. 240 has been shorn of original details

and smooth-stuccoed, with a triangular pediment superimposed above the
doorway.

By contrast, No. 238 retains its brick facade and diminutive cor-
nices over the window lintels of the upper floors. As a result of its
alteration in 1927, it is now entered at basement level, has a case-
ment bay window at the old parlor floor, and has had a fourth floor
added with studio skylight above, without damaging the or1g1na1 brack-
eted cornice.

This row of three brick town houses, with rusticated stone base-
ments, was built in 1842 by individuals in the building trades:
No. 242 by the mason Ephraim Scudder; No. 246 by Peter D. Moore, also
a mason; and No. 244 by Peter P, Voorhas a stonecutter, who made his
home here

Nos. 242 and 246 retain their original stoops. No. 244 was
altered in the early Twentieth Century to provide a basement entrance,
with a brick frame around the doorway. The basement wall has been
stuccoed and its windows shortened to street level, while a soldier
course of brick extends across the front and carries the rampant stone
lions which flank the entrance doorway. Replacing the original first
floor door is a small arched casement window with a blind arch of
brick. The whole design expresses the new Italian influence so pop-
ular in the Nineteen-twenties.

No. 242 retains its original ironwork at the areaway with Greek
fret design at the bottom. Interestingly, the handrailings of its
stoop are of wrought iron in Federal design, with simple curvilinear
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WEST ELEVENTH STREET South Side (Betw. Waverly Pl. & West 4th St.)

design beneath the handrail and openwork curved newels. The double
doors -at Nos. 242 and 246, simply enframed with brick reveals, have
corniced lintels supported on brackets. All three houses have retained
their floor-length double-hung drawing room windows. In other respects
there is no uniformity now in the treatment of their windows and lin-
tels. A simple wood roof cornice once crowned all three houses, but -
is now replaced at No. 246 by a low brick parapet with raised end
pieces and coping stone surmounted by a studio window skylight.

This attractive row of three brick town hzuses was erected in 1869
by Mickens § Welcher, builders, for George T. Mickens and William H,
Gray. At No. 248 Mr. Mickens made his home. The architect was James
J. Howard,

Three stories high, they are handsomely unified by a modillioned
cornice which returns along the side wall of the corner house, No. 252,
The fascias, however, are short of the width of each house, The door-
ways of Nos. 250 and 252 retain their stoops and have segmental-arched
lintels with shoulders, indicative of French Second Empire influence.
The present simple wrought iron railings are later replacements
but the handsome paneled double doors at No. 252 are the originals.

No. 248 has been redesigned to provide a square-headed basement en-
trance. The basements are of rusticated stone, except at No. 252,

The side wall of No. 252 displays six very interesting blind windows,
complete with sills and lintels, arranged in two tiers, one tier near
the front and one near the back. This construction project of 1869 in-
cluded two more houses around the corner, facing on West Fourth Street
(Nos. 279 and 281).

WEST ELEVENTH STREET {Between West 4th § Bleecker Streets)

Two long rows of town houses are the outstanding features of this .
almost purely residential street. It is a delightful place in which to
live and has a warm, human scale. Here, the disparity in height be-

- tween the apartment houses and the town houses is minimal, giving the

street a sense of unity which is not always to be found,

On the north side, the long row of town houses is at the east end,
whereas on the south side, the long row of houses is located toward
the western end of the block. '

The best preserved house in the attractive row on the north side
is located on the corner of Fourth Street, This fine Italianate house,
of brick with brownstone trim over a rusticated stone basement, has
segmental-arched doorway and windows, crowned with corniced lintels.
This house and its twin have handsome bracketed roof cornices. Such
buildings as this establish the character of a street, especially when

~-located conspicuously on a corner site,

On the south side, a splendid Federal house, near the eastern end
of the block, retains its original, handsome doorway and, although two
stories have been added, it is one of the outstanding houses on the
street., At the Bleecker Street end stand two houses built in 1818,
among the oldest houses in The Village. Of these two, the one on the
right, virtually unchanged with its Flemish bond brickwork, high stoop,
splayed window lintels with keystones and arched doorway, is an out-
standing example of Federal architecture and a star in the firmament
of West Eleventh Street.

This house, left virtually unchanged, stands in sharp contrast to
the remodeling treatment of one of a pair of handsome brick apartment

- houses directly opposite. Here the imposing entranceway with its en-

tablature supported on columns was replaced by a Twentieth Century cur-
tain wall which occupies the space of the first and basement floors.
Although separated by a fire escape balcony from the floor above, no
attempt was made to relate its overall width to that of the window
above, nor was the window module in any way observed. This is a clear.
case where, had regulatory design controls been in effect, the altera-
tion would have been given a character more suited to such a handsome
street. :
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WEST ELEVENTH STREET South Side (Betw. West 4th & Bleecker Sts.)

This one-story studio with brick wall surmounted by a skylight
was built in the Twentieth Century. It stands at the rTear of the
corner house (No. 284 West Fourth Street).

The principal beauty of this house’is its superb Federal ironwork.
Now a three-story building with French casements and Italianate cornice,
added in 1872, this was originally a two-story Federal house built of
Flemish bond brlckwork It was erected in 1830 for John Mildeberger,
a wealthy tallow chandler. The wrought iron openwork newels and the
handrailings of the stoop are the superb originals with Gothic motifs
at the landing, derived from English origins via the architectural
handbooks of Batty Langley. Another unusual feature is the handsome
twisted ironwork at the top of the newels supporting pineapples, the
symbol of hospitality. The original areaway railing has been supple-
mented by the addition of cast iron finials at the top.

The most distinctive feature of this house is its richly detailed
Federal doorway. Now a four-story house, with Italianate cornice
similar to its neighbor's on the east, it underwent considerable res-
toration in 1920 including new windows. Originally it was a two-story
town house of Flemish bond brickwork, built in 1828 for Lavinius C.
Heroy, a sashmaker. It now has deeply cut, paneled lintels in the
Federal manner at all four floors, full-length Italianate style parlor
windows with transoms, and vermiculated brownstone veneer covering
the basement wall.

The beautiful Federal doorway has slender fluted Ionic colonettes
and half colonettes supporting a richly molded transom bar, blocked
forward to receive them. They are enhanced by the simple, undecorated
side lights, of three panes of glass. Above is a large transom with
glass actually set in lead, in a rectangular pattern, surrpunded by
an egg and dart molding.

Originally a stable, this four-story brick building was built in
1868 for Peter Nodine, a carman whose home was on West Seventeenth
Street. It has handsome paired, triangular-pedimented windows at the
center, except at the third floor where the window is crowned by an
arched pediment. The building has a bracketed sheetmetal cornice.
The present smooth-plastered first floor was altered for warehouse
use, but cast iron columns supporting the building are still fully
revealed at either side,

Designed as a dumbbell-plan apartment house, this five-story
brick building was erected in 1887 for Harris and Samuel J. $ilberman
from designs by Julius Boekell § Son. The entrance floor, of rock-
faced brownstone, has a central front door with arched transom. The
doorway is flanked by beold pilasters with brackets supporting a cor-
nice slab at the bottom of the fire escape. The large arched windows
on either side of this doorway have heavy stone frames with keystone
and intermediate stone blocks. The second floor windows have drip
moldings and double incised arch motifs. The unusual areaway railing
is patterned after the medieval revival work of the Cighteen-sixties
so much influenced by the French architect, Viollet-le-Duc.

This six-story brick apartment house was erected in 1924 for
Merowit Construction Co. from designs by Sommerfeld § Sass. It is
simple in the extreme with evenly spaced windows, The first two
floors are of rusticated brickwork, and the front doorway is projected
forward beneath a stone gable, surmounted by a stone-trimmed window.

A high, brick parapet crowns the building at the top.

In 1845 Jacob F. Hertzel . built a four-story Greek Revival brick
town house, with low casement windows in the attic. A retired baker,
he made his home here. It has been modernized with basement entrance
by transferring the handsome stone doorway and wood doorframe to the
basement. The original floor-length parlor windows, with attractive
railings, are still in place. An appropriate diminution of window
heights, ascending, is well expressed on this front. A dentiled cor-
nice crowns the building effectively.
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WEST ELEVENTH STREET South Side (Betw. West 4th § Bleecker Sts.)

These two houses are essentially a pair, although they were built
a year apart for different people in the Eighteen-fifties. Built as
three-story brick houses with high stcops and Italianate cornices,

‘they now have basement entrances. The present splayed window lintels

at both houses were inspired no doubt by the earlier Federal houses
adjoining them to the west. The exterior of No. 276 was extensively
altered in 1924, when the house was converted to studio apartments.
Its present appearance is Federal, of the Eclectic period, with tall
round-arched windows at parlor floor, and the lintels have keystones
throughout. The front door has a low fanlight and is flanked by side
lights. The doorway has fluted pilasters supporting a cornice slab.

No. 276 was built in 1852 for William J. Haddock, a tobacco
merchant, who made his home there together with Arthwr H. M. Haddock.
Each of them developed a Greenwich Village block nearby. No. 278 was
built for William Bogert, the daguerrian, for his residence.

Among the earliest in Greenwich Village, these two houses were
built by 1818, and No. 282 is today the handsome Federal prototype.
Judging by the alignment of windows on their original second floors,
they may have been a pair originally. They were among the nine houses
assessed in 1818 to Aaron Henry on this block. The first three stories
of both houses are laid up in Flemish bond brickwork. No. 280 was re-
designed in 1929 for C. Rosenthal and Anita Willcox by Emilio Levy. -

By raising the floor joists of the old first floor, an entrance floor
_at street level has been achieved while reducing the height of the

floor above. The addition of a large studio penthouse above the cor-
nice at No. 280 makes it nominally a six-story building.
No. 282 is a three-story building over a basement which is un-

‘'usually high for the Federal period, perhaps reflecting a change in

street level. It retains a simple cornice with fascia board at roof
level. Both houses have splayed window lintels with double keystones,
and their original, handsome arched Federal doorways, with the arches
'set on paneled impost blocks above simple brick reveals. The arched
transom at No. 282 has radial muntins, effective in their simplicity.
Aaron Hénry apparently did not live at this site, but elsewhere on West
Eleventh Street. He was a retired clothier whose clothing store was

on Water Street.

Built in 1852 in the vernacular of this period, this four-story
brick house has an attractive door with octagonal panels, and windows
that are pleasantly proportloned and spaced. In the Twentieth Century,
the fourth story was doubled in height in order to introduce a handsome
top floor comsisting of a large arched window with keystone, flanked by
side windows and bull's- ~eye windows, all having brick frames, and a

- parapet at the roofline. This house was built as an investment for

John B, Walton.

In the Eighteen—fifties John B. Walton, a crockery merchant living
on Renwick Street, consolidated his holdings by erecting this five-story
brick house on this double corner lot (also called No. 399 Bleecker
Street). Adjoining on the east is No. 284, built by him in 1852, and

“adjoining on the south is the row of three houses, Nos. 393-397

Bleecker Street, built by him in 1852-53.

It is worth noting that this corner house has the same paneled roof
cornice supported by simple paired brackets as does its neighbor, No.
397, which is one story lower, On the Bleecker Street side are two
greund floor stores. The house has a breadth of four windows on each

side, and these windows diminish interestingly in size as they ascend.
On the Eleventh Street side, the window lintels are capped by d1m1nut1ve
cornices, and the simple doorway has paneled reveals.

. Christopher Beakley had bought the corner lots with a dwelling
house as far back as 1803, which he made his home by 1806, and his
widow continued to live there until 1851. Beakley had prev1ously
‘been a tavernkeeper at the Flymarket. Conceivably a part of h15
house might have been included in the present building.
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WEST ELEVENTH STREET (Between Bleecker § Hudson Streets)

A feeling of openness pervades this short section of street due
to the lone apartment house, with playground ad)01n1ng, which faces it
on the north side.

The south side is a delightful admixture of houses and apartment

. houses with an uneven skyline, yet no house is more than one story

taller or lower than its neighbor, Interesting contrasts present them-
selves at mid-block where an ornate apartment house with rusticated
base, arched windows at the top floor, and a rich heavy cornice, is

set between. two plain but attractive Greek Revival town houses. This
sort of contrast not only gives aesthetic interest to a street but
lends a feeling of historical continuity.

WEST ELEVENTH STREET South Side (Betw. Bleecker § Hudson Sts.)

On the corner stands a five-story brick building erected in 1888,
which fronts on Bleecker Street (described under No. 400 Bleecker
Street).

This four-story building, with store at street level, was built in
1860. Twentieth Century changes included the insertion of a Greek '
Revival doorway with a transom bar surmounted by a handsome anthemion
motif, and window lintels with central design surmounted by an anthe-
mion. A fire escape, with an attractively designed handrail, is shared
with its neighbor, No. 292,

This three-story brick house with brownstone basement, and dormers
with hipped roofs, has a functional appearance, its decoration being
limited to a brick, dentiled cornice at the roofline and to the shared
fire escape, just mentioned. The original dwelling, two stories high,
was erected in 1833 by Abraham Labagh, a stonecutter, who had bought
six lots on the block in 1806 and who lived at No. 298,

Built in 1841-42 for Samuel Frost, this three-story brick house

 has a simplified Greek Revival portico and diminutive, stone cornices

over its window lintels. The handsome wrought iron handrailings at
the stoop-have castings along their base and a curvilinear design
under the handrails, They terminate by being swept around slender,
cast iron newel posts. - '

This five-story brick and stone apartment house was erected in
1899 for the Cooper family using plans of G. A. Schellinger. With
rusticated stone first floor, this building has a central entrance
framed by pilasters and an entablature, The top floor has arched win-
dows with keystones, above which are a richly decorated fascia and a
cornice carried on console brackets.

This handsome Greek Revival house, as we see it today, is the
result of an alteration of 1834 which incorporated an earlier house
built about 1808, in both instances by Abraham Labagh. It is of brick,
three and one-half stories high, with stone doorway consisting of
pilasters supporting an entablature, and has typical window lintels
with miniature stone cornices. It has low attic windows in its fascia
board which cut through an ornamented taenia molding. The roof rises
to a low peak. The ironwork at stoop and .areaway has castings of the
period. (The hallway retains its origindl Federal woodwork.)

Abraham Labagh, stonecutter, had purchased in 1806 a row of lots
on which he built this house, which was his home from 1811 until his
death in 1835. Labagh's heirs sold the house in 1851 to Jerome B.
King, a plasterer, who also made his home here, when the address was
still known as No. 92 Hammond Street.

This building (described under Nos. 570-572 Hudson Street) occupies
the corner site.
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ABINGDON SQUARE

The houses facing Abingdon Square are described under the appro-
priate streets: Eighth Avenue, West Twelfth Street and Hudson Street;
also (in Areas 8 and 9) Bank Street.

BANK STREET (Between Greenwich Avenue § West 4th Street)

This is a fine residential street which enjoys a handsome balance,
both sides being very similar in their configurations. Both have low
apartment houses at or near their ends, closing attractive rows of
three and four-story houses which fill the center of both blocks.

"~ On the north side, a long row of Italianate houses is set back
slightly from the sidewalk. The last two of these houses on the west
end tell us how handsome this row was before any changes were made.
Adjoining on the east are three houses belonging to the late Greek Re-
vival tradition. Near the west end of the block stands one of .the ]
finest Greek Revival houses in The Village. It has an interesting
cornice with a wood fascia board displaying garlanded bull's-eye win-
dows and meldings in Greek designs. Adjoining it, in a rear addition
to the house at the corner of West Fourth Street, is a Federal doorway
which is one of the architectural gems of The Village.

Accents of individual beauty, such as these, distinguish this
Historic District and make it outstanding within the City.

The south side is interrupted by Waverly Place. Between it and
the apartment house on Greenwich Avenue stands a dignified row of
brownstone Italianate houses. West of Waverly Place a very fine row
of houses extends for a great distance. It has the notable feature of
an absolutely level cornice line, a rarity in this City where altera-
tions and additions are so generally the case. The houses are Greek
Revival in design, and they display unusual lintels with a low ogival
arch design cut into them, a forerunner of the Gothic Revival. Since
Greek Revival house types generally followed such a uniform tradition '
of design, variations such as these lintels lend special charm and
interest to a row of houses. At the west end of the row two ornate
apartment houses of medium height close the block effectively with
only a small garage between them and Fourth Street.

This garage, a commercial intruder in the residential block,
leaves much to be desired in its design. Were such a structure to be
built in future, design controls would insure that it be built in
harmony with its neighbors and not violate the character of a block

~such as this.

The popular belief is that Bank Street derived its name from the
fact that some banks moved to this area during the city's periodic .
yellow fever epidemics; while quite logical, this tradition is appar-
ently apocryphal. The move uptown on the part of banks included the
temporary removal of the Bank of New York to Bank Street, as a result
of the serious epidemic which struck the city during the summer of
1822,

BANK STREET Soﬁth Side (Betw. Greenwich Ave. § Waverly Pl.)

This six-story apartment house (described under Nos. 81-85
Greenwich Avenue) was erected in 1902. :

This handsome block of five buildings was erected in 1861 for
James Haight, Jr., a year after his purchase of thé property from John
Lozier, a landowner who had been important in city affairs for many
years. The block retains much of its original character and is a fine
example of Italianate ashlar brownstone, so popular at that time., The
fact that this block or row of houses was considered as a uniform row
may be seen in the corner treatment, where corner stones {(quoins) are
used to make the transition from stone to brick. The five separate
entrances to the houses, at street level, have had their original
frames stuccoed-over to form rectilinear entranceways. The windows
are all segmental-arched, and their sills are supported on small
corbels at the ends. Double-hung sash appears at all the windows, ex-
cept for most of the windows of the fifth floor, where separate windows
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" BANK STREET South Side (Betw. Greenwich Ave. § Waverly P1.)

#6-14 were joined together in the Twentieth Century to provide openings for
cont. . triple casement windows. The simple, attractive, wrought ironwork at
' the entrances is modern.

BANK_STREET South Side (Betw. Waverly P1. & West 4th St.)

#16-34 This row of ten houses, built in 1844-45, is one of the outstand-

' ing residential rows in Greenwich Village. It retains much of its
original character and is especially interesting for its combination
of basic Greek Revival form with picturesque elements derived from the
Gothic Revival. The continuous cornice line, identicdl stoops, and
ashlar basements all unify the row to prOV1de one of the most attrac-
tive terraces in Greenwich Village., Out of this (ntire row, only three
of the houses (Nos. 18, 24 and 28) have had their stoops replaced by
ground floor entrances.

_ These Bank Street row houses have high stoops leading, in some
cases, to the original, handsome late Greek Revival doors, flanked by
pilasters with Corinthian capitals and narrow sidelights, the whole
surmounted by a transom bar and rectangular transom. An unusual
canopy, supported on vertically placed console brackets, shields the
entrances: the projecting cornice, in each case, has a row of deli-
cate dentils on its under side while the lintel is decorated with a
very shallow ogival type Gothic arch. The ogival motif, seen above
the doorways, recurs at all of the windows and is an early manifesta-
tion of the new Gothic mode which was just coming into vogue. The
continuous roof cornice, which stems directly from the Greek Rev1val
is delicately dentiled.

In the case of Nos. 18 and 24, a window at first floor level has -

. replaced the former doorway, but the original door lintel has been
retained. Several of the houses retain double-hung muntined sash, and
Nos. 20, 22, 24, 26, 30, 32 and 34 still have their long parlor floor.
windows, so typical of the period. It is unusual to have a whole row
of houses with original ironwork, as here, with the exception of the
areaway. ironwork at No. 28 which was replaced when the stoop was re-
moved. The pattern employed is the usual Greek Revival design,
featuring the Greek fret. The spindles of the handrailings at the
stoops have additional castings in the center. The fret design is
used both at the top and bottom of the areaway railings.-

This row of houses has been so well maintained by its owners
that it is one of which New Yorkers can well be proud. Stephen B.
Peet, a real estate developer, for whom the row was built, had
purchased the land from the Bank of New York in 1843, wlth the help
of purchase money mortgages, he developed this as well as other
properties in The Village on Perry, West Eleventh, and West Thirteenth
Streets. Of the row of ten late Greek Revival houses erected in- 1844
on lots adjoining the Bank Street houses and facing on West Eleventh
Street, only four remain today, Nos.-223, 225, 231 and 233. Peet
lived in one of the West Eleventh Street houses himself from 1844 to
1846, long since replaced by an apartment house (No. 237).

#36-40- Reuben R, Wood, a builder who. had established himself in business
in the early Eighteen-thirties, and who did a considerable amount of
building in Greenwich Village, erected this row of brick three-story
Greek Revival dwellings in 1851. Originally the row consisted of
four houses, including No. 42, later replaced by an apartment house.
wWood had purchased the property a year earlier from Gorham A: Worth,
for whom, in 1851, he built four houses on ad301n1ng lots facing on
West Eleventh Street (Nos. 237-243).

The Bank Street houses, which conform to the pattern established

by the earlier Peet Row, are approached by high stoops leading to

.attractive Greek Revival doorways of brownstone with “eared' frames,
a late survival. for this period. Nos. 36 and 38 have their doorways
placed next to each other and are united by a cornice surmounted by a
low pediment.- No. 36 retains its original floor-length French win-
dows at parlor floor level. Fine examples of the original Italianate
cast iron railings adorn the stoops and areaways of all three houses.
The windows all have cornices above the lintels. The elaborate Neo-
‘Grec bracketed roof cornices, crowning the three houses, date from

~ the Eighteen-seventies when the buildings were altered. The roof
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#36-40 cornices at Nos. 36 and 38 are almost identical: "both have dentils

cont. between the brackets and paneled fascia boards. At No. 40, the’
cornice is supported by brackets with bosses and triglyphs between
panels. No. 40 has exterior blinds, added at a later date, on all the
windows. .

Thus, in spite of later modifications, these three houses retain
many of the typical features of the late Greek Revival style, which
lingered on even into the Eighteen-fifties in substantial middle class
row houses such as these,

#42-44 Erected in 1910 for Charles Rubinger and designed by Henry S.
Lion, this six-story brick apartment house belongs to the period of
Eclecticism in architecture. Stone trim is used as a contrast in the
canopied entrance porch, window lintels, and band courses with a
guilloche pattern. Additional interest is given the building through
the use of horizontal stone band courses and sculptured ornament in
the arched pediments over the second story windows. The wrought iron
railings around the arcaway are extremcly elaborate. A fire escape
runs down the center of the facade, and the building is crowned by a
strongly projecting bracketed roof cornice.

#46 This narrow five-story brick building, faced with stone, was
erected in 1889 for William Rankin in the Classic style and was de-
signed by James W. Cole, architect. The stone is rusticated at the
first story level. The windows of the second and fourth floors are
crowned by classical pediments resting on corbels. The asymmetrically
placed entrance doorway is flanked by pilasters and surmounted by a
lintel and cornice. A projecting roof cornice with brackets crowns
the building. A fire escape runs down the right side of the facade
terminating above the entrance door.

#48 This low, two~-story, brick building of 1910 is now a garage but
once served as a stable at the rear of the lot of the corner house,
No. 299 West Fourth Strect. ‘

#50 This is the side entrance to No. 299 West Fourth Street, erected
in 1827-28 for Samuel Z. Smith. The chief interest of the Bank Street
flank consists in the brickwork which shows traces of the original
sloping shoulder of the pitched roof. This must once have been a very
handsome Federal residence. The most notable feature of this original
house is to be found in the blocked Federal lintels with foliate forms
carved in the center and end blocks. These windows may be seen on the
Bank Street side. Equally evident is the fact that the building
originally was only half as deep as it is today, although an extension
had already been built by the Eighteen-fifties, when it was already
a commercial property.

BANK STREET North Side (Betw. West 4th St. § Greenwich Ave.)

The corner house, No. 301 West -Fourth Street, was one of a block
of houses erected in 1836. No. 301 was built for Alfred Carhart, a
hay carter of No. 28 Fourth Street, who later served as Inspector for
the U. S. Customs and as a State Assemblyman. The building is inter-
esting for its excellent brickwork, laid in Flemish bond, and for the
two chimneys and window arrangement, indicating the approximate out-
lines of a typical gable-ended Federal house before the top floor was
raised to full height front and rear. :

4] The little one-story brick building was created after the middle
of the Nineteenth Century by using the space at the back of the lot
of No. 301 West Fourth Street. It now serves as a back entrance to
that building. The doorway, one of the architectural gems of The
Village, was quite possibly transferred to its present location from
the front of the house on West Fourth Street, together with fine
openwork wrought iron newel posts which, until recently, graced the
entrance. This late Federal doorway, almost identical to an 1829
example at No. 329 West Fourth Street nearby, is made of wood and is
surmounted by a rectangular transom. The eight-paneled door, framed
by a pair of Ionic -columns at each side, is typical of the Federal
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period, as are the rustications of wood behind them. The two columns
flanking the door are virtually free-standing, and the half-columns

in the corners are set in the same plane. Bétween each set of columns
one can catch a glimpse of the narrow sidelights at each side of the
door. The transom bar, blocked forward above the columns, is remark-
ably well preserved and has the characteristic egg and dart molding
under the cornice.

This attractively remodeled four-story brick dwelling was origi-
nally built in the late Eighteen-thirties for Alfred Carhart, who also
owned the corner house, No. 301 West Fourth Street. Altered in 1919,
and several times thereafter, it is now a two-family house, with sep-
arate entrances at grade on each side of the facade. The introduction
of two entrances evidently necessitated a new desizn for the windows

. of the second floor, as may be seen by a comparison with those of the

third and fourth stories, which retain their original position.
Painted cast iron columns, which indicate that there was once a ground
floor store here, extend from the first through the second floor,

~visually separating the entrance door from the main body of thé house.
"The windows of the upper floors have the traditional double-hung

muntined sash. The lintels above the windows have been altered by the
additon of cornices. The building is crowned by a low brick parapet
with stone coping.

Erected in 1837 for Jonathan H. Ransom, a leather and shoe
merchant at 86 Pearl Street, this very handsome brick house, with
rusticated stone basement, is an outstanding example of the Greek Re-
vival style. 1t is a three and one-half story house with dormers,
and has a cornice with windows in it. The dignified classic doorway,
flanked by pilasters supporting a modillioned entablature, is ap-

proached by a low stoop. It has an exceptionally fine decorated

transom bar of anthemion (honeysuckle) design. The sheetmétal
cornices above the window lintels were added later to protect the
stone cornices indigenous to the Greek Revival style.  The interest- . °
ing wood fascia board with garlanded bull's eye windows, with an egg
and dart molding below and leaf and tongue molding above, is an un-
usually distinguished feature of Greek Revival architecture. Two

' simple pedimented dormers may be seen above the roof cornice. The

windows of the facade have double-hung muntined sash. The ironwork

. is a combination of modern and old work; the section at the areaway,

with its Greek Revival fret design in wrought iron, is the original.
The cast iron handrailings and newels of the stoop represent later

. Nineteenth Century additions.

- This six~story apartment building, erected in 1913, proto-médern
in style, is interesting in its combined use of brick and stoné band
courses to produce varied designs, Vertically laid bricks used as
horizontal band courses cleverly emphasize certain parts of the build-
ing, as in the banding at the ground floor, and serve as window
lintels at the upper floors,

This five-story brick apartment house, with brownstone first

floor and basement, was erected by Charles Rentz in 1891 for Andrew

Brose and Charles Rentz. It is transitional in style with the round
arches of the Romanesque Revival at the first and top floors and
elements of the late Queen Anne in such details as the terra cotta
panels below the windows of the upper floors and the roof cornice.
The first floor has arched windows and an entrance porch wlth squat
granxte columns derived from Romanesque tradition.

Thls well-proportloned three-story Greek Revival house was
erected in 1840 for William Harsell, a sash and window frame maker
of 12 Wooster Street and a State Assemblyman in 1838. Harsell had
purchased this property, as well as the lot to the west, in 1835.
His land extended through to West Twelfth Street (Nos. 262-264) in
1835.

The facade is brick, over a stone basement. The handsome Greek
Revival doorway is approached by a low stoop. The double doors are
deeply recessed and flanked by paneled reveals decorated with a rope
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molding of the Italianate period. Sheetmetal cornices of a later date
appear above the window lintels. A bracketed roof cornice with _
modillions, identical to the one opposite at No. 38 Bank Street, is an
addition of the Eighteen-seventies. The graceful ironwork at the
stoop, with its wrought iron curvilinear design in the upper section
and interesting openwork newels with finials, resting on stone
pedestals, is the original, as is the wrought iron areaway railing

with Greek Revival fret castings used as a border at its base. The
first floor iron window balconies are additions of a later date.

This fine row of Italianate houses was erected in 1856-57 by 1
Linus Scudder, a mason-builder long identified.with the development '
of The Vlllage, in association with Henry L. Cathell, who also was a
builder,

The original appearance of these houses is best seen at Nos. 25

and 27, Three stories in height, with full basements, they are con-

structed of brick with stone trim. They are grand in scalé and have
high, wide stoops. No. 27 has a rusticated basement, while that of
No. 25 is smooth-stuccoed. They have the typical high stoop of the
period embellished by handsome cast iron stair and areaway railings

displaying a wreath or circle motif, a favorite with the Victorians.
The entrance doorframes have heavy moldings and lead to deeply re-

cessed doors framed by rope moldings. The opulently carved paneled

.outer doors are the originals. Also characteristic of the period are

the gracefully curved ''eyebrow' lintels over the segmental-arched
entrance door frames, as well as the French windows of the parlor
floor at Nos. 23 and 27. The houses are crowned by projecting
bracketed roof cornices. A penthouse was added at No. 27, which was

recently purchased by Theodore Bikel, the well known dctor and folk

singer.

. No. 23 is similar to its neighbors to the west, except that an
additional story was added later in the Nineteenth Century, together
with a delicately detailed roof cornice with carved brackets and
paneled fascia board,

The next house, No. 21, has been completely altered as a result
of conversion, first for the use of the Christian Reformed Church in
1893, and later as the headquarters for various political clubs. The
stoop was replaced by a basement entrance and the windows are modern

.steel casements. A new brick front, making use of medieval elements

of design, has extended the height of the building to four stories,
terminated by a roof parapet which is level with the cornice of No. 23.
The next two houses, Nos., 17 and 19, were also part of the row
of 1857, as may be seen by comparing them with No. 23. They have been
raised in height to four stories. No. 19 has no roof cornice, merely !
i stone coping, in contrast te No. 23. No. 19 still retains its '
original doorway, stoop, rusticated basement and ironwork, identical
to Nos. 23, 25, and 27. Although No. 17 has been well maintained,
it has been extensively modified by the elimination of the stoop in
favor of a basement entrance and the addition of a fourth story,
crowned by a bracketed cornice. The window lintels all have "eyebrow"
cornices above them.

Scudder § Cathell had purchased the land in the Spring of
1856 from the Peugnet brothers, Louis and Hyacinthe, two French-
men who from 1839 on had maintained an Academy, or a school
for boys, in the premises formerly occupied by the Orphan
Asylum Society, situated in the middle of the block bounded by
Bank and West Twelfth Streets. The site now occupied by Nos.
25 and 27 had served as a play area for the Academy.

The next three houses were built somewhat earlier than their
neighbors at the west and are Greek Revival in style. No. 11, the
residence of Louis Peugnet after 1845, was the first house to be
built on the large plot, extending through to West Twelfth Street,
assembled by the Peugnets between 1836 and 1841 from Samuel Bayard,
attorney, of Princeton, New Jersey, and from the (Protestant} Orphan
Asylum Society. The Peugnets, who had been officers in Napoleon's
army at Waterloo, were involved in a plot to rescue Napoleon from
Elba and bring him to Canada, where they had emigrated in 1822,
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Later they moved to New York and established an Academy, or school for
boys, under the auspices of General Lafayette. After trying several
other locations first, they opened tie Academy on the site of No. 15
Bank Street in 1836 m:a remained there until they moved the school to
No. 27 (discussed above}.

"No. 11, built in 1845, may be considered the prototype for this

late Greek xm<p<m_ group of three houses. A high stoop leads to a

deeply recessed, Greek Revival entrance door, with narrow full length
sidelights and glazed transom above, framed by a severely mpawwo door-
way. The doorway retains its Greek proportions, although it Is now
altered and stuccoed over. The muntined windows, with their lintels
flush with the brickwork, show little indication of modification. The
sheetmetal roof cornice with its plain fascia boaid is a latter-day re-
placement. The long parlor floor windows retain their double-hung
muntined sash. The ironwork at the stoop and the yard railing are -
Greek Revival in style, while the very handsome and unusual balcony
appears to belong to a later period.

Nos. 13 and 15, two late Greek Revival houses, were vcphﬁ on -
property which the Peugnets sold in 1851 to Reuben R. Wood, a builder,
who also purchased the adjoining lots fronting on West azopmn: Street.
He immediately sold the property to Theodore R. Riley, for whom he then
built the two houses in 1852, These two houses are of brick above stone
basements, No. 15 still retaining its rustications. Both have been
altered by the addition of high parapets finished off with stone copings,
making them considerably taller than No. 11. A basement entrance, with
a doorway in classical style, has taken the place of the stoop and parlor
floor entrance {on the left side of the house) at No. 15, but No. 13
retains its stoop leading to a modernized simplification of the original
doorway. No. 13 retains its floor-length, double-hung parlor windows,
while at No. 15 they have been bricked-up to sill height. The windows,
which retain their old style muntined sash at No. 13, have been modified
at No. 15. The ironwork of both houses is modern, oozmwmﬁwzm of a sim-
ple heavy "X design at No. 15, with very delicate, undecorated railings
at No. 13.

This house, built in 1857 on land held until then by Louis Peugnet,

“and which had been part of Asylum Street (Waverly Place), conforms in

general style to the Italianate town houses {Nos., 17-27) built by Scudder
§ Cathell at about the same time. While it has been modified by the
addition of a fourth floor above its bracketed and paneled cornice and

by the bricking-up to sill height of the parlor floor windows, it re-
tains the general proportions of the other houses. It has a high stoop
and a handsome paneled door with a glazed transom. A straight cornice
surmounts the segmental- -arched entrance doorway. The ironwork of the:
stoop handrailing, using ﬂrm classical fret design at mid-height, is
modern.

This six-story corner apartment house (described under Nos. 87-95
Greenwich Avenue) was erected in 1928-29, Willa Cather, the famous
novelist, lived at No. S Bank Street,on the site of the present apart-
ment house, from 1913 to 1927.

BANK STREET = (Between West 4th § Bleecker Streets)

Interesting contrasts may be seen on this primarily residential
street where elaborate turn of the century apartment houses and commercial
buildings stand side by side with simple Greek Revival town houses.
Both ends of the street are flanked by six-story apartment houses
which, on the south side, lend contrast to the long row of lower resi-
dences in between them. On the west end, adjoining the- apartment house, v
there stands a fine prototype house, two stories high with attic, which
displays handsome wreathed windows cut in the fascia board beneath the
roof cornice. The fine pilastered doorway and stoop with. its iron . :
handrails all tell the story of another era and make this house one of
those many treasures to be encountered in The Village. The rest of this
row belongs generally to this same period with the introduction of some

-. - houses of a later date which by contrast lend architectural variety and
interest to the entire row.
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The north side retains three town houses near the east end. Two
commercial buildings built in the early Nineteen-hundreds are located
near the end apartment houses. One of these, the westermmost, is now
a school and, although intruders, they are both exceptionally handsome
examples of their period.

Turn of the century apartment houses £ill the middle of the block
and display a wealth of detail at the windows and doors. The apartment
house at the west end of the block, on the north side, is quite large, -
although it is only six stories high. It was built in 1838 and, with
its horizontal bands of different colored brickwork between windows,
had the "new look" for that year.

BANK STREET South Side (Betw. West 4th § Bleecker Sts.)

This six-story brick apartment house of 1903 (described under No.
296 West Fourth Street) has a corner store at the ground floor,

Erected in 1833 for the Reverend Joseph Carter, whose Academy was
located at 294 Hudson Street, this three-story house is early Greek
Revival in style. The brick front is constructed in Flemish bond, over
a rusticated basement. A bracketed roof cornice and sheetmetal window
lintels of later date have recently been removed as a result of an
attractive restoration. The simple fascia board of the roof cornice
may well be the original. The front door once had narrow sidelights
and is surmounted by a rectangular transom. The wrought iron hand-
railings of the stoop are the Greek Revival originals and have curvi-
linear wrought ironwork in the upper section. The unusual openwork
circular newel posts, set on stone bases, are surmounted by pineapples
of painted brass. The pineapple motif was a popular symbel of hospi-
tality in those days,

Originally Greek Revival in style, this three-story house of the
mid-Eighteen-forties later acquired a fourth story and an imposing,
bracketed Italianate cornice. The house retains its stoop and long
parlor floor windows. An unusual central escutcheon embellishes the
sheetmetal cornices over the windows of the fourth floor; the bold
sheetmetal window cornices of the lower stories are likewise later
additions. The house was originally erected for John Van Nest,
associated with the long-established family saddlery business at 114
Pearl Street.

Set back slightly from the strect, this town house of 1853-54 was
erected for Thomas Wiley, Jr., as his home. Wiley § Company, tailors,
were located in the neighborhood, at 701 Greenwich Street. Originally
Italianate in style, the house wWas considerably modified in later
years. .The stoop has been replaced by an entrance through the basement
and the fenestration altered by the bricking-up of the parlor floor
windows to sill height and the introduction of shorn-off, segmental-
arched lintels. The front wall has been extended up in the form of
a brick parapet, which replaces the former cornice.

This attractive three-story brick house, although built as late
as 1836, still employs the Federal Flemish bond in its brickwork.
Belonging to the vernacular in its simplicity, it is nonetheless
pleasing in its proportions and fenestration. An unusually low stoop
leads into the house. The Federal type paneled lintels above the
third story windows are evidence of the original appearance of those
below. A simple cornice crowns the house. It was erected for Leonard
Kirby, a dry-goods merchant at 47 Cedar Street.

~ Both of these three-story brick houses, which are so dissimilar,

were erected for and by Andrew Lockwood in 1841. Lockwood, a well-
known Village builder, maintained his shop at 17 Tenth Street under
the firm name of Lockwood § Company. Nos. 64 and 66 are only two

of more than a dozen houses which were erected on lots he had purchased
in 1835 for development; his property ran from the present No. 64
through 76 Bank Street and included adjoining lots facing on West
Eleventh Street, Nos. 263 through 277. He made his home at No. 269
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West Eleventh Street (formerly 61 Hammond) from 1836 to 1848, and, after

his death, his widow lived at No. 64 Bank Street,

Nos. 64 and 66 were built in the Greek Revival style, but have under-
gone extensive alteration, particularly at No. 64. Here, the attic story
was raised and a basement entrance has taken the place of the stoop and
entrance doorway at parlor floor level. The handsome cast iron balcony
railings in front of the tall parlor floor windows are Italianate in
style and must have been added somewhat later; at the same time as the
projecting bracketed roof cornice enhanced by modillions and dentils.

In contrast to the shaved-off window lintels of Nos. 64, No. 66
retains small cornices over the second and third story window lintels.
The main entrance leading into the building is unusually low for the
period and the door is probably original. It ha< a narrow alleyway
entrance at the extreme left. A simple original wood cornice with
modillions crowns the building. The ironwork around the doorway, a
later replacement, is a good example of Italianate cast ironwork. It
has an unusual '"rose window" motif at the center of each panel.

Built in 1863 by and for Jacob C. Bogert, builder, this well-
proportioned three and one-half story brick town house with dormers
typifies the new elegance of French Second Empire style, so popular with
‘the upper middle class in New York City at this period. The house re-
tains its original high stoop and curved "eyebrow" cornices over the
segmental-arched doorway and windows. The windowsills, with projecting
moldings, are supported by brackets., The basement story and handsomely
framed doorway are stone. The wrought iron railings are Neo-Federal in
design and represent additions of a much later period. Supported on
vertical console brackets, the elegant cornice displays rectangular

panels with central bull’s-eye motifs in the fascia.

No. 70 is one of a row of four Greek Revival town houses (Nos. 70-

. 76) erected on land purchased in 1835 by Andrew Lockwood, already men-

tioned in connection with Nos. 64 and 66 Bank Street. Together with
Amos Woodruff, mason, and Gabriel M. Baldwin and John Mills, carpenters,
whose firm, Baldwin & Mills, was located at 49 Orange Street, Lockwood
erected these houses between 1839 and 1842,

 Originally, they were all two and one-half stories high, over stone

~ basements, similar in appearance to No. 76, which is in mint condition. .

Retaining some Greek Revival feeling, No. 70 was later greatly
modified by the substitution of a basement entrance, with a pointed-
arched doorway, for the former stoop, and by the addition of the top
story. It is crowned by an imposing cornice with small console brackets.
This house was erected in 1839 for Baldwin § Mills by Amos Woodruff,

No. 72, a handsome Greek Revival brick house, now three stories
high, was erected in 1839 and retains much of its original character.

- The fine Greek Revival doorway, consisting of architrave and frieze, is

flanked by pilasters and is crowned by a projecting cornice. The en-
trance door itself, deeply recessed, is framed by a pair of pilasters

with Corinthian capitals, narrow sidelights, and a rectangular transom
above. The windows are emphasized by sheetmetal lintels with projecting
cornices which are later in date and cover the originals. The roof cor-
nice, with four brackets resting on corbels dividing it into three paneled

-‘sectlons, is an interesting example of the work of the later Nineteenth

Century. The ironwork of the stoop shows a fine combination of scroll

“wrought ironwork in the upper section, typical of the Greek Revival

style, with handsome castlngs below. The curved openwork newels, on
stone bases, are notable in retalnlng their urn-shaped finials. Taxes
for this dwelling were first paid in. 1839 by Amos Woodruff but the land

- was owned by Baldwin & Mills at this time.

Although the next two houses are almost identical and appear to have
been erected at the same time, No. 76 was built first, from 1839 to 1840,
while No. 74 dates from 1842. Both houses are exceptionally well pro-
portioned and are among the handsomest on the block. With stone base-
ments, they are approached by stoops which lead to a narrow pedimented,
canopied doorway in the case of No. 74 and to the prototype Greek
Revival doorway at No. 76, almost identical to the one at No. 72. The
two-paneled door at No. 76, with anthemion ornament at the top and
bottom of the panels, is flanked by pilasters and sidelights. The
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transom bar is pleasingly decorated by the anthemion honeysuckle motif.
No. 76 retains' its original roof cornice with tiny garlanded attic win-
dows cut into the fascia board, a charming indication of the existence
of an attic story. Above the cornice, skylights appear on the roofs at
Nos. 74 and 76, The windows at No. 76 have double-hung muntined sash.
At No. 74 there is an original, very simple, wrought iron stair rail-
ing with typical Greek fret designs at its base, while No. 76 has a
simple railing at both the stoop and areaway, W1th curvilinear designs
at the top and bottom, a later replacement. No. 74 was first taxed to
Baldwin § Mills, No. 76 to William Burrell, a druggist.

This six-story brick apartment house was built in 1808 by Charles
B. Meyer, architect for Israel Lippman. Belonging to the Lclectic
period of design, the stone window and door trim is contrasted effec-
tively with the brickwork. The entrance porch, which supports the
bottom of the fire escape, is framed by a pair of classical pilasters
supporting deep horizontal brackets. A horizontal band course, with
dentils below, separates the ground floor from the upper stories. The
console motif appears in the keystones of the windows of the first and
second floors. On the upper floors, the window lintels are given im-
portance by elongated radial blocks both at the central keystone and at
the ends. In addition, the brickwork is handled in an interesting
fashion, with a horizontally grooved (rusticated) effect at first and
sixth floor levels, and by the usé of brick corner blocks {quoins) at
the intervening floor levels. The cornice has been replaced by a plain
brick parapet. :

This is the side entrance to the extension to No.. 417 Bleecker
Street, built on the site of a frame barracks which housed British
prisoners during the War of 1812. This section was replaced later in
the century by a brick buiiding, which was raised from two stories and
attic to three in 1884. In the Twantieth Century, the building was
modified still further and raised an.aaditional story. It is now oc-
cupied by a restaurant at street level, with a hotel above.

BANK STREET  North Side (Betw. Eighth Ave. § West 4th St.)

The large corner building (described under Eighth Avenue, No. 9
Abingdon Square), was erected in 1938 on land which included the site
of the old Abingdon Hotel.

On the western portion of the site of this large apartment
house once stood three handsome Greek Revival town houses, facing
Abingdon Square (Nos. 1, 3 and 5). They were three stories high
above basements and were approached by gracious stoops leading up
to their front doors. The front doors were framed with excep-
tionally fine fluted Doric columns, surmounted by full entabla-
tures. These houses were uniformly crowned with a cornice, above
a-fascia board, which displayed circular ornamental plaques. The
end house at Bank Street (No. 1) had its two chimneys exposed to
view, flanking a central attic window with connecting wall set
slightly above the level of the top of the main wall.

They were adjoined by the Abingdon Hotel to the north, and
they presented a remarkably handsome appearance facing the square.

) The Bank Street School, one of New York's foremost educational
institutions, occupies this four-story building. It was originally

erected in 1905 for Rudolph E. and Gustave Schirmer, sons of G. Schirmer,

the founder of the music publishing house, G. Schirmer, Inc. The archi-
tect for the building was Howard Chapman. The starkly functional facade
has been completely shorn of all ornament and smooth-stuccoed. At the
upper floors, it has three bays of triple windows separated by masonry
pllasters A fire escape runs across the building at the fourth stoyy,
giving the effect of a balcony.

Charles B. Meyers was the architect of this double apartment house

of 1908 erected for Samuel Lipman. The windows provide the focal point:
those at the ends of the building are surmounted by pediments from the
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#65-67 third through the fifth stories. A heavy roof cornice crowns this six-
cont, story building.

#63 'Designed in modified Romanesque Revival style, this five-story
© apartment house of 1889 is entirely faced with brownstone, Thé archi-

tect, M, V. B. Ferdon, has contrasted the smooth stone with banded
rustications with interesting results. The stone entrance porch, sup-
ported on stubby columns, serves as the terminal point of the fire
escape which runs down the center of the building. A prominent roof
cornice with closely spaced console brackets crowns the building, which
was built for Henry W. Deane. '

Webb, a builder and draftsman at 184 Wooster Street, who had purchased

the property in 1835. A door at the left of the facade, at basement

level, leads through a passageway to a three-story building at the back

of the lot, erected the following year. The bracketed roof cornice and

heavy sheetmetal cornices over the window lintels and door are later

i - additions to protect earlier corniced lintels. The graceful handrail-

' ing at the stoop is the original, while the cast iron newel posts are

characteristic of the heavier design of the third quarter of the
Nineteenth Century. A similar house with adjeining passageway to a
rear house at the back of the lot once stood on the site of No. 63.

#61 This three-story brick building was erected in 1840 by George
|
|
|

#59 This six-story loft building of 1905 is a simply designed structure
' .-in which the facade is divided vertically into two sections, a narrow
one to the left with single window, and a wider one to the right with
. triple window. It was erected for Cornelia S. Robinson by S. Robinson
§ Son, :

' #55 § 57 Both these three-story town houses of 1842 were erected by Aaron
. ‘Marsh, who was a builder in the mid-Eighteen-thirties, and the owmer
of considerable property in the neighborhood. He purchased the lots in
1841 and sold No. 55 the following year to William Sharrock, a physician,
who paid taxes for both houses. Marsh lived in No. 57 himself for a
number of years after 1842. Both houses retain their Greek Revival door-
ways, with flanking pilasters and high entablatures. The door at No. 55
may have originally been transferred from the interior of No. 58. The
deep roof cornice, with modillions and dentils at No. SZ has a finely
" detailed fascia board with attractive swirling motifs. The heavy sheet-
‘metal cornices above the windows and the little corbels under the win-
dowsills of No. 57 are later additions.

! #51-53 'This corner apartment building, six stories high, was designed in
: 1898 for J. M. Wimpie by George F. Pelham, architect. It is typical of
: the Eclectic style of the late Nineteenth Century. Built of variegated
b . brick with stone trim, the architect chose classical motifs for the
' decorative accents: pilasters at the entrance doorway, a Greek key de-
sign in the band course separating the second and third floors, and
pedlmented windows at the center of the third and fourth stories. (It
'is also known as No. 304 West Fourth Street.)

'BANK STREET South Side . {So. of Abingdon Sq., Betw, Bleeckér § Hudson Sts.)

A playground has replaced several Nineteenth Century buildings on’
this site.

BLEECKER STREET East Side (Betw. West 11th § Bank Sts.}

#403-415 This row ¢f seven houses, built in 1860 by John D. Van Buren of
: ' Orange County, New York, on land he had purchased in 1852, is a good ex-
ample of the vernacular of the day. Each house is four stories high.
Originally, all had ground floor stores with cast iron columns; the
stores at Nos. 403, 405 and 407 have been altered to apartments. Indi-
vidual, but identical, roof cornices with modillions unify the row.
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BLEECKER STREET East Side (Betw. West 11th § Bank Sts.)

" Historically, the site of this four-story building on the corner
of Bleecker and Bank Streets is extremely interesting. It occupies the
site of a former barracks, of frame construction, which housed British
prisoners during the War of 1812. 1In 1901 the remains of this struc-
ture, which had been used as a private residence with a store at
street level, was converted to the Laux hotel, named after the owner.
By the later Nineteen-thirties, the building had been modified still
further, faced with brick, and raised from three to four stories. It
is now occupied by a restaurant at street level and a hotel above.

BLEECKER STREET West Side (Betw. Bank § West 11th Sts.)

The eastern half of this block, adjoining Bleecker Street, is a
playground.

EIGHTH AVENUE (Between Bank § West 13th Streets)

Standing in Abingdon Square and looking northward along Eighth
Avenue, we are immediately struck by the contrast betweeh tlie east and
west sides of the Avenue. The west side remains virtually unchanged
with long rows of three:story houses with shops at street level.

The east side, which was once quite similar, has been occupied, within
recent years, by high apartment houses, except for the block between
Twelfth and Jane Streets which remains virtually unchanged.

These low-lying houses on the west side, with their stores at
street level, were built in the vernacular of the day, and it is their
very simplicity which constitutes their charm as a part of the city-
scape. Houses such as these tell, better than words, the story of the
life of the people as it was lived in the first half of the Nineteenth
Century,

Of the large apartment houses which occupy part of the east side
of the Avenue, it may be said of many of them, and particularly of the
one at the southeast corner of Horatio Street, that no attempt was made
to reflect the quality of The Village., It does not represent a gradual
erosion of values--it is destruction knowingly wrought, the challenge
of the thoughtless developer. The buildings of equal magnitude on Fifth
Avenue teach the lesson that the high building need not necessarily defy
an entire neighborhood but that, through proper design, even an outsize
building can be made to blend with its surroundings.

EIGHTH AVENUE (ABINGDON SQUARE)} East Side (Betw. Bank § West 12th Sts.)

Abingdon Square is a small triangular park with benches, named after
Willoughby, the Earl of Abingdon, who married Charlotte, one of Sir
Peter Warren's daughters. Before the Revolution, the Warren estate in-
cluded a major part of what is now Greenwich Village. Abingdon Square,
enclosed as a public park in 1836, serves as the southern terminal
point of Eighth Avenue; the Abingdon Square numbering on the east side
of the block between Bleecker, Bank and West Twelfth Streets should not
be confused with similar Eighth Avenue numbers one block to the north,
on the west side of the Avenue, Of the houses on the east side of the
Square, -‘No. 11 survives from the Nineteenth Century; all the other
buildings are modern.

This large six-story apartment house (also known as No. 75 Bank
Street) was built in 1938 by the Abingdon Court Company and was designed
by Irving Margon. It covers the site of the old Abingdon Hotel (No. 1
Abingdon Square) which onte stood on the oblique-angled corner formed
by the intersection of Bleecker and Bank Streets and Eighth Avenue. It
is built of brick.

Nestled between two large apartment houses, this narrow five-story
building is the only one of the original houses left on this block, It
was erected in 1855-56 for James W. Elliot, physician, as his own resi-
dence and is a dignified example of Italianate style, The store at
street -level is a later addition, however. The house has interesting
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- EIGHTH AVENUE (ABINGDON SQUARE) East Side (Betw. Bank § West 12th Sts.)

~ segmental-arched windows crowned by arched, corniced lintels; these lin-

tels are carried on side frames with corbel blocks at the tops. The
sills are molded and supported at th. ends by small corbels. ' The roof .
cornice, with vertically placed console brackets, has handsome orna-
mental panels between them. At the time of building, this house was
flanked on both sides by handsome Greek Revival houses, all erected
almost twenty years earlier at the time of the creation of Abingdon
Square Park. Facing the Park, this was a most desirable address.

S1x stories high, this brick apartment house displays late Engllsh

"Gothic detail at the doorway and first floor windows. It was built in

1927 for V. Green Co., Inc., and was designed by Sommerfeld § Sass. -

Paired windows flank the entry and extend the ent.re height of the '

building with drip or label moldings above those at the first floor.

The dignified front door has a low, four-centered arch with label mold-

ing and stone trim surrounding it. The parapet at.the roof has widely

spaced crenelations and paired brick piers at ends and center carried

up above its top.

ThlS sixteen-story brick apartment house of 1929-31 occupies the
oblique cormer angle at West Twelfth Street and is also entered from
that street (No. 302). It is surmounted by a penthouse floor and cen-
tral tower. With stores at street level, facing both the avenue and
the street, it maintains throughout a rather uniform fenestration,
utilizing a simple type window with central element flanked by smaller
'side units. Two windows on each side set above a continuous stone band
course, at fourth floor level, have elaborate stone enframements of
original design. The architects for the building were Boak § Paris for
the Cobham Realty Corporation.

‘EIGHTH AVENUE East Side (Betw. West 12th § Jane Sts;)

The houses on this block were all erected between 1840 and 1842,
beginning at the southern end of -the block. Nos. 22-26 were built in
1840 on land owned by Aaron Marsh, who lived nearby on the site of the
present No. 325 West Fourth Street. Marsh was very active in the
Eighteen-forties in the development of this area of The Village. The .
property deeds indicate that the land passed back and forth between
Marsh and two masons, John, Jr., and William Huyler (of Nos. 56 Grove
and 44 Bedford Streets respectively) during the period of building.
Since John Huyler, Jr., paid the taxes on No. 26, it is very.probable
that these two men were the actual builders of the first three houses.
Another builder, Tarleton B. Earle, is associated with the houses on
the northern end of the block.

This three-story, pie-shaped, brick house occupies the lot at the

~ intersection of West Twelfth Street. It was -built in 1840 for Aaron

Marsh and 'is also entered at No. 293 West Twelfth Street. Completely
simple, it was built in the local vernacular of the period, retaining
its original appearance above street level with plain wood cornice and
flush, stone window lintels. The stores on the Avenue side underwent
considerable remodeling in 1936. The small windows at the apex of the

avenue replace the larger originals.

This very shallow brick house, no deeper tham its width, but taller
than its neighbors, was also built for Marsh in 1840. Its lower floors
have been extensively remodeled; there is a dignified store at street
level with a wide expanse of brick above it, extending to the sill of
the second floor window. Originally, it was a three-story house with
basement. All that remains of the original may be seen in the muntined

windows of the upper floors. A high brick parapet now replaces the
cornice, . ' '

[N

Located on a gore-shaped lot, this three-story house was taxed in
1840 to John Huyler. It has a store at ground floor and muntined double-
hung windows above, crowned by a brick parapet. Simple in the extreme,
it resembles most nearly the corner house, No, 22 which 1s nearly the

same height.
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EIGHTH AVENUE East Side (Betw. West 12th § jane Sts.)

These two brick houses of 1841 were identical until the doorway
of No. 30 was converted for a basement entrance. They are three
stories high and retain their muntined double-hung windows and plain
wood roof cornices. The splayed window and door lintels are similar
throughout. The buildings were built for William Faulkner, carter.

Built in 1841 as homes for Abraham R. and William Soper, carters,
these houses were originally three stories high. As seen today, they
have been remodeled as an apartment house with central entrance at
street level and store under No. 34. The building is now five stories
high, crowned by a high brick parapet at the roof. The two lower
floors were rebuilt in Roman brick with a soldier course at the top
passing just above the second fleor windows.

These two severely simple buildings have recently been remodeled
at ground floor to appear as one. No. 38, a four-story brick building,
was erected in 1841-42 by Tarleton B. Earle, a builder, as his own
home. He lived here in 1841-43 and then moved next door to No, 40.
No, 40, a three-story corner brick house (also No. 330 West Fourth
Street) was built at the same time as No. 38 for W1111am A. Wood, a
neighborhood grocer.

No. 38 has flush stone window lintels. A change in brickwork
above the third floor and a bracketed roof cornice, which was recently
removed, indicate that it was originally the same height as No. 40.
During the recent alteration, the dentiled cornice at No., 40 was re-
moved and, as a result, the house lost some of the fine quality it once
possessed.

The two bu11d1ngs have been painted the same light color and, al-
though of different heights, appear uniform because of their new,
similar brick roof parapets and a continuous store front. They share
a common entrance at No. 38. The store front is dominated by plate
glass display windows. These are surrounded by a grey composition
material resembling granite beneath a sign which separates the store
level from the upper floors. Although the two buildings present a
neat appearance, structural changes and the loss of the original
decorative features emphasize how alterations not guided by knowledge
can damage the character of a neighborhood.

EIGHTH AVENUE East $ide (Betw. Jane § Horatio Sts.)

This eighteen-story apartment house, built in 1959, by and for the
Inman Realty Corporation, is entered at No. 31 Jane Street. It repre-
sents a breaking away from the scale, the quality and the beauty that
we have come to associate with The Village. The windows are still
articulated as individual eatities but are already being grouped in
ever larger multiples unrelated to anything which adjoins the build-
ing. This block, with its three tiny houses flanked by apartment
houses, is an example of the fate awaiting The Village if such new
construction is permitted without any preliminary review of its design.

These little three-story houses, so simple in style, remain as
three ghostly survivors of a row of eleven identical houses which once
occupied the entire block front. They were built in 1845 for Asher B.
Hamlin, of Islip, Suffolk County, on land he had purchased for develop-
ment in the spring of the same year. The three remaining houses are
virtually unaltered, except for the first floor, occupied by a
restaurant which runs through the three houses. Two of the houses,
Nos. 50 and 52, have muntined sash. A continuous roof cornice unifies
the buildings, which were semi-commercial properties from the outset,
with stores at street level and living quarters above.

Seventeen stories high, this mammoth apartment house occupies the
corner and is entered at No. 14 Horatio Street.’ The lure of this
apartment house is to come and live in "Historic Greenwich Village."
Like a disrespectful sightseer, this gigantic pile belies the very
thing it professes to admire. It was built in 1959 for the Fourteen
Horatio Street Corporation. No attempt whatsoever was wade, either
in scale, fenestration, materials or details, to reflect the quality
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EIGHTH AVENUE East Side (Betw. Jane § Horatio Sts.)

of the surrounding ''Village.'" This type of construction is not a
gradual erosion of values--it is destruction, knowingly wrought, the
challenge of the thoughtless developer. If we ask how a building of
this magnitude could have been designed to be compatible, a second

look at Fifth Avenue between Washington Square and Thirteenth Street
could teach the lesson that the high building need not necessarily
defy an entire neighborhood. Through sympathetic use of similar build-
ing materials and details, even a large building can be made to blend
with its surroundings.

The strident horizontals, the curved wall, which only tend to
augment the appearance of size, and the lack of detail in this build-
ing are not necessarily modern. Good contemporary -architecture (as
witness "Butterfield House'" on West Twelfth and Thir eenth Streets)
can, through a multiplicity of small units of exterior design, bring
even the largest structure into rapport with its diminutive neigh-
bors. Setbacks related to low adjoining buildings and many other de-
sign devices can bridge the gap where even the least consideration is
given to living with one's neighbors, not to merely defying them. All
these considerations, incorporated in a thoughtful design, can serve
to enhance a neighborhood and retain for it that most valuable asset--
human scale.

EIGHTIt AVENUE West Side (Betw. West 14th § West 13th Sts.)

“These four'buildings at the southern end of this block were

erected on property purchased by the Genet family in 1829 and.
.developed thereafter. This land had once been a part of the Ireland
" family farm. (Nos. 75-79 are outside the Historic District.)

This attractive brick house of the Greek Revival period was built

for James Wallace, who had purchased the property from the Genets late
- in 1833. Wallacé, whose lumber yard was around the corner on Thir-
- teenth Street near Eighth Avenue, built this house the following year,
~in ¥834. It has low attic windows in the wood fascia board beneath

the roof cornice and long windows at the second floor. A store
occupies the ground floor and, as designed, has absolutely no rela-

~  tion to the house above it.

67-69

#65

#61

Four stories high and classed as a factory, this building is now
occupied by a lumber company. Built in 1833 for Maria Genet, of
Rensselaer County, New York, it was originally three stories high.
The building has a large access door at the ground floor and a sheet-
metal roof cornice with brackets and a very low ornamental balustrade
above it, inscribed with the name "Hayes.'" This refers to George -

.Hayes, who acquired the property in 1880.

This double apartment house with uniform facade was erected for
Pierson S, Halstead in 1884. It was designed by James E, Ware, a
well-known architect of the period, and has shops at street level.
Built of brick, the muntin arrangement in the window sash suggests
Queen Anne influence, The windows on the 'top floor are separated by
pilasters and crowned by 2 plain cornice with modillions and plain
brick fascia.

This four-story brick apartment house was designed by William H.
Cauvet, architect, for J. Russell in 1852 with store at the ground
floor. It retains its original windows and cornice and, although :
lacking decoration, it has refinement in the proportioning of the
windows which decrease in size as they ascend. (This property is
also No, 301 West Thirteenth Street.) '

"EIGHTH AVENUE West Side (Betw. West 13th § Horatio Sts.)

This open lot is a gascline filling station having the rear of
diverse adjoining houses as a backdrop. Utilitarian in the design,
it fills a necessary function, serving this area. No thought of
beauty nor any attempt to utilize compatible materials is displayed

here. Good design, appropriate materials, and a unifying brick wall
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EIGHTH AVENUE West Side (Betw. West 13th § Horatio Sts.)

across the rear of the lot, partially hiding the rear walls of the
houses, might have produced something worthy of this conspicuous,
long narrow lot facing Jackson Square to the east. The land for the
Square was ceded to the city in 1826,

The low, three-story vernacular house, on the corner of Eighth
Avenue and Horatio Street, was built in 1843 with a store at strect
level. It was erected for Andrew L. Ireland, attorney, who had in-
herited the property in 1837 from John Ireland, but subsequently lost
it; he then repurchased it at public auction at the end of 1842. The
house adjoins a row of three taller houses on Horatio Street (Nos.
1-5), built a few years later by his sister, Jane Gahn. It is now the
home of the Greenwich Village Humane League for the care of animals.

EIGHTH AVENUE West Side (Betw. floratio § Jane S§ts.)

located on the site of a former stable, these very simple five-
story apartments were built soon after 1873, They have stores at the
ground floor, absolutely plain walls and an unusually heavy roof
cornice with brackets. .

Located at the corner of West Fourth Street, with one corner
truncated by it, this five-story apartment house is constructed of
Roman brick. It was built in 1894-95 for Joseph Doyle and has a store
at street level. The windows on the Avenue are paired and surrounded
by a stone frame which embraces both. At the second floor, the win-
dows have rustication blocks at the sides beneath the lintel.

These two almost triangular brick buildings, with stores below,
have a fine unifying cornice with modillions and dentils. Perhaps .
because of the shape of the lots, the windows are spaced unusually far
apart, making them different from any others nearby. They were built
for Aaron Marsh between 1842 and 1845, at a time when he was also
developing the blockfronts to the south on the Avenue, between Jane
and West Twelfth Streets. The stores are unobtrusively combined
under a cornice at Nos. 33-35 and under a wide band of wood at Nos.
37-43. The arched dorway, with lamp above, at No. 43 is especially
attractive. '

This three-story building (described under No. 33 Jane Street)
was erected in 1842 and occupies the corner lot at Jane Street. It
has been completely stuccoed-over.

EIGHTH AVENUE West Side (Betw. Jane § West 12th Sts.)

This blockfront of practically identical houses was built in 1845,
when the estate of Richard Towning was liquidated. Until that time,
this block was largely undeveloped. Of the half dozen men who took
advantage of  the sale, the most important for this row were Bradish
Johnson, a distiller, who owned Nos. 13, 15 and 19, as well as prop-
erty on West Twelfth Street around the corner, and two members of the
Marsh family, who both lived in New Jersey. Nos. 23 and 29 were
erected for Ephraim Marsh, and Nos. 25 and 27 for John, as part of the
development of their property which also included Nos. 38-42 Jane
Street, around the corner. Henry Wilson, druggist, owned No, 11 at
the corner of West Twelfth Street, later raised to five stories.

Three stories high, of brick, these remarkably well preserved
houses are all crowned by simple cornices with fascia below. Nos.
13-23 retain attractive dentiled cornices and Nos. 17-29 have muntined
sash. All were planned with stores at street level and dwellings
above, The houses are well proportioned and typical of the vernacular
of the day, but the addition of a motley array of signs above many of
the store fronts detracts from the appearance of the row.

No. 11, entered at No. 297 West Twelfth Street and now scheduled
for demolition, is the only one of these houses which was later raised
to five stories. It has a handsome double door entrance, surmounted
by a bracketed lintel. The top story windowsills rest on little
corbels, added later in the century, at about the same time as the

- roof cornice with paired brackets.
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EIGHTH-AVENUE West Side (Betw. W. 12th & Bethune Sts.)

"surrounded by bouweries (farms). Its former northerly continuation,

‘The houses facing Abingdon Square are descrlbed under the appro-
priate streets. :

GANSEVOORT STREET (Between West 4th § Hudson Streets)'

Gansévoort Street received its present name in 1837, honoring a

‘well-known Albany family. It was laid out as the Great Kill Road in

the mid-Seventeen-sixties at the impetus of Oliver De Lancey. It

started at the Hudson River between the estates of two prominent men,

De Lancey and William Bayard. It runs along the site of the Great . .
Kill (large stream), where in the mid-Seventeenth C<atury a common -
pasture for cattle and passages from the woods to the waterside were - i

Southampton Road, was named for an heir of Sir Peter Warren, whose
magnificent estate to the south was called '"Greenwich House.'' To-
gether, the two roads formed the chief northerly road from The
Village, running as far as Love Lane and Abingden Road, named for
another heir. Thé road's north terminus was near the present Twenty-
first Street and Sixth Avenue., This region was part of the farm of
Sir Peter Warren in the Eighteenth Century.

GANSEVOORT STREET South Side (Betw. West 4th § Hudson Sts.)

This nine-stofy building (described under Nos. 342-356 West
Fourth Street) is situated at the eastern end of the block. A play-

ground occupies the remainder of the block to the west.

GREENWICH AVENUE (Between Eleventh Street § Eighth Avenue)

GreénWich Avenue is one of the more attractive shopping streets
in The Village. The houses and apartment buildings have stores at
street level with the upper portions of most of the houses remaining

intact or altered only by the addition of one story.

The east side is particularly fortupate in that alterations have
been kept to a minimum between Twelfth and Thirteenth Streets. These

" low houses with their stores provide a restful and a most inviting

shopping area.

The west side is lined mostly with apartment houses, six stories
high with stores at street level. At Jane Street a marked change in
the skyline results from a sixteen-story apartment which in other
respects, ‘such as color and materials, blends well with the area.

Diversity is added by a little substation building, in the

French "moderne’ style, and by a large theater, both on the east side.

The présent opeén quality of Greenwich Avenue is enhanced by the
parklike Jackson Square, at its north end.

‘GREENWICH AVENUE West Side (BetwlvHoratio'G Jane Sts.)

This sixteen-story apartment house of 1929-31 (described under

‘Nos, 2-4 Horatio Street) has stores on the Greenwich Avenue side.

“ This six-story brick apartment house with stores on the Greenwich
Avenue side (described under No. 1 Jane Street) was erected in 1938-39.

GREENWICH AVENUE West Side (Betw. Jane § West 12th Sts.)

Erected in 1903, this six-story apartment house (described under

No. 2 Jane Street) has stores on the Greenwich Avenue side.

These two houses are all-that remain of a row of six which was
erected. for ‘$peculative purposes in 1842 for the DeKlyn estate, which

~ owned and’ developed the eastern section of. the block, including Nos.
243-249 ‘West Twelfth Street and Nos. 4-8 Jane Street, built thg '
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GREENWICH AVENUE West Side (Betw. Jane & West 12th Sts.)

following .year,

Though both these Greenwich Avenue houses have been considerably
altered, particularly by the substitution of basement entrances for
the stoops, traces of the original Greek Revival doorway at the former
parlor floor are still discernible at No. 109. This has now been con-
verted to a window. At No. 107, the space between the left-hand win-
dows was removed, and triple casement windows were installed in the
Twentieth Century. At parlor floor level, all the windows are sur-
mounted by lunettes. A bracketed roof cornice crowns the front wall.

This six-story apartment house of 1906-07 (described under No.
235 West Twelfth Street) has stores on the Avenue.

‘GREENWICH AVENUE West Side (Betw. West 12th § Bank Sts.)

This two-story structure at the corner (also Nos. 234-238 West
Twelfth Street) is occupied by a theater which serves the neighbor-
hood. It replaced a one-story frame dwelling on the corner, which
was demolished in 1921, and a garage, formerly a stable, located on
the Avenue, which was altered in 1930. :

Erected in 1928-29, this six-story corner apartment building
also faces Bank Street (Nos. 1-7)., The architects, Gronenberg §
Leuchtag, turned to medieval traditions in their choice of decorative

‘detail, and enlivened the face of the building by the use of alter-

nating courses of headers and stretchers. Soldier courses appear at
the window lintels and are used as band courses in the two upper

stories. The facade is crowned by peaked gables at both ends, each
featuring a window surmounted by an arch with blind tympanum in the
Romanesque tradition. The building was erected for Edgar J. Nathan.

GREENWICH AVENUE West Side (Betw. Bank § West 1lth Sts.)

This corner six-story apartment building (also Nos. 2-4 Bank
Street) was designed in 1902 for the Greenwich Construction Company
by Sass & Smallheiser. It has stores on the Avenue. With its corner
bay window and classical decoration, it is very similar in design to
Nos. 111-113 Greenwich Avenue, two blocks to the north, corner of
Greenwich Avenue and Jane Street, designed by George F. Pelham, and
erected a year later.

This small three-story dwelling, erected in 1840 for and by
George F. Brush, mason, is one of two town houses built side by side.
The other one was replaced by the apartment house to the south. There
is a store at street level en the Avenue, and the house has simple
corniced lintels and a very plain roof cornice.

Designed in 1924 by George F. Pelham for the Brandt Holding
Corporation, this large, six-story cCorner apartment building (also
Nos. 201-205 West Eleventh-Street) has stores on the Avenue front.

The building is crowned by a high brick parapet with vertically
grooved panels between piers. Blind typani, framed by stone keystones
and impost blocks, appear above the arched second story windows.

HORATIQ STREET "(Between Greenwich & Eighth Avenues)

This short segment of street consists of Jackson Square on the
north side and is filled by two large Twentieth Century apartment
houses on the south side.

Here, where these two modern apartment houses fill the truncated
apex of the block and are surrounded by streets on three sides, it is
not at once evident that they defy their neighbors; however, the
strident horizontality of the apartment house facing Eighth Avenue
is at once apparent. These two large buildings occupy the former site
of six low buildings. Conspicuous from the park, they might well have
been designed in better character with the houses in the surrounding
blocks, had some regulatory body been in existence to give expert
guidance.
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HORATIO STREET South Side (Betw. Greenwich § Eighth Aves.)

, This sixteen-story corner apartment house of 1929-31 (also Nos.
123-129 Greenwich Avenue) was erected for the Cobham Realty Company by
Robert J. Lyons. It is crowned by a penthouse with a high central
tower section, trimmed with terra cotta ornament. The chief decoration
is provided by rusticated brickwork at the corners and by balconies’
below the windows of the fifteenth floors which feature the Greek key
design. The western section of the building, which was modernized in
1959 by the introduction of new windows and central air copditioning,
stands on the site of the New York Caledonian Clubhouse. This orga- .
nization occupied Nos., 8-10 Horatio Street from the early Eighteen-
eighties to the late nlnetles, the premises then served various church
organlzat10n5

Thls seventeen-story brick corner apartment house of 1959 is des-
cribed under No. 54 Eighth Avenue. -

HORATIO STREET North Side (Betw. Greenwich & Eighth Aves.)

The north side of this street is occupled by Jackson Square. The

. City acqulred this land in 1826,

" HORATIO STREET  (Between Eighth Avenue & Hudson Street)

The north side of this street is occupied by a playground except
for the eastern end. There, facing Fourth Street, an office building
occupies the entire eastern end of the block.

"On the south side, except for three small houses, the entire block

' is occupied by apartment houses ranging in dates from the Eighteen-

seventies to the early Nineteen-hundreds. These apartment houses are
rather simply designed and lack the quality of diversity, but they
present collectively an interesting front to the street,

Of note here, and lending some diversity to an otherwise rela-
tively level cornice line, are a converted electrical substation and
the small houses just mentioned. The substation has been converted

for use as an apartment house of three stories with high ceilings. As

the initial building was ‘quite handsome, it represents a worthy trans-
formation into a needed use. Othérwise this fine building might have

-been razed and replaced by something totally und15t1ngu1shed before

any controls could have been applied.

Adjoining the west corner of this block is one of the architectural
treasures of The Village. Originally a house, it was soon converted to
a fire house, and lately to a private residence. It has an "eared"
and pedimented carriage entrance doorway flanked by arched access doors.
The .windows have their fine original stone lintels with their delicate
cornices, and a richly paneled roof cornice with palred brackets crowns
this small structure.

Adjoining it to the east and of approximatel]y the same height,
stand a pair of small town houses which, taken as a group of three,
introduce diversity and charm to this street.

HORATIO STREET . South Side (Betw. Eighth Ave. § Hudson St.)

This six-story corner apartment house of brick (No. 338 West Fourth
Street) has its long side on Horatio Street. The ground floor, with
store, has been remodeled, closing up the Horatio Street side. Lending
interest are paired chimneys beginning at the third floor at each end
of the Horatio Street side, which have been cut off just below the top
of the parapet. The house was built for John A. Kluber by James W..
Cole in 1893. '

- This uniformly treated brick facade relies for effect on the. un-
usual vertical enframement of the windows with panels between them.
The first floor of brick is rusticated and displays boldly splayed
lintels with center and end blocks carried up above the liné of the
top of the lintel. A shallow, bracketed cornice crowns the six-story
building, erected -in 1904 for the ‘Union Construction Company by
Bernstein § Bernstein.

This_building was constructed as a power substation by Consolidated
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HORATIO STREET - South Side (Betw. Lighth Ave. § Hudson St.)

Edison Company. It extends through to Jane Street (Nos. 37 and 39)
and replaced four town houses. It was built in 1899 and altered in
1906. It has recently been intelligently remodeled (1966-67) to an
attractive apartment house of three stories with high ceilings and
double-hung windows. It retains its attractive dentiled cornice with
a roof parapet above it. The floor has a pedimented doorway
and small windows placed high above the street.

These two five-story apartment houses are similar in every detail.
They were built in 1886 for Louis Rossi and were designed by Frederick

T. Camp in a much simplified version of the popular Queen Anne style.

The ground floor displays heavy window lintels carried on brackets,

a contrast to the simplicity of the stepped-down lintels of the upper
floors. Both buildings are crowned by bracketed roof cornices with a
high central portion,

Built in 1871, these two brick apartment houses, five stories high,
were remodeled in 1909 and again in 1935, No. 40 was built for J. W.
Johnston, who owned No. 47 Jane Street, and No. 42 for William Pepper.
Both were designed by I. I. & L. B. tloward. No. 42 has had its wood
double-hung windows replaced by steel sash,and the ground floor of
these buildings has been smooth-stuccoed. Ornate, bracketed roof cor-
nices crown the buildings.

These attractive houses were built in 1848 by two masons, Richard
Cunningham (No. 44) and Cornelius L. Lacost (No. 46} as their own
homes. They had purchased the land early the same year from John B.
Ireland, a descendant of Fair Ireland whose farm originally included
this entire block. Lacost sold No. 46 a year later to Francis Mallaby,
the first name which appears on the tax records. No. 44 retains its
original wood doorway, with pilasters at the sides and transom above.
It has a low stoop and basement areaway. Both houses have similar roof
cornices with modillions and No. 46 has retained its original simple
window lintels at the second and third floors.

This very handsome three-story building, which served as a fire
house for the City from 1856 to the end of the century, replaced an
earlier stable owned by John B. Ireland. Interestingly enough, the
property was developed between 1854 and 1856 by a succession of neigh-
borhood carpenters, first by Peter Young and Nicholas Vreeland, of Young
& Vreeland, and then by Abraham Vrecland and George Colver. In 1856,
Colver, whose shop was next door on the site of the present apartment
house (No. 50), sold No. 48 to the City at a good profit. However, it
is quite likely that it was modified in the next two years, since Fire
Department records describe the building as "in good condition' for the
first time in 1858,

The "eared" carriage doorframe, surmounted by a triangular pedi-
ment, is flanked by lower, arched access doors. The windows of the
upper floors have new sash with horizontal muntins, but they retain
their fine original stone lintels with delicate cornices. A rich roof
cornice, with paired brackets and a paneled fascia board, adorns the
top of the building.

This six-story apartment house, ''The Hudson' (described under No.

636 Hudson Street) was built in 1907 and occupies the corner site. It

has an entrance adjoining No. 48 with open space above it.

~ HORATIO STREET North Side (Betw. Hudson § West 4th Sté.)

This nine-story building (described under Nos. 342-356 West Fourth
Street) occupies the entire eastern end of the block and a playground
occupies the rest of the block to the west of it.

HORATIO STREET North Side (Betw. West 4th St. § Eighth Ave.)

This row of four-story brick houses was built in 1847-48 for Jane
Gahn. Nos. 1 and 3 are examples of late Greek Revival houses, although
stores were later introduced at first story level. They retain their
general proportions, entrances over a low stoop, and a fine unifying
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HORATIO STREET North Side (Betw. West 4th St. & Eighth Ave.)

dentiled cornice. The corner house, No. 5, was altered some time after
1859 when the three houses were sold to Gurdon Bradley of Brooklyn, and
the bu11d1ng was raised in height. Tt acquired a bracketed and paneled
roof cornice with modillions and, together with No. 3, was extended in
. the rear to the full depth of the lot. The extension to No 5 is
described under No. 339 West Fourth Street.

Mrs. Gahn was a daughter of John Ireland, whose ancestors had
owned a very large farm in the West Village. She owned and developed
considerable property in this neighborhood. Her husband, Henry Gahn,
an attorney, served for many years as the Swedish consul in New York

until his death in the mid-Eighteen-thirties. Interestingly enough, he

was instrumental in sending the Swedish King a report on the newly com-
pleted Erie Canal, which was helpful in planning e Gotha Canal in
Sweden at the end of the Eighteen-twenties. :

" HUDSON STREET  (Between West Eleventh § Gansevoort Streets)

The presence of playgrounds and a square give to this portion of
Hudson Street a good deal of open space and an airy character.

The east side is completely residential in character and is dom-
inated by large apartment houses which give a modern appearance to the

_ street. At the southern end is the "Abingdon Arms,™ a six-story brick

apartment house, surrcunded by a playground. To the north, we catch a
glimpse of Abingdon Square, the point of entry of Eighth Avenue. The
open vista is interrupted by a sixteen-story apartment building which
‘occupies the southern half of the block between West Twelfth and Jane
Streets. The next block preserves far more of its Nineteenth Century
flavor, with mid-century, four-story houses occupying most of the
block, except for an apartment house at its northern end. The northw
ernmost block between Horatio and Gansevoort Streets is the site of a
_playground.

The west side of Hudson Street is far more interesting, dlsplaylng
a diversity of building heights, materials, architectural styles and
functions. Most of the houses combine stores at street level with
apartments above. The commercial building occupying the entire block -
between Bank and Bethune Streets has recently been attractively re-

modeled for residential use, preserving much of its orlglnal appearance..

Just above this, between’ Bethune and West Twelfth Streets, is an es-
pecially fine street front, with a row of five and six-story apartment
houses of the late Nineteenth Century sheltering, in their midst, a
notable four-story town house of the Greek Revival period near the
southern end of this block.

Much of the mid-Nineteenth Century character which thlS section
of Hudson Street originally possessed has of course disappeared with
the replacement of older structures by modern apartment houses. This
once was one of the most interesting sections of the City. One has
only to recall the fine houses which lined the Abingdon Square area to
realize what has been lost to posterity,

HUDSON STREET - East Side (Betw. West 1lth § Bank Sts.)

The "Abingdon Arms' apartment house is now an insular structure,
as the buildings which once surrounded it have been razed to make way
for a playground. Built of brick, it is six stories high with stores
at. the ground. floor. The single windows are uniformly spaced and those
at the second and top floors have blind arches of brick with soldier
course lintels inside the arches. A brick parapet, adorned with widely
spaced circular plaques, terminates the brick walls.at the top. The

‘sides facing the playground are relatively simple, having once adjoined

neighboring buildings. It was built in 1926 for the Sixty-Five Morton
Street Corporation, and was designed by Charles B. Meyers. It also
faces West Eleventh Street (Nos. 293-299).

HUDSON STREET East Side (Betw. Bank § West 12th Sts.)

‘This is.the westermmost section of Abingdon Square.
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HUDSON STREET East Side (Betw. West 12th § Jane Sts.)

This sixteen-story apartment house was built in 1929-31 for the
Locksley Realty Company, and was designed by Emery Roth. Here, the
first two floors of this brick building have been differentiated from
the upper portion of the building through the introduction of stone
trim. A series of low arches at first floor level are crowned by a
horizontal band course which skillfully relates to the earlier build-
ings to the north. The second floor windows are set beneath a handsome
band course with individual stone corbels forming a dentiled effect.
Delicate colonnettes are inset at the Twelfth Street corner at both
of these floors. This treatment as well as the accent of a two-story
stone enframement of the Iwelfth Street entrance (No. 305) relate
well to human scale and to the adjoining buildings. Sheer brick walls
rise unadorned above second floor: level.

Uniform rows of houses, when they have exceptionally attrac-
tive designs, are one of the adornments of our City. A great loss
to us was just such a row on the site of this sixteen-story apart-
ment house. This row extended across the north side of Abingdon
Square on West Twelfth Street and dlsplayed several unusual
features,

The entrance doorways were approached by common stoops and
were paired under attractive cast iron porches which had elaborate
lacy ornament. Creating a remarkable effect of unity and conti-
nuity were the iron balconies between the porches which also had
attractive ornamental railings and metal roofs like those of the
entrance porches. Long drawing room windows opened onto these
intermediate balconies at first floor level. The houses had
rusticated stone basements and were three stories high with low
attics, They were late Greek Revival in style and remained
standing until 1929, when they were razed to make way for the new
building which now occupies the entire site. Although town plan-
ning as we know it today was virtually non-existent, the early
builders deserve tremendous credit for having created a coherent
concept such as this row, extending the length of the block. It
was designed to produce variety and interest within the overall
uniformity.

These four houses have been unobtrusively converted to a four-
story apartment house with horizontal band course above the first
floor and high parapet above the roof. They were built for Leonard
Appleby, tobacconist at 96 Wall Street, in 1852. As remodeled, they
have two fire escapes on the Avenue side and are entered from No. 56
Jane Street.

HUDSON STREET East Side (Betw, Jane § Horatio Sts.)

These three fine town houses of brick were built in 1846, Nos. 624
and 626 for George Schott, tobacconist at 177 Washington Street, and
No. 628 for Stephen Kane, sashmaker at 652 Hudson Street. They are
four stories high with stores facing the Avenue.. The low attic windows
and handsome but simple wood cornices give the houses an air of dignity
enhanced by the stepped-up parapet on the side of the corner house,
No. 624 (also No. 57 Jane Street).

Built one year later (1847) than their neighbors to the south,
these two brick houses are also four stories high but rise slightly
above them. They share a cornice with dominant central pediment,
added at a later date. There are stores at the ground floor and win-
dows above them, all of nearly equal height. They were built for
Stephen Kane (No. 630) and for the estate of Richard Towning (No. 632)
as part of the development of the area, following the sale of Towning's
properties by his executors in 1845,

This four-story brick house, with stores at ground level, was
built in 1849 for Elizabeth Lawrence, née Ireland. Her grandfather,
Fair Ireland, had a large farm in this area of the West Village, pur~
chased in 1788 from the Earl of Abingdon. The Ireland family, together.
with the Lawrences, with whom they intermarried, were among the early .
large American landowners in The Village. The building is approximately
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HUDSON STREET East Side (Betw. Jane § Horatio Sts.)

the same’ height as Nos. 624-628 but has windows of equal height. It is
crowned by a boldly projecting bracketed cornice,

Located at the corner of Horatio Street (No. 50) this six-story
brick apartment house of 1907 has stores at ground floor. The windows
on the Avenue side are interestingly arranged so that those at the
ends are wider and surrounded by frames with rustication blocks creat-
ing strong vertical accents at the ends, while those windows in between
are uniformly spaced with simple brick reveals. It was designed for

- Samuel Lipman by Edward A. Meyers.

"HUDSON STREET East Side (Betw. Horatio § Gansevoort 5ts.)

This is the western end of a playground.

- JANE STREET  (Between Greenwich Avenue § West 4th Street)

This street offers a variety of building types, with two garages
and another commercial building, ten or more apartment houses, and only

" five residences still recognizable as such. No particular pattern is

discernible in building heights, which range from two stories to eight-
een, interspersed at random with low buildings adjoining high ones.
By far the most attractive buildings on the street are three little

. Greek Revival town houses on the south side near the Greenwich Avenue

corner, sandwiched in between the six-story garage and a six-story cor-
ner apartment house. They are but little changed from their original
appearance and are dramatically emphasized by the higher buildings on
either side. It is these contrasts which lend drama to the street
scene and which are interesting as examples of historical continuity.
They make us aware that our City represents a chronological sequence
of building types, each of which is representative of its day and age.

. A high Twentieth Century apartment house closes the west end of
the block on the north side of the street, while the remaining apart-

‘ment houses on both ‘'sides, with the exception of one on the north side

at Greehwich Avenue, belong to an earlier period and display varying
degrees of ornamentation. Those at the west end of the block, on the-
south side, were altered in the early part of the Twentieth Century
and are generally devoid of ornament.

. Two garages face each other at mid-block, intruders on a resi-
dential street. ‘Most unfortunate is the low garage on the north side
which does not even attain the level of the rather low brick buildings
on either side of it. This creates a toothless effect in the block.
With the help of a regulatory body, the designs of these garages could
certainly have been brought more into harmony with the archltecture '

~of the street

" JANE STREET South Side ({Betw. Greenwich Ave. § West 4th 5t.)

This handsome six-story apartment building, with rounded bay win-
dow at the corner, was designed by George F. Pelham and erected in 1903
for Harris Ratner.  The studied use of Renaissance decorative motifs
and corner quoins is typical of the work of this architect. This

‘building replaces houses built in 1842 for the DeKlyn estate.

This row consisting of three Greek Revival'brick houses, three
stories high, was built for speculative purposes in 1843 by the heirs -
of Leonard DeKlyn. In 1817 DeKlyn, a merchant, had purchased the land

‘on which these houses, and two similar rows on West Twelfth Street .and

Greenwich Avenue, were built in the Eighteen-forties. Of the three
houses of the Jane Street row, No. 4 was owned by David M: Halliday, -
M.D., whose wife Mary was a DeKlyn The taxes on No. 6 were paid by
Stephen H. Williams and Enoch Dunham, of the.firm of Dunham § Williams,

~carpenters, who undoubtedly were the builders of this, and of the other

rows. Their shop was nearby, on West Eleventh Street between Greenwlch
and Washington Streets.
Nos. 6 and 8 retain their original appearance which is very similar
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JANE STREET South Side (Betw. Greenwich Ave. § West 4th St.)

to Nos. 237-243 West Twelfth Street. In each case, a stoop leads up

to a doorway with brick reveals.. The door is framed by simple classic
wood pilasters with narrow sidelights, surmounted-by a rectangular tran-
som. The paneled door at No. 6 is characteristic of the period. Con-

* trasting with the plain brick facade is the later window trim, con-

sisting of sheetmetal sills and lintels crowned by cornices. Some of
the double-hung muntined window sash is of the original style, as are
the handsome projecting wood roof cornices with delicate dentils and
plain fascia boards. The areaway and stair railings are simply styled
later additions.

"No. 4 retains its Greek Revival doorway, but its appearance has
been much altered by the introduction at a later date of very unusual
dentiled cornices, used as decorative accents not only above the win-
dows but also above the entrance doorway. The bold Neo-Grec roof
cornice, also a later addition, is supported by four vertical and
grooved brackets, while the under side of the cornice has modillions
and a continuous row of dentils beneath them. The fascia board is of
an unusual design, profiled at the top with bossed curves defining the
otherwise plain surface. The original wrought iron areaway railing is
still in place here, with Greek Revival fret and palmetto designs of
cast iron at its base. A fire escape covers the two left-hand windows
of the upper part of the facade, dating from the period of the con-
version to multiple tenancy.

This six-story garage of 1923 replaced a building erected earlier
in this century. The handling of the brick and of the turrets which
terminate the roof parapet are typical of the design of the period.

This building extends through to Nos, 247-251 West Twelfth Strect where
it has a similar facade,.

This five-story apartment house, designed originally in 1887 for
Robert Dick by the architectural firm of A. B. Ogden § Son; was com-
pletely altered in 1939, The most attractive feature of the building
is the fire escape which has been extended across the bualding at each
floor to provide the effect of a balcony. The end panels with four
circular cutouts are a novel feature. Two Tony Sarg murals, just in-
side the entrance door, decorate the entrance hall,

Designed by Julius Boekell, architect, this five-story house was
built in 1872 for Charles Guntzer. The building terminates in a tall
roof parapet with stome coping. It has been considerably altered over
the years. 1In 1952, the stores at either side of the entrance were
converted to apartments. The windows are all segmental-arched and,
although shorn of all trim, provide perhaps the only reminder of the
original appearance of the building.

Two stories high, this building was erected in 1868 for Calvin
Demarest by Charles H. Demarest, carpenter. It served originally as a
stable, with living quarters for the coachman on the second floor.
Although altered in the late Nineteen-twenties, features associated
with the early phase of the Romanesque Revival style are still retained,
such as the segmental-arched windows of the second story and the dec-
orative row of brick corbels under the roof cornice. It is used by a
commercial concern,

These two five-story stone buildings, erected in 1885-86 for Lowe
& Brothers (James A. and Isaac N. Lowe} by Charles Rentz, have been
altered several times since that time. They present a perfectly plain
facade to the street, enlivened at street level by casement windows and

"~ cast iron fluted pilasters framing the entrances. The roof parapet

has three small triangular gables.

This oné-story building was erected originally in 1913-14 and was
altered by the addition of a rear extension in 1921 for Charles
Fitzpatrick. -

Formerly a stable with living quarters above, this small two-story
building has been occupied for a number of years by a printer. A
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' JANE STREET South Side - (Betw. Greenwich Ave. § West 4th St.)

simple déntiled roof cornice crowns the structure, which was built in
1870 by Linus Scudder, a well known Village bullder, for Charles E.
Pearsall.

This house was originally built about 1829 for Richard Cromwell,
a merchant, who had purchased this and the adjoining properties {Nos.
331-327 West Fourth Street) from David Bogert in 1829. This four-story
building was altered to provide an English basement entrance. The '

- bracketed cornice dates from later in the century. The house retains

little of its original character and has been cqmpletely smooth-stuccoed.

The corner house (described under No. 331 West Fourth Street) was
originally built in 1828. The one-story extension at the rear was a
later Nineteenth Century addition, replacing a stable at the back of
- the lot. The deliberate use, in modern times, of Flemlsh bond brick-.
work in such a bu11d1ng is noteworthy.

-JANE STREET North Side <{Betw. Elghth & Greenwich Aves.)

This seventeen-story apartment house (described under Nos. 42-46
Eighth Avenue) built in 1959 by and for the Irman Realty Company, occu-
pies the corner site on Eighth Avenue. The main entrance is at No. 31
Jane Street. The sculptor Gleb W. Derujinsky resides here.

Erected in 1868 for the Bronze Works Manufacturing Company, this
structure is a good example of vernacular commercial architecture of
that period. Of special interest is the original store front, sur-
mounted by a heavy sheetmetal cornice. At the roof line, a dentiled
brick fascia crowns this simple building.

This two-story garage, with stepped roof parapet, was erected in
1921 for the New York Society of the Methodist Episcopal Church. It
-was formerly the site of the Jane Street M. E. Church which had estab-
.lished itself here in the mid-Eighteen-forties, Two three-story town
houses once stood at each side of the lot.

Extremely simple and erected in 1844 as an investment for Walter
H. Mead, tinsmith, this simple four-story building has muntined double-
hung sash and a bracketed roof cornice. The front door retains certain
-features of the Greek Revival, the period when the house was built. An
arched gateway affords access to a three-story house (No. 9%) of 1854
built at the rear of the lot which,.in spite of its late date, also
retains features reminiscent of the Greek Revival style.-

These early apartment-buildings, erected as an investment in 1871

-for and by Robert J. Gray, a machinist, combine stylistic features of

‘the outgoing Italianate style, seen in the segmental-arched doorways
crowned with cornices, and the contemporary Neo-Grec style, evident in
the roof cornice. Sheetmetal cornices crown the window lintels. = Four
fire escapes, one for each building, are symmetrlcally placed and a11

. terminate at the second floor.

. "This simple six-story brick apartment house of 1938-39, built for
the -Archbishopric of New York by the architect Charles Kreymborg, relies
for interest on banded brickwork at the ground -floor. It is crowned by
a tall parapet. This building replaced a late Federal house at the

- corner of Jane Street and Greenwich Avenue, in addition to two town

houses next to it on the Greenwlch Avenue 51de
JANE'STREET (Between Eighth Avenue & Hudson_Street) o
Looking into this street, one notes an exceptional row of Greek

Revival houses on the south side. These three-story houses give the
block a warm, intimate scale. Facing them on the north side is a taller

group of apartment houses of the later Nineteenth and Twentieth Centuries.

While a considerable degree of uniformity is maintained on the south
side, a wide variety is immediately evident on the north side, parti-
cularly with regard to architectural styles and building functlons As

-is so often the case, apartment houses predominate although several
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JANE STREET  (Between Eighth Avenue § Hudson Street)

houses at the Hudson Street end are remodeled town houses. Nearby are
two fine Greek Revival houses, remarkable for the fact that they have
changed so little since they were built in the mid-Nineteenth Century.
On the same side of the street near Eighth Avenue is a striking
building, a former electrical substation, now remodeled to serve as
an apartment house. It has a fine brick front of classical design .
with a large arched window at the center. This six-story structure
goes through to. Horatio Street and is a good example of how the best

“of the old buildings can be preserved by finding a new and living use

for them.
JANE STREET South Side (Betw. Eighth Ave., § Hudson $t.)

The three-story house which occupies the corner site, No. 38
(described under Nos. 27-29 Eighth Avenue), shares a common cornice and
window heights with No. 40 and appears to be joined to it. Both were
built in 1845 for John Marsh, of Mendham, New Jersey, who, together with
Ephraim Marsh of Schooley's Mountain, Morris County, New Jersey, devel-
oped the properties at the intersection of Eighth Avenue and Jane Street. :
No. 40 has double-hung muntined windows and a narrow Greek Revival door- !
way with paneled pilasters and glazed transom.

This finé row of Greek Revival houses, all built on land which was
sold by the estate of Richard Townley in 1845, dates from 1846. Among
the men associated with the row are several identified with the build-
ing trades, who undoubtedly worked together to build the houses: Ira

~Topping, mason, who lived at No. 44, Thomas Crane, of Thomas Crane §
Co., gran1te who owned No, 46, and Gustavus A. Conover, builder, who '

appears in sales of property in connection with No. 48, as well as with
the neighboring house, No. S2.

Nos. 42, 44, and 48 retain their stoops and Nos. 44 and 48 their
original'"eared" doorways. The handrailings at Nos. 42 and 44 are.
attractive simplified versions of Greek Revival ironwork. The other
houses have been converted to provide basement entrances. Nos. 42, 44
and 46 retain their muntined double-hung windows and simple stone lin-
tels, crowned at Nos. 42 and 44 by small cornices. Nos. 46-50 have
51mp1e wood roof cornices set at approximately the same height. . The
cornice at No. 42 is similar, but with a deep fascia board into which
three low rectangular windows have been cut. No. 44 has an elaborate
bracketed cornice in the Neo-Grec style of the Eighteen-seventies,

Together with the neighboring houses, Nos. 52 and 54, built a few
years later, the very uniformity of the row gives this south side of
the block a handsome residential .character typical of the mid-Nineteenth
Century.

No. 52 was built in 1848 in a much simplified version of the Gothic
Revival style, as may be seen from its doorway, the ironwork at the
stoop and the French windows at the parlor floor. This brick house,
which stands three stories high, was undoubtedly built by Gustavus A.
Conover, a neighborhood builder, who had purchased the land two years
earlier and paid the taxes. The house is crownsd by a simple wood
cornice which is practically the same helght as those of its neighbors
to the east. |
Remodeled in the Twentieth Century to provide a basement entrance,
No. 54, a dignified three-story brick house, must once have been
identical to No. 52, although built three years later. The windows
align perfectly, except for those of the parlor floor; which were
raised to sill height when the stoop was removed The double~hung
muntined windows with simple stone lintels refain, but the bracketed -
cornice was added later in the Nineteenth Century. The house was
built in 1851 for John M, Patterson, agent, Merchants Exchange, who had
purchased property fronting on both Hudson and Jane Streets from the
Towning estate in 1845

The four-story corner house (described under No. 622 Hudson Street)

was erected in 1852 for Leonard Appleby, to whom Patterson had sold his
Hudson Street properties the year before. :

it
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JANE STREET North Side (Betw. Hudson St. § Eighth Ave.)

‘This -number is net used in the present numberlng system. A bricked-
up doorway with lintel may be seen, which once served as the rear en-
trance of No. 624 Hudson Street.

Built at the rear of the lot belonging to No. 624 Hudson Street,
this extremely shallow house dates from some time after the mid-Eighteen-

. fifties. It was erected for George Schott in 1846.. The house is of

good vernacular brick construction with double-hung muntined windows.
The entrance doorway at street level is sheltered by a projecting cor-
nice supported on vertical brackets, The building is crowned by a high
brick parapet with stone coping which accords with the roof 11ne of 1ts
neighbors,

‘These two attractive little three-story brick houses were built in
1846 for George Schott. Both retain their stoops abové high basements
with simple wrought iron handrailings and areaway railings. No. 55 has
muntined double-hung sash throughout and an attractive doorway with
pilastered inner door and transom above. A handsome dentiled cornice

“crowns this building. George Schott, a tobacconlst also owned Nos. 624

and 626 Hudson Street around the corner.

Five stories high, this building of 1870, built for and by William
H. Aldrich, owner-architect, is' entered practlcally at grade.  The rus-
ticated ground floor dlsplays an arched doorway flanked by arched win-
dows. Above this point it is four windows wide; each window has a
segmental-arched lintel crowned by an eyebrow' cornice with shoulders.
The handsome bracketed roof cornice has modllllons set between the
brackets :

These two four-story brick town houses with basements were origi-

nally identical. They were built in 1837-39 for Alexander Mactier, a

merchant and a large property owner in the neighborhood. Both houses

" were originally lower: a fourth story was added to No. 49 after 1858,

as is evidenced by the bracketed cornice. The evenly spaced windows are
all. square-headed at No. 49, while those in the basement have segmental
arches.

In 1870 the front of No. 47 was extended forward for J. W. Johnston.
The segmental-arched windows date from this period. At No. 47 a small
but attractive corbeling pattern appears at the top of the high parapet,
just below the stone coping. Both houses have been altered in the
Twentieth Century to provide basement entrances.

- This number is not used in the presentenumbering system.

_Theée two five-story apartment houses, with dumbbell-shaped plans,
were built in 1888 for Robert Dick and designed by A. B. Ogden § Son,

-architects. They are stone-faced with the rustications of the first

floor extending up to the level of the stone brackets supporting the
window lintels. The windows above the first floor are uniformly spaced
with corniced lintels carried on stone brackets. The roof cornices are
bracketed with pediments projecting at the center of each building. The

- design of these cornices reflects the 1nf1uence of the Queen Anne style,

so popular at this period.

This electr1ca1 substation building, erected by and for the Edison

- Electric Illuminating Company in 1924, was an addition to its building

at Nos, 30-32 Horatio Street. It stands on the site of a church erected
in 1836, which was occupied by successive Presbyterian church groups,
first by the Village Presbyterian Church, then the Jane Street Church,
and finally the Fifth Associate Reformed Presbyterian Church. It is an
imposing classical building with high, round-arched central window
flanked by small windows with blind arches and by an access door at the
left side. It was interestingly remodeled as an apartment house in 1966-
67 for the Major Builders Corporation, utilizing the original features.
The upper floors have central triple windows flanked by single windows.

This handsome four-story house, built in 1847 for Alfred A. Milner,
baker, remains virtually unchanged except for -the ground floor, which has
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JANE STREET North Side (Betw. Hudson St. § Eighth Ave.)

been remodeled as a store with an arch-pedimented doorway leading to
the upper floors. The windows allthave muntined double-hung sash and a
fine wood roof cornice, carried onlevenly spaced console brackets,
crowns the house. The sculptor Abron Ben-Schmuel lived. here in the
mid- Nlneteenqthlrtles.

This three-story building with truncated corner faces both on
Jane Street and on Eighth Avenue (No., 31)., It also was built for
Alfred A. Milner, five years earlier than No. 35. It has been com-
pletely altered and smooth-stuccoed. '

WAVERLY PLACE:® Bast Side (Betw. West 1lth § Bank Sts.)

The entrance to this three~story brick apartment house, formerly
the Northerna Baptist Church, is at‘No. 215 West Eleventh Street. It
was recently completely altered,

This narrow, three-story brick town house, altered at the first
floor in 1939, retains its original appearance at the upper stories.
It is very reﬁardataire for its date of 1877, when it was built for
W. A. Ballentine. It was designed'by Thomas H. McAvoy, architect. It
retains traces of Italianate de51gn in the roof cornice, windows and

., areaway railings.

This handsome row of three town houses, built in 1888 for John C.
Barr, was designed by the noted architect William B. Tuthill. It is an
outstanding example of Romanesque Revival style. Executed in finish
brick, it reflects little of the rough-hewn quality of Henry Hobson
Richardson's stone buildings in this style. The high stoops, which
retain their original twisted ironwork, lead directly to tall simple
doorways, paired at Nos. 245 and 247. The rectangular doorways have
Romanesque entablatures above, Wlth tiny dentils and billet moldlngs
above them. The handsome nine- paneled doors display intricate iron
grilles over the glass panels. At the second story, the round-arched
windows, emphasized by radial brickwork, are outlined by a delicate
brick molding resting on stone corbel blocks. A handsome, boldly pro-
jecting, dentiled roof cornice, with billet moldings and paneled fascia
beneath, crowns the entire row. Stanley William Hayter, printmaker,
lived at No. 245 in the early Nineteen-fifties,

This corner house of 1861 is part of a row of houses fronting on
Bank Street (described under Nos. 6-14 Bank Street).

WAVERLY PLACE West Side (Betw. Bank § West 11th Sts.)

.These two three-story houses, altered in 1926 and 1931, share a
common facade, They were built for Hester A, Gregory and were designed
in Romanesque Revival style by architect William B. Tuthill in 1886.

Two separate entrances, one at the left side of each house, of which

No. 244 is slightly below grade, represent thezz Twentieth Century al-
terations. The design of the facade is an interesting one, in which
contrast is provided to the smooth brick surface by the rough-hewn
stone lintels of the windows of the first and second floors, by the
terra cotta ornamental panels between the second and third floors and
by the cornice and paneled fascia board beneath it. The radial brick
arches of the third story windows, .emphasized by an outer brick molding,
are similar to, the window treatment across the street in the row at Nos.
243-247 Waverly Place and are likewise an expression of the Romanesque
tradition of design, so characteristic of the Eighteen-eighties. An
attractive ironwork gateway leads to the areaway between Nos. 242 and
244 and a fence separates it from its neighbor to the north, No. 16

Bank Street. :

This six-story brick apartment house was built in 1916 with a
facade of variegated brick in Flemish bond, in the old Federal traditionm.
It has a handsome Federal-type double door recessed in an entrance court.

¥
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WAVERLY PLACE West Sidh (Betw. Bank & Wesﬁ 1ith Sts.)

t

#240-242 The brickwork is attractive, with corner-quoﬁns of the same material.

cont. Interesting features may be found in the first floor windows, set in
- arched recesses, and in-the ornamental band courses and the roof cor-
nice. ; ;

1
i

WEST FOURTH STREET East Side (Betw. West llth & Bank Sts.)

#2385 The corner apartment house, No. 253 Wesi Eleventh Street, erected
in 1900 for Paul Hoffman, was designed by Kurtzer § Rohl, architects.
It is architecturally similar to No. 287 West Fourth Street, its
‘neighbor, described below, ' - '

#287 This handsome brick apartment house, designed by Kurtzer § Rentz

(#287-289) for Paul Hoffman, was erected in 1904-06, and is a good example of the
Eclectic work of the perlod The five-story facade is enlivened by
curved, projecting bays of two windows each, ‘extending from the first
through the fifth floors. Horizontally, the building is divided by a
stone band course between the first and second stories and by a boldly
projecting cornice above  the fourth floor. The surface of the building.
is enhanced by the contrast of brick and stone in the splayed lintels,
with strong terminal blocks and handsome console keystones., Sculptural
motifs appear at the doorway, in the panels under the first story win-
dows, and in a delicate band course linking the second story pedimented
windows. The variety and richness of the ornament, displayed also in
the roof cornice, gives the building a somewhat precious quality.

#291 This little three-story brick house, in Flemish bond, was erected
in 1827-28 for Samuel Z. Smith as one of a row of five dwellings, which
once extended to the Bank Street corner. Smith, a tailor and draper,
had purchased the property in 1827 from the Bank of New Yoirk. The
simple entry retains the original Federal arrangement of columns on each
side, backed up by wood rustication blocks; the columns support a tran-

. som bar with transom above. The wrought iron stair handrailings are
. good examples of Federal ironwork, with curvilinear designs at the top
of the railing contrasting with the later Greek Revival anthemion de-
sign of the areaway railing. The house has been modified over the -
years, the most important change being the addition of a third story.
Sheetmetal lintels with small cornices over the original windows and
the modillioned cornice crowning the building are also later additions.
#295 This two-story brick building, with bold cornice, houses a bakery
(#293-297) which serves the neighborhood. It was erected-in 1910-11 for Christian
Yore by J, J. Smith.

#299 Once a handsome Federal town house, this corner building has a
store at ground floor level. Erected in 1827 for Samuel Z. Smith with
a front laid in Flemish bond, it retains the paneled Federal lintels
with foliate forms carved in the center and end blocks. The Bank Street
side of the house shows traces of the original sloping shoulders of the
pitched roof. This must have been a fine Federal residence. Originally
the building was less than half its present depth, but an extension had
been built by the Elghteen -fifties, when it had already become a com-
mercial property

f . :
WEST FOURTH STREET East Side (Betw. Bank & West 12th Sts.)

#301-319 - This block front of ten houses was erected.in 1836 and is one of _
the earliest surviving blocks in The Village. The history of the property
is interesting. The land wdas purchased in April 1835 by Charles W.
Hawkins from Samuel Bayard, attorney, of Princeton, New Jersey. Hawkins,
a merchant at 23 Cedar Street, who lived nearby at 98 Greenwich Street,
resold to seven different people in July and August of the same year,
making a nice profit. Among the new property owners were six men direct-
ly associated with the building trades: Solomon Banta and Abraham '
Frazee (Frazee § Banta), builders; Henry M. Perine, mason; James
Vandenbergh, builder; Aaron Marsh, builder; and Richard Taylor, lime
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' WEST FOURTH STREET East Side (Betw. Bank § West 12th Sts.)

merchant. The foliowing year, 1836, six of the houses had already been

erected, while four were still unfinished. We may assume that several,
if not all, of these men must have been involved in the building of the
TOW.

The houses, all originally two and one-half stories high, are
Greek Revival in style. Nos. 303, 309 and 313 still retain their orig-
inal 1836 proportions, with low attic story. The rest. of the row, with
the exception bof No. 319, has had a full third story added later in
the Nineteenth: Century, probably in the Eightecn-seventies, judging
from the Neo-Grec roof cornices, at Nos. 305 and 311, and perhaps some-
what 'earlier at Nos. 307, 315 and 317. The front of No. 319 is executed
in Flemish bond up through the third floor; however, as it is running
bond above this point, it appears to have been completely remodeled by
the addition of a fourth story. Low stoops have been retained at all
the houses except at the corner buildings. Corner properties, when
not already semi-commercial in character, were generally altered
in the course of the Nineteenth Century to provide store fronts at
street level, .

Although doorways and windows have in many cases been altered,
simple doorways with pilasters at each side, surmounted by transoms,

- are preserved at Nos. 303, 305, 307, 311, 313 and 315. No. 309, orig-

inally owned by Frazee § Banta, was s0ld as soon as it was finished to
Stephen B. Peet, who lived here for two years and who developed a good
deal of property in the immediate vicinity in the mid-Eighteen-forties.
This house has' floor-length parlor story windows, added at a later date.
The best preserved houses in the row are probably No. 313, the
prototype, which belonged to Henry M. Perine, mason, .and No, 303 Te-
cently restored. Much of the fine original Greek Revival 1r0nwork re-
mains: that at No. 309 is somewhat different in design from the work
at 307, 311, and 313. 1In these three examples, a graceful curvilinear

. wrought iron design appears at the ‘top of the handrailing, with acanthus

designs around a central garland between the spindles. In addition, it
should be noted that No. 307 has the original base blocks, which until
recently were surmounted by free-standing cast iron newel posts, so
typical of Greek Revival work, and doubtless the type used for most of
the houses in this row. No. 307 has a fine areaway railing, combining
the Greek fret design at the base with palmetto castings at the top.

- At the other houses the ironwork has been largely replaced at later

dates. Fire escapes were added to the facades of Nos. 305, 317 and .
319 when the buildings were converted to multiple tenancy but the fire
escape was recently removed from No. 305,

t

WEST FOURTH STREET East Side (Betw. West 12th § Jane.Sts )
L]
The mansarded corner building (descrlbed under No. 281 West
Twelfth Street) was erected in. 1870

o

This flve-story smooth-stuccoqd apartment house has a new brick
wall and ornamental window grilles at the ground floor. The roof cor-
nice with dentiled fascia appears to be part of the orlglral house,
erected between 1852 and 1853 for George D. Cragin, provision merchant,
who sold the property at a handsome profit to Henry Morris, a rigger,
of Fairfield County, Connecticut, in 1853. However, taxes were paid
by Jane Gahn (née Ireland), an important property owner in The Village.

This five-story apartment house, the tallest building on the

- block, was erected in 1857 by and for Samuel C. Kipp, a builder. Kipp, -

who had purchased the property ten years earlier, had maintained his

 office in a bu11d1ng at the rear of the lot, in association with

several other imen in the building trades. An arched doorway on the
right side of the building leads to the four-story structure at the
rear of the lot, erected by Kipp at] the same time. The buildings were
modified in later years. T

These three late Federal houses were erected for David Bogart,
cartman, as a speculation between the years 1827 and 1829; they were
sold to Richard Cromwell, a merchan}, in 1829. Bogart's property,
purchased in 1827, also 1nc1uded the present Nos. 30-34 Jane Street,
around the corner. :
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WEST FOURTH STREET East Side (Betw. -West 12th & Jane Sts.]

No 329 remains the closest to its or1g1nal appearance, although,
like its neighbors, it was later raised in height to three stories,
as may be seen in the d1fference in the size of the bricks above the
second story. It is aery charming house, .with a facade constructed

“entirely of Flemish bond brickwork. The wlndows, with double-hung,

muntined six-over-six sash, display paneled: ‘1intels in the original
style only at the thlrd_story. The fine doorway, with "broken' tran-
some bar above, is flaqked by paired Ionic columns in front of rusti-
cated panels and by sidelights, all typical of the late Federal style.
A small section of the egg and dart molding .still survives; for a

- very similar but better preserved doorway, see No. 41 Bank Street, a
-block away. The ironwork at the areaway and stoop is an unusually

rich example for a house of this size. The gracr Tully curved ‘wrought
iron scroll work at the handrailings, the criss-cross design at the

landing, and the delicate newel posts with interlaced arches are all

noteworthy. The painter Stow Wengenroth 11ved at No. 329 in the late -
Nineteen-thirties and early 'forties. ;

No. 327 retains its paneled window lintels, stepped up at the
center, at both first and second floors. The same lintel appears over
the doorway, which has been modified. The ironwork of the stoop is
identical to that at No. 329, as is that of the areaway. The window

'_grilles at the first floor, Italianate in style, date from after mid-
century, when the windows were lengthened and the original roof cormice

replaced by one with brackets and panels.
No. 331 is a frame house w1th a brick facade and has a store at

the ground floor. i

4

" 'WEST FOURTH STRBET East Side (Betw. Horatio & West 13th Sts.)

The COrner building (also Nd. 5 HOratib;Street)-was.erected in
1847-48 and later extended to the full depth of the lot. This extension

" dates from some time after 1859, when Jane Gahn sold her three houses

on Horatio Street (Nos. 1-5) to Gurdon Bradley of Brooklyn., The en-
trance doorway to the extension, No. 339 West Fourth Street borrows
from the Greek Rev1val in style. -

The well-known architectural firm, D. § J. Jardine, designed these -
four attractive houses as a row. They all have mansard roofs and are
each four stories high over a basement, with the exception .of the cor-
ner house, No. 351 West Fourth Street (dlscussed under No. 308 West
Thlrteenth Street). Nos. 345-49 retain their stoops. Of the row, No.
349 is the best preserved, displaying a segmental-arched doorway with
entablature. Above a continuous roof cornice; with modillions are man-
sard rodfs, so characteristic of the French Second Empire style of the -
Eighteen-sixties. In spite of some alterations at Nos. 345 and 347,
the row still retains the general appearance and flavor of its period.

The row was built in 1868 for Matthew Kane, a neighborhood sash-
maker, who had purchased.the property from the Gahn family. His work-
shop was nearby at 6 Gansevoort Street, and he lived across the street
at 317 West Thirteenth Street.

'WEST FOURTH STREET West Side (Betw. Gansevoort § Horatlo Sts.)

The office building which fllls the east end of the block and the
large playground at the western end have completely altered an entire

¢city block which once was the site .of thirty houses, three sizable

livery stables, and Public School No. 124 (formerly Primary School No,
24) on it, This little world of residences has been swept away to make
way for the playground and for the building described belcw.

This nine-story office building occupying the entire block front
represents a recent conversion. As built in 1912, it was a brick loft
building designed by William H. Dewar, Jr., for the St. John Park Realty
Co. It has a two-story base with the windows of the first and second.
floors combined vertically. Above this, the building rises unadorned
for five floors, with the only vertical accent:supplied by wide pilas- .

_ ters between the large steel sash windows. The top two floors, in-
' .terestingly enough, are of rusticated br1ck work set above a severely
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WEST FOURTH STREET West Side (Befw. Gansevoorf § Horatio Sts.)

simple cornice, and the top floor is crowned by an even'51mp1er cor-
nice. This industrial building has a quiet dignity, although in scale
and window treatment (triple windows) it fails to relate to the ‘build-
1ngs which surround it. '

WEST FOURTH STREET West Side (Betw. Horatio S5t, § Eighth Ave.)

This sixistory apartment house of 1893 (described under Nos.
20 24 Horatlo Street) occupies the,corner site.

WEST FOURTH STREET West Side (Betw. Jane § West 12th Sts.)

The corner house (described under No. 40 Eighth Avenue) was built
in 1841-42 on a pie-shaped lot.

This building, which runs through to No. 38 Eighth Avenue, was
erected in 1841-42 by Tarleton B. Earle, a builder who lived at the’
Eighth Avenue address. An additional story was added in 1924, sur-

‘mounted by a tall brick parapet. The facade has been resurfaced.

This tiny two-story building, only two windows wide, was erected
in the secondihalf of the Nineteenth Century. It has also been com-
pletely resurfaced., A ¢entral gable.and brick coping crown the build-
ing, and brick soldier courses arelused as decorative trim. '

) :

This vernacular four-story structure, erected in 1883 for Bendix
C. Schwartz by P. McManus, a mason, has a dentiled brick fascia be-
neath ‘its sheetmetal roof cornice. The ground floor has been modern-
ized. .

Built in 1840, the four-story house (described under No. 283 West
Twelfth Street) was originally shallower. The yard at the rear of the
lot was later eliminated by the addition of a one-story extension. On
this side of the house the top story is finished off with a stone

~coping., Two chimneys remain, giving a somewhat Federal appearance to

the building., At street level, two windows have been blocked up.

WEST FOURTH STREET West Side (Betw. West 12th § Bank Sts.)

This wide four-story house, erected in 1845 by Solomon Banta, a
well-known builder in The Village, was completely refaced in brick in
1927. The building is extremely simple, its only decoration afforded
by the brickwork, with a course of ‘headers alternating with stretchers

- every sixth row. It has steel casement windows and. a brick roof para-

pet with a-stepped section raised in the center.

"This five-story apartment building, with a-high basement contain- !

.ing stores, was erected in 1900 for Jacob M. Wimpie.. It was designed

by the architect George F. Pelham, who had donc No. 51 Bank Street, at
the corner of West Twelfth and Bank Street, for the same c¢lient twe
years earlier. Stone trim is used effectlvely at the wlndow lintels
and as band courses, in contrast to the brick facade.

This three—story residence was one of a row of three houses built
by Solomon Banta in 1847, of which two were replaced by the apartment
bu11d1ng at Nos. 310-312. This was originally a Greek Revival house;
it still retains the proper proportions and corniced lintels at the
windows and doorway. A high brick parapet with stone coping replaces
the orlglnal cornice. ‘ !

This five-story brick apartment house, erccted in 1886 for Charles
Frank, was de31gned by Charles Rentz, It was altered in 1938, when the
stoop was removed. A high parapet was also a later addition. The
stone window lintels are turned down at their ends to form integral
impost blocks whlch, in turn, rest on horizontal stone band courses.

The six-story apartment house at the corner, with stores at the
ground floor (described under No. S1 Bank Strect), was erected in 1898.
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WEST FOURTH STREET West Side (Betw Bank & West 11th Sts.)

#2936 This six-story brlck apartment house (also known as Nos. 52-54
Bank Street), was builtiin 1903 and was designed by Horenburger §
Straub, architects, for; iCharles M. Straub. It is a work of the
Eclectlc period. The architects have effectlvely contrasted the deco-
rative terra cotta trimiwith the brick fabrlc. A cast iron store
front has classical columns, most of. which have been covered by sub-
sequent alterations. 3 !

t : .

#294-288 These four brick row houses, all three stories above a basement,

were built in 1860 on land long owned by the iMildeberger family and
sold for development in '1859 to Peter P. Voorhls. Voorhis, who owned
Nos. 255-259 West Eleventh Street around the !corner, immediately sold .
off the individual lots to several builders, of wr.m one was William '
E. Noble. Noble resided at No. 288 for many years, and must have de-
veloped the row of houses, perhaps in association with the others in = ,
the building trades.
The general appearance of the row, as it was orlglnally, may best
be seen at No. 290, which is perfectly preserved. . Italianate in style,
it retains its high stoop, typical segmental ("eyebrow”) lintels over
~ the entrance doorway, and long parlor floor windows with original iron-
.. work grille. The windowsills of the upper st%rles ‘are supported on
’,small stone corbels, and’ the handsome bracketed roof cornice is also
characteristic of the period. The original cast iron stair railings,
newels, and areaway railing are still in place. The rest of the row
has been greatly modified, notably by the shearing-off of all door and
window lintels and by the substitution of a basement entrance for the
former stoop at No. 288.. The doorways and windows at the first stories
of Nos. 292 and 294 now show dlfferences in de31gn from the other houses
of the row. : f

The Itallanate house at ‘the corner is described under No. 255 West
: Eleventh Street.

WEST ELEVENTH STREET (Between Greenwich Avenue § Waverly Place)

In this short sectlon of street we are struck by the attractlve
. residential quality of the houses.
Near the middle of the block on the north;51de stands one of the
.best of the small Greek Revival town houses to, be found in The Village.
It retains all its original features, including a fine doorway with
sidelights, a dentiled cornice and some -handsome ironwork at the stoop
and areaway. On the Greenwich Avenue end of this block, a six-story
~brick apartment house of the early Nineteen-twenties and the one ad- .
~joining it do not make a skillful transition 'in height to their three-
story- nelghbors to the west.

On the south side four handsome Itallanate houses fill the block
with the exception of a wall at the Seventh Avenue end. Of these
houses, the one at the west end remains closest to its original appear-
ance; it retains its stoop in contrast to the others which have been
converted to basement entrances. '

The building on the north side at the Waverly Place corner has
recently been redone in stucco with much ornate ironwork, producing a

. style of architecture whlch is at variance with that of its neighbors.
When we consider that this structure was originally two fine Greek
"Revival houses like its neighbor, we wish that some regulatory design

. body had been in existence: to give expert guldance to the owners in
modernizing them.

Not until 1865 did west Eleventh Street become the - name for this

. 0ld and important street west of Greenwich Avenue Before then it was
Hammond Street, recalling the fact that it ran through the fifty-five

. acre tract purchased in 1794 by Abijah Hammond for development.

WEST BLEVENTH STREET Nortﬁ.Side (Betw. Waverly Pl G Greenwich Ave.)

#213-215 This. corner three- story brick apartment house W1th .another en-
trance at No. 239 Waverly Place around the corner, orlglnally consisted

]
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WEST ELEVENTH STREET North Side (Betw. Waverly Pl. § Greenwich Ave.)

of two houses! built for Joseph Low, City Carpenter. No. 213, built

in 1842, and No. 215, in 1832, must originally have presented an ap-
. pearance similar to that of their neighbor, No. 211. In 1921 they were

converted into one building for a private dancing school with rooms
above; in 1948 it was taken over by the North Baptist Church, which
converted the first floor for use as an auditorium, '

Recently (1963-64), the building underwent a complete alterdation
when it was converted into "medieval" offices and dwelling units above
by Brownstone Renovations, Inc., for Dolores and Robert Welber. The
building preserves the proportions: and upper floor window spacing of
the original town houses, but otherwise has been completely altered.
Casement windows have been substituted and window grilles at the first
floor have been added. The building has been completely rough-stuc-
coed, while a parapet and railing have been added at the top.

|

This attractive three~story brick house with stone basement was
also built by Joseph Low in 1842. It is the last remaining example of
Greek Revival'architecture on thistblock. This residence was one of a
row of three (Nos. 211-215) developed by Low, who also owned the land

. on which the present No. 241 Waverly Place, around the corner, was

erected. The property. remained in'the Low family until 1868.

A low stoop leads to a handsome Greek Revival doorway, somewhat
wider in proportion than usual. The paneled door, flanked by austerely
simple classic pilasters and narrow sidelights, has a dentiled transom
bar and a long narrow transom. The muntined windows, as well as the
entrance doorway, are cappéd by lintels with small cornices. A simple
wood roof cornice, with a delicate row of dentils and narrow fascia
board, crowns the building. The ironwork of both the stoop and area-
way is the original and is an exceptionally fine example of Greek
Revival design. The curvilinear wrought iron design of the upper part
of the handrailing of the stoop is’combined with a more geometrical
classic design at the base. The familiar Greek Revival fret design
appears in the areaway railing, but a few of the cast iron fret panels
are missing, !

Erected in 1916, this six-story building was designed by its archi-
tect, Frank Vitolo, with a facade of Flemish bond brickwork. A simple
entrance doorway surmounted by a stone lintel .leads into the building

"through a double door. The first floor is separated from the upper

stories by a stone band course which runs across the building under
the windowsills of the second floor. The house is surmounted by a
bracketed cornice, with a brick parapet above it. Some of the windows
of the upper floors have muntined sash in the upper section of the
double-hung windows, with plate glass in the lower half.

~ This ‘corner six-story apariment house (described under Nos. 73-77
Greenwich Avenue) was erected in 1924,

WEST ELEVENTH STREET (Between Waverly Place § West 4th Streets)

This street-has great dignity and charm and presents many contrasts
between its north and south sides. The soutli side has two churches,
one at the Waverly Place end and the other at mid-block. The remainder
of the block is filled with exceptionally attractive three-story resi-
dences.. By contrast, the north side, although completely residential,
consists of town houses interspersed at random among apartment houses
of a later date. To add even further to the contrast between the six-
story apartment houses and the three-story residences, many of the
residences are set back from the building line, whereas all the apart-
ment houses are built right up to it. This produces a wavy effect
which is.not without interest as opposed to those streets where long
uniform rows of houses extend the length of a block. o

Architecturally this street is distinguished by the fine Greek
Revival church at the south corner on Waverly Place, by the rows of
houses to the west of it, and particularly by the two groups of late
Greek Revival houses on the north side of the street. These two groups
of houses are all that remain of a row of ten late Greek Revival houses,
five of which have been replaced by the adjoining apartment building.

t
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WEST ELEVENTH STREET f(Between Waverly Place § West 4th Streets)

They are archltecturally notable for their door and window lintels which

.display low, ogival arches, harbingers of the Gothic Revival. Set
- back firom the sidewalk with front yards, they are exceptlonally attrac-

tive in their more spacious setting.

The large church at mid-block on the south side was once an in-
teresting example of the Queen Anne style, where brick polychromy com- ‘
bined with tiles and hooded entrances gavé the church its picturesque '
quality. Today this church has been emasculated by having much of its

“ornament shorn off and by having been painted a uniform color. . A change |

in character such as this would be reviewed ¢losely when- architectural
controls are established, whereby an owner w111 study his remode11ng
more carefully under expert guidance.

WEST ELEVENTH STREET North Side (Betw. West 4th St. § Waverly P1.)

Built in 1900, this, five-story brick apartment house is entered .
from West Fourth Street (No. 285). : ; :

This -three-story house is the oldest on the block. It was one of
two houses built in 1827 for Henry Potter, grocer who also built an
adjoining house, later replaced by the corner.apartment building. No.
251 was originally two or two and one-half stories in height, as proven
by the fact that the Flemish bond brickwork ends at third floor sill
level, The additional floor, the handsome bracketed cornice with -den- . . |
tils and paneled fascia board, and the sheetmetal cornices over the
window lintels are later Nineteenth Century additions. The pedimented
doorway lintel, a simpler version than that of No. 245, 'also represents
an addition of later datée. The original muntined wlndow sash has been K
replaced by sash with a single vertical muntin at center i, .

Erected in 1901 by William Evans, owner-architect, this five-story ¥
brick apartment house is simple and classical in style, belonging to .

the period of Eclecticisni. The entrance doorway is framed by a sculp-
tured rope melding and has a cornice carried on console brackets. The
second, third and fourth stories are set off by corner stones (quoins)
and have windows with splayed stepped lintels, creating an interesting
design. A deep roof cornice crowns the building, and a fire escape
runs down the center of the facade terminating above the entry.

This five-story brick apartment house was: erected in 1887 for
Anthony Reichardt and was,designed by William Graul, architect. A
stoop leads to the canopied porch resting on columns with classical
capitals. The first floor and basement are faced with stone. Sculp- :
tural relief decoration, such as swags above the first story windows ' S
and terra cotta panels below the windows of the upper floors, give in-
terest to the facade. A very heavy bracketed cornice, with pedimented
ornaments surmounted by globes,. crowns the building. A fire escape -
runs down the center of the facade and terminates above the entry.

’ ’ . § .
This attractive late Federal house is the second oldest building

Jon the block. It was erected in 1831 for William G. Haycock, notary

public, and has been judiciously altered over the years. Built of brick
laid in Flemish bond, it was probably originally two and.one-half stories

in height; 4 third story was then added later in the century, together

with a bracketed vroof cornice and heavy sheetmetal cornices over the
lintels of the windows. A pedimented doorway with dentils and Neo-Grec
brackets is a still later addition. The shutters, attractive replace-
ments of the originals, are modern. The graceful stoop handrailing,
Federal in design, has wrought iron curvilinear designs at the top and
small knob-1like finials and foot-scraper at the bottom.

These two well-maintained houses of 1851 are all that is left of a ' o
row of four which originally included houses at:Nos. 237-239, on the ' :
site of the present apartment house. - They were built as an investment

. for Gorham A. Worth, President of the City Bank.of New York, who in 1830
. had purchased the land which also included four:adjoining lots on Bank

Street, - The Bank Street houses were built in 1851 by Reuben R. Wood, ' ?3-
a well-known builder, to whom Worth had sold the lots in 1850. Since o
- - 5 N
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WEST ELEVENTH STREET North Side (Betw. West 4th St. § Waverly Pl.)

these two houses on Eleventh Street are stylistically identical with
Nos. 36 and 38 Bank Street, we can. assume that Wood built them also.

The two houses on West Eleventh.Street are transitional in style.
They are late:Greek Revival in general design, with some features
c¢haracteristic of the Italianate architecture of the Eighteen-fifties.
Three stories'high, they are approached by high stoops leading to at-
tractive Greek Revival doorways with ''eared" frames, a late survival
for the period. The two doorways are paired and united by a common
cornice surmounted by a low pediment, No. 243 retains its floor-length
French windows at parlor floor level, replaced at No. 241 by long
double-hung plate glass windows. The windows all have cornices above
the lintels. A bracketed wood roof cornice with drops unites the two
houses. The original cast iron work at the stoop and areaway railings
is a fine example of the arched Italianate designs so typical of the
Eighteen-fifties. These two houses, as well as the neighboring ones
which no longer exist, were sold by Worth at a handsome profit to in-
dividual owners in 1854

Erected in 1903-04 in the Eclectic period for Leon Spiegelberger
by Sass § Smallheiser, this six-story apartment house is distinguished
by its unusual brickwork. The first story is stone and features a
canopied entrance porch résting on a pair of sturdy columns. The
window lintels and many horizontal band courses are handled boldly,
as 15 the heavy cornice with paired brackets which crowns the building.

No. 235 now an apartment house with a fifth story added was
once part of a row of ten late Greek Revival houses of which only
Nos. 223-225 and 231-233 remain. They were built for Stephen B. Peet
in 1844, Like the other houses, this was once a three-story town
house, with basement, but it has been completely changed and rough- !
stuccoed.

These houses are discussed under Nos. 223-225, below.

This six-story apartment house of 1906, which replaced two town
houses; part of the Peet row of ten, was designed by Charles M. Straub !
for Sugarman § Adelstein. The first story has narrow horizontal band
courses of stone, altermating with brickwork, und a canopied porch.
The windows of the first floor have swagged keystones, and those of the

_upper floors have cornices carried on ornamental brackets.

These four attractive and well maintained houses are all that re-
main of a row of ten late Greek Revival houses which once ‘stretched

‘from the corner of Waverly Place to No. 235. These'houses were built

in 1844 for Stephen B. Peet.

The original appearance of these four- -story brick houses, over
rusticated basements, may best be seen at Nos. 231 and 233. These two
houses retain their stoops and doorways of 1844, although the doorway
at No. 233 has had 'its lintel altered. The shallow ogival arch, which
decorates the lintels of all the houses, may also still be seen at the
doorway of No. 231. This type of arch, associated with the Gothic
rather than the Classic vocabulary, is an unusual motif in Greenwich
Village and also appears at all ten Bank Street houses built for Peet.
The original dentiled cornices are retained at three of the Eleventh
Street houses. No. 223 has a later Nineteenth Century bracketed and
paneled cornice. Nos. 223 and 225 now have basement entrances, replac-
ing stoops. .

The fine Greek Revival 1ronwork uses the characteristic Greek fret
pattern at the; bottom of the stoop handrailings and at Both the top and
bottom of the areaway railings. The painter Jack Levine lives at
No. 231, - '

Stephen B. Peet was a real estate developer, who first opened a

"land office" at 18 Nassau Street in 1836 and lived at No. 237 West

Eleventh Street (formerly No. 31 Hammond Street) from 1844 to 1846.
At the time he'built these houses, he was developing an identical row

on adjoining 1ots facing on Bank Street (Nos. 16-34), still one of the
finest rows in Greenwich Village.
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WEST ELEVENTH STREET North Side (Betw. West 4th St. § Waverly P1.)

The corner buildiné, a six-story apartment house erected in 1916,
is described under Nos.!240-242 Waverly Place.

WEST ELEVENTH STREET  : (Between West 4th § Bleecker Streets)

Two long rows of town houses are the outstanding features of this
almost purely residential street. It is a delightful place in which.
to live and has a warm, human scale. Here, the dlsparlty in helght
between the apartment houses and the town hOLoeS is minimal, glV1ng
the street a sense of unlty which is not always found.

On the north side, ‘the long row of town houses is at the east end,
whereas, on the south 51de, the long oW of houses is located toward the

. western end of the block.

The best preserved house in the attractive row on the north side
is located on the corner of Fourth Street. This fine Italianate house,
of brick with brownstone trim over a rusticated stone basement, has '
segmental-arched doorway and windows, crowned with corniced 11ntels
This house and its twin have handsome bracketed roof cornices. Such
buildings as this establlsh the character of a street, espec1ally when

located conspicuously on a corner site.

On the south side, a splendid Federal house, near the eastern end

. of the block, retains its orlglnal handsome Hoorway and, although two

stories. have been added, it is one of the outstanding houses on the
street. At the Bleecker.Street'end stand twol houses built in 1818,
among the. oldest houses in The Village. Of these two, the one on the -
right, retaining its Flemish bond brickwork, high stoop, splayed win-
dow lintels with keystones and arched doorway, is an outstanding ex-
ample of Federal architecture and a star in the flrmament of West
Eleventh Street, '
This house, left'viftually'unchanged, stands in sharp contrast to

the remodeling treatment of one of a pair of handsome brick apartment

houses directly opposite. Here the imposing eéntranceway with its en-
tablature supported on columns was replaced by a Twentieth Century cur-

‘tain wall which occupies the space of the first and basement floors.

Although - separated by a fire escape balcony from the floor above, no
attempt was made to relate its overall width to that of the wlndows
above, nor was the window module in any way observed. This is a clear
case where had regulatory design controls been in effect, the altera-

" tion would ‘have been glven a character more suited to such a handsome

street. , _ : )

WEST ELEVENTH STREET NorthﬁSide (Betw. Bleecker §-West 4th Sts.)

. - B : i

The doorway at No. 285 West Eleventh Street leads to a two-story
exteénsion to No. 403 Bleecker Street, built in 1860 as part of a row
of seven houses fronting on Bleecker Street {

Designed in 1901 by Charles Rentz for D. Rosenbaum, these twe five-
story apartment buildings are much simpler in style than their neighbor
at No. 279. No. 283 preserves its classical entry flanked by Ionic

“columns and surmounted by.an entablature with swags. The windows of

first and second stories are emphasized by frames with prominent key-
stones; the panels under the fourth story are interesting. No. 281 has
been considerably altered, particularly at ground floor level. A hand-
some cornlce with swags unltes the two bu11d1ngs.

This imposing six-story brick apartment house was erected in 1906
and designed by George F. Pelham for the Lederman Construction Company.
The architect has divided the building into three sections, with the
end bays projecting sllghtly from the central portion and has emphasized
them by a greater use of terra cotta ornament around the upper windows.
Stone band courses and brick quoins are used as: horizontal accents,
while handsome vertical panels with Italian Renaissance detail provide
a vertical accent between windows. A classical roof cornice crowns the
building. This edifice is a good example of the C1a551ca1 style of the
early TWentleth Century. | o i

Built in 1846, this pair of houses, originally identical, still
retains much of its late Greek Revival appearance. Both dwellings were
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WEST ELEVENTH STREET North Side (Betw. Bleecker § West 4th Sts.)

#273 § 275 originally three stories high, with attic, over a basement. No. 273
cont., - still retains its attic windows, while a fourth story was added at a
later date to No. 275. The doorway of No. 273, with eared frame and
cornice, is closer to its original appearance than the one at No. 275,
which has been greatly simplified and stuccoed-over. French windows
remain at parlor floor level at No. 273; the windows at upper story .
-~ levels of both buildings have double-hung sash with muntins, The
cornice at No. 273 is the fine original, while that of No. 275,
s Neo-Grec inistyle, represents a later addition. The stoop and area-
way railings at No. 275 display attractive curvilinear designs; the
wrought iron handrailing of the stoop and the newel posts at No. 273
L _ were added in the latter part of the Nineteenth Century.
' George'H. Swords, a hardware merchant, had purchased the land
from Andrew: Lockwood, a builder who owned considerable property on
this block.” Swords was still taxed for the property in 1846, even
though he had already sold the land the year before to Nathaniel ‘Weed,
‘a merchant, who developed it. 1In any case, it is possible that
o Lockwood, who lived at No. 269 (then No. 61 Hammond), was the builder
i of these two houses. :

2" [

i #269 & 271 Both these houses were erected in 1836 and were originally Greek
i "~ Revival in style. No. 269, now a four-story house over a basement,

o was built as a three-story brick house in Flemish bond by Andrew

iy : Lockwood, the builder, as his own home. He lived here from 1836 to

e 1848. A basement entrance has been substituted for the former stoop,
i : and a fire escape was added when the building was converted to multiple

W, tenancy. Casement windows replace the original double-hung window
g sash. The strongly projecting bracketed cornice is a later addition,
5 giving the building the appearance of an Italianate house,

No. 271, generally similar in appearance, except for the replace-
ment of the'roof cornice by a tall brick parapet with stone coping,
Ry was built for or by James Harriot, also a builder, who had purchased
€L the land from Lockwood in 1835. ‘The small cornices of the window
N lintels have been removed, but the double-hung window sash with muntins
S . _survive. ‘ '
T #267 This house was erected by Andrew Lockwood in 1843 as an investment
for Christopher Gwyer, a butcher. It retains its imposing Greek
Revival doorway, with full entablature, and displays the simple window
¥ treatment typical of the early Eighteen-forties. Handsome balustraded
14 © stone handrailings at the stoop with paneled newels, reminiscent of
b those at Washington Square North, were unfortunately removed recently,
. but the unusual Greek Revival areaway railing, with lyre designs,
. " remains. The full fourth story,. crowned by a bracketed roof cornice,

is the result of a later alteration. '

Lockwood had sold Gwyer the land the previous year with the under-
standing that he build, within six months, a brick dwelling on his. lot
which would align with the neighboring houses at Nos. 269-271, erected
some years earlier by Lockwood. .

l L
#261 § 265 These two four-story brick buildings, ccparated by No. 263, were

erected in 1868 by architect William Naugle for Mrs. M, Doscher. They
have the typical mansard roofs of the popular French Second Empire
style of the ‘Eighteen-sixties. Although No. 265 no longer has a
stoop, in most other respects it remains closer to its original appear-
ance than does No. 261. A high stoop, still seen at No. 261, orig-
inally led up to the parlor floor. The original rusticated basement

. ' remains at No. 265, although altered by a basement entrance. The
curving window lintel cornices, shaved off at No. 261, must have once
adorned the entrance doorways of both houses. The same curved window

. - cornices appear in the mansard roof dormers of No. 261, but have been.
replaced by the addition of pediments at No. 265. The bracketed roof
cornices at;both houses are original.

TR
LN

i
AR

- #263 This building was erected in 1836 for Leonard Kirby, a drygoods
ripuy, merchant at 47 Cedar Street. It is now a four-story house, but was
' originally only three stories high, as may be verified by the change

from Flemish to running bond brickwork. Some of the flavor of the
] . .

f
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#255-259

#293-299

-as the windows, are segmental-arched and capped by curved "eyebrow"
- lintels. The long parlor floor windows have double-hung sash with

-quality of the 0r1g1na1 stoop and areaway ralllngs now replaced by

" by urns, taking the place of the roof cornices of its neighbors. The

‘alteratlon of the N1neteen twentles.

'WEST ELEVENTH STREET . North Side (Betw. Hudson § Bleecker Sts.)

WEST TWELFTH STREET (Between Greenwich Avenue § West 4th Street)

Greenwich Avenue end by a theatre which presents a long, rather blank

the intrusion of a very large garage near mid-block, this is a residential

GV-HD . - : | o AREA 8

WEST ELEVENTH STREET North Side (Betw. Bleecker § West 4th Sts.)

Greek Revival style remains today in the utter simplicity of the window
lintels and of the doorway, where the outline of the original entabla-
ture may still be seen. The bracketed roof cornice, similar to those
of its neighbors on either side, and the top story, represent later
additions. The wrought iron Greek Revival areaway ralllng is the hand-
some orlglnal . :

- These three row houses were erected in 1861 for Peter P. Voorhis
on property purchased in 859 from the Mildebefger family, who had been
property owners in this area for decades. Voorhls himself lived in the
corner house, built on the site of A, Mildeberger's former residence.

The orlglnal appearance of these Italianate residences, of brick
with brownstone trim, may be seen at No. 255, the courner house. It is
three stories high, over a rusticated basementy a high stoop leads to
the entrance doorway at the left of the facade. This doorway, as well

muntins. The bracketed roof cornice, with paneled fascia board and
central "bull's-eye" motif, also preserved at No. 257, is characteristic
of the new French taste of the period. The intricate arabesque design
of the parlor floor wlndowgralllngs at Nos. 255 and 257 indicates the

modern work. ' _ :
No. 259 has been altered by the substitution of a basement entrance
for the stoop and by the addition of a paneled brick parapet surmounted

brick lintels and arched windows of the second floor are part of an

WEST ELEVENTH STREET (Between Bleecker § Hudson Streets)

A feeling of openness pervades this short section of street due to
the lone apartment house, with playground adjoining, which faces it on .
the north side. :

The south side is a delightful admixture of houses and apartment
houses with an uneven skyline, yet no house is more than one story
taller or lower than its neighbor. Interesting contrasts present them-
selves at mid-block where an ornate apartment house with rusticated
base, arched windows at the top floor and a rich heavy cornice, is set
between two plain but attractive Greek Revival town houses. This sort
of contrast not only gives aesthetic interest to. a street but lends a
feeling of historical continuity.

This six-story apartmént house of 1926 (described under Nos. 576-
578 Hudson Street} occupies the corner site., The adjoining No. 289,
the site of a former factory, is now a playground.

1.

The south side of this street, with its 1onglrows of houses, is one
of the most attractive in The Village. This side is closed at the

wall to the street and by taller apartment houses near the West Fourth
Street end. Othcrwise the intimate, human scale of these three-story
row houses is maintained. Almost at mid-block are six exceptionally
fine Italianate houses with handsome double doors and continuous paneled
roof cornices, which give them a feeling of unity. The only real note
of diversity on this side of the street is introduced in the three
apartment houses near the west end, of which the one nearest the West
Fourth Street corner displays some rich, almost Baroque, sculptural
decoration. Thé very ornateness of this building is enhanced by the
long side of a very plain vernacular building on the corner. _
There is more variety on the north side of the street. Except for
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#234-238

#240

#242

#244-248

#250-260

WEST TWELETH STREET (Between'ﬁreéhﬁich Avenue § West 4th Street)
’ 1

block with apartment houses at each -end. The one on the Greenwich
Avenue corner faces the Avenue and has its long side on Twelfth Street.
It is six stories high and forms.a termination point for the attrac-
tive Greek Revival houses which adjoin it to the west. The five-story
apartment house at the west end of the block has a mansard roof, its
most notable feature, which makes a graceful termination at the West
Fourth ‘Street corner.

WEST TWELFTH STREET South Side (Betw. Greenwich Ave. § West 4th St,)

The corner building (described under Nos. 97-101 Creenwich Avenue)
was erectediafter 1921 and is occupied by a theater.

This three-story brick house with basement was built in 1859 for
Louis Peugnet, replacing wood stables on what was formerly Factory
Street, the northern extension of which is now called Waverly Place,
Except for the doorway, which has been shorn of its frame ‘and cornice,
it is similar to the prototype houses, Nos. 252 and 254 West Twelfth
Street, erected two years earlier by Linus Scudder.

B ¢

Though-both this house and its neighbor, No. 240, appear to date

from the same period as the row houses built in 1857 by Scudder (see

‘Nos. 250-260 West Twelfth Street), No. 242 was already built by 1852,

when Reuben R. Wood, a well-known Village builder, was taxed for the
house. The entrance is at grade, although the window alignment is
quite different from that of its neighbors to the west. The overall
height of this three-story houseiis identical to them. The roof cor-
nice, however, is the same as that of the Scudder row of 1857, indica-.
ting that the building was altered at that date. Original Italianate

* ironwork, similar to that at Nost 246 and 248, remains at the stoop.

L]

These three narrow row houses were erected on two lots in 1852 by
Reuben R. Wood, who built two wider houses on two lots back-to-back
with these,-which face on Bank Street (Nos. 13 and 15). Wood had
purchased the land the previous year from Louis Peugnet for speculative
purposes. No. 248 is the best preserved.  of the three houses, but they
all retain their original stoops and long parlor floor windows, except
No. 244, where the sills of the parlor floor windows have been raised.

- Nos. 244 and 248 have their original bracketed roof cornices, but

No. 246 lost its cornice when the roof was raised. Nos. 246 and 248
retain their original ironwork of the Eighteen-fifties, identical to
that at Nos. 252 and 254,

This row of six houses, all originally Italianate in style, was
built in 1857 by Linus Scudder, builder, at the same time he was de-
veloping a row of six houses at Nos. 17-27 Bank Street--all on property
purchased the previous year from Hyacinthe Peugnet.

The original ‘appearance of these houses may best be seen at Nos.
252 and 254 which until very recently were in mint condition. They
are almost identical to Scudder's Bank Street row. Three stories in
height over rusticated basements, stoops lead up to. the handsome
segmental-arched doorways. The paneled entrance duors, deeply
recessed, are framed by paneled reveals and rope moldings. The orig-
inal handsome double doors with elaborately carved bosses at Nos., 250
and 254 are surmounted by a glazed transom, repeating the arch of the
outer doorway. The long parlor-floor French windows and the double-
hung muntined sash of the upper story windows, capped by lintels with
cornices, are all characteristic of the Italianate style. ' The paneled
roof cornices, with paired brackets, unify the whole row, and are the
originals. .The Italianate cast ironwork at the stoops of Nos. 252 and
254 has arched panels with ornament and is for the most part well
preserved, - ' :

No. 250 retains its stoop and window trim, but the cornice of the
doorway has been removed; the window sash is plate glass. Nos. 256
and 258 have substituted basement entrances for the stoops, but re-
tain some of their original window sash and trim. No. 260 still
retains its stoop, but all the cornices on windows and the doorway
have been shaved off., The window sash is plate glass and the ironwork
of the stoop belongs to the latter part of the Nineteenth Century.
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WEST TWELFTH STREET Soutﬁ Side (Betw. Greenwich Ave. § West 4th St.)

Erected in 1841 for William Harsell, a sash and window frame
maker who had built No. 29 Bank Street a year earlier, these three
narrow, attractive row houses were originally Greek Revival in style,
but have been greatly modified., The character of No. 262 was changed
by the introduction of a basement entrance, with arched window above,
an alteration of the Twentleth Century. No. 264 has been completely
painted over.

Nos. 264 and 266 were: obv1ously built as a palr Three stories

"~ in he1ght the entrances are at grade. Of the two, No. 266 remains

closest to its original appearance. Elaborate weo-Grec roof cornices,

with brackets, modillions, dentils and panels, were substituted for the

original ones at both buildings. The ironwork at the entrances of .
these two houses, and at the areaway of No. 266, is Italianate in style,

dating from the middle of the century. The painter, Lucile Blanch,

lived at No. 266 in the late Nineteen-thirties.

.Designed in 1887 for Alexander Cameron by A. B. Ogden § Son, archi-
tects, these two buildings are less rich in their decoration than .their
neighbor, No. 274. At No. 268 a low stoop, above a rusticated first
floor, leads to an entrance porch resting on columns with modified
Ionic capitals; the entrance at No. 270 has been altered. The most
conspicuous features of these two buildings are the Neo-Gre¢ window en-
framements and the roof cornices, in which the horizontal is broken
twice by central pedimental motifs, strikingly silhouetted against the
sky. No. 268 still displays its ornamental cast iron newel posts and
a handsome areaway railing deriving from the Neo-Medieval style popu-
larized in France by Viollet-le-Duc, architect and restorer of Gothic
monuments . _ ; ' |

Designed with its nelghbors Nos. 268-70, in mind, this stone-
faced apartment house presents a unified facade to the street, pictur-
esque in outline and interesting in detail. Designed in 1889 for James
Anderson by George Keister, architect, it is notable for its rich,
almost Baroque, sculptural decoration. The entrance doorway, approached
by a stoop, is very ornate;. the lintel is carried on vertically placed -
consoles, adorned with classical swags of fruit, and crowned by classi-
cal heads. The window lintels on brackets, and the foliate band .courses
between them, are also notable. Like its neighbors to the east, which
served as a model, the architectural elements, rustication of the first
story, the band courses, the cornices above the windows, and the roof
cornice crowning the building--all projecting boldly from the stone back-
ground--create a Baroque play of light and shade, so characteristic of .
late Nineteenth Century Eclectic architecture.

This number is the entrance to the rear extension to No. 319 West
Fourth Street, an alteration of 1864 to a building of 1836. The changes
in the br1ckwork (from Flemish to running bond) and in the window
heights are obvious at a glance. Plain window lintels and a bracketed - -
roof cornice provide the only notes of contrast in this vernacular four-
story building, amply provided with fire escapes. -

WEST TWELFTH STREET North Side (Betw. West 4th St. § Greenwich Ave.)

This corner five-story building, one of the City's early apartmenﬁ :
houses, was erected in 1870 for James Collins by J. J. Howard. The man-

- sard roof, reflecting the Frénch Second Empire style, which reached

the zenith of its popularity !in the United States .in the early Eighteen-
seventies, and the bracketed roof cornice, are styllstlc features
typical of the period. _ o ' .

These three brick houses, originally two and -one-half stories high,
were originally built between 1828 and 1830 in the Federal style, They .
were owned by James McAllis, a grocer, who had purchased the neighboring
land, extending from the present No. 323 West Fourth Street around the
corner through No. 273 West Twelfth Street, in 1827. Interestingly
enough, all this property remained in his hands until his death some - o
forty years later. The new owner raised all three houses to a height
of three stories in anticipation of a greater return on his investment.
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WEST TWELFTH STREET South Side ‘(Bétk. Grecnwich Ave. § West 4th St.)

No. 275 retains its stoop, while Nos. 177-279 were altered twenty
years ago to provide basement entrances. At the same time, they were
raised en additional story, with large studio windows extending the
full width of the facade. The bracketed roof cornice of No. 275 dates
from the period when the building acquired its third floor. The

.painter Ralston Crawford lived at No. 277 in the early Nineteen-

forties,

This small, brick-faced frame building; though altered, still re-

. tains the flavor of the Federal period. It dates from 1830-31, when

the property was owned by the same James McAllis. However, the taxes
were paid by Michael Talley, a paver, who some years earlier had owned
the McAllis properties. Like its neighbors to the west, No, 273 was
raised in the Eighteen-seventies to three stories, clearly seén in

the change from Flemish bond brickwork to running bond, and from the

style of its roof cornice.
A

Six stories in height, this brick apartment house of 1911, de-
signed by Henry S. Lion for Charles Rubinger, displays the classical
ornament typical of its period. The pilasters, carried on corbels
which extend up through the two upper stories, terminate under brack-
ets supporting a cornice with classical swags.

This very attractive little three-story house, with store at
street level, was erected in 1868-69 for and by the Lowe Brothers
‘(James A. and Isaac N.}. They also owned the adjoining properties
facing onto Jane Street (Nos. 24-26)., An extremely narrow doorway
leads to the upper floors of the house which is crowned by a handsome
but shallow roof cornice with brick dentils. There is a passageway
at the right leading to the rear of the property.

Originally five stories in height, this apartment building of 1887
was later raised to six stories and was crowned by a high brick para-
pet. The facade is enlivened by classical decoration of terra cotta
displayed in ornamental band courses, prominent window lintels, and
panels. Konenburger § Stark were the architects for Jacob Margovitz.

Built in 1891, these five-story apartment houses display a con-
trast between the rough-textured stonework of the first floor and the
brick above, They are late examples of the Romanesque Revival style,
as may be seen in the general design, the treatment of the brickwork,
and decorative detail, They were built for Amund Johnson and were
designed by John C. Burne.

This structure dates hack to 1910-11, but was completely rebuilt
in 1923 after a disastrous fire. It serves the neighborhood as a

" garage and is a good example of the commercial style of the Nineteen-

twenties. It has steel window sash and is crowned by a brick parapet
with brick pinnacles carried above it at each end.

This row of three brick houses, Greek Revival in style, was built
in 1843 for members of the DeKlyn family, who were developing property
on lots back-to-back, facing on Jane Street (Nos. 4-8) and on Greenwich
Avenue, at the same time. D. T. Baldwin, who in 1843-44 was taxed for
No. 239, was the husband of Susan {DeKlyn) and a partner in the firm
of Baldwin, Southmayd & DeKlyn, merchants at 146 Pearl Street. Nos.
243 and 245 were assessed to John B, DeKlyn, his brother-in-law.

. These houses are three stories high. No. 241 remains closest to
its original appearance. A stoop leads to a Greek Revival doorway,
framed by pilasters and narrow sidelights, all surmounted by a rec-
tangular transom. No, 243 has long parlor floor windows, a later
modification, while the others have retained their high sills and
double-hung, muntined window sash. The corniced lintels above the
windows at Nos. 239 and 241 were covered by sheetmetal at a later date,
but those at No, 243 are original. :

Nos. 241 and 243 retain théir charming cast iron stoop handrail-
ings, with a wrought iron curvilinear design in the upper section and
a Greek fret pattern below, augmented at No. 243 by additional deco-
rative castings on the spindles. It is interesting to note that the
ironwork ati'No. 241 is identical to that which until recently graced
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WEST TWELFTH STREET North Side (Betw. West 4th St. & Greenwich Ave.)
L !

the Jane Street houses (Nos. 4-8). This pattern is found elsewhere in

The Village, indicating aistock iron founder's design. Nos. 241 -and

243 are, in fact, so similar to the hou=es on Jane Street, that it is

very likely that they were erected by the same !builders, Dunham &

Williams.

No. 239 has been altered to a far greaterrdegree than its nelgh-
bors. The stoop has been ieliminated and a basement entrance substi-
tuted, while the fire escape dates from the period of its conversion .
to a multiple dwelling. The heavy Neo-Grec rodf cornice with brackets,

‘also a later addition, recalls classical trlglyphs in the grooved

‘blocks under the brackets of the cornice.

This most attractive little Greek Revival house is virtually un-
altered. Built in 1847-48 on a very shallow lot, it is narrower and
considerably lower in height than Nos. 239-245, due to the fact that it
has no basement and is entered practically at grade. The brick facade
is severely simple, relieved only by a very handsome dentiled roof cor-
nice with undecorated fascia board, The window'sash is the typical
double- hung muntined type.:

It is the fine entrance doorway which partlcularly distinguishes
this house. The paneled door is framed by Greek-Revival pllasters and
narrow sidelights, which are paneled below. Above the door is a long,
narrow, rectangular transom, divided into four lights. Although styl-
1st1ca11y the house appears somewhat earlier than 1847-48, when it first
appears on 'tax records, it may simply be retardataire, an expression-of

‘the taste of its owner, Edward Pollock, a grocer. .The original wrought

iron railing at the entrance and areaway is very simple and also somewhat
old-fashioned in de51gn : '

This six-story corner apartment house, with stores below, was
erected in 1906-07 for the Samson Construction Company and was designed
by Bernstein § Bernstein. It displays Neo-Georgian detail in the window
treatment on both this and its Greenwich Avenue facade (Nos. 101-103).

WEST TWELFTH STREET - (Between West 4th Street ﬁ Eighth Avenue)

There is little diVersity in this street of medium sized apartment

.houses except for the alterations which were made to the houses in mid-

block on the north side of the street. : y
"~ With the ‘exception of the three westernmost; apartment houses on the ' -

south side of the street, all of the other buildings were built in the '
Eighteen-forties, an 1nterest1ng example of how entire blocks were de-
veloped at certain specific periods,

A large apartment house on the south side of the street, at the
Eighth Avenue end, closes the block effectively. ., Of this row, the
apartment house in the middle of the block is the most notable

On the north side of the block, the apartment house near the middle
of the block represent an attractive remodeling of the Nineteen- twenties
wlth overhanging tile roofs above the fourth floor windows. :

WEST TWELFTH STREET South Slde (Betw. Nest 4th St. § Elghth Ave.)

‘The corner four-story house (described under No. 314 West 4th Street)
was built in 1845, but completely refaced in 1927,

Built in 1848-49 for Rlchard J. Bush, a plasterer, on property he

had purchased from Aaron Marsh, this bu11d1ng has.been completely smooth-

stuccoed. A penthouse was added in 1926, The building still retains its
Greek Revival inner doorway. b v '

Orlg;nally erected in 1902-03, this six-story apartment house dis-
played characteristic Eclectic ornament of the period until it was re-
cently refaced with brick. It has steel sash with triple windows. :

This six- -story brick apartment house, built in 1925 for the Shearn-

Hartman Construction Company and designed by L. L. Cransman, is extremely
simple. The parapet is crowned by a high ¢entral gable : T
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WEST TWELFTH STREET 'South Side (BStw. West 4th St. § Eighth Ave.)

#302 This sixteen-story corner apartment house (described under No.
21 Abingdon Square) was erected in 1930-31.-

WEST TWELFTH STREET North Side ° (Betw. Eighth Ave. § West -4th St.)

All the houses on this block were built in the early Eighteen-
“forties on 1land owned by Aaron Marsh, who had been a builder earlier
and who developed considerable property in this area. Originally
three stories in height, all the houses were later raised to four
stories and although modified, they have a charm of thelr own,

#293 Thls is the side entrance to Aaron Marsh's bu11d1ng of 1840,
e (described under No. 22 Eighth Avenue) which was originally much
shallower, as can clearly be seen in the change of the brickwork.
This rear extension on West Twelfth Street was added after 1931.
#291 This four-story dwelling was erected in 1848 for Abel Harker
' mason., Since Harker purchased the land 'in 1847, but immediately sold
it to two masons, John Huyler, Jr. and William Huyler, it is very
likely that they were the builders of the house, particularly since
they were building on adjoining property around the corner on Eighth
Avenue at the same time. The house is transitional in style, dis-
playing features of the Greek Revival and Italianate periods. It has
a dentiled Greek Revival roof cornice, long Italianate windows at the
second story, and very fine Italianate cast-iron railings at the en-
trance and areaway.

#289 Built in the same year as Nos. 285-287 and taxed to Andrew McCall,
‘ a weaver, this house was altered at the same time as its neighbor.
Overhanglng tile roofs above the first and fourth floor windows pro-
vide a decoratlve accent and tie it with Nos. 285-287.

#285-287 These two separate buildings, erected in 1841 for Aaron Marsh,
were combined in 1928. They were provided with a common entrance door-
way, shielded by a tile hood. The large top floor casement windows,
under an overhanging tile roof, belong to the same period, but the
basement entrance was an addition of 1932, The rear extension dates
from a still later modification. Some of the ironwork is the orig-
inal, Together, these two bulldlngs present an interesting facade to
the street.!

#283 The corner house {also No. 320 West Fourth Street) was erected in
1840 as a private house with a store at street level. Originally, the
house was much shallower, with a yard between it and a small building
at the rear of the lot; a one-story extension now occupies this space.
This house is pleasingly proportioned, with windows diminishing in
height as they ascend. The present roof cornice of sheetmetal was
added when the building was raised to four stories. The appearance
of the building would be considerably improved if the large signs
above the store were made less conspicuous. It was originally as-
sessed to Andrew McCall, who also owned No. 289,

WEST TWELFTH STREET North Side (Betw. Hudson St. § Eighth Ave.)

#305 ' This sixteen-story apartment house of 1929-31 (described under
(#299-309) No. 614 Hudson Street) is a good example of the design of its period.
#297 " Described under No. 11 blghth Avenue, this five-story bu11d1ng
was erected as part of a row of houses on the Avenue, a11 built in
1845, ‘

1

WEST THIRTEENTH STREET South Side (Betw. Eighth Avenue & West 4th St.)

#300 ' The corner gas station is dcscr1bcd under No. 61 Eighth
Avenuc,
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WEST THIRTEENTH STREET South Side (Betw;-Eighth Avenue § West 4th St.)

This three-story brick building, originally erected in 1892,
was completely altered in' 1953 for the Shevcenko Scientific Society by
Julian K. Jastrensky, architect. The present facade is a replacement,
but the original window openings were retained. Vertically banded
aluminum siding separates each floor from the next and is used as a
facing for the parapet which crowns the building. Steel sash is used

- throughout.

Five stories in helght and crowned by an;imposing paneled roof
cornice with evenly spaced brackets, this bu11d1ng was originally
erected in the early Eighteen-fifties as a four-story house for John
B. Ireland. After the widéning of Thirteenth Street in 1886, when

* thirteen feet were shorn off the front of the struct!..re, it was raised

from four to five stories in height, extended to the rear of the lot,
and the present store front installed. This handsome cast iron store
front is typical of the period and is exceptionally well preserved.

It has -a fine modillioned entablature which unifies the street level

" of the building

This handsome flve story bu11d1ng on the corner of West Fourth
Street, designed in 1868 by D. & J. Jardine, the well-known architec-
tural flrm, for Matthew. Kane, sashmaker, is part of a row of houses
with mansard roofs facing ‘on West Fourth Street (Nos. 345-49)., It has
a side entrance at No. 351 West Fourth Street. With its corner quoin-
ing, tall end chimneys, and fine detailing, it recalls Parisian town
houses of the Eighteen-sixties, when the French Second Empire style was
at its helght Stores occupy the ground floor on the Thirteenth Street
side. _

wEST THIRTEENTH STREET North Side {Betw, Westi4th St. § Eighth Ave.)

- This. little three-story brick building was:built-in the middle of
the Nineteenth Century and -has a store at first: floor level. The store
front has two paneled, cast iron columns flanking the entry. The win-
dows, although replaced by metal casements, have handsome stone lintels

with cornices. The left-hand windows were replaced at a later date by

double windows with mullions between. A cornice, supported on console
brackets, crowns this little: front effectively. .

ThlS four-story house (descrlbed under No 65 Eighth Avenue)
occupies the corner site. :
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BANK STREET ! (Between Hudson § Greenwich Streets)
i . 1 .
This quiet residential street is a study in contrasts. The low

. Greek Revival houses of the early Nineteenth Century on the south

. side retain an'‘intimacy of scale, quiet dignity, and interesting
architectural details. The monumental seven-story structure across
the street, reéently converted from)commercial to residential use,

- has afforded an unusual opportunity: for intelligent remodeling. Much
of the original dignified facade, surmounted by a roof cornice with
central pediment, and embellished at the first and second floors by
striking cast iron columns, has been retained in the alteration.

The two-story base section, of iron, brick, and glass, contrasts
"interestingly not only W1th the plain brick walls of the upper
floors, but with the brick Greek Revival houses on the other side of
the street.

BANK STREET South Side (Bafi Hudson & Greenwich Sts.) .

#90 . The corner five-story brick apartment house has. stores on the
Hudson Street facade (No. 583 Hudson). It was erected in 1873 by
Samuel A. Warner for the estate of Christopher Gwyer, but was greatly

" modified in 1940. At this time, the street floor was refaced and the

top story received a high stuccoed parapet in lieu of cornice. Much
distinctive ornament was removed, but a hint of its date remains in
the shape of the window lintels of the second, third, and fourth
stories. The store once served as a U.,S, Post Offlce Statlon Lol

#92-96 This pleasant row of three Greek Revival row houses was erected
in 1838-39. The last one, No. 96, has been joined to the corner
dwelling, No. 769 Greenwich Street., Raised to a full three stories
in height later in the century, and graced by bracketed roof cornices
at Nos. 92 and 94, and by a simple cornice at No. 96, they must have
originally had:low attic stories. This may be seen in the change of
brickwork below the sills of the third story windows. The heavy
sheetmetal window cornices and the little corbeled feet beneath the
windowsills at No. 94 also date from the period of the alteration, .

~ later in the Nineteenth Century. The distinguishing features of this
row are the fine Greek Revival doorways, still retained at Nos. 92
and 94, and. the wrought iron handrailings at the stoop of No. 92, its
or1g1na1 newel'posts set on circular stone pedestals. The row was
built on land purchased at the end of 1838 by William Buckland, mason,
who was taxed for Nos. 94 and 96, possibly in association with George
Youngs, a carpenter to whom he had sold the corner lot (No. 769
Hudson Street). .

i

BANK STREET North Side (Betw. Greenwich § Hudson Sts.) '

#99 "The LeftiBank,' which opened late in 1968, is a monumental seven-
(#93-99) story apartment house occupying the entire block bounded by Bank,
Greenwich, Bethune and Hudson Streets. Originally it was a loft
building of 1890. At the time this-Report was written, it was in
process of conversion and plans called for the retention of the
original dignified facade, with its striking cast iron columns em-

- bellishing the first and second stories. This two-story base section,
of iron and glass, contrasts well with the brick upper floors. " Light
colored stone provides a welcome accent at the windowsills, lintels,
and horizontal .band courses uniting the windows at mid-height. A
simple but well designed roof cornice, with central pediment on each
side, has panels and dentils between supporting blocks. The building
has a truncated corner between the Bank and Greenwich Street fronts.

It had been de51gned as a huge' loft bulldzng in 1890 by D.°§ J.
Jardine, a well known architectural firm, for Peter M. Wilson. Known
as the Ross Building, it was occupied for many years by a variety of
commercial enterprises. It was last used as a warehouse, showroom
and sales training center by the General Electric Company. There-
after it was vacant for a number ofyears. :

On.the site of this large apartment house, three exception-
ally fine town houses (Nos. 585-589 Hudson Street) once stood
on the east side of the lot, facing Abindgon Square. Although
wider, these houses bore a remarkable resemblance to the '0ld
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"BANK STREET North Sidé {Betw. Greenwich &;Hudson Sts.)

Merthants House" (No 29 East Fourth Street). They were three
stories high with dormer windows at the roof.

The houses were constructed of Flemish bond brickwork above
masonry basements and all had dignified: stoops graced with iron ,
handrails and terminated by newels which consisted of openwork iron
baskets shaped 11ke urns., '

The arched entranceways were exceptionally handsome, framed
with stone and having rustication blocks at the sides and double
keystones at the tops of the arches. The three-paneled doors
were flanked by Ionic columns and 51de11ghts and were surmounted
by fanlights with radiating muntins.

The muntlned windows (six over six) all had exterlor blinds

~and the beautiful dormer windows were arched .und flanked by
pilasters with rustication blocks between them and the windows,

* They had keystones at the tops of the arches and the muntins were
interlaced in the upper sash. The roofs of these dormers were
gable-ended with their raking moldings returned beneath the ends
to form caps for the pilasters below them.

The corner house, facing Bank Street, displayed one of the
best Federal side street elevations in the city. Here, paired
chimneys connected :by a high horizontal section of wall had the
sloping shoulders outside the chimneys which followed the line
of the roof. The central tier of windows was topped by an
arched window surmounted in turn by a lunette window, a most un-
usual feature. Outside the chimneys, just below the slope of
the roof, were two fine quadrant windows, each one forming the
top element of a vertical tier of windows.

Houses such as these three represented the finest examples
of the Federal tradition in the City. As a row, they contri-
buted greatly to the beauty and dignity 'of the Square.

BANK STREET (Between Greenwich §& Washington Streets)

This pleasant street, largely residential in character, is a
study in contrasts, with.large modern apartment buildings at the
eastern ends of the street vying for attentlon with rows of small

Nineteenth Century houses.

On the south side, half of the street is. occupled by two Iarge B
six-story apartment bu11d1ng5 of brick; then,:quite unexpectedly, we
come upon a delightful row of Greek Revival houses, among the best
preserved in the city. Adjoining these houses is another good row of
the same period. It is unfortunate that the Washington Street corner
is occupied by a mondescript filling station., This is another '
instante where architectural and design controls could have been
exercised to advantage, to make this structure harmonize better with
its neighbors. This is also true of the small garage at mid-block,
which is both out of character and out of scale with its neighbors.

The west end of the street on the north side is largely occupied
by five-story apartment houses, of which several were designed with a
unified facade, Built of brick, they harmonize to a certain extent
with the lower rows of mid-Nineteenth Century houses at the east, of
which several are good examples of the modest house of the Greek
Rev1val period.

BANK STREET South Side (Betw Greenwich & Washington Sts.)

The south side of this street is a study in contrasts. Half of
the block is occupied by two large six-story modern apartment build-
ings. Then, quite unexpectedly, we come upon a delightful row of
Greek Revival houses built in the Eighteen-thirties, together with
an Itallanate re51dence dating some thirty years later

The six-story corner. ‘brick apartment house (descrlbed under No,

. 766 Greenwich Street) was erected in 1956,

~ Similar in style to its neighbor, this six-story brick apartment
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BANK STREET South Slde (Betw. Greenwichﬁ& Washington Sts.)

building of 1957 was designed by Led Stillman for Bank Street Proper-
ties, Inc, The facade is divided. into three sections, with two re-
cessed bays bridged by fire escapes.” The only note of decorative
contrast is provided by a continuous band. of light-colored stone,

above and below the paired windows, 'and by the starkly simple entrance,
emphasized by a projecting metal canopy.

This three-story brick, Greek Revival building was erected in
1836 for Isaac Herring. The original stoop and entranceway have been
removed to provide for a first floor commercial studio. The renovated
first floor retains its original cast iron columns supporting a con-
tinuous iron beam decorated with rosettes. Although cone window on the
left side of each of the upper floors has been Lricked-up, the remain-

. ing two windows of each story retain their Greek Revival lintels and

sills. This building is topped by an elaborately detailed Neo-Grec
cornice supported by fluted brackets with modillions between them with
dentiled moldlng below.

This brlck Italianate r851dence was built in 1868. The house is .
three stories high with basement. Although the stoop has been removed
to provide a basement entrance, the original round-arched entranceway
with molded keystone on the first floor remains. The basement level
shows heavy rustication and segmental-arched windows. The original
stone panels beneath the two long parlor windows have been retained.
Plain lintels surmount the parlor windows, while the original lintels
with diminutivé cornices are seen over the windows of the second and
third floors. 'The projecting sills with moldings on the upper two
floors are supported by scrolled brackets. The residence is crowned
by an elaborate cornice with vertically. placed console- brackets and
paneled fascia ‘board.

This contemporary looking brick one-story garage, once a stable,
with stepped pdrapet and stane coping, blends in texture and color
with the adjacent Greek Revival residence, No. 126.

Perhaps one of the best preserved rows of Greek Revival houses in
New York City, 'is this one, consisting of three delightful brick
residences, built in 1837 for Jacob:G. Dyckman, a member of the
ancient Dyckman family of New York City. Dyckman, an Alderman of the
Ninth Ward and :a Commissioner, had been active in city administration
for well over forty years. The houses are the original. three stories
in height with basements and low attic windows in the fascia of the
cornice.

The dlgnlfled Greek Revival wrought iron railings of the stoops
and areaways enhance the appecrance of the architecture. The iron-

~ work is similar in style to that which is found at the adjacent row

of houses to the west. The paneled'doors are flanked by fine paneled
pilasters withiDoric capitals, supporting a handsome transom bar which
in turn is surmounted by a transom. Stone lintels without cornices
appear over the door and muntined windows of No. 130, whereas lintels
with the original diminutive cornices surmount the door and muntined
windows at No. 128. The lintels at No. 126 wer2 stuccoed over at a
later date. In the attic at Nos. 130 and 128, the low Greek Revival
windows, cut into the fascia board, have been retained. These windows
are separated from the cornice by a:fine tongue and dart molding. A
similarly designed molding serves as a sill for the attic windows.

The top floor of No. 126 has been remodeled to provide a continuous
window. The painter Bruce Mitchell lived at No. 126 Bank Street in
the early Nineteen-forties,

This charming row of three brick residences was built in 1833 for
William E. Fink, a grocer, These houses, early Greek Revival in style,
are three stories in height with basements. Nos. 132 and 134 have
fronts of Flemish bond. The corner house, No. 136, is constructed of
running bond, and the top floor attic windows have been replaced by
larger ones. The original wrought iron handrailing of the stoops has
been retained at all three houses. At Nos. 132 and 136, the herizontal .
band beneath the handrail proper is designed with a very graceful
scrollwork pattern. The iron spindles are enhanced by a delicate ball
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#132-136  design at mid-height. The handrailings, resting on very simple newels
cont, with urnlike bases, terminate in a curved volute. A simple wrought
iron areaway railing, and wrought iron uprights, topped by small acorn
finials,may be seen at all three residences.
" At. Nos. 132 and 136, the charming Greek Revival doorways have
. columns and transoms. These doorways consist of a handsome three-
paneled door which is flanked on both sides by well proportioned,
fluted Doric columns. The two handsome columns support a low entabla-
ture which is surmounted by a flve-paned transom. A simple lintel,
enhanced by a delicate cornice, is seen over, .he transom. The lintels
above the muntined wlndows of the first and second floors of all three
houses have had cornices added. 1In all three houses, the original
sills remain unchanged.:@ The facades may haveé oririnally been crowned
by a deep fascia board with waterproofed surface seen at No. 134,
with small windows cut into it. No. 136 has:a shallow cornice set
above the lengthened windows, while No. 132 was remodeled to provide
a double window located on center with casements, above which a dormer
has been added to obtain north light. Philip Evergood, a well known
painter, lived at No. 132 Bank Street from 1940 47,

The f1111ng station at the end of the block is described under
No. 731 Washington Street.

:

BANK STREET North Side : (Betw. Washlngton & Greenwich Sts.}
#1131 The flve-story apartment building at thé eorner'[described under
' No. 733 Washington Street} was erected in 1899.

#129 This charming brick residence, late Greek Revival in style, was
built in 1855 for Charles C. Crane, a miller.: De51gned with handsome
simplicity, this narrow house, two windows wide, is three stories
high with basement. The simple wrought iron handrailing of the low -
stoop and the areaway railing are doubtless the originals. The
slender paneled door with glazed transom is enframed with wood and is
surmounted by a plain lintel. The muntined, double-hung windows are
complemented by simple stone sills and lintels with their original
diminutive cornices. The residence is crowned by a crisply- detalled
cornice with modilliomns. :

#123-127 Thls fourrstory warehouse was built in 1907, This structure is
: especially notable for the top floor windows which interrupt the band
 course below the cornice. The first floor is.divided from the upper
stories by a belt course which extends the width of the building. A
brick parapet with corbel blocks has been complemented by simple
brick corbeling between the blocks. oot :

#117-121 De51gned in 1884 by William F. Niebuhr, architect, for John
Schreyer, these three apartment buildings, of dlfferent widths, are
five stories high with basements, The brick stoops lead up to arched
entranceways. The windows have simple sills and plain lintels,
which are in character with the Greek Revival idesign of the older

. residences on the block. { These three buildings are crowned by a
‘continuous, elaborately detailed cornice w1th;overszzed brackets,
whlch unifies them. {

#113 § 115 Built in 1857 for Albert C. Bogart, a carpenter, the central

first floor area between No. 113 and No. 115 has been converted into
a garage. These two houses are only three stories in height. The
windows are enhanced by stone sills and have sheetmetal lintels with
cornices. The facade is embellished by star anchors at the ends of
tension rods reinforcing the front wall. The houses are crowned by
a continuous bracketed cornice which unifies the two buildings
architecturally. -

. #105-111 . These four brick row houses were built in; 1846 in the Greek
. Revival style. They are three stories high with basements. Nos. 107
and 109 retain their original stoops, while the stoops at Nos. 105
and 111 have been removed -to provide basement entrances. The entrance-
way at No. 107 is flanked by pilasters with molded caps. surmounted by
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. a simple rectangular lintel, from which the usual cornice has been re-

moved. At Ne. 109, the entranceway has simple brick reveals and is
topped by a sheetmetal cornice. Here, the door is framed by pilasters
and surmounted by a glazed transom. At Nos. 107, 109, and 111 the
windows are complemented by projecting sills and lintels with small
cornices. Nos'. 105 and 111 retain their muntlned window sash, except
for the third floor of No. 111,

The original quaint dimensions ‘of the low attic wlndows have been
retained in all but No. 105. The elaborately detailed cornices with
brackets at Nos. 107 and 111 are doubtless later additions, while the
original refined cornice with dentils is seen at No. 109. No. 107 was
erected for Henry Ten Broeck, a carpenter, as his own home. It is -
probable that he,. in association with Dunham § Williams, mentioned in
property deeds as the builders of Nos. 111 and 109, erected this fine
row of dwellings.

| :

The corner six-story apartment building (described under Nos.

772-784 Greenwich Street) was erected in 1949.

|
\ .

BETHUNE STREET (Between Hudson § Greenwich Streets)

This short residential street, flanked on both sides by late
Nineteenth Century buildings, displays an unusual degree of harmony
despite the varying styles of the individual stcuctures, The monu-
mental seven-story structure on the south side of the street, recently
converted from commercial to residential use, has afforded the owner
an unusual opportunity for intelligent remodeling. This side of the
building has been less successfully handled than the other facades:
here, an earlier courtyard has been exposed to view where a north
addition has been removed.

Built of brick, the five-story'buildings on the north side have
roof lines of approximately the same height, creating an effect of
unity in design, although actually only the two nearest the Hudson
Street corner were designed together. The Romanesque Revival apart-
ment house, at the western end of the block, is a fine example of the
style, with the round arches, corbeling, and varied shades of brick-
work, so typical of the period, which added warmth and texture to the
surface of the building.

BETHUNE STREET : South Side (Betw. Hudson § Grecnwich Sts.)

This seven-story loft building, erected in 1890 (described.under
No. 99 Bank Street) has recently been altered into apartments.

BETHUNE STREET - North Side (Betw. Greenwich & lludson Sts.)

The corner five-story apartment house, erected in 1895-96 as a
pendant to its neighbor, No. 8, was later altered. The stoop was re-
moved and the facade smooth-stuccoed at street level. The roof
cornice was replaced by a stuccoed parapet with railing above. This
building retains an interesting feature introduced by the architect
of both structures, Henry Anderson. Spandrel panels beneath the win-
dows, with brick set diagonally, create a textured pattern at the
fourth floor. Both this corner building, which is also No. 789 Green-
wich Street, and No. 8, were erected for Minnie M. Mott.

This L-shaped building retainsgifs original stoop and projecting
roof cornice, both of which disappeared in the subsequent remodeling
of the once similar corner building, No., 10. Simply designed, the
architect relied primarily on the contrast between the stone first
story and brlck upper floors for interest. The second and third
floors were used as a hotel in the 1ast years of the Nineteenth
Century. The bulldlng was erected at the same time as No. 10.

This five-story brick apartment house, located on the corner

(also known as No. 14 Abingdon Square West), was erected in 1893, It
has a store at street level. Designed by Thomas E. Goodwin for James
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W. Ketchum, it is a mw:m example of the woamvmmﬂco Revival style as
evidenced by the handsome round-arched windows at the fourth floor.
: :

L ' .

m
BETHUNE STREET hmoﬂzmma Greenwich § Washington Streets)

Hsﬂoummnu:m in its diversity, this wawmoa retains uﬂm residential
character on the south side, in contrast to the commercial structures
which predominate on the north. It is especially notable for two ex-
tremely fine rows of Greek Revival houses, one near the Greenwich
Street corner on the south side, the other at mid-block. They both
retain the intimate scale, and,in some cases; the :xquisite detailing
which stands as mute evidence of the destructive processes which have
gradually eroded some of the original quality of this street elsewhere.

The south side is dominated by a large modern six-story apartment
house at the Greemwich Street corner. Its simplicity of design and
flat surface make an H:ﬁmummﬂpsm contrast to the six Greek Revival

‘houses which follow, mQHOH:H:m it to the west. This row, one of the

best preserved of its kind in the City, provides ample evidence of
the good taste and fine workmanship of the period. All but two of
the houses retain their original vsovowﬂwosm: beautiful doorways,

_mﬂoovm and graceful ironwork. Dominating the center of the street

is a striking six-story loft building with central pediment. The
relatively monumental size of this structure,: juxtaposed with the
intimately scaled Greek Revival row houses flanking it, heightens

the architectural interest of the street. The remaining houses,
toward the Washington Street corner, return again to the lower height.

The north side builds up from low buildings, at both ends of the
block, to a crescendo at.mid-point, with a five-story apartment build-
ing which belongs to the early part of the Twentieth Century. Toward
the Washington Street corner, we catch a glimpse of a row of three-
story Greek Revival residences. While they are much less elaborate,
and not as well preserved as the row across the street, these houses
still retain some of the.dignity and charm which is so characteristic
of the Greek Revival at its best.

This street provides an excellent illustration of the Hsﬁownm=nm
of instituting architectural controls to prevent the continuing pro-
cess of attrition and the painful loss of quality in a section of The
Village which still has charm and a modest character of its own.

BETHUNE STREET South Side (Betw. Greenwich § Washington Sts.)

This six-story mumumamzﬂ building (described under Nos. 772-784
mHmo:zwnr Avenue) was erected in 1949,

This delightful row of six brick town houses, all originally two
and one-half stories high with low attic windows, is one of the best
preserved examples of Greek Revival residential architecture in
Greenwich Village. All but two (Nos. 21 and 23) retain their original
proportions, exceptionally fine doorways, stoops and beautiful iron-
work. They were built in 1836-37 for speculative purposes by a number
of men associated with the building trades: Henry S. Forman and

“Alexander Douglass,”builders at 48 Morton Street, William Goudey, a

carpenter, and Isaac S. Spencer, a builder, at 613 Washington Street.
No. 19, a charming little Greek Revival residence, has been

altered at thd¢ roofline to provide a skylight for an artist's studio.

The house is two and one-half stories high with basement. The house

is set off by the elaborate Greek Revival handrailings at the stoop -

and an areaway railing similar to those at Nos. 27 and 29. The hand-

some pilastercd doorway, with sidelights and mocw|ﬁmamm transom, is

.capped by a lintel with strongly projected cornice, a later addition.

Smaller cornices have been added to the original lintels over the
windows, and the low windows in the attic have been retained, despite
the mmapﬁwo: of the skylight above.

Nos. 21 and 23, raised to a three full mﬂoaumm and altered to
vao<pmm basement entrances, were not originally a pair. No. 21 was
built in 1837 as a companion to No. 19, while No. 23 was built in
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1836 together'with No. 25. The dentiled lintels with end brackets
were above the original entranceways, which have now been replaced by

" .windows. A very simple wrought iron areaway railing is also a later

addition. Small sheetmetal cornices have been added to the lintels
over the doubie-hung windows. Muntined sash was used throughout, re-
placed by tworover-two sash at the parlor floor of No. 21. No, 23

was later crowned by a dentiled coinice with vertically placed console
brackets and paneled fascia, while No. 21, which is slightly higher,
has a modillioned cornice with brackets and a paneled fascia board.
Two internationally famous painters, Ben Shahn and Moses Soyer, lived
at No. 23 during the mid-Nineteen-thirties.

The next'three residences, Nos, 25-29, are extremely fine
examples of the Greek Revival row house. Bullp in 1836, they retain
their original two and one-half story height with bascment. Handsome
wrought iron railings with elaborately detailed iron castings enhance
the design of*all three houses. Here the foundry has utilized the
anthemion leaf as the decorative pattern. Graceful "S' curve motifs
adorn the tops just below the handrails. The cast iron newels are
Neo-Grec in style and are topped by Greek anthemion caps at No. 25,
while the low newels at Nos. 27 and 29 are capped by balls. The
areaway railings have anthemion castings on top and fret motifs at the
bottom of No.:25, The three areaway railings have a fine Greek fret
pattern at their bases,

The handsome Greek Revival front door, with ornaments in the
panels, has been retained at No. 25 with three—paned sidelights set
between paired pilasters. The capitals of the pilasters and of the
half-pilasters, set against the reveals of the doorway, are richly

. decorated with egg and dart moldings, repeated in the molding around

the three-paned transom above. The entranceways are surmounted by
bracketed lintels which are all distinctly different in design. No.
25 is dentiled with console brackets; No. 27 has Neo-Grec brackets of
a later date with a saw-tooth design, while No. 29 is surmounted by a
shouldered pedimented cornice. The window lintels repeat this motif.
Small sheetmetal cornices have been added to those of Nos. 25 and 27,
and corbel blocks support the simple sills of the windows of No. 25,

‘further enhanced by the addition of exterior blinds. Attic windows,

without fascia, appear at the top of this house. At Nos, 27 and 29,

the facades are surmounted by deep fascia boards with attic windows

cut into them. At both these houses, the fascia is divided into two
parts by a wooden band (tenia), while at No. 27 the frieze has been

altered by the addition of tryglyphs flanking the windows. These

« three very handsome row houses are, in actuality, interesting varia-

tioas on the Greek theme., The huge chimneys of these residences
create a striking silhouette against the sky.

This five-story brick apartment house, built in 1890, was designed
by George Keister. The first floor of the facade is especially fine
as it has been treated polychromatically. The bricks contrast in
color and texture with the many horizontal stone band courses, The
fourth and fifth floors are separated by a wide band course. of brick,
framed top and bottom by stone moldings. The building is capped by
an ornately paneled metal cornice with modillions set above a richly
ornamented frjeze.

1

This six-story brick loft building, once used as a factory, was

'erected in 1886 by Gustavus Isaacs, the owner, who was the architect-

builder, The first floor store front is supported by cast iron

. ¢columns. The windows of the upper stories have been designed with

s;mple stone lintels and sills. The building is crowned by an
elaborately detailed, heavy cornice with brackets, with an impressive
pediment of the same design at the center. The relatively monumental
scale of this structure, juxtaposed with the intimately scaled Greek
Revival row houses flanking it, heightens the architectural diversity
of the block.

Although this Greek Revival residence was built in 1846, it
nevertheless adheres remarkably closely to the design of the earlier
house which adjoins it, No. 41, The front door has been replaced,
although the same pilastered door frame with transom is retained.

4
.

{ i
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#39 The muntined windows are enhanced by their simple stone sills, while

cont. sheetmetal moldings have been added to the simple stone lintels. This

: residence is likewise crowned by a dignified Greek Revival wood cornice
similar to that.of its ne1ghbor

#41 Built in 1842, thisﬂbrick Greek Revival residence has been pre-
served in excellent condition. It was the home of Albert J. Hopper,
mason, who probably was the builder. The house is three stories high
with entrance just above.street level and has a low stoop. The en-
tranceway is enhanced by elaborate cast iron hndrailings of the period.
The handsome original door is flanked by paneled pilasters and three-
paned sidelights with transom bar above, surmounted by a wide transom
with three panes. The entranceway is crowned by a sheetmetal lintel
with cornice. The doublé-hung windows with muntin., at the first and
second floors, have been replaced at the top floor, and all have
lintels with cornices and simple sills. This residence is crowned by
a very fine, restrained Greek Revival cornice of wood, with crisply
detailed dentzled molding and simple fascia board, set back at the
ends of the front wall to permit the full profile of the cornice to
return to the wall.

#43 - The corner three- story building of 1842, one of a row of three
(descrlbed under Nos. 749-753 Washington Street) was extended later
. in the century to the rear of its lot. This rear section was then
raised in recent years to its present four-story height, and the
entive wall repointed. The paneled door, with glazed transom, lead-
ing to the apartments above, replaces an earlier door nearer the
corner, which has been bricked up. The muntined windows of the
upper stories have stone lintels and sills and: the house is surmounted
by a simple brick parapet:with stone coping,

BETHUNE STREET - North Sidé {Betw. Washingtoﬁ & Greenwich Sts.)

[}
‘#48 This two-story brick:garage and freight loading station (des-
cribed under Nos. 755-759 Washington Street) was erected in 1937-38.

#40-44 Erected in 1922, this one- -story brick garage also serves this
neighborhood. Although too low in height to relate well to the houses
to the east, had the design been better studied when it was built, it
might have been made to harmonize with its neighbors at least in its
use of materials and in 1ts details. :

#38 This small one-story garage was built in 1927 and, like No. 40-
44, might have been better, designed.

#36 Originally erected in 1847, this intimately scaled brick Greek
Revival residence was altered in 1928. The arched alleyway at the
left side of the house served originally as accessway to a stable at
the rear of the house, This little house is only two windows wide,
and the windows have simple lintels and sills. :The residence is
crowned by a simple but dignified cornice. :

#24-34 This pleasing row of six Greek Revival residences was erected
in 1844-45. Originally they all had brick fronts, but Nos. 34 and
36 have been stuccoed. The houses were built. in two groups, Nos,
30-34 and 24-28, as is clearly shown by the difference in window
alignment, Three of the dwellings, Nos. 30-34, were built for
Thomas Cudbirth, an agent at 148 Eighth Avenue. The property deeds
show that Alexander R, Holden, a builder, who owned two of the lots,
was involved in the building of the row. All the houses were built
three stories high, with basements, and retain their stoops, with the
exception of Nos. 24 and 34 which are now entered through the base-
ment. The areaway railings and the stoops with their original cast-
iron handrailings have been retained at Nos. 26, 28, and 3¢. Beneath
the vertical spindles of the railing uprights, the Greek fret pattern
may be seen. At Nos. 28 and 30, the delicate newels are encircled at
the top by the gracefully curved handrails. Very simple Greek Re-
vival doorways remain at Nos. 30 and 32, while at Nos. 24 and 26 the
doors are enframed by p11asters, with transom above. Heavy cornices

-382-



#24-34
cont,

422
(#20-22)

#16-18

#121

#117

¥115

#113

GV-HD : AREA 9

BETHUNE STREET North'Side (Betw. Washington § Greenwich Sts.)

have been added to the entranceway'lintels at Nos. 26 and 28, and Neo-
Grec brackets have been added at No. 28. Low attic windows, so typical
of the Greek Revival, have been retained at most of the houses. Roof
cornices with dentiled moldings appear at all the houses, that at No.
30 having been recently restored in character with the other houses of
the row. Altogether, these houses retain the quiet dignity and charm
which is so characteristic of the Greek Revival style at its best.
This early Twentieth Century apartment building was altered in
1937. It is five stories high with basement and has an entranceway
framed by pilasters. The muntined windows have s$ills and lintels
which tie in with horizontal stone band courses which extend the width
of the building. It is crowned by an interesting metal cornice
supported by brick corbeled brackets set in pairs between windows.

This low corner warehouse (described under Nos. 786-788 Greenwich
Street) was erected in 1935, It occupies the site of two town houses
which once had a rear yard with comaion stable behind, extending the '
width of both-lots. :

CHARLES STREET - (Between Hudson é Greenwich Streets)

[

As we look down this short street, which combines residential and
commercial buildings, the eye is immediately drawn to the unusual
little wooden house at the far end of the north side. According to
tradition, it dates from the early Nineteenth Century, or even perhaps
late in the Eighteenth. It was recently moved from York Avenue: and
Seventy-first Street to this more congenial spot in The Village and
now occupies part of a vacant lot.' Its low height and tiny scale is .
in startling contrast to the four and five-story apartment houses _
which occupy the rest of this side of the strect, of which the tallest,
a late Nineteenth Century Romanesque Revival bu11d1ng, is a good
example of that style. ‘

The most interesting building on the south side of the street is
located at the intersection of Hudson and Charles Streets. Erected in
1827, this building, with a chamfered corner, still displays paneled
Federal lintels and Flemish bond brickwork. The building steps down
gradually from its three-story height to a small, one-story, stuccoed
extension at the rear. Except for two houses at mid-block, the rest
of the street-is commercial, with a warehouse at the Greenwich Street '
intersection which is completely utilitarian in character, ‘

CHARLES STREET North Side (Betw._Greenwich § Hudson Sts.)

The little vernacular wooden house at the corner of Greenwich
and Charles Streets was recently moved to this location from Seventy-
first Street and York Avenue. According to tradition, it dates from :
early in the Nineteenth Century, or perhaps even from the late
Eighteenth Century. It appears for the first time on the tax map of
1898, ind, consequently, must have been moved to the York Avenue loca-
tion ih the latter part of the Nineteenth Century. A one-story addi-
tion was added subsequently to this simple boxy two-story structure.

This four-story building of 1853 was recently (1961) completely
refaced and renovated. Light-colored brick was used, in striking
contrast to the rest of the building, around the entrance doorway.
The facade is asymmetrical, with a .tier of double windows at the left
while the main doorway, beneath the fire escape, is at the right side.

This striking example of late Romanesque Revival architecture was
designed in 1893 by the firm of Thom & Wilson for the estate of S. R.
Jacobs. The stubby columns supporting the lintel block above the
entrance and the arched treatment of the top story windows are typical
of the style. - The picturesque roof cornice, supported on vertical
brackets, is effectively stepped up at the center.

This four-story brick apartment house (described under Nos.
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CHARLES STREET North Sihe (Betw. Greenwich § Hudson Sts.)

535-539% Hudson Street) was completely altered between the years 1950
and 1953, ° : !

i
H

GREENWICH STREET East Side {Betw. Charles § Perry Sts.)

‘The corner is occupied by a small house recently moved to this’
location {described under No. 121 Charles Street).

This six-story brick warechouse was erected in 1909 by Bernstein §
Bernstein for the Greenwich Holding Company. .Corbeled strips above the
top story windows and the variegated brickwork provide the only deco-
rative relief to this otherwise extremely simple structure.

The present appearance of the adjoining row of houses, Nos. 725-

731, is due to a remodeling of 1928 in the popular Spanish Colonial

style, carried out by the architect Ferdinand Savignano for the Realty
Collateral Corporation. (Originally, Nos. 725-729 were built for :
Warren and Joseph B. Harriot, grocers, with store listed at 718
Greenwich Street at the southwest corner of Charles Street. They
owned a considerable amount of property in the neighborhood.

No. 725 was built in 1835 as a two-story house. In 1928 the
stoop was removed to provide a basement entrance and the entire facade
was stuccoed, The building is now three stories high with basement,

~ The 1928 entrance modification shows a round-arched basement entrance

door, surmounted by a round-arched French window with projecting corbel
type balcony below, which also serves as a small canopy over the
entranceway. The bu11d1ng is crowned by a stepped parapet with coping.
The parapet is decorated with .a wide panel, pierced by three small
arched openings just below the raised center portion.

No. 727 was erected in 1839, replacing an earlier bu1ld1ng of

1826, destroyed by fire. The round arched entranceway in the base-

ment, as well as the round-arched window with balcony above, are
smaller versions to those-at No. 725. The surface of the facade is
likewise stuccoed. This building has a stepped roof parapet with .
coping and small triple, blind arches at the center. A large round-’
arched entranceway with iron gate at ground level, adjoining the
front door, serves as a common entrance passage to the back yards of
Nos, 725-729.

No. 729, a three- story stuccoed re51dence was built for Joseph-
B. Harriot in 1853, The severely rectangular doorway makes a strong
contrast with the adjacent round-arched passageway to the back yard.
On the ground floor, a small round-arched mullioned window, with a
curved projecting corbeled type sill, separates two rectangular.
shaped mullioned windows of different sizes, which have rectangular

. pro;ectlng sills. This house is crowned by a stepped parapet, with

coping that features open triple arches at the sides with three small .
rectangular openings between them.

The corner house, No. 731, has an 1nterest1ng history. The
original house was bullt in 1811 for Henry Bayard, and a second house
was built in 1836 on the Perry Street side for Joel Miller, chair-
maker. In 1833, the two houses were rebuilt after a fire had practi-

. cally destroyed them. The entire building, as seen today, incorporates

the two rebuilt houses. This corner building, four stories high, was
altered at the same time as No. 725. The design of the ground floor
windows adheres closely to.that of No. 729, and the topmost sections
of the house fcature projecting shed roofs of tile on the Perry Street
side, The parapet which tops the building has an unusual, stepped
pattern with curves making; the transition between the steps. .

GREENWICH STRELT East Side (Betw. Perry § West llth Sts.)

This six-story brick building was designed in 1904 by Bernstein
& Bernstein for Katz & Wimple. The first floor of the building has
commercial store fronts. The architect has included classical French
Beaux Arts motifs in the design above the wlndows The building is
crowned by 2 very restrained cornice. . :

-384-



#737

#739

M#741

#743

#745

#747

#749-51

#753-757

GV-HD _ “ AREA 9

GREENWICH STREET East Side (Betw. Perry § West llth Sts.) .
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Built in 1838 for George Greason, tinsmith, who had purchased the
land in 1837 from Cornelius R. and David R. Doremus, builders, who
owned the adjoining properties to the north, this Greek Revival resi-
dence of brick is now three stories high and has had its original de-
sign altered. The stoop has been removed to provide a basement
entrance, leaving the original lintel of the door in the wall above
the window that now replaces it. This lintel, with saw:=tooth molding,
is supported on fluted brackets. The muntined windows are capped by
lintels with cornices, and a simple belt course, serving as a window-
sill, separates the muntined attic .windows of the top floor. The
residence is capped by a narrow fascia and rain gutter.

This 1843 brick residence stands three sturies high with basement.
It is one of several erected by David J. Brinckerhoff, builder, who
then sold it to James J. Brinckerhoff.. The stoop has been removed to
provide a basement entrance which is deeply recessed and round-arched.
The windows are capped by lintels with cornices. The original roof
cornice has been replaced by a stepped brick parapet with panel
beneath it at the center and has a'stone coping. Originally, it must
have been very similar to No. 737, and probably only two and one-half
stories in height. ' g

" This three-story brick residence with bascment was built by David

R. Doremus, a builder, in 1854-as his own residence. The low stoop
leads to an elaborately paneled .door and door frame designed in the
Italianate tradition. The windows are complemcnted by lintels with
tiny cornices. Casement windows may be seen at the first floor, while
the French windows of the second floor are protected and enhanced by
diamond-patterned iron railings. The house is crowned by an elegant
cornice which has ornamental console brackets and a paneled fascia.

This one-story brick garage was constructed in 1930 and is of
rather small propertions. It consists of one large paneled door
surrounded by -brick. '

This Greek Revival residence was built in 1835 for Abraham W,
Cooper, a merchant tailor, and stands two and one-half stories high.
The brickwork is in Flemish bond. The original stoop has been re-
moved to provide a simple, recessed basement entrance. A stone band
course at the top of the stone basement wall divides it from the brick
wall above. The windows are enhanced by simple sills and lintels with
cornices. - The very low windows in the attic story add a charming note
to the facade. The low, pitched roof is crowned, at the facade; by a
fascia board and metal rain gutter.

This three-story Greek Revival residence, originally a twin of
No. 745, was also built for Abraham W. Cooper in 1835, The stoop has
been removed to provide a basement ‘entrance. The first and second
floor windows are muntined. Cornices have been added to the windows
of the second floor only:. Low attic windows and the roof cornice have

. been replaced by a third story crowned by a plain brick parapet. A

change from the original Flemish brickwork to running bond is visible

- above the second story,

This double Greek Revival residence, threc stories in height, also
was built for Abraham W. Cooper in 1835, with stores at street level,
The original dignified Greek Revival doorway with Doric columns has
been retained ‘at No. 749. A broad sﬁdoth band course divides the first

- floor of No. 749 from the upper stories. Simple sills and lintels with

cornices embellish the windows. These two residences are crowned by a
simple Greek Revival cornice, and the brickwork is of Flemish bond,

GREENWICH STREET East Side (Betw. West 11th & Bank Sts.)

This modified row of three Greek Revival residences of 1836-37
was built for Henry Pray, a butcher, who still lived in one of them as
late as 1851. ' The three brick residences now stand three stories high
with basements, and the stoops have been removed., The original door-
way lintels can still be seen at Nos. 755 and 757. Cornices have been
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GREENWICH STREET East Side (Betw, West llth & Bank Sts.)
o : ;

added to the simple Greek Revival lintels, and the low attic windows

remain at Nos., 755 and 757. Identical roof cornices of a later date,

with vertically placed brackets, crown each residence and unify the row

archltecturally

This narrow six-story brick commercial building was constructed in : -
1910 for the Greenwich Investing Company, and: was designeéd by Gronenberg
& Leuchtag, replacing a tesidence which had been part of the row to the
south. The windows are complemented by very 51mp1e sills and lintels,
The height of the bu11d1ng adds a note of archivectural d1ver51ty to
the block. :

Although these threé brick buildings of 1838 a>pear so dissimilar
today,. they were built as a row for W, and J.'P, Harriot, neighborhood
grocers at 718 Greenwich Street. They were or1g1nally Greek Revival
residences and only two and one-half stories in height, similar in _ -

- appearance to No. 765, A fourth dwelling, at the site of the lumber~

yard at No. 767, was a part of the same fine row. _ : |

"No. 761 was raised to three stories in 1877. A window replaces '
‘the original doorway; however, the frame of the doorway -and the : :
lintel above it have been retained in the wall., Simple sills and |

" flush pedimented lintels complement the windows on the first and
. second floors. This house is crowned by a handsome roof cornice with

four vertically placed brackets and a paneled.fascia. - | _ |
In 1877, No. 763 was raised from the original two stories to i

- four stories with basement. A stoop leads up to a deeply recessed

entrance. The windows are embellished with low pedimented lintels ;
and simple sills. An elegant cornice with modllllons, dentils and )
end brackets crowns the house.

No. 765, a two and one-half story, pitched roof Greek Rev1va1 I
house with basement, adheres closely to its original appearance. The |
stoop has been removed to provide a basement entrance. Pedimented

* lintels with shoulders and simple sills enhance the muntined windows |

of the first floor and are also seen at the second floor. Attic win-
dows appear in the simple; fascia board beneath the cornice. Most of
the basic architectural elements, including the high pitched roof,
have been retained resulting in a building of considerable charm.

A wall serves here with a driveway entrance for a lumberyard.
It has recently (1966) been completely refaced in a simple manner.

This pie-shaped Greek Revival residence, also known as No. 96
Bank Street, was built in 1839 in Flemish bond, for and probably by
George Youngs a builder. It stands three stories high with basement
and has a blank 31dewall, except for a vertical tier of windows at
the center of the three-story portion, suggesting that it may have
had a steep, pitched roof with the third floor window at the apex of
a gable-ended roof. The muntined windows of the low portion at the
rear have been replaced by aluminum sash. :

- GREENWICH STREET East Side (Betw. Bank § Bethune Sts.)

This seven-story loft building, erected in 1890 (described under
No. 99 Bank Street) has recently been altered into apartments.

) GREENWICH STREET East Side (Betw. Bethuneé § West 12th Sts.)

-is flanked by columns supporting a cornice slab which ties in with a : .

The corner five-story apartment bu11d1ng (descrlbed under No. 10

" Bethune Stréet) was erected in 189S.

The four-story brick apartment house-of 1879, designed by I. L N
Irving Howard for John Van Buskirk, is an interesting survival in this
block. It is much smaller in scale than its neighbors. The entrance

horizontal band course of similar profile on either side. The flush :

band courses at the upper floors, window lintels and sills, and the = -
rich cornice are typical of Neo-Grec work of the period. The build- .

ing was altered in the first half of the Twentieth Century. :
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GREENWICH STREET East Side (Betw. Bethune § West 12th Sts.)
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This lﬁrge six-story structure, which extends from Greenwich to

‘Hudson Streét on West Twelfth Street (described under No. 607 Hudson

Street} was erected in 1905,

' GREENWICH STREET East Side (Befw. West 12th § Jane Sts.)

This six-story brick building, erected in 1890 for Joseph D,
Eldridge, was designed by James M. Farnsworth for a very shallow
corner lot, It has a store facing both the West Twelfth and Greenwich
Street fronts, The only decorative element is the deep cornice, sup-
ported on widely spaced brackets, with swagged panels. between them.

Constructed at the same time as No, 797-799, this building aligns

with it at dornice level, although the windows are slightly lower.

These two structures, of similar appearance, unify the block. The
windows are grouped together by means of a projecting band course.
No. 801 was designed by Charles Rentz for Alva ‘L. Reynolds.

Erected in 1858 by George Fi Coddington, a builder at 127 Fourth
Street, this four-story building has a typical Italianate roof '
cornice. It probably was originally designed for single family
occupancy but was later converted to apartments.

These two four-story buildings were erected in 1849 by Stacey ,
Pitcher, a mason at 117 Crosby Street, as part of a block front around
the corner on Jane Street (Nos, 58-66)}, which also includes Nos., 617-
621 Hudson Street, erected a year earlier. ‘The Greenwich Street
houses, originally Greek Revival in style, as may be seen by their
roof cornices and general proportions, were greatly modified in later
years. The stoop was retained at No. 807 but replaced by a basement
entrance at ‘No. 805, making it now four stories in height. Both
buildings have been converted to multiple tenancy.

GREENWICH STREET East Side (Betw. Jane § Horatio Sts.)

These three houses, originally erected as individual dwellings,
were later altered. They are all entered through a gate at the rear
of the. lot, -around the corner at No. 65 Jane Street, Nos. 811 and 813
were built in 1839, when the Greek Revival style was in vogue, while
No. 809 dates from 1854. ‘

No. 809, four stories high, was built for Garret Green.' It echoes
the style of his earlier houses adjoining but has an Italianate roof
cornice typical of its date of 1854. On the Jane Street side, the
roof cornice has not been returned and there is a brick parapet with
stone coping, stepped down toward the rear of the house following the
slope of the roof. Boath sets of end windows are blind.

Nos. B11-813 were erected earlier, in 1839, and were originally
Greek Revival in style. No. 811 was built for Garret Green as his
residence, dnd No., 813 for William R. Halsey as his home. Green, a
lumber merchant, and Halsey, a builder, may have been associated, since

. they shared the same business address, 99 Morton Street, at this time,

Both residences were probably built by Halsey and were con51derab1y
modified in later years, notably by an alteration which eliminated the
stoops and substituted a single entry for both at basement level, The

" basement stories are rusticated, and the smooth surface of the stone-

work contrasts pleasantly with the brick above.

. No. 813 had its top story raised to provide full height windows
at the fourth floor, while No. 811 retains the small attic windows so
typical of Greek Revival houses. The windows, some of which are
muntined, have simple, but dignified stone lintels and sills, No. 811
is crowned by an Italianate roof cornice with console brackets. It is
similar in design to the one at No. 809, doubtless replacing the
original Greek Revival cornice, added when Mr. Green built the corner
house. The cornice at No. 813 belongs to a date still later in the.

" century when the building was raised a full story,

1

These two very charming brick Greek Revival row houses were built
in 1848 (No. 815) and 1849 (No. 817) for Elizabeth Lawrence, the widow
of Samuel Lawrence, State Assemblyman and Congressman. The buildings
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GREENWICH STREET East Side (Betw. Jane & Horatio Sts.)

were erected by Albert P. Sturtevant and Henry T. Pierce, nelghborhood
builders, who had purchased the land from her in 1847 and 1848.

The two houses stand four stories in height. The stoops were re-
moved in 1943 to provide a common entrance for the two residences.
The stuccoed basement has been painted white, contrasting in texture
and color with the red brick surface above. The muntined windows are
capped, in some cases, by simple lintels and plain stone sills, en-
hancing the overall appearance of the facade. The two units are
crowned by the original, handsome Greek Revival cornice with crisply
detailed dentiled mold1ng and unadorned fascia-board.

This four-story corner building (described under No. 66 Horatlo
Street) was erected in 1846. The little one-story - :tension, to the
rear of the lot, is an addition of the Twentieth Century. :

GREENWICH STREET East Side (Betw. Horatio § Gansevoort Sts.)

The northern portion of this block is outside the District.

‘Erected in 1847-48 as part of the development of Horatio Street
around the corner, this four-story brick house (described under No. 59
Horatio Street) has a store at street level., Later in the century, a
three-story addition was added which fills in the full depth of the lot.

This simple four-story building, which has been completely stuccoed-
over, is now a part of the meat processing plant adjoining it to the
north. It was originally built as a private residence for Samuel G.

' Southmayd, whose planing mill was located at 377 West Street. ' The

house, originally three stories in height with basement, must have been

very similar to the adjoining Greek Revival row houses on Horatio Street.

GREENWICH STREET West Side (Betw. Gansevoort § Horatio Sts.).
The northern portion of this block is outside the District.
This L-shaped, five-story brick apartment house occupies the corner

site, where three small houses once stood. It was altered to its

present appearance in the Nineteen-forties and fifties., It is also
known as No. 61 Horatio Street. :

' GREENWICH STREET West Sidé (Betw. Horatio & Jane Sts.)'

‘This pair of fine residences of 1838-39 is the sole survivor of an
impressive block front of Greek Revival row houses. - Nos. 828 and 830
were built, respectively, for Abraham Underhill;, an attorney at-14 Pine
Street, who lived at No., 820 for many years, and for Isaac Jaques, a
merchant, They were erected by William R. Halsey, a neighborhood
builder, who developed considerable property in the West Village in the

~late Eighteen-thirties. Both houses retain their fine original hand-

railings at their stoops. No. 830 was recently restored after a devas-
tating fire and the basement shop was removed. The doorways are en-
framed by pilasters and a full entablature. Each house is crowned by a

“ dentiled Greek ‘Revival cornice,

This packlng and storage-building was built in 1957 for the Kansas
Packing Company on the site of two houses and a stable (No. 822). With
a complete array of doors at the first floor, the painted brick wall
of the upper floors has conventional sized, muntined double-hung windows.
A battery of sheetmetal ducts comes out the front wall near the top and
is carried back onto the roof. Small towers appear at both eft and
right. Minus the ducts and.white paint, this building mlght be made

“to harmonlze quite well Nlth its neighbors.

Built in 1909 for the Neper Construction Company, this six-story
brick, loft. building was designed by John Woolley. It attempts to
achieve an architectural quality in the design of its front facade. It
is divided into two portions, separated by a wide brick pier at the
center, Piers also close the ends and the two recessed portions between
them have paired windows at the third, fourth and fifth floors. The
second floor windows are triple, admitting more light for office use,
while the first floor has two ﬁtilitérian doors and one main entry
framed .in stone with a heavy lintel block carried on brackets. The
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'GREENWICH STREET- West Side (Betw. Horatioc § Jane Sts.)

i

top floor has four windows surmounted by a corbeled brick cornice.’
The sidewall to the south is fully exposed and has a random arrangement
of steel wlndows.

This open lot with fence around it, now used for parking, was
once the site of a small two and one-half story house.

GREENWICH STREET West Side (Betw, Jane § West 12th Sts.)

This exceptionally handsome seven-story loft building was designed
in the tradition of McKim, Mead § White by lavid H. King, Jr., archi-
tect. It was built in 1897 for Helene M. Cavarello. The first two
floors are built of smooth stone (ashlar) construction with low seg-
mental arches flanking a high central arch which takes in the second
floor window facing Greenwich Street. Above this point the building
is of brick, with slender corner quoins of brick interlocking alter-
nately of different lengths. Another high arch, above the one at the
first floor, takes in the windows of the fourth, fifth and sixth
floors. The top floor has a series of small, arched windows crowned
by a bold classical cornice. Although not in character with the resi- !
dences in the area, this is an unusually fine commercial structure and
set a standard for this area which was never surpassed. :

Completely anonymous, this trucklng garage presents a minimum of
structure to the eye and an array of large doors along the street.
The small panels of the doors, the brickwork, and the neat sign above
them are, in themselves, perhaps the best solution for this utilitarian
type of building, but here again its very lowness sets it apart from
the neighborhood and gives the street a toothless appearance. It was
built in 1944 for the West Side Iron Works and occupies the former
site of three six-story houses (Nos. 806-810).

GREENWICH STREET West Side (Betw. West 12th § Bethune Sts.)

This five-story apartment house was built in 1877. The high win-
dows have lintels with projecting cornices and sills supported on
brackets. The building is crowned by a roof cornice with a bold over-
hang and fascia. The walls have been roughcast-stuccoed.

Occupying the site of a coal yard, this two-story brick warehouse
building, now occupied by the Central Steel Company, was built for the
Purco Steel Company in 1924, 1t has industrial type steel windows and
a stepped parapet with stuccoed panels in it. An off-center door
gives access to the building at:ground floor. This is a case where a
simpler design might have produced at least a dignified appearance.: i

Built in 1835 for the Lehigh Steel Company, this one-story struc-
ture consists of offices and a warehouse. Asymmetrical in design, it
has a large door at the left with a window at the right side. The
parapet is stepped-up and crowned by a stone coping. The sign along
the front is dignified and the general appearance of this low struc-
ture is at least neat and reSpectable It occupies the former site
of two three-story houses and is located at the corner of Bethune
Street. -

GREENWICH STREET wgst Side {Betw. Bethune § Bank Sts.)

This large apartment house fills the entire eastern end of the
block between Bank and Bethune Streets. It is six stories high and
built. of brick with projecting corners and single double-hung windows.
Despite its large size, it accords singularly well regarding fenestra-
tion and height with the buildings in the neighborhood. It is not
distinguished as architecture, but it might at least be said that it
does not defy an entire neighborhood. It occupies the site of several
houses and of '"The Star' apartment house, which once stood at the
southwest corner of Bethune and Greenwlch Streets. It was built for
the Bethune Realty Corporation and was designed by I. J. Cransman in
1949, It includes the addresses Nos. 17 Bethune Street and 103 Bank
Street.
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. GREENWICH STREET = West Side (Betw. Bank § tht 11th Sts.)

The six-story apartment house on the corner of Bank Street is also
known as No. 100 Bank Street. It was erected in 1956 for Albert §&
Harrison, In designing this structure the archltect Mortimer Gordon,
made a conscious effort to create a simple di isign which would harmonize
with the building on the next block, betweenuBank and Bethune Streets.

With its new brick front ending in a high parapet, this three-
story brick building looks quite modern, butﬁlt actually represents the
complete remodeling of a very early house, exected in 1826 for Alexander
Ritchie, a dyer, who also owned No, 754.

This four-story brick house, or1g1nally!a small building erected in

: 1829 was raised from three to four stories in 1873 when it was crowned

by a uniformly bracketed cornic¢e. The upperffloors remain -but little
changed, while the frame of the doorway on the first floor has been
smooth-stuccoed beneath a unifying horlzontal band course which extends

\ the width of the house.

Also built for Alexander Ritchie in 1826-27, this house, like its
neighbors, was later raised to its present four-story height and crowned
by a Neo-Grec cornice. ' The pedimented entrance.at street level gives
-access to the basement now converted to a first story.

Now four stories in height, the corner building, also No. 315 West
Eleventh Street, was originally late Federal in style. It was erected

"in 1827 for David Dunn and William Cranstoun, of Dunn § Cranstoun. It

is severely simple and now has a bracketed cornice across the Greenwich
Street front. The Dunn family owned this and neighboring properties
Iuntil well into the Eighteen-forties (see No. 317 West Eleventh Street).

GREENWICH STREET West Side (Betw. West llth_é Perry Sts.)

The four-story re51dence at this corner (described under No. 316
West Eleventh Street) ‘was erected in 1843.

This. one-story, symmetrlcal brlck bu11d1ng, with stepped roof para-
pet, was built in 1945 and is used as a repair shop for automobiles.
Severely simple in design, it serves a useful purpose within the com-
munity, ' ' '

‘Designed by George G. Miller and built in 1930 for the Greenwich
Street Corporation, this four-story garage also serves the neighborhood.

 Broad steel casement windows are used throughout. The treatment of the

base, differentiating it from the rest of the building by painting it
white, and the rather carefully organized block and serif lettered signs,
express the desire on the part of the owner to achleve a dignified
appearance for this utilitarian structure.

HORATIOQ STREET (Befween Hudson § Greenwich Streets}

Although dwarfed by the modern apartment building at the southwest
corner of Hudson Street, the low three and four-story houses on the
street still manage remarkably well to recall the domestic life of an
earlier day. The remainder of the south side of the street is occupied
by a short row of Greek Revival houses, of which one retains its stoop,

' fine doorway, and delicate ironwork. Unfortunately, recent alterations

have eliminated many of the most interesting decorative features at the
other houses, an indication of the need for the establishment of an
archltectural review board.

On the north side of the street is a long row of houses erected just
before the mid-Nineteenth Century. The residences at the western end of
the ‘'street are three stories.in height and still display some character-
istics of the late Greek Revival period in which they were built. The

‘dignified row of five town houses at mid-block, visually unified by an

unbroken band course above the first floor windows and by the roof cor-
nices, has been considerably modified by successive alterations, so that
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HORATIO -STREET (Betwecn Hudson § Greenwich Streets)

it retains little of its orlglnal Greek Revival appearance. Nonethe-
less, these houses still reflect a way of life which has largely

‘disappeared in many parts of New York City, all too often replaced

by large, impersonal apartment houses which lack the intimacy and
warmth of an earlier period. The corner garage, which .replaced three
Nineteenth Century houses, fails to relate to its neighbors. With a
little more thought, and at no extra expense, it could have been made
more compatible with them visually and could have justified 1ts locaa
tion within- an Hlstorlc Dlstrlct

HORATIO STREEF South Side (Betw. Hudson -§ Greenwich S$ts.)

This large nineteen-story apartment house on the corner site
(described under Nos. 623-635 Hudson Street) was erected in 1962-64.

Typically Greek Revival in 5tyle, these five handsome row houses

. were all erected in 1845-46 on land which, until 1844, had been owned

by the Ireland family. The Irelands sold the lots to two cartmen,
Cornelius Ackerman, who lived at No. 58, and Peter Van Natter at No.
62. They in turn sold to Abraham Demarest, a ne1ghborhood bullder,
who should be credited with building the row.

Although No. 62 has been greatly altered, particularly at street
level, by the elimination of the stoop, both this house and No. 60
still retain their Greek Revival character at the upper stories, with
a fine doorway also at No. 60. Nos, 58 and 64 are the best preserved
houses of the row, espec1a11y No. 58, recently renovated in a completely
sympatheticmanner,

‘For the most part, the c1a331c features of No, 58 remain unchanged.
The house stands three stories in height. The rusticated basement con-
trasts both in color and texture with the brick of the facade. The
refined Greék Revival doorway has delicate three-paned sidelights set
between full and half pilasters.: The paneled door is topped by a sim-
ple wooden transom bar with molding, above which is a fine transom °
with three panes of glass. The stoné stoop, leading to the entrance,
is enhanced by wrought iron handrailings which are the originals.
Above the simple wrought iron spindles, a row of graceful horizontal
"$" curves provide a decorative element. The Greek Revival wrought
iron areaway railing is also dignified in design. Below the top
horizontal band, connecting the uprights, a series of wrought iron
scrolls create the effect of arches. The windows have stone lintels
and sills, and the usual six over six panes of the period. This resi-
dence is crowned by a fine Greek 'Revival cornice with crisply deétailed
dentiled molding above a simple fascia board. The cornices of Nos.
58-64 Horatio Street, together with the cornice of No. 825 Greenwich
Street, although dlscontlnvous blend to creite a unifying top line.

The corner four-story building, also known as No. 825 Greenwich
Street, was sold by Demarest to Henry E. Clark, a grocer whose living
quarters were above his store. The ground floor has been smooth-
stuccoed and a fire escape covers most of the narrow facade. The
original lintels of the period have been covered with sheetmetal, but
the stone sills are unchanged. The tin cornices over the low windows
of the fourth floor come up against the simple fascia board, creating
an interesting pattern. The one-story extenhlon on the rear of the
lot, on Greenwich Street, is a Twentieth Century addition.

HORATIO STREET North Side (Betw. Greenwich § Hudson 5ts.)

All the houses along the north side of this block were erected in
1847-48. Until that time the land had not been developed.  But the
city was rapidly pushing northward, and Fourteenth Street was no longer
considered 'out of town." Two astute widows, both members of the
Ireland family, Elizabeth Lawrence and Jane Gahn, saw that the time
was ripe to sell. Rows such as these were filling up the empty lots
in the nelghborhood as fast as local masons and carpenters could put
them up. '

The four-story brick residente at the corner of Greenwich Street
was the first house erected. It was built in 1847 for Harvey
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HORATIO STREET North Side (Betw. Greenwich E Hudson Sts.)

Springsteen, a bllndmaker who moved his shop:from 150 Amos Street to
the new address in 1848. Later in the century, the house was extended
to the full depth of the 1ot by a three-story'addition (No. 825
Greenwich Street), rep1301ng the workshop at the rear of the lot. The
house still displays characteristics of the Greek Revival period. The
simple wood roof cornice 'with dentils, as well as the small size of
the attic windows with casements, are typical, as are the simple win-
‘dow lintels and sills and the muntined sash of the lower floors. The
store at street level preserves a fine cast iron column at the corner

" .of Greenwich Street.

The next iwo re51dences were erected early in 1848 on property
purchased in 1847 from Elizabeth Lawrence by John O'Donnell (No. 559,
a mason at 20 Thames Street, and by Isaac Van Orstrand (No. 57), a
carpentexr at 125 West Eighteenth Street. Both these Greek Revival
residences stand three stories high over a basement. In each case, a
later alteration substituted a basement entrance for the former stoop.

No. 55 is closer to its .original appearance than is No, 57. At
No. 55 the low attic windows with casements have been retained, as at

" No. 59, and sheetmetal window cornices were added to the simple lintels
of the lower floors. Above this, we see a d1gn1f1ed Greek Revival cor-

nice, dentiled at No. 55. At No, 57, the window lintels of the first
and second stories have been accented by the addition of projecting
cornices, The residence is crowned by a roof cornice which raises it

-slightly higher than its neighbors. The cornice is carried on elabe-

rately detailed console brackets, and a band below the fascia consists
of an intricate chain pattern.

This dignified row of five Greek Revival houses, each a narrow two

-windows wide, now rises to a height of four stories above basements.

This row was erected for Farley Gray, an attorney at 14 Pine Street,
whose home was at the then fashionable Clinton Place (No. 14). Gray's
wife, Magdalena, had purchased the land in 1847 from Jane Gahn. Among
the owners of the property, was a certain Reid R. Throckmorton, who

had purchased the land from Mr. Gray, and who moved into No. 53 in 1848.

He owned a planing mill in the neighborhood.
Due to successive alterations, No. 53 is no longer similar to the’
four neighboring houses (Nos. 45-51), described below. This building

" extends much deeper on the lot than the others. French casemént win-

dows, a later addition, appear at the second floor. The lintels have
been treated in 51m11ar fashion to those of the row. Vertically placed

console brackets have been added to the ends of the Greek Revival den-

tiled cornice which has a molding at the top.
Nos. 45 through 51 are architecturally unified by an unbroken band

‘course, located directly above the first floor windows. -The paired -

doorways of these residences are executed in a restrained Greek Revival

design. Fine paneled pilasters, supporting a simple transom bar, frame

these entrance doors which have muntined transoms. The unusual triple-
sash first floor windows, with four-paned sidelights, echo the Gréek
Revival doorway design. Tin cornices have been added to the original"
lintels of the windows above, while the sills remain unaltered. The
unity of the four houses is achieved by means of a continuous Greek
Revival cornice with pronounced dentiled molding and simple fascia
board.

Thls one-story corner garage (described under No 639 Hudson Street)

was crected in 1949,

HORATIO STREET (Between:Greenwich § Washington StreetS)

This street, which has a quality and charm of its own, is located

~at the northernmost portion of the Historic District. As in many other

areas of The Village, however, residential and commercial architecture
are combined in a way which is not always entirely felicitous. The
southern side is of less interest architecturally than the northern
section, which consists of a fine block front of Greek Revival houses,
extendlng from the corner of Greenwich Street to the large warehouse at
the western end . of the block, which is outside the Hlstorlc District.
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HORATIO STﬁEET (Between Greenwich § Washington Streets)

The south side of the street displays multiple uses and periods
of architecture and presents a varied appearance, with the use of
brick as the unifying element, The corner house, one of a fine pair
of Gréek Revival houses fronting on Greenwich Street, has recently
been restored after a devastating fire., It is followed by several .
commercial structures of varying heights, rising to four stories in
the garage at mid-bleck, This building, a late example of Romanesque
Revival style, has a tall tower, introducing a vertical accent and a
picturesque flavor to the street. The remainder of the block consists
of apartment houses, of which the most notable is the five-story, late
Nineteenth Century building at the end of the block, wherein four
units were combined to present a umified front to the street.

Varying in height from three to four stories, the houses on the
north side, built in the second and third quarters of the last century,
present a street front of considerable interest and quality. The
seven charming Greek Revival residences, nearest the Creenwich Street
corner, are fine examples of their period and style and lend a warm,
human scale to the block. Several of these houses retain their orig-
inal proportions, with a low attic story and, except for one, have
preserved their stoops. Subsequent alterations have unfortunately
eliminated most of the original ironwork and, in several cases, the
doorways have been modified:; the triangular pediment over the doorway
of the third house from the corner is a particularly unfortunate addi-
tion which is completely out of character with the style of the house
and the neighboring original doorways. With help and advice from a
design review board, this row could be restored to superb condition.

HORATIO STREET South Side (Betw. Greenwich § Washington Sts.)

The four-story corner building (described under No. 830 Greenwich
Street) was erected in 1839. . '

#68 This small two-story building, erected as a stable in 1874, now
serves as a studio for the owner of No. 830 Greenwich Avenue.

#70 This building, now used as a dry ice plant, rises to a height of
' four stories. Erected in 1955, it has a brick wall above the entrance
which is completely undecorated except for rows of headers at every
sixth row, It is crowned by a stone coping. The painter Bruce
Mitchell lived here in the late Nineteen-thirties in a Greek Revival
house which was demolished to make way for the present building.

#72-74 Built .in 1907 as a stable, ,this brick building was converted for
use as a garage in 1942, It is four stories high, with a small tower
on the left. It displays features of the Romanesque Revival style in
the arches which embrace and unify the windows of the second and third
stories, White stone windowsills and lintels supply a welcome note-
of contrast to the red brick facade, laid in Flemish bond brickwork.

#76-78 Before its conversion in 1927 to an apartment house by I. Henry
Glaser, this building consisted. of two separate houses,known as
"Horatio Gardens." The three round-arched windows on either side of
the segmental-arched entranceway are an interesting feature framed in
brick. These windows, with brick arches above and toothed brickwork
frames at the sides, represent part of the 1927 alteration, yet the
simple lintels with diminutive cornice and the muntined double-hung
sash of the original windows remain in place above them. The windows
of the upper stories have their:original simple stoie lintels and
sills. Thé building is crownediby a stepped brick parapet with brick
panels and :a stone coping. At the time of the alteration, a three-
story brick building was erected at the rear of the two lots,

#80 Built in 1853, this five-story brick building, with commercial
store front, has three double-hung windows on each floor which have
stone lintels with diminutive cornices. Small (bathroom) windows have
been cut in the front wall just to the left of the central window and
the lintel extended out to include them. The building is crowned by
a restrained roof cornice with modillions and simple fascia board,
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HORATIO STREET South Side (Betw. Greenwich § Washington Sts.)

This brick apartment building consists of a row of four units and
was built in 1878. The buildings, designed by Theophilus Smith for
John H. Selzam, are five 'stories high. The first floor is separated
from the upper stories by a horizontal band course. The uniformly
treated smooth stucco finish of this ground floor contrasts <in texture

. and color with the brick .of the upper floors. The design of the first

floor consists of pairs of arched, double—hung windows alternating

with segmental-arched entranceways with low stoops. The scheme

creates an interesting pattern. The paneled. tintels over the double-

hung windows of the second floor are surmounted by triangular pediments,

resting on carved brackets, while the similar lintels over the windows

of the upper stories are capped by horizontal cornices resting on sim- o,
ilar brackets. These buildings are crowned by an elaborately detailed

cornice with vertically placed, paired brackets with panels between

“them.

This five-story corner apartment house (described under No. 795
Washington Street) was erected in 1871.

HORATIO STREET North Side (Betw. Washington 5 Greenwich Sts.}

(The corner warehouse [Nos. 85-87] is outside the limits of. thé.
Historic District.) -

- This dignified brick:Greek Revival vesidetnice was built in 1852-53
for Henry A. Nelson, a real estate agent. The house stands three .
stories high with basement. The richly detailed wrought iron handrail-
ing of the stoop and areaway adds a touch of elegance to the architec-
ture and is, despite its late date, reminiscent of the Greek Revival
theme. The recessed doorway is surmounted by a low lintel with small
cornice. ' The six-over-six lights of the muntined windows are comple-
mented by simple lintels and sills. The low attic windows are espe-
cially notable also for their three-over-six lights. It is interesting
to note the large expanse of brick wall above the low attic windows and
below the simple cornice. It would appear that the house was raised to
gain ceiling height at the attic but that the owner could not afford '
the uswal, new, higher windows. A small double-hung sash window with
plain lintel and sill appears over an alleyway .entrance which once led
to a small two-story building at the rear of the lot. The house is
crowned by a restrained Greek Revival cornice with fascia hoard.

These two brick houses were both built in 1870 for James Gilmore,
and designed by William Grant. They stand four' stories high with hage-
ments. The stoops have been replaced by basement entrances, although
the lintels and cornices of ‘the original entrance appear above the
balconled French windows of the first floor. The muntined wlndows are
embellished by sheetmetal lintels with cornices. The heuse at No. 79

is crowned by a modillioned cornice with four vertically-placed brack-

~ ets, while No. 81 has had its cornice removed and is finished off by a
brlck parapet with stone coping.

Nos. 73-77, three very charming brick houses, show us the original
appearance of thls row of five Greek Revival residences erected in
1835-36, immediately after the land was first sold for development by
Francis B. Cutting in 1835. These three houses, all two stories high
with an attic and basement, now house a day nursery. The land on which
Nos. 71 and 73 were built was purchased in 1835 by William R. Halsey,

a builder, who resided for a short time at No. 73 before he sold both
properties at a handsome profit. In all likelihood, he should be
credited with the building of this fine row. A few years later, in
1839, he was active on Greenwich Street (No. 813, etc.}. Nos. 75 and
77 were erected for a distinguished New Yorker, Henry J. Wyckoff, at

administration.
The prototype entranceway at No. 73, with imposing pilasters and
entablature, is similar to that at No. 71. The double-hung windows have

‘simple lintels and sills. The low attic story windows are cut into a

fascia board at No. 73, which is crowned by a simple roof cornige. The
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HORATIO STREET North Side (Betw..Washington § Greenwich Sts.)

entranceway-at No., 77 is similar’'to that at No. .73, although the
entablature'above the pilasters has been greatly simplified through
subsequent alteration. No. 77 retains its stoop and iron handrail-
ings. The stoop has been removed from No. 75 and entrance to-the
house is thirough the basement. Simple stone lintels and sills enhance
the windows. Both Nos. 75 and 77 retain their low attic story win-
dows and, with No, 73, are all crowned by an unadorned roof cornice.
The continuous cornice line of these three houses creates a pleasing
bit of architectural uniformity.: :

Nos. 69 and 71 have undergone similar modifications, both having
had their top floors raised. Both these brick houses now stand a full
three storiés high with basements. The paneled, recessed doorway at
No. 69 has an addition on the facade of a triangular pediment with
shoulders, which is completely out of character. The casement windows
of the first and second floors, together with the plate glass, double-
hung windows on the third floor, retain their original Greek Revival
lintels. This house is crowned by a modillioned cornice with fascia
board and end brackets. The muntined windows are enhanced by lintels

. with projecting cornices, added at approximately the same time as the

Italianate rpof cornice carried on four vertically placed brackets.

This three-story Greek Revival house of brick‘was built in 1842
for Henry Stokes, an importer at:101 John Street, who lived at 48
Charles Street., He had purchased the land seven years before, in 1835,
One handrailing of the stoop is the original: of wrought irom, it has
a graceful “S" scroll design below the handrail and simple newel post. ’
The handsome entranceway, with paneled double door, although a later
addltlon, is imposing in its height, The simple lintel over this door-
way, is surmounted by a boldly projecting cornice supported on two verti-
cally placed fluted brackets, typically Neo-Grec in style. The double-

"hung plate glass windows of the first floor and the muntined windows of

the second floor all have lintels which are topped by large, projecting
metal cornices echoing the design of the cornice at the doorway. The
low three-over-six muntined attic story windows show, on the other
hand, their original diminutive moldings on their simple lintels., The
front wall is crowned by a multl-bracketed cornice with paneled fasc1a,

Neo- Grec in style,

This charming brick Greek ReV1va1 residence was built in 1845 for
Wait Wells, a fishmonger at Stall No. 30 Washington Market. The house
is three stories high with basement. An unusual bay window extension,
2 later addition, is seen at .one side of the residence. The restrained
wrought iron stair and areaway railings are original. The very fine
paneled door is framed on both sides by simple pilasters and half-
pilasters with solid panels between them. The door is surmounted by’
a transom with four panes. The doorway lintel, decorated with a richly-
detailed jigsaw pattern typical of the Eighteen-fifties, is surmounted.
by a cornice supported on brackets. The lintels over the muntined

~ windows are embellished with sheetmetal cornices, and their projecting

sills are supported on diminutive corbel blocks which are later addi-
tions. The muntined window at the side wall retains its simple lintel
and sill. "The full-depth fascia; with windows in it extending around
the corner of the third floor, is one of the few examples of its kind

in the city. A simple band course is seen below the row of attic win-

dows. The three low attic windows are casements and extend up to the
underside of the cornice.  The deep fascia between the windows is
_built entirely of wood and provides a handsome crownzng feature of the
top of the bu11d1ng above the brick walls. ‘This fascia is crowned by
a simple wood cornice. }

Altered in this century, this five-story building (described under

Nos.. 832-836 Greenwich Street) incorporates three Nineteenth Century
buildings. There is an empty lot between Nos. 61 and 6S.
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HUDSON STREET (Betweén West 11th § Gansevoort Streets)

The presence of playgrounds and a square gives to this portlon of
Hudson Street .a good deal of open space and an airy character.

The east side is completely residential in character and is domi-
nated by large apartment‘houses which give a modern appearance to the
street. At the southern end is the "Abingdon Arms," a six-story brick
apartment house, surrounded by a playground. ; To the north, we catch a
glimpse of Abingdon Square,.the point of entry of Eighth Avenue. The
open vista is interrupted by a sixteen-story apartment building which
occupies the southern half of the block between West Twelfth and Jane
Streets. The next block preserves far more of its Nineteenth Century
flavor, with mid-century, four-story houses occupying most of the
block, except for an apartment house at its northern end. The northern-
most block between Horatio and Gansevoort Streets is the site of a play-
ground (outside the Historic District). _

The west side of Hudson Street is far more interesting, dlsplaylng
a diversity of bu11d1ng heights, materials, architectural styles and
functions. Most of the houses combine stores at street level with
apartments above, The commercial building occupying the entire block
between Bank and Bethune Streets has recently been attractively re-
modeled for residential use, preserving much of its original appearance.
Just above this, between Bethune and West Twelfth Streets, is an espe-
cially fine street front, with a row of five and six-story apqrtment
houses of the late Nineteenth Century sheltering, in their midst, a.
notable four-story tewn house of the Greek Revival period near the
southern end of this block.

Much of ‘the mid-Nineteenth Century character which this section
of Hudson Street originally possessed has of course disappeared with
the replacement of older structures by modern apartment houses. This
once was one of the most interesting sections of the City. One has
only to recall the fine houses which lined the Abingdon Square area to
realize what has been lost to posterity.

HUDSON STREET West Side (Betw. Gansevoort § Horatio Sts.)

' Replacing a four—story building on the corner, this'garage2 with

_open lot in front, serves a useful purpose in this community. It is
. also entered at No. 43 Horatio Street. Of severely simple construction,

with steel window sash and tile coping on top of the walls, this little
building could, through use of materials and certain details, have been
made more 1nterest1ng architecturally. With its low height it fails to
relate to the adjoining houses, but it might have been made more com-
patible with them had its wall received a band course or other feature
relating it to the very pronounced band course of the houses next door.

HUDSON STREET West Side (Betw' Horatio & Jane 5ts.)

Occupying a site where seven houses once stood facing Hudson Street,
this large apartment house, "The Cézanne," rises to a height of nine-
teen stories. Built in 1962-64, it has only the advantage that, in
saving costs, it has not attempted to band or streamline the windows
horizontally in the manner which became so usual in the Nineteen-thirties
and carried over to the Nineteen-fifties. The windows, which have wodd'
sash, are grouped in twos and threes and, in the wider grouping of

- threes, a picture window is inserted in the 'middle. More . attention to

neighborhood fenestration might,at no extra cost, have produced a more
compatible building.

HUDSON STREET West Side (Betw. Jane and West 12th Sts.)

These three brick, four-story buildings were built in 1848 by

Stacey Pitcher, a mason at No. 117 Crosby Street-as part of his develop-

ment of the.block The enframement of the commerc1al store fronts is,”
for the most part, original with the date of construction, but the show
windows and their bases were remodeled at a later date. The store
fronts are separated from the upper living quarters by a severely simple
cornice with moldings. The recessed entranceways at Nos. 617 and 619,
leading to the upper floors, are designed in character with the cornice
above them, The recesses of these angularly proportioned entranceways
are enhanced by paneling. Small moldings have been added to the simple
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HUDSON STREET West Side (Betw. Jane and West 12th Sts.)

stone lintels over the windows. Two buildings, Nos. 617 and 619, are
capped by modillioned roof cornices and their paneled fascia boards
have been embellished by pressed metal decoration. The roof cornice
at No. 621 is in keeping with the Greek Revival design of the houses.

This six-story bu;ldlng was constructed in 1900, In designing
the facade, the architect, M. Bernstein, has incorporated a wide range
of classlcal details oflrrench Beaux Arts derivation., The fascia
board, beneath 'a cornice carried on.console brackets, is embellished
by a richly detailed swag motif. The windows all have heavy masonry
frames and are arched at the fifth floor

Built in L859 by Solomon Banta, a mason active for many years in
The Village, this brick house stands four storics high. "The first
floor has been remodeled with a storefront. The windows on the second

_floor are floor length, while the windows on the third and fourth

floors diminish in size vespectively. Heavy shcetmetal cornices have
been added to the rectangular lintels over the windows. The detailing
of the roof cornice is Italianate 1n design, WILh a row of modillions
above a dentiled molding. ‘ :

This little brick residence was'constructed in 1842 by Edmund
Hurry, later an important architect in New York City. lle lived in
this house from 1848 to 1851. Simplicity of design is its most dis-

_ This Gréek Revival house is three stories high with
basement. Although the doorway has been lowered to street level, .the
very dignified post and lintel entranceway of the original design has
been retained. -The windows are topped by lintéls with simple cornices.
The lintels, together with the somewhat pronounced sills, interrupt
the stark 51mp11c1ty of the facade. tThe building is crowned by a
simple cornice with plain fascia board.

This corner three-story brick Greek Revival residence, with a
store at street level, was also erected by Cdmund Hurry. Built in 1842,
the first floor area was remodeled during the last quarter of the
Nineteenth Century with a distinguished commercial front. The first
floor is separated from the upper stories by a simple molded entabla-
ture. On the Hudson Street side, a finely detailed cast iron column,
supporting the entablature, remains. This column is divided into two
parts: a fluted shaft over a paneled base, separated by two bosses,
and topped by a modified Corinthian capital. Access to the upper
floors is through an entranceway at No. 317 West Twelfth Street.

The wrought iron areaway ralllng near the entrance, together with
the handrailing of thc two-step stoop, are attractive but only in part
original. The twisted, wrought iron spindles of the railings are
capped by a horizontal band of "S" curves. The cast iron newel posts
are unusual and intricatedly patterned, topped by balls. Lintels with
pronounced cornices appear over the casement windows. - The eye is drawn
to the top of the building which is crowned by a bracketed cornice.

A crisply detailed dentiled molding is seen beneath a row of modillions,

while the fascia,board is paneled.

HUDSON STREET West Side (Betw. West 12th § Bethune Sts.)

Designed in Neo-Federal style by the architect Ralph Townsend, this
large six-story brick building of 1905 occupies the whole block front
between Hudson and Greenwich Streets. Originally planned as hotel (the
Trowmart Inn) for William R. H. Martin, the structure now serves the
community as the Village Nursing Home.

The main entrance to the building is at No. 607 Hudson Street.

The ends of this building are as attractive as the long side on West
Twelfth Street. The Hudson Street side, six windows across, is sym-
metrically arranged and has a handsome entrance porch at the center,
carried on columns and surmounted by a balustrade,

This large corner building (described under West Twelfth Street)
was built as a hotel in 1905. :

This five-stbry brick apartment hbuse of 1887 is five winQows wide

'
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HUDSON STREET West Side; (Betw. West 12th § hethune Sts.)

#605 with stores at ground floor on either side of’ an. arched entrance door-

cont. way leading to the upper. floors. The windows are of plate glass and -
have simple stone lintels resting on horizontal band courses of- brick.
A shallow cornice is surmounted by a most unusual openwork parapet with
heavy, studded top rail.. It was built for Thomas F. Allan and designed
by Frederick T. Camp. :

#601-603 This sedate apartment house, retaining its archaic Abingdon Square
(#18 Abingdon number (No. 18), was built in 1885 for William Gibson and designed by

Square) James J. Lyons. Also flve stories high, like No. 605, it is almost.

) exactly the same height: the top of its bracketed cornice aligns with
the top of the parapet next door. This cornice is quite high, with
oversized dentils between the brackets. There are three brick pilasters

. on the front, one at each end and one in the center. Where these meet
‘the cornice, they are signalized by paired brackets. The first floor
entrance door is on center beneath the center pllaster It has a den-
tiled cornice slab resting on brackets; the cornice is extended out
across the bu11d1ng on either side. -

#599 This house, which retains its archaic number (No 16), is one of
(#16 Abingdon the few truly noble town houses remaining in this part of The Vlllage,

Square) where once there were so many around Abingdon Square. Built for Samuel
P. Archer in 1839, it is a fine Greek Revival house twenty-eight feet
wide which accounts for the extra space to the right of the front door.
The pilastered doorway, with entablature above, enframes a single six-
paneled entrance door which is flanked by paneled pilasters and side-
lights and -crowned by a heavy transom bar and glass transom.  The
windows are all muntined and the stone lintels above them flush with
the masonry. An original treatment has been reserved for the low attic
windows which are combined in a flat fascia w1th panels of lesser helght'
between the windows.

#597 . This five- -story corner bu11d1ng (described under No. 6 Bethune

(#14 Abingdon Street) was built in 1893.
Square)

'HUDSON STREET West Side (Betw. Bethune § Bank Sts.)

#585-591 ~ This seven-story loft: building, erected in' 1890 (described under
' No. 99 Bank Street) has recently been altered into apartments.

HUDSON STREET West Side (Betw. Bank § West 11th Sts.)

#583 .- This corner building (described under No. 90 Bank Street) was
built in 1873 and altered to its present appearance in 1940,

#577 § 579 These.two three- story -buildings, although dissimilar in appearance,
’ were both built by T. and P. Holzderber in 1870. No. 577 remains
closest to its original appearance with handsome modillioned cornice,
while No. 579, shorn of its cornice and ornament, was obV1ously re-
- modeled more recently. They both have commercial premlses at the ground
floor. The bar at No. 577, with its dark glassy front, is particularly
out of character,

#575 Built in 1849 for George Ackerman, a blacksmith, as his place of
business, this building was remodeled a few years later, in 1853. The
dignified cornice with its paired brackets seems to belong to an even
later date., It is four stories high with store et street level,

#571-573 This strlklng loft building was built in 1892 for the Smith, Darling
' Company and was designed by Ralph Townsend, In its upward progression
it is a visual testimonial to the fact.that the largest windows were.

- needed at the bottom and the smallest at the top: the intermediate
brick piers only begin at the third floor and the round-arched windows
of the top floor introduce brick between them, where slender mullions
sufficed for the windows below them. By the Elghteen nineties the cor-
nice was already being eliminated by some of the:more progressive archi-
tects. llere Townsend essayed a Romanesque Revival scheme with terra. .
cotta panels set between palred vertical ribs crowned by a stone coping
set on corbel stones.
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HUDSON STREET West Side (Betw. Bank & West 11th Sts.)

This corner Building (described under No. 303 West Eleventh
Street) was built in 1836, but altered in 1874,

HUDSON STREET: (Betwcen West 10th & West 11th Streets)

i .
This section of Hudson Streetistill retains a good many Nineteenth
Century buildings, although many have been drastically altered. Com-
bining residential and commercial functions, they display a great
varlety of archltectural styles. 1In height they range from three to
six stories. : .' ' ' -
The northernmost block on the, east side of the street is notable

 for a group of buildings of the third quarter of the Nineteenth

Century. Here, two rows of four-story houses were altered to present
a uniform, if somewhat bland, street facade, The fencstration and the
height of the buildings were retained, except for the addition of a
slightly higher roof parapet. '

The west side displays several glaring examples of unsatisfactory
alterations, which are completely out of character with the neighbor-
hood. One would never guess, for example, that the small three-story
house at the south corner of West Lleventh Street, recently veneered
with an ugly composition material, may actually date back to the early
Nineteenth Century. Farther down the street, at mid-block, are three
buildings of the mid-Nineteenth Century which were badly remodeled in
the Nineteen-fifties, a situation which..could have been avoided had
architectural controls existed at that time. The entire front of one
house was veneered with simulated stonework; the middle building is a
prlme example' of how a sloppy sign can ruin.the appearance of an other-
wise dignified little building; the new front of the southernmost
structure, with its horizontal windows, metal sash, and two-toned

brick, complgtely negates its original appearance.
- - ]

HUDSON STREET West Side (Betw. West 1l1th § Perry Sts.)

This old three-story corner house (also No. 302 West Eleventh
Street), now a tavern, is of frame construction but has been veneered
with composition material., Its history goes back to 1817, when the
house belonged to Daniel D. Smith, a bookseller and stationer at 190
Greenwich Street, who served as City Assessor and Election Inspector.
The house has a bracketed cornice of much later date and all its mun-
tined windows facing Hudson Street have been replaced.

Just a siall triangular slice of a building, this house has no
number but would seem, from its similar cornice, to have once been a
part of the tavern of which, in a sense, it fills up the back lot. A
date of 1846-47 is probable, oo

These brick buildings, set on a triangular lot, have availed them-
selves of the rear lot of No. 304 West Eleventh Street to gain depth.
They are built in the local vernacular with stores bemeath and rather
small windowsi They were erected in the early Eighteen-fiftics for
James Kyle, a marble polisher, and No. 565 was occunied by Thomas Kyle,
a bookseller. The fronts have tie-rod end-plates at both third and
fourth levels; and both houses are crowned by bracketed roof cornices.

.No. 559 was built .in 1842 as part of this row of three houses,
all greatly altered today. They were erected on land purchased for
development by John Cole, a neighborhood mason at 52 Charles Street,
Since he also paid the taxes on the houses, it is logical to assume
that he built them. As the result of an alteration of 1955, No. 559
had its cornite removed and the entire front veneered with 51mu1ated
stonework. The ground floor has two entrances and a large plate glass
window while the upper floors have conventional windows, three to a
floor.

The brick front of No. 557 was installed in 1951 when it was py-1d
modeled, as may be seen from the steel shelf angles which support the
brickwork above the windows, in lieu of lintels. There is a store
at ground floor level and an entrance leading to the upper floors.
This 15 a prlme example of how Sloppy painted signs can ruin the
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'HUDSON STREET West Side . (Betw. West 1ith a Perry Sts.)

]
appearance of an otherwlse rather d1gn1f1ed little building and how,
they can down-grade an:entire neighborhood.; The front wall extends
up with a high brick parapet crowned by a stone coping.
The front of No. 555 was rebuilt in 1950 at considerable expense
using metal sash and two-colored brick to complete the horizontality of
the wide windows. It retalns no vest1ge of 1ts orlglnal appearance,

" This six-story brick apartment house was designed by Moore §
Landsiedel for G. Otto Elterich and was built in 1900. This design,
with rounded corner bay, retains conservative elements such as the
round-arched top floor, reminiscent of the Romanesque Revival. The
splayed lintels with keystones belong to the later classical trend in .
design, as does the handsome doorway on Hudson Street, where a. full :
entablature is carried on Roman Ionic capitals. The famous sculptor,

. José de Creeft lived here in the mid- Nlneteen sixties.

HUDSON STREET West-Side (Betw. Perry § Charles Sts.)

Located on the corner, this five-story brick apartment house is
also entered at No. 114 'Perry Street. It was built in 1890-91 and
remodeled five years later as a hotel. With a store at the ground
floor, the building is crowned by a heavy cornice carried on widely
spaced brackets. The seécond and third floor. windows are set back.
between brick pilasters returning to the wall plane at the top of the
third floor windows by means of the brick corbeled portions in between.

These three simple brick houses, with stores at ground level, were

‘built in 1846. No. 541 was also originally part of the row. These

houses were erected for men who all were associated with the building

. trades, either as builders or suppliers: William Livingston, a carpenter

(No. 541), Edward Black,: a mason (No. 543), Daniel French, a stone mer-
chant ‘(No. 545), and Richard Taylor, a coal déaler (No. 547). i

Nos. 543 and 545 have simple rows of brick corbels at the top,
while No. 547 has been rebuilt with a plain brick parapet. They have
all retained their muntined double-hung windows except No. 547, where
the third floor windows have been 'replaced. ' The stores have all been
modernized and those at Nos. 543 and 545 haveia paneled brick band
course above them, .

Handsomely altered in 1959 this house, built in 1846, is now
greatly simplified. One:.large triple window at the top is a studio

‘window. Beneath this window is another of similar width at the second

floor. The ground floor has an entrance door alongside a garage door.
The brickwork is of Flemlsh bond and extends up to the top of a parapet :
with coplng on top.

Four stories high, this brick apartment house is lecated on the

:corner site (No. 113 Charles Street}. This building stands on a site
once occupied by several houses which had stores facing Hudston Street.

Single and double windows! with horizontal muntins give the building a
dignified appearance with ample wall spaces of brick between. Dark
colored headers in the brick wall create a diagonal pattern on the. -

-walls. The north end of this building extends:up to include a fifth

floor with brick parapet and central section of open railing above,

JANE STREET-  (Between Hudson &IGreenWich Street)

On this street, which is completely residential in character, the
most salient fact is that all the houses are dwarfed by a large apart-
ment house, erected a few years ago on the northwest corner of Hudson
Street, An architectural review board could have insisted on a more
appropriate handling of this apartment house which would have been more
compatible with the surrounding houses and the neighborhood in general.

‘This building is fortunately separated from the_four-story_house-on ithe
Hudson ‘Street corner by a small courtyard behind a simple wrought iron

railing., This courtyard gives access to the corner house and the

nelghborlng bu11d1ng5 on lludson Street,
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JANE STREET : (Between Hudson § Greenwich Streets)

The block front created by five houses of the mid-Nineteenth
Century on the south side of the street creates a harmonious composi-
tion, with the long side of the corner houses providing a stabilizing
factor. The row of three residences at mid-block is an exceptionally
fine example of late Greek Revival style. Two of the houses are of
special significance due to the fine design and exquisite craftsman-
ship of the handrailings at the stoops. In spite of later alterations,

"this is a pleasant row of houses which has considerable charm, It is

worth mentioning that the ormamental cast iron porch, added to one of
the landings, constitutes a praiseworthy effort on the part of the
ownel to respect the design of 'the original.

JANE STREET :South Side (Betw. Hudson § Greenwich Sts.)’

The five brick Greek Revival residences creating this block front
were erected in 1848-49 by Stacey. (Stacy) Pitcher, a mason at 117
Crosby Street, as a part of his development of the block, which also
included Nos. 617-621 Hudson and Nos. 807-809 Greenwich Streets. The
buildings at- the corners (described under No. 621 Hudson Street and
No. 807 Greenwich Street) were built four stories high with the usual
commercial store fronts. Between: these corner houses, the three resi-
dences (Nos. 60-64) are exceptionally fine examples of the late Greek
Revival style. They stand three stories high.

Two houses in this row, Nos.. 62 and 64, are of 5pec1a1 significance
because of the fine craftsmanshlp and d051gn of the ironwork of their
handrailings at the stoops. The stair rails are wrought iron with
castings set between the vertical spindles. .No. 62 displays a most
unusual feature in that square openwork panels of wrought iron make the
transition from the stair handrailings to the more widely spaced rail-
ings of the landing itself. These landing.railings are of particular
interest as they have easements, curved at their ends, to make the
transition to the cast iron newel posts below them. No. 62 also retains
its original wrought iron areaway!railing with modified Greek Revival
fret design at the base. The basement windows have their original
wrought iron bars. - The ornamental latticework cast iron porch at the
landing at No. 64 respects the design of the original ironwork.

The stone basement of this three-unit row is handsomely rusticated.
The stoop has been removed to provide a basement entrance at No. 60,
but the top line of the rusticated basement wall has been carefully re-
tained above a simple doorway. The ironwork at the areaway -here appears
to have been replaced at a later date by a simple wrought iron railing
with returns at the entry. The parlor-floor windows were originally
floor-length, as suggested by the floor-length French windows at No. 62,
and again by the panels beneath the windowsills at No, 64,

The pedimented doorway at No. 62 appears to be the original and
the recessed door frame, although lacking the usual sidelights, has a
three-paned transom. The doorway at No. 64 has a transom similar to
the one at No, 62, but the wood frume may have been installed at a
later date. Flush Greek Revival lintels appear over the windows at
No. 60, whereas the lintels at No. 62 have their original diminutive
moldlngs The window lintels with bolder coranices at No. 64 are of
sheetmetal,  All three houses are capped by nandsomely modillioned
roof cornices with plain fascia boards. These fine cornices thus unify
the three residences architecturally. The modillioned cornices of Nos.

© 60, 62 and 64 are carried in a continuous line around the end building

at the corner of Jane and Greenwich Streets. The building at the corner
of Hudson Street (No. 621) is slightly higher than the others and has a
fine Greek Revival dentiled cornice.

. ] P I I P .{‘
JANE STREET North Side (Betw. Greenwich § Hudson St.)

This charmlng courtyard, with its simple wrought iron railing, is
the entranceway for Nos. 809-813 Greenwich Street, The windows on the
back walls of these brick residences are enhanced by their simple Greek
Revival lintels and sills. The south side of the rear wing of No. 813
has an attractive "swell front" facing this small courtyard.

This huge nineteen-story apartment house (described under Nos. 623-
635 Hudson Street) was erected in 1962-64.
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JANE STREET (Betweén Greenwich § Washington Streets)

Exhibiting great diversity of style and function, several of the
buildings on this street still display notable features of Nineteenth
Century architecture, |

On the south side: of this street, the*seven -story factory build-
ing on the Greenwich Street corner and the ‘tall pair of apartment
houses at mid-block supply a note of contrast to the low neighboring
buildings. Near the Greenwich Street cormer, a row of six Italianate
residences of the mid- Nlneteenth Century, three stories high and
unified by a CODtlHUOUS, richly detailed roof cornice, retains many.
_original features of the period, Most noteworthy are the high stoops
enframed by handsomé cast iron railings and the paired entrance doors
at the parlor floor. Further down the block is a one-story structure,
serving as a warehouse and garage for the corner building, which
interrupts the continuity of .the prevailing three-story height. The
two-story industrial building at the corner of Washington Street,
erected some twenty years ago, is an example of completely incoherent
design, a prime example of an opportunity lost. With a little extra
effort on the part of the builders, this structure and the garage
nearby.could have been. designed to blend with their surroundings,
befitting their location in an Historic District.

The north side of the street is extremely interesting, although
the low commercial bulldlngs toward the western end of the block are
completely utilitarian in character and far from prepossessing. The
handsomest house on the entire street, located at mid-block, is a
particularly fine example of Anglo- Itallanate style, with a handsome
balcony running across :the full width of the house. Next to it, by
contrast, and running to the parklng lot at the corner of Greenwich
Street, is a noteworthy row of six Greek Revival houses, of which
several have retained their high stoops and beautjiful wrought iron
handrailings which feature elaborate castings. This row is unified
architecturally by the delicate roof cornices crowning the houses.

.Thus, in spite of the inroads of commerce, this is still a
pleasant street on which to live.

-JANE STREET South Slde- (Betw. Greenwich § Washington Sts.)

This seven-story féctory building (described under Nos. 812-814
Greenwich Street) was erected in 1897, -

This dignified row of six brick Italianate residénces is similar
architecturally, but the house at No. 80 was built in 1849, while the
remaining five houses were erected in 1855. The row was built for

- Joseph Harrison, merchant and real estate speculator. The houses are

three stories hlgh with basements and are only two windows wide. All
have stoops and paired entranceways, except No. 72, where the stoop has
been removed to provide .a basement entrance. The rustlcated stone
basements of these houses make a pleasant contrast with the brick
facades. 1

The stoops are embellished by Italianate cast iron handrailings
with arched castings and richly decorated cast iron newels. The area-

- way railings at Nos. 70 and 74 repeat the design of the handrailings. _
The paired entranceways are crowned by bracketed lintels with cornices,

and the double doors are enframed by a fine molding. The glazed panels
of the double doors at Nos. 70 and 76 are covered by diamond patterned
grilles. All the doors are surmounted by wide transoms with two panes

"each. The floor length, double-hung sash windows with muntlns,

altered at No, 72, are enhanced at Nos. 70 and 78 by ornate cast iron
railings. - The wlndows all have lintels with cornices, except at No. 72
where steel sash replaces the original windows and the lintels are
bare. These fine houses:.are crowned by a continuous, richly detailed

cornice with vertically placed paired console'brackets and paneled
fascia. . :

This imposing pair of five-story brick apartment houses, which
towers over the neighboring houses, was built-in 1886. The twg
entranceways are capped by cornice slabs carried on brackets, This. -

~ same motif is carried out in the design of the windows, except that

the cornices rest on substantlal 11ntels - The frames and lintels of
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JANE STREET South Side (Betw, Greenwiéh § Washington Sts.)

the window project so that the windows appear to be more deeply re-
cessed than they are. The building is capped by a deep, bracketed
Italianate cornice with panels between the brackets. The architect
was M, Louis Ungerich for John Totten. :

These two brick houses, built in 1858 in the local vernacular
of the period, stand three stories high with Lasements, but were orig-
inally only two stories in height. No. 86 retains its stoop which is
enhanced by a simple iron handrailing. The doorway, enframed by a
molding, is topped by a bracketed cornice. At No. 84, the stoop has
been removed to provide a basement entrance with round arched doorway.
No. 86 retains its long parlor-floor windows. The double-hung windows
of No. 86 are! capped by lintels with projecting cornices, while at
No. 84 the windows have simple stone lintels. Both residences are
crowned by bracketed Italianate cornices of identical design. The
houses were erected for Samuel D. Chase as part of a row.of three,
which originally included -one on the site of No. 88.

This one-story brick structure of 1919 runs through the block to
Nos. 357-359 West Twelfth Street. It replaced a row house at No., 88
and a stable at No. 90. This simple vernacular structure serves as a

- warehouse and garage for the building on the corner, No. 94 Jane Street,

Italianate in style, this three-story house with basement is all
that remains of several houses built in 1858 for John B. Walton. It is
essentially similar to the houses -of the same date at Nos. 84-86, but
the right-hand side containing wlndows and basement entry seems to be

a later addition,
H

The corner two-story brick industrial structure (described.ﬁnder
Nos. 777-781 Washington Street) was erected in 1948,
¥

JANE STREET North Side (Betw. Washington § Greenwich Sts.)

This three-story brick house. (described under No. 783'Washington
Street) was erected 'in 1849. The one-story extension at the rear of
the lot is a later addition. ' K

Built originally in 1919 as a one-story garage, this brick build-
ing was raised to two stories in the early Nineteen-sixties. It is
built of brick with a soldier-course of brick serving as lintel for
the doors and a band course extending the width of the building.

]

This low two-story brick building, erected after the middle of
the Nineteenth Century on tlie site of a former stone yard, has been
repeatedly altered. ‘In 1885, the ‘two original houses were altered-
to a stable and carriage house It now serves as a garage and factory
building. . Built of brick, it harmonizes fairly well with the row of
houses to theieast, although it is' completely utilitarian in character.

This impressive four-story brick residence was built for Robert
H. Bayard in 1853-54. It is Anglo-Italianate in style, with English
basement. The construction of the brick on the first floor creates
the effect of pilasters. The handsomely paneled single door, sur~
mounted by a transom, is flanked on both sides by delicate engaged
colunns on either side of the sidélights. The double-hung windows of
the upper floors are capped by simple stone lintels. The full width.
balcony, with.cast iron railing at: the second floor, is the most
notable feature of the house. It features elaborate curved castings.

~ There is a curv111near wrought iron areaway railing of later date at

street level. ' The house is crowned by an Italianate cornice with
vertically placed, paired console brackets and paneled fascia.

This handsome row of six brick Greek Revival residences was de-
veloped in 1846-47 by Peter Van Antwerp, an attorney at 33 Pine Street,
who resided at No. 75. The other houses were built as residences for
a number of prosperous merchants, of whom several were associated with
the building trades: two lumber merchants, William Foster (No. 73) ‘and
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JANE STREET North Slde (Betw. Washington & Greenwich Sts.)

William Dunning (No. 79), and a planer, Danlel D. Clark (No. 71).

Also, No. 81 was the home of Stephen H. Williams, a carpenter-builder
at 105 Bank Street, who was very active in the West Village in the
decade of the Elghteen -forties. In all likelihood, he should be
credited with planning ‘and building the Tow.,

The houses are all three stories high with basements. They were
built with paired. entrance-ways and this feature is seen in all but
Nos. 71 and 75, where the stoops have been removed to provide basement
entrances., The stoops of the paired entranceway at Nos. 79 and 81 are
interesting because they retain their original wrought iron Greek
Revival handrailings with elaborate castings. The areaway railings
of these two houses are also original and repeat the design of the
handrailings. This paired entranceway is surmounted by a common pedi-
ment above the door frames,

At No. 77 the recessed paneled door is flanked on both sides by
pllasters with Corinthian capitals and sidelights. The door is topped
by a transom with three panes. The French doors with muntins at No.

77 are embellished with. . paneled shutters andrrlchly detalled cast diron
ralllngs at the bottom.' All the windows in this house retain their
original Greek Revival lintels and sills. "The double-hung windows of
the other houses all have lintels with sheetmetal cornices added,

Nos. 71-77 retain their original Greek Revival roof cornices with
dentiled moldings and simple fascia boards, while at Nos. 79 and 81
modillions have apparently been added to the.original roof cornices.
The roof cornices of the six residences form:a continuous line wh1ch
unifies the row architecturally. .

There is a parking lot at the corner of Jane and Greenwich Streets,
where a two-story corner house with rear lot and stable once stood
(No. 816 Greenwich Street}.

PERRY STREET (Between Hudson § Greenwich Streets)

The emphasis in this residential street is on modest apartment
house living. The- relatively low height of the buildings gives them
a warm, human scale. The apartment houses on the south side of the
street, ad301n1ng the Hudson Street corner, are Spanish Colonial in
-style. With their jagged roof line, stuccoed surfaces, balconies,
and overhanging tile roofs, they lend a decidedly picturesque appear-
ance to the street. This is very different in mood from the imposing
block front of apartment houses directly across the street, which are
classical in style. Notable for their rich, turn-of-the- -century, terra
cotta decoratlon, they offer a pleasing contrast of color and texture
to the smoothly stuccoed, light-colored surface of the Spanish Colonial
style opposite. S

PERRY STREET South Side (Betw. Hudson & Greenwich Sts,)

The corner five-story apartment house (déscribed under No. 549
Hudson Street) was erected in 1892-93,

The three buildings which complete this block all date fggm early
in the Nineteenth Century, but were completely remodeled and stuccoed
in 1928 by Ferdinand Savignano, who did a number of alterations in The
Vlllage at this time. Stylistically they belong to the period of the
revival of interest in Spanish colonial architecture. With their
round-arched entrances, overhanging tile roofs corbeled out above the
top story windows, and stepped parapets pierced by arcades at Nos. 1lé
and 118, they lend a picturesque appearance to the street.  Two of
these buildings may include parts of very early houses on their site;
No. 116 originally built in 1816, and the corner house, No. 120, in
1811. A second house was. added on the same corner lot in 1836; then,
after a fire in 1853, the two houses were combined into one large
house. No. 118 was bullt last, in 1837,
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]

This imposing corner apartment: building of 1904-05 with short side
facing Greenwich Street (Nos. 733-735), was designed by Bernstein §
Bernstein for Katz and Wimple. Classical in style, the structure has
a store entrance on the truncated corner at the intersection of the
two streets. The rich terra cotta decoration above the windows is
the most notable feature of the building. The fire escape in the
center of the facade displays unusually delicate wrought ironwork.

The sixth-story wlndows are set undcr heavy, arched lintels, repeated
at No, 113-115. i

This six-story apartment house was erected at the same time as its
neighbor and was designed as a twin to it by the same architects for the
same clients. However, the building is strictly residential in charac-
ter and has no. stores. It has a bracketed roof cornice with swags in
the fascia, in contrast to the plain cornice at Nos. 117-119.

Erected in 1900-01, this six-story'apartment house (described
under Nos. 551-553 Hudson Street) completes this interesting block
front of turn-of-the-century apartment buildings.

PERRY STREET ' (Between Greenwich § Washington Streets)

The north side of this street is an excellent example of the need
for architectural controls. (The south side is outside the Historic
District.} Near the Washington Street corner, flanked by a freight-
loading station and a garage, is a beautifully proportioned Greek
Revival residence, the last remaining example here of the row house of
the mid-Nineteenth Century. It retains a fine doorway and ironwork of
the period. The rest of the buildings on the block are mostly com-
mercial in function, ranging from one to six stories in height. The
tall brick warehouse near the Greenwich Street corner, designed in
fond recollection of Ttalian medieval civic archltecture, introduces
a happy note to the street.

" PERRY STREET North Side (Betw, Washlngton § Greenwich Sts.)

The freight leoading building on this corner (descrlbed under Nos.
703-711 Washington Street) was erected in 1937, It is stepped-up from
one to two stories at the center ofi the building.

This foursstory vernacular structure, crowned by a bracketed roof
cornice, was erected in 1859 for David Ramsey, who operated a large
coal yard around the corner at 709 Washington Street. There is a store
front at street level, and the fire escape datés from the period of the
conversion of the building to multiple tenancy.

This beautifully proportioned Greek Revival residence, which re-
tains many of its original features, was erected in 1846 for John Keane,
a stonecutter at 615 Washington Street. Built of brick, the house is !
three stories high over a basement.’ It is the earliest building on the
block, and the last remaining example here of thé row house of this
period. The dignified Greek Revival doorway, surmcunted by a glazed
transom, is flanked by a pair of sturdy pilasters and sidelights, later
filled in with panels. The windows. are of the typical double-hung,
muntined type, but the heavy sheetmetal cornices above them were added
later, The dentiled fascia board is crowned by a heavy sheetmetal roof
cornice, also a later addition. The graceful handrailing of the stoop
is a fine example of the period, combining wrought and cast iron elements.
The front door a later addition, docs not relate stylistically to the
doorway.

Both these one-story garages, built in the mid Nineteen-forties,
serve the needs of the neighborhood. :An unattractive sign obscures the
brickwork above the entrance to No. 137, while paint on the brick up-
rlghts lends further confusion to its appearance.

Designed in 1890, by Martin V..B. Ferdon for John McKelvey, this
five-story apartment building is distinguished by its handsome roof
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PERRY STREET North Side (Betw. Washington.& Greenwich Sts.)

cornice, stepped up in the center, and featuring a sunburst design,
typical of the Queen Anne style. Masks decoratée the keystones above
the first, third and fourth’ story windows. :A fire escape, which runs

 down the center of the_facade rests on the;roof of . the entrance_porch.

This handsome six-story brick warehouse, erected in 1905 for
Seaman Brothers, was de51gned by Robert D. Kohn in a style which is
reminiscent of the civic architecture of medleval Italy. The facade
is divided into three sections. A central area of three windows is
flanked on each side by, a tier of single wlndows .The bay on the left
terminates in a two- story arched tower with ‘corbeled brickwork at its
base. This corbeling is repeated elsewhere,” forming an interesting
design in the central section and at the rlght side of the building
as well. The openings are segmental—arched throughout

Designed by George F. Pelham for Elias Kempner, this six-story
apartment house was erected in 1901-02. In style and detall it is
¢lassical in derivation. The first story of this brlck and masonry
building is rusticated.. Terra cotta panels appear in the wlndow ‘
spandrels. The tall roof parapet is a later addition.

The four-story garage at this cornmer (described under Nos. 738-
742 GreenW1ch Street) was erected in 1930.

: WnSHINGTON STREET East:Side (Betw. Perry G’West 11th Sts.)

This slmple one-story stucco building has been used as g freight
loading station since 1938. It replaces four and flve story houses

" which once stood on this site.

Erected in 1871 by Peter Tostevin for William R. Foster, these
two five-story brick apartment houses are examples of French Emp1re

‘deslgn Above the street floor shops, wlth cast iron columns, the

buildings display segmental -arched windows capped by "eyebrow" llntels
and sills resting on end corbels, both typical features of the French

_Second Empirc mode. Impre551ve sheetmetal roof cornices, restlng on .

ornamental brackets, are embell1shed with horlzontal dentlls and’ panels

in the fascia sectlon

This very s1mp1e and straightforward brlck bu11d1ng of 1890 is a
five-story apartment house, with corner store entered at No. 344 west'
Eleventh Street. The street floor was altered in 1955, reta1n1ng the
store front. Each story is separated from the floor below by a hor1-
zontal band course runnlng across the bu1ld1ng under the wlndow51lls '

.............

the brackets in the fasc1a, crowns the structure It was des1gned by-

Jullus Mankowltz for Patrick Andersen

HASHINGTON STREET East Side (Betw. West llth § Bank Sts.)

hﬂf_ The large corner warehouse (also Nos. 341 345 West Eleyenth

Street) was de51gned in 1905 by C. Abbott French for the Bullders
Construction Company. Byilt of brick, the. bulldlng is six stor1es
hlgh and has a truncated corner. It is Eclectlc in style wlth a

-----

Openlngs. It comb1nes class;cal decoratlve features above the flfth
story windows w1th an arcaded top floor a late surv1val of the
Romanesque Rev1val vocabulary After the turn of the century 1t was
occupied by the Italian SWISS Colony Wine Company

This two-story br1ck bujlding with a hlgh parapet was altered in
1939 for use as a garage for Greenwood Cemetery, it’ replaces a flve-
story apartment house of 1886, :

1

In 1936 the three upper stories of a bu11d1ng of 1893 were re-
moved and the rema1n1ng two lower floors converted to an 1ndustr1al
use. The bu11d1ng 5t111 retains some Romanesque Revival features
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WASHINGTON STREET East Side (Betw. West 1lth § Bank Sts.)

The filling station at the cdrner of Bank Street was erected in
1938 to serve the neighborhood. This small stuccoed structure, painted
white, could well have been builti'of brick to harmonize better with

neighboring buildings. ‘ )

WASHINGTON STREET East Side (Betw. Bank § Bethune Sts.)
H .

This five-story brick apartment building with commercial store
front was built for Mrs., Kate Regdn in 1899. The axchitect, Charles
Rentz, incorporated various classical motifs in this transitional
building which retains round-arched Romanesque windows at the fifth
floor. These windows have heavily decorated keystones and are sur-
mounted by a cornice with a dentiled fascia. Classical garlands deco--
rate the handsome cornice between.the fourth und fifth floors.

Built in 1845, this pleasant!row of brick Greek Revival houses
stands almost untouched by time. Originally the row consisted of four
houses, including one on the site.of the present apartment house, No.
733. The houses were developed by Charles Crane, a grocer, whose
store and home were directly across the street at Nos. 734 and 736

" Washington Street, and by David Ramsey, carman, whose residence was at

No. 737. Both men had taken advantage of the sale at auction of
Richard Halliday's estate in 1844.

These three houses are three stories in height, The wrought iron
handrailings ‘at the stoops and the areaway railings are original with
the date of construction. The spindle uprights of the handrailing are
enhanced by a band of graceful "S§'" curves along the top, while the
handrailing terminates in a smooth-flowing curve. The plain wrought
iron uprights of the areaway railing, with very small spindles between
them, are complemented by a horizontal band at the bottom that re-
tains traces of the original cast iron fret pattern.

' At Nos. 735 and 739 the recessed entranceway lintels are sur-
mounted by cornices, while at No. 737 the simple lintels are un-
adorned. The fine Greek Revival doorway, with sidelights and transom,
has been proudly retained at both these residences, while each hand-
some paneled door is flanked by well proportioned pilasters with Doric
capitals. Sidelights with four panes complement these pilasters, and
a transom with three panes may be seen over the door. The muntined
windows at No. 737 have simple lintels. Sheetmetal cornices have been -
added at Nos. 735 and 739. The three residences are crowned by their
original, dignified, wood roof cornices with dentiled molding and
fauscia board which, despite their being non-continuous, create a

_ character of overall architectural uniformity. The printmaker Stanley

!

William Hayter lives at No. 737,
This two—story brick commercial building with garage on the first
floor was built in 1912-13. Crowned by a paneled parapet, this struc-

ture is in scale with the adjacent row of Greek Revival brick resi-
dences. ’

" This one-story brick garage, built in 1916, blends in texture
and materlals with the row of- prevxously descrilbed. adjacent structures.

This row: of three brick Greek Revival residences was built as an
investment in, 1842 by Edward S. Innes, a cigarmaker. The residences
are all three stories in height with basements The stoops have dis-
appeared from Nos. 749 and 751 to provide a basement entrance at No.
749, a street’' level entrance at Noi. 751, and a corner store at No.
753. Stone lintels, retained at the flrst-story windows at No., 749,
have been replaced by brick at the' upper floors and at No. 751. These
two residences are crowned by simple parapets with diminutive copings.
At the corner building, No. 753, the lintels have been embellished
with cornices, while elaborate moldlngs supported by small brackets
have been added to the sills. The building is crowned by a fine
modillioned cornice with simple fascia board.
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WASHINGTON STREET Eaét Side (Betw. Bethune § West 12th Sts.)

This two-story garage and freight loadlng station was erected in
1937-38. It is a large brick structure with metal windows at second
floor level and serves the neighborhood, ‘Severely simple, with level
parapet, it has a low {tower at the corner.’

Designed in 1886 by Thom & Wilson for Joseph Schwarzler these
two five-story brick apartment buildings have been modified in ensuing
years. The chief changes appear at the street level at No. 763, where
apartments were created in place of stores, also eliminating the store
front to the right side of the doorway at No. 765. The building has
a high roof parapet with brickwork designs replaC1ng the former cor-
nice, but the top story with arched windows:remains unchanged.

Here is the lone-example of early Nineteenth Century architecture
on._ the block. Erected in 1842 for Nathaniel Clark, this three- =story

' Federal house. It has ‘a dentiled cornice and double-hung munt;ned

windows. The store at ‘street level is also typical of the arrgngemegt'
of corner houses. The Twelfth Street side, ‘with gabled end and exten-

_sion to the rear of the lot, is described under No. 366 West Twelfth

Street.

WASHINGTUN STREET East Side (Betw West 12th § Jane Sts,)

A large two- story corner garage, erected in 1924 25, this bulld—
ing has large windows at the second story and a stepped roof parapet,
The brickwork, laid in Flemish bond, is designed to create an interest-
ing pattern. The ground floor is largely open at the cormer with
isolated columns supportlng the upper floor '

This industrial bu11d1ng at the corner of Jahe Street is en ex«
ample of completely incoherent design. Built in 1948, not the slight-

. est effort was made to reconcile window sizes to each other or to

#783
#785

#787 & 789

#791-795

relate them to the large door. This bu;ldlng serves a useful purpose
in the community but, at no extra cost, the varied window sizes might,
in the hands of a skillful designer, have been made exceptionally at-
tractive, befitting its location in an Historic District, '

WASHINGTON STREET East Side (Betw. Jane G'Horatio Sts.)

This three -story vernacular structure, erected in 1849 was orig-

"inally a residence. Later the ground floor was converted to a store

and the building extended by a one-story structure to the full depth of
the lot at the rear. Small cornices appear above the window lintels,
and it is crowned by a plaln sheetmetal roof cornice,

- This small two- story building, now completely refaced, was 0r1g~
1nally erected in 1873 as a horse- shoelng shop, with two apartments
above. It was altered in 1911 and again, more recently, to its present
appearance with a new brick facade. A panel in the parapet dlsplays a

. checkerboard pattern in brick; the windows are glass block,

These two 1dentlca1;f1ve—story brick apartment buildings were
erected in 1887-88 for Elld A. Tracy and were-designed by Thom §
Wilson. The first floors have commercial stores.. In each unit the
double-hung sash windows of the upper floors are capped by simple stong
lintels which contrast in color and texture-with the red brick wall.
Beneath the cornice, at the sides, the corbeled brick headers form an
interesting pattern, while the central panel is given texture by toothed
brickwork. The elaborate cornice has paired_and‘grooved brackets.

This ornate five-story corner apartment building (also'Ng.IQO 92

-Horatio Street) was erected in 1871 for Charles A, Buddensick. Seg-

mental-arched cornices top the stone lintels over the double- =hung
windows. The brick facade is crowned by a cornice with heavy brackets,
broken at the center by a.semicircular pediment with brackets. The
attractive iron balconies:at each floor, with their diagonal bracing,
are a striking feature Oflthls building. The archltect was William José.
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. WEST ELCVENTH STREET (Between Hudson. § Greenwich St;eets)

This short block of Nineteenth Century houses preserves much of
its delightful quality and original charm. It completely retains its
residential ¢haracter and is a pleasant street in which to live.
Ranging in height from three to four stories, many of the houses pre-
serve their Greek Revival proportions, fine doorways and ironwork.

At the middle of the south side, a row of three houses, freshly
painted, is particularly notable. The north side features an unusual
little courtyard behind a handsome iron railing, set between the two
end houses which approximately balance each other.

WEST ELEVENTH STREET South Side (Betw. Hudson § Greenwich Sts.)

The corner-thrée-story frame house (described under No. 567
Hudson Street) is one of the old houses remaining in The Village,
dating from about 1817.

Built iﬂ-1853—54 by Thomas L. Brooks, builder, this four-story
brick house has a store at street level. It has a Greek Revival cor-
nice with dentils and double-hung muntined windows, all retardataire.

This threefstbry brick dwelling was erected in 1845 for Nicholas
Brinckerhoff,’ carman, two years after he had completed the row of
three neighboring houses (Nos. 308-312)}. An arched entryway, with an

" oval window above, leads to a one-story extension at the rear of the

lot.” A garage occupies the rest of the ground floor, a latter-day
alteration which replaced the stoop by a window. Windows have double~
hung muntined sash. A bulbous sheetmetal roof cornice is a replace-

- ment of the or1g1na1 S

L]

" Unified by a continuous cornice line, these three houses of 1842~
43 are fine examples of Greek Revival row houses. They were erected
for Nicholas Brinckerhoff on land he had purchased in 1842. No. 310
was his own residence, This is also the best preserved house of the
row and it retains more of its delicate Greek Revival ironwork at the
stoop ‘than does No, 312. The arch-patterned, cast iron railing at

- No. 308 is a .good example of the Fater Italianate style. Nos. 310

and 312 are graced by almost identical Greek Revival doorways. The
doors are each flanked by square pilasters and sidelights, surmounted
by glazed transoms. At No. 312 the sidelights have three panes and
the transom four. Sheetmetal cornices were added at a later date
above the doorways and windows at Nos, 308 and 310. No. 312 has
casement windows at the first floor.

1

The three-story corner house (described under No. 749 Greenwich

-Street) was built earlier,’ in 1835, with a front of Flemish bond

brickwork. There is a charming Greek Revival doorway on the West
Eleventh Street side, flanked by Doric columns which support a den-
tiled transomfbar with glazed transom above. :

WEST ELEVENTH STREET North Side (Betw. Greenwich § Hudson Sts.)

This three-story corner house, on a very narrow triangular lot,
was erected in 1837 for lHenry Pray, butcher, of 757 Greenwich Street
around the corner. It was considerably modified later in the century.
Three windows were blecked up and the ground floor store was elimi-
nated and replaced by an apartment. The sheetmetal modillioned cor-
nice, resting on handsome brackets, has a paneled fascia. The side
door is used as an entry for No. 755 Greenwich Street, also built for
Henry Pray.

The house behind a handsome gate and railing in the courtyard,
between Nos. 303 and 311, is the rear portion of No. 757 Greenwich
Street, erected in 1836. An array of entrance doors has been provided
for th1s house at the back of the courtyard

A
, Unified by a single roof cornice, the corner building actually

consists of two separate dwell1ngs, a corner house built for Abraham
Miller in 1836, and a rear house erected in 1857-58. The houses were

AN
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WEST ELEVENTH STREET Nerth Side (Betw. Greenwich § Hudson Sts.)-

. #303 altered in 1874, Styllstlcally the new cornice of both houses belongs
cont. to this period, The casement windows are latter-day additions. Three
' fire escapes date from the period of conversion to multiple tenancy.
The rear house retains two low stoops and the corner house, with store,
is also known as No. 569 Hudson Street.

4

WEST ELEVENTH STREET s(Between Greenwich &iWashington Streets)

Diversity is the outstandlng quality of .this street which features
an interesting contrast between the low residences of the mid-Nineteenth
Century and the taller apartment houses and commerC1a1 bu11d1ngs of the
late Nineteenth and early Twentieth Centuries.

Adjoining the Greenwich Street corner, on the south side of the
street, is a sober row of small Greek Revival houses which provides an
interesting foil to the neighboring turn-of-the-century apartment houses,
,which are almost Batroque in style. The tall garage at mid-block and
the relatively tall apartment houses at the end of the street again:
represent themes of later decades set agalnst the low Greek Revival
houses of an earlier period.

The north. sidé is notable for an exceptlonal row of Greek Revival
houses near the Washington Street corner, distinguished part1cu1ar1y
by their fine doorways and elegant 1ronwork - At mid-block is a row of
apartment houses designed as a single unified front, an imposing ex-
amplé of the vigorous Romanesque Revival style of the late Nineteenth
Century. _ ) :

WEST ELEVENTH STREET South Side (Betw. Greepwich § Washington Sts.)

#316-320 These three Greek Revival row houses were built in 1843 for George
' Scott, a carpenter. Though No. 316 has been altered at street level,
‘the two neighboring houses retain much of their original appearance.
This is particularly true of No. 318, an attractive house which still
has its original stoop, doorway, and Greek Revival ‘ironwork at the
stoop and areaway. Later sheetmetal cornices appear above the window
‘lintels. No. 320 replaced its doorway with a window when it was
altered to provide a basement entrance. Sheetmetal roof cornices with
dentiled fasciae, the latter typical of the Greek Revival period, unify
: the threée buildings.
i . . It is interesting to note how No. 316, the corner house with
store beneath it, was reconciled in height to two conventional town
houses with basements by the expedient of 1ntroduc1ng a low attic at
the top. :

#322-324 Erected in. 1902 by Oscar Lowinson for Moses Rosenkrantz, this six-.
story dpartment house is a handsome example of architecture of the
Eclectic périod. The undulatlng facade, Baroque in its conception, is
embellished by classical détails, seen in the keystones of the window
lintels and the graceful swags underneath the roof cornice, The brick-
work of the first floor simulates rustication and the end bays are en-
framed vertically by Ilght colored brick qu01n5

#326-330 Originally. erected in 1843-44 as three 1nd1V1dual row houses, No..

’ 326 was later combined with its nelghbor {No. 328) and is now used as
a warehouse. Tie rods were evidently added to strengthen the structure
at the time of the building's conversion from domestic to commercial

" use. No. -330 has a basement entrance, underneath an oval window, which
leads through a passageway to a two- -story house at the rear of the lot.
These houses retain their Greek Revival proportlons and No 330 has a
typical dentiied cornice.

These three-story houses were erected on 1and sold by the he1rs of
David M, Halliday to two carmen, Peter J. Van Orden, who lived at the
former No 228, and Jacob'C. Blauvelt {(No. 330) :

E #332-334 Erec¢ted in 1905 for the Foster Scott IceaGompany, this five-

. story brick structure, designed by Tliomas H. Styles, is used as a
garage today, prov1d1ng parking facilities for:the ne1ghborhood It is

i quite a handsome structure, crowned at the top story by a pair of large

\ ' windows, each subdivided into five arched units. Rectangular panels of
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WEST ELEVENTH STREET South Side (Betw. Greenwich § Washington Sts.)
‘ - .

brick simuiating quoins strengthen the corners of the bullding
visually.

Builtias a pair, these twoiapartment buildings of 1890 were de-
signed by James W. Cole for John Reagan. No. 338 has been shorn of
all its decoration and has been. smooth-stuccoed. Originally it was
exactly like No. 336, with prominent window lintels resting on framed
jambs surmounted by brackets. A dignified bracketed roof cornice,
replaced at No. 338 by a high parapet, crowns No. 336.

Unusually wide and five windows across, this house was erected in
1852-53 for Balthazar Melich. It is crowned by a bracketed cornice.
As at No. 330, there is a basement passageway, surmounted by an oval
window, which leads to a small three-story building at the rear of the

|
This five-story corner apartment house (described under No. 717
Washington Street). was.erected in 1890,

WEST ELEVENTH STREET North Side (Betw. Washington § Greenwich Sts.)

The six-story classical brick and terra cotta building on the
corner (described under Nos. 719-721 Washington Street) was erected in

1905, i

This distinguished row of three Greek Revival houses was erected
in 1838-39 for Lambert Suydam, a merchant at 413 Broom Street. The
stately brick Greek Revival residence at No. 335 stands its original
three and one-half stories in height with basement. It retains its
very refined original entranceway complete with cornice. The simple
roof cornice may once have had a fascia board with 'small attic windows
cut in it.: Low attic windows are placed directly below the refined
molding of -the Greek Revival roof cornice and were probably widened
at a later-date. The double~hung windows have had their muntined
sash replaced by plate glass, while simple rectangular cornices were
added to the original stone lintels.

No. 333, a handsome Greek Revival brick residence, is similar in
basic design to No. 331. The entranceway retains its original lintel,
but the cornice has been removed. The handsome stoop and areaway
railings are identical to those:of the adjacent house, No. 331, and
are notable for their exceptionally fine quality. The muntlned
double-hung windows are capped by pedimented lintels from which the
small cornices have been removed, while the windows of the fourth
floor are surmounted by simpler.square-headed lintels. The house is

-~ crowned by a tall brick parapet which has a horizontal stuccoed band

covering the common brick, revealed when the cornice was removed.
The lintels, sills, and entranceway have been painted white and are
thus boldly contrasted with the brick facade.

No. 331, a striking brick Greek Revival house, was completed in
1839, Although the house is four stories high, it originally stood
three and one-half stories high with basement, similar to No. 335.

The recessed entranceway is framed on the tacade by two massive pilas-
ters with molded capitals which support a simple architrave, sur-
mounted by a hood with four brackets replacing the original frieze
and cornice (see No. 335). Beneath this projecting hood, a jig-saw
molding is ‘seen. On the sides of the door, the paneled space between
the pilasters and half-pilasters was once filled by sidelights. The
simple entablature above the door is topped by a three-paned transom.

The wrought iron handrailings of the stoop at No. 331, together
with the areaway railing, are elaborated with anthemion and Greek fret
castings. They enhance the architectural elegance of this house and
its neighbor, No. 333, and are among the finest in the City. At the
handrailing, the area between the wrought iron uprights has been
filled with upright and inverted anthemion designs, while the hori-
zontal band directly beneath the handrail has a curvilinear design.
This pattern is repeated in the areaway railing where the base of
the railing is embellished by a crisp Greek fret design. The grace-
ful, round, openwork iron newel posts sit on raised stone pedestals
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WEST ELEVENTH STREET North Side (Betw. Washington:& Greenwich Sts.)
with moldings at the top. The; windows have pedimented: lintels with
delicate cornices. Those at the first floor retain-their. original
muntins. This residence is créwned by an elgborate’bracketed roof
cornice with modillions between the brackets and a paneled fascia
board.

De51gned by Neville & Bagge for James F. Doyle, these three flve-

‘story apartment houses, erected in 1897, are notable for their cast

iron store fronts and thelr fine Romanesque Revival:facades. Though
each building has its own entrance the visual 1mpresszon is that of

This flve story apartment house is a good example of the Neo=Grec

style. Interestingly enough, it is an alteration of a much ear11er
house of 1838-39. The architect for this alteration of 1873, in which
the building was raised to its present height and extended to the rear,
was William José. The windows are surmounted by dlgnlfled c1a551ca1
cornices, resting on vertical corner brackets, which are pedlmental in
shape at the second story and rectangular at the upper stories, The
elaborate roof cornice is typical for the period. There is a store at
the first floor w1th an 1nterest1ng cast iron front, :
i

Both these houses of the m1de51ghteen—fort1es have been ceongider-
ably modified, notably by the conversion to basement entrances and hy
the substitution for their original cornices of tall, stepped roof. )

. parapets with a central tiled overhanging roof section. Np. 317, built

in 1845 for Mary Dunn, retains-its muntined window sash, replaced by
modern plate glass at No. 319.: No. 319 was built for James H,
Houghtalin, a butcher at the Jefferson Market, who lived next door at
No. 321, :

The four-story building on the corner (descrlbed under No, 752

Greenwich Street) was orlglnally erected in 1827, also for a member of
the Dunn famlly : _

WEST TWELFTH STREBT (Between Hudson & Greenwich Streets)

‘This short street is domlnated by the monumental structure on the
south side, a fine example of the rather cold Neo-Federal style of’ the
early part of the Twentieth Century It stands seven stories high, in
sharp contrast to the warm, intimate scale of the Greek Revival row of
houses. across the street. These residences, three stories in helght
retain their original proportions and, in a number of cases, their
stoops and handsome ironwork. The row originally extended to the
corner of Greenwich Street, but the last housg was. replaced late in the
Nlneteenth Century by a six-story apartment house.

MEST'TWELFTH'STREET _South Side {Be;w.'Hudsgn & Greenwich Sts.)

‘The Twelfth Street side .of the Village Nursing Home, erected in
1905 as a hotel (described under No. 607 Hudsen Street), is diyvided
vertically by .corner stenes (quoins) into three sections. The decox
rative elements and trim, in light-~colored stone, stand out in sharp .

contrast to the brick walls of wthe building. The windows of the first

story are surmounted by lunettes and arches with keystones, in- the
Federal manner. .Those of the second through the fifth stories have '
splayed lintels with triple keystones. A dent1ﬂed roefipornlce w1th

.:modllllons crowns ‘this Neo federai design,

WEST TWELFTH STREET North Slde {Betw. Greenwich & Hudson1§¢§;9

ThlS six-story " apartment house (described under‘No 797 Greenwich
Street) was .erected in 1890, repﬂac1ng a thouse which was part :of the

:ne1ghbor1ng TOW,.
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WEST TWELFTH STREET North Si@e -(Betﬁ} Greenwich § Hudson Sts.)
o - #
This row of six Greek Revival residences, once a row of seven,
was erected in 1841, The entire block front had been purchased for -
development by William Hurry, a builder who only a few years later

.became an architect in New York. Associated with him in the building

of this fine row were Amos Woodruff, a mason active clsewhere in The
Village, William Joyce, a stone cutter, taxed for No. 325, and possibly
James Blakely, a painter, taxed for No. 321,

The houses are all three stories high. Nos. 319, 321, and 323
retain their original stoops, while Nos. 325 and 327 have had their
stoops removed to provide basement entrances. At No. 325 the original
stone lintels over the windows can be %een, while at No., 327 sheetmetal
cornices over the window lintels! have been added, as well as small end
corbel blocks underneath the windowsills. 7The roof cornice of No. 327
is also an addition of the later Nineteenth Century. Nos. 323 and 325
retain their original dignified cornices of the Greek Revival period,
with crisp dentiled -moldings and plain fascia boards, No., 321, with
a later roof cornice identical to the one at No. 319, has a simple
wrought iron Greek Revival handrailing at the stoop and areaway rail-
ing. The six-over-six panes of the windows are in keeping with the
period. '

At No. 319, the recessed door frame with pilasters and sidelights |
is surmounted by a transom with three panes. A molded hood of later
date, supported on ornamental brackets, is seen over the doorway. The
wrought iron handrailings of the stoop are fine examples of Greek

‘Revival work:. The richly detailed cast iron newels, topped by handsome

urns, are a later addition. The wrought iron areaway railing with .

Greek fret design at the bottom is partially original. The window

pane of the front door has been covered by a new and ornate iron

grille, similar to that of the areaway gate. The windows of the parlor

floor have been lengthened and their overall appearance enhanced by the

addition of'exterior blinds and iron railings. The windows on the

second floor are also complemented by exterior blinds. At the third

floor the windows have been embellished by ofnate cast iron flower

boxes, with the same pattern of iron work as that in the front door.

The plain Greek Revival lintels over the windows are now capped with

sheetmetal cornices. The house is crowned by an elaborate roof cor- |

nice which consists of four Neo-Classical fluted brackets and a row

of dentils.’ o .
No. 317, the corner three-story house and store (described under

No. 611 Hudson Street) was erected in 1842 and was also part of William

Hurry's property and of this row.

WEST TWELFTH STREET  (Between Greenwich § Washington Streets)

Much of the charm of the mid-Nineteenth Century is still preserved
in this street, of which the south side remains almost entirely resi-
dential in character. The eastern end is dominated by rows of three-
story houses, imparting to the street a feeling of warmth and intimacy. l
Several of the houses still retain the proportions and decorative
features so typical of the Italianate style. Many, however, have
been considerably altered, particularly by the elimination of stoops
and the addition of high roof parapets, evidencing the necessity for
establishment of a control board to review changes such as these.
Contrasting in height and surface treatment with these small houses §
are the apartment houses on the block, of which the largest,immediately
adjoining the row houses, is a six-story structure of the late Nineteen-
twenties, - Its straightforward treatment makes an interesting contrast
to the three elaborate apartment houses to the west, designed in the
third quarter of the Nineteenth. Century with a unified facade and em-
bellished with classical motifs.. The little one-story garage, which
runs through to Bethune Street, although lacking in uistinction, happens
to relate to the one-story extension at the back of the small house at
the corner .of Washington Street,

The buildings on the north side of the street are marked by diver-
sity of color, materials, style, and use. Largely commercial in
character, the street is saved from anonymity by the presence of a
fine row of. three Greek Revival residences, near the Greenwich Street
corner, flanked by a taller apartment house and a low garage. Since
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WEST TWELFTH STREET- (Between Greenwich &'Washington Streets)

these houses display many lovely architectural and decoratlve detalls,
it is unfortunate that the nelghborlng garage was de51gned with'no -
thought to the character of the neighborhood. This situation could have
been avoided had proper controls been exerc1sed by an arch1tectura1
review board.

WEST TWELFTH STREET South Slde (Betw. Greenwich 67Washington Sts.)

_ The corner ftve -story apartment house (descrlbed under No 796
Greenwlch Street) was erected 1n 18?7

This dignified row of three br1ck residences’ of 1853-54 was de- "
Veloped by John Keyser a carpenter and builder, who lived at No, 332.
These houses are transitional’ in style, combining Greek Revival pro-
portions. and general fenestratlon with Italianate features. Nos. 330 -
and 332 are three stories high with basement and retaln much of thelr
original appearance; a fourth story has been added to No, 334, St00ps
have been retained at Nos. 332 and 334, but a basement entrance was
substltuted at No. 330 .

The 1mpre551ve1y proportloned entranceways w1th double doors
and paneled reveals, outlined by a 'spiral or rope mold1ng, are sur-
mounted by plain 11ntels wlth projecting cornices. . This rope moldlng
and ‘the floor- length windows of the parlor story, with their decorative
cast iron ra111ngs, are more typ1ca11y Italianate in style. Ng. 334
has small cornices over the window 11nte15 Nos. 330 and 332 retain

the1r orlglnal bracketed Itallanate roof cornices, while No. 334

 terminates in a h1gh brlck parapet added when the bu11d1ng was’ ralsed
" one floor

ThlS Tow of three brick houses, orlglnally Itallanate in style,

-was built in 1859- 60 as the re51dences respectively of Samuel B,

Ferdon smith, Jacob T. Blauvelt, carman and Jacob J. Bogert, carpens- -
ter, They are ‘all three stories hlgh but have been consideraly modi-
fled The stoops have been removed to prov1de a basement entrance )
at No. 336 and street-level entrances at Nos. 338 and 340 Frénch

" doors and a small balcony at No. 340 mark the place;of the original

entrance. All three houses once had passageways leading to bulldlngs
at the rear of the lot. The iren gates leadlng ta the alleyways at -
Nos, ‘336 and 338 are attractlvely designed in an open mesh pattern.

The double front door with transom at No. 338 has a hlpped roof hood.
The windows of Ng. 340 are. capped by simple stone lintels, whi 1e sheet-
metal lintels with small cornices have been added to the window 11ntels
at Nos, 336 and’ 338. The residence at No. 338 is the only one whlch
retains its typlcally Itallanate roof cornlce, carried on vertlcally
placed console brackets wlth paneled fascia, This has been replaced
at No. 336 by a hlgh parapet and at No. 340 by a 51mp1e horlzontal
band ‘course.

This 51x-story brick apartment bulldlng Was de51gned 1n 1928 by

. Ferd1nand Savignano, a Brooklyn archltect who spec1a112ed 1n alteratlons

in The Vlllage in the late Nlneteen twentles. The Neo- C1a551ca1 p1las-‘
tered stope entranceway contrasts both in coler and An texture wlth the -
red br1ck facade. Continugus stone band coursés’ run above the f1rst gy
flooxr wlndows and the sills of the second floor w;ndows utlllze the'
uppermast of these two band courses. The 11ntels and frames of the
third, fourth, and fifth’ floor WlﬂdOWS are ‘brick. A contlnuous band
course forms the sills for the 51xth floor wlndows The pattern1ng of
the brick, set on the diagonal,: ¢reates a ter -ed effect aver the” top
floor windows, The building is: crowned by a'brlck parapet w1th a stOne
band course and a contlnuous stone coplng -

o

These three elaborately detalled apartment houses, five storles
high, were bu11t in 1875 with a. un1f1ed facade. They were de51gned by

entranceways have paneled keystonej and, as a result the f1rst floor

appears almost as an arcade. An unbroken cornige d1v1des the upper
floors from the first floor. The ‘windows of the second floor are
enbellished by ornately decorated pedlmented 11ntels, wh11e 11ntels
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WEST TWELFTH STREET South Side (Betw. Greenwich § Washington Sts.)

with cornices supported on brackets crown the windows of the upper
floors., The sills of the windows rest on small corbel blocks. Unify-
ing the buildings is a roof cornice with carved brackets and sharply
defined modillions between them. :

This one-story garage, erected in 1922, runs through the block to
Nos. 40-44 Bethune Street, It serves a useful purpose in the community
and, although low in height, relates to the one~story back building of
No. 366. :

The interesting little corner house (described under No. 767
Washington Street) is unusual in preserving a gabled end and the
general proportions of a Federal house, in spite of its late date of
1842, The end windows are blind. There is a hooded doorway with
original ironwork at the rear of the house and, covering the rear of the
lot, a small one-story extension]with_casement windows which is a later

. addition. °

WEST TWELFTH STREET North Side :(Betw. Washington § Greenwich Sts.)

The corner two-story garage (described under Nos. 773-775
Washington Street) was erected in 1924-25,

Erected in 1919-20, this brick warehouse, which runs through the
block to Jane Street, has a two-story front on this street, but only a
one-story facade at Nos. 88-90 Jane Street. The windows of (the second
story are surmounted by a brick parapet with brick panel. The windows
at the second floor are steel sash and, except for two small access
doors, one wide doorway occupies most of the ground floor. '

Built as three separate brick houses in 1869-70, the first floors
were later remodeled into commercial establishments. The bracketed
hoods over the two entranceways are Italianate in style. The atten-
uated windows of the upper stories are complemented by lintels with
cornices and pronounced sills., The height of No. 349 has been in-
creased by an elaborately detailed bracketed cornice, while the two
lower units have a relatively simple cornice with moldings. The build-

ings were erected for William Ritchie.

This three-story apartment house with pseudo-roof represents
successive alterations to two individual houses erected in 1833. Until
1870, when the old houses were raised to three stories for Abraham
Odell, they wsre typical two-story Federal houses with pitched roofs.
The present appearance of the building is the result of an extensive
alteration of 1927, when the two houses were combined, stuccoed over,
and given a single entrance. The doorway is crowned by a simple
bracketed hood and the 0ld windows have been replaced by steel case-
ments., The hood over the door repeats the theme of the steeply
sloping shingled roof. The one-story studio apartment at the rear of
the lot was also erected in 1927 ‘by the owner and contractor, the
Axtell Richmond Realty Corp. :

Built originally in 1833 as one of a row of three houses (Nos. 343- |
347), this building was raised later in the Nineteenth Century from the
original two stories to its present five-story height and was exten-
sively altered. The recessed doorway is flanked by cast iron columns
which are fluted at the top and paneled below. The windows have heavy
corniced lintels and the building is crowned by a brackcted cornice
with dentiled molding. '

This fine looking row of three brick Greek Revival residences was
built in 1846-47. The three-story houses are simple in design. At
Nos. 339 and 341, the entranceways, adjacent to each other, share a
common stoop and an interesting unbroken lintel with dentiled molding
and cornice above. The stoop has a very dignified wrought iron hand-
railing at the sides and center, embellished by handsome castings at
the midpoints of the spindles. The single stoop at No. 337 is similar,
The stair handrailings terminate in fine cast iron newel posts with urn-
like finials. The wrought iron areaway railings at all three resi-
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WEST TWELFTH STREET North Side (Betw. Washingtonfﬁ Greenwich Sts.)
dences feature a typical Greeklfret pattern below the topmost horizontal
band. The paneled doors. are flanked by sidelights w1th four panes and -
are crowned by three-paned transoms.

The muntined, double-hung windows at Nos. 339 and 341 have lintels
with sheetmetal cornices, added later. At No. 337 the windows are
capped by simple stone 11ntels. All three residences are handsomely
crowned by a continuous, crisply detailed, dentiled cornice which
unifies the row archltecturally The row was developed by John J. _
Palmer, President of the Merchants Bank at 42 Wall Street, in associa-
tion with Richard Calrow, bullder of 102 West 24th Street and John T.
Williams, plumber

The ‘corner one-story brlck garage (descrlbed under Nos 802-810 -
Greenwlch Street) was erected in 1944 '
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FINDINGS AN DESIGNATION

On the basis of a careful consideration of the history, the archi-
tecture and other features of this area, and based upon the hearings
that the Landmarks Preservation Commission held, and a detailed per-
sonal examination of the entire area and the carefully documented find-
ings as to each and all of the various properties within the area and
their history, architecture and other features, together with all of
their interrelationships, complimentary, supplementary and otherwise,
and the importance of all the said properties, separately and together,
to the City of New York as a part of an Mistoric District to be known
as Greenwich Village Mistoric District, and in recognition of the
peculiar special historic, aesthetic value of buildings and other im-
provements in the community known-as Greenwich Village, as well as its
wealth of history, tradition, mores and way of life of the City in and
out of the specific area involved, the Landmarks Preservation Commission
finds that the Greenwich Village Historic District contains buildings
and other improvements which have a special character and special his-
torical and aesthetic interest and value and which represent one or
more periods or styles of architecture typical of one or more eras in
the history of New York City and which cause this area, by reason of
these factors, to constitute a distinct section of the City.

The Commission further finds that, among its important gualities,
the Greenwich Village Historic District is-an exceptionally fink area
within the City, primarily residential with commercial areas serving
the community, that it retains, to a rare degree, an old world charm
with its many tree-lined streets and rows of architecturally notable
houses of generally uniform height, that it has an unusual aesthetic
quality due to the great variety of architectural styles manifested
in its handsome residences and churches, that each style is represen-
tative of a way of life and an era in the historical development of.
The Village, over a period of more than one hundred years, and as an
Historic District has a peculiar value to the community known as
Greenwich Village as well as to the City of New York in that said
properties, separately and together conserve and preserve for the
community and the City of New York, the way that people in the area
lived and modified or changed their way of life, adapting their
buildings accordingly, to such extent that detailed examination of
the buildings within the llistoric District reveal to a considerable
extent the history and life of the City with its manifold changes
from one period to another and that because of the fine architectural
quality of its houses and its background, it is outstanding as a great
historic area within the City.

Accordingly, pursuant to the provisions of Chapter 63 of tie
Charter of the City of New York and Chapter 8-A of the Administrative
Code of the City of New York, the Landmarks Preservation Commission
designates as an Historic District the Creenwich Village Historic
District, Borough of Manhattan, containing the land bounded Ly
Washington Square South, West 4th Street, the rear lot lines of the
buildings on the south side of Barrow Street from West 4th Street
through 27-31 Barrow Street, the southern property line of 289 Bleecker
Street, 7th Avenue, Leroy Street St. Luke's Place, Hudson Street,
Morton Street, the rear lot lines of 447 through 451 Hudson Street, a
portion of the southern property line of 453 Hudson Street, the rear
lot lines of 453 and 455-457 fudson Street, the western property line
of 97 Barrow Street, Barrow Street, Greenwich Street, Perry Street,
Washington Street, Horatio Street, the western property line of 83
Horatio Street, the rear lot lines of 83 through 67 Horatio Street, a
portion of the eastern property line of 67 Horatio Street, the northern
property line of 832-836 Greenwich Street, the northern property line
of 827-829 Greenwich Street, the rear lot line and a portion of the
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eastern pr0perty line of 53 Horatlo Street, the rear lot lines of 51
‘through 45 Horatio Street, a portlon of the eastern property line of
45 floratio Street, the northern property line of: 639 Hudson Street,
Hudson Street, Gansevoort Street, West 13th Street, the rear lot lines

of 65 through 73 8th Avenue, the noithern property: line of 73 8th’ Avenue,

the northern property line of 70-72 8th Avenue, the rear lot lines of
253 through 205 West 13th Street, the northern property line of 42-46
7th Avenue, the northern property line of 41-49 7th Avenue, a line 100
feet north of the front lot lines of 161 through 107 West 13th Street,
the eastern property line of 107 West 13th Street, the eastern property.
line and the rear lot. line of. 104 West 13th Street the rear lot line of
106 West 13th Street, the eastern property line of 117 West 12th Street
West 12th Street, the western property line of 71-77 West 12th Street,

a line 100 feet north of the front lot lines of 71-77 through 49 West
12th Street, a portion of the eastern property line of 49 West 12th
Street, a 11ne 45 feet north of the front lot lines of 47 thrdugh 41
Wést'IZth Street, a portion of the western property line of 39 West 12th
Street, a line 100 feet north of the front lot lines of 39 through 11
West 12th Street, the eastern property line of 11 West 12th Streét; West
12th Street, 5th Avenue, the northern property line of 45 5th Avénue, a4 -
portion -of the northern propérty line of 43 Sth Avenué, the réar lot
lines of 11 through 29 East 11th Street, the eastern property line of
29 East 11th Street, the eastern property lines of 28 East 1lth Street
and 15-19 East'lOth Street, the eastern propeity lines of 24 East 10th
Street and 23 East 9th Street; East 9th Street, University Place and
Washington Square East, ' ‘
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